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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

This is the 16™ regular Report to the Ramsey County District Court and the Minnesota State
Legislature from ClearWay Minnesota*M. We are a statewide nonprofit organization working to
reduce tobacco’s harm in Minnesota. Since 1998, we have helped reduce smoking in Minnesota
from 22 to 14 percent, provided more than 145,000 Minnesotans with quit-smoking help
through QUITPLAN® Services, funded research leading to reduced tobacco use and secondhand
smoke exposure, advanced policies that reduce tobacco’s harm, raised awareness of
commercial tobacco’s burden in diverse communities and created powerful media campaigns.

ClearWay Minnesota is funded with 3 percent (5202 million) of Minnesota’s tobacco
settlement. We were created in accordance with the Court’s Consent Judgment of May 8, 1998,
in State by Humphrey, et al., v. Philip Morris, Incorporated, et al., Ramsey County District Court
File No. C 1-94-8565 (August 1994). We are a private, independent nonprofit corporation with a
25-year lifespan. Our mission is to enhance life in Minnesota by reducing tobacco use and
exposure to secondhand smoke through research, action and collaboration.

ClearWay Minnesota operates under the supervision of the Ramsey County District Court and
we are required to report on our activities to the Court and the Minnesota Legislature on an
annual basis. The information in this Report covers Fiscal Year 2016 (July 1, 2015 - June 30,
2016). From inception through the end of this period, nearly $232 million has funded our
operations, including cessation, research, policy, community development, communications
and outreach projects throughout the state.

Fiscal Year 2016 Initiatives and Developments

Organization

ClearWay Minnesota Board activities during Fiscal Year 2016 included strategic planning,
planning for our limited life, attending educational presentations, exercising fiduciary
responsibilities and engaging in additional activities.

Program grants and contracts

Cessation

ClearWay Minnesota provided a robust set of tobacco cessation services to adult Minnesotans
through QUITPLAN Services, our effective, science-based programs that have given Minnesota
tobacco users free tools to quit since 2001. In Fiscal Year 2016, we conducted multiple
evaluations of QUITPLAN Services. We funded a second cohort of Community Engagement
Grants, an initiative to reach Minnesota populations that continue to smoke at higher rates and
link them to cessation services. Additionally, we continued efforts in multiple areas to ensure
that all Minnesotans have access to comprehensive tobacco cessation treatment.
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Research

ClearWay Minnesota funds research that will lead to reduced tobacco use and secondhand
smoke exposure in Minnesota. We awarded $660,000 in grant funding for six research projects
during Fiscal Year 2016. Topics to be explored include menthol tobacco use and point-of-sale
commercial tobacco marketing on American Indian reservations. This year also saw
dissemination of findings from several ClearWay Minnesota-funded or -conducted research
projects in publications and at presentations given in our state and across the country.

Policy

During Fiscal Year 2016 at the State Legislature, ClearWay Minnesota and partners launched
Minnesotans for a Smoke-Free Generation, a new coalition of organizations that share the goal
of saving Minnesota youth from a lifetime of addiction to tobacco. We also engaged members
of Minnesota diverse communities in policy advocacy, hosted a smoke-free advocacy Day at the
Capitol, funded local efforts to pass tobacco control policies, and engaged in outreach and
education activities.

Community development

During Fiscal Year 2016, ClearWay Minnesota continued engaging members of Minnesota’s
diverse communities in tobacco control efforts and working to reduce the harm commercial
tobacco causes them. We supported American Indian advocates in Minnesota in their work to
improve health and reduce commercial tobacco abuse on tribal lands, disseminated evaluation
findings from a project to build advocacy and leadership skills among diverse communities,
continued our outreach to advance health equity in Minnesota and conducted other activities.

Communications and outreach

Advertising

In Fiscal Year 2016, ClearWay Minnesota continued using advertising to change social norms
around smoking. Our efforts included promoting QUITPLAN Services through an advertising
campaign and a quit-smoking contest. We also developed specific advertising to reach
American Indian audiences in Minnesota and educated the public about the role of menthol in
creating and sustaining tobacco addiction.

Community outreach

In addition to paid advertising, ClearWay Minnesota used earned (non-paid) media coverage
and online social media in Fiscal Year 2016 to raise awareness of tobacco’s dangers, and of
ClearWay Minnesota as a resource on tobacco issues.



I. INTRODUCTION

This is the 16™ regular Report to the Ramsey County District Court and the Minnesota State
Legislature from ClearWay Minnesota*M. We are a statewide nonprofit organization working to
reduce tobacco’s harm in Minnesota. Since 1998, we have helped reduce smoking in Minnesota
from 22.1 percent to 14.4 percent. We have provided more than 145,000 Minnesotans with
quit-smoking help through QUITPLAN® Services, funded research leading to reduced tobacco
use and secondhand smoke exposure, advanced policies that reduce tobacco’s harm, raised
awareness of commercial tobacco’s burden in diverse communities and created powerful
media campaigns.

We were created in accordance with the Court’s Consent Judgment of May 8, 1998, in State by
Humphrey, et al., v. Philip Morris, Incorporated, et al., Ramsey County District Court File No. C 1-
94-8565 (August 1994), and are funded with 3 percent ($202 million) of the Minnesota tobacco
settlement. We are a private, independent nonprofit corporation with a limited lifetime of 25
years. Our mission is to enhance life in Minnesota by reducing tobacco use and exposure to
secondhand smoke through research, action and collaboration.

We operate under the supervision of the Ramsey County District Court and are required to
report on our activities to the Court and the Minnesota Legislature on an annual basis. This
Report consists of this introduction, three sections explaining our operations and activities for
Fiscal Year 2016, and a conclusion. Additional materials are found in accompanying appendices.

This information in this Report covers Fiscal Year 2016 (July 1, 2015 — June 30, 2016). From
inception through the end of this Fiscal Year, nearly $232 million has funded our operations,
including cessation, research, policy, community development, communications and outreach
projects throughout the state.

In addition to Court oversight, we conduct thorough evaluations of our own work as well as
that of our grantees and contractors. Evaluation findings measure programs’ impact, help to
improve them and inform strategic planning. Evaluation also allows us to measure our short
term impacts along with our long term progress toward our legacy goals. Findings from recent
evaluations are included throughout this report to give a picture of our overall impact.

ClearWay Minnesota was established with a directive not to duplicate the services of other
Minnesota tobacco control organizations, and for this reason we do not conduct youth-specific
initiatives. However, many ClearWay Minnesota programs, including policy initiatives and
media campaigns, have a proven impact on youth, and we do support additional public funding
of efforts to reduce tobacco use among this population.

Documents referred to in this Report but not included in the appendices are available from our
office. Members of the ClearWay Minnesota Board of Directors and staff are available to
provide further information to the Court or Legislature. Please contact staff at 952-767-1400 or
info@clearwaymn.org for additional information.
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Il. ORGANIZATION
A. GOVERNANCE

ClearWay Minnesota has a 19-member Board of Directors, comprising 11 at-large members and
eight appointees. The Board seeks out at-large Board candidates and recommends their
approval, ensuring diverse professional expertise in the organization’s governing body. The
Board also strives to recruit members who broadly represent all Minnesotans, including those
from diverse ethnic and cultural backgrounds and from both urban and rural regions.

The ClearWay Minnesota Board has five standing committees:

e The Executive/Governance Committee;

e The Audit/Finance Committee;

e The Nominating and Board Development Committee;

e The Program Grants and Program Contracts Committee; and
e The Strategic Development and Planning Committee.

Each of the standing committees of the Board has a Board-adopted charter that sets forth its
duties and authority. The Board may also convene working groups as needed.

Additionally, an Investment Advisory Committee serves as an advisory committee to the
Audit/Finance Committee. (See Finances — Investments — Ongoing Investment Oversight and
Performance Evaluation, pp. 16-17.) While the Investment Advisory Committee is not a
standing committee of the Board, the Board determined that it should also have a charter. (See
ClearWay Minnesota®™ Board and Committee Charters, Appendix A.)

ClearWay Minnesota’s Board and staff are governed by a Conflict of Interest Policy that outlines
the organization’s process for disclosing, documenting and addressing conflicts of interest and
the appearance of such conflicts. (See ClearWay Minnesota*™ Conflict of Interest Policy Adopted
September 19, 2012, Appendix B.)

Fiscal Year 2016 Board Initiatives

Strategic planning

The Board of Directors and one of its standing committees, the Strategic Development and
Planning Committee, are responsible for guiding the strategic direction of the organization.
During Fiscal Year 2016 the Board undertook two major initiatives: approving revisions to
ClearWay Minnesota’s Legacy Framework and making changes around Board structure and
composition in our planning efforts for our limited life.



Revisions to Legacy Framework

Beginning in 2007 ClearWay Minnesota Board and staff developed a Legacy Framework to
direct strategic planning around the organization’s limited lifetime. This Framework contains
our Legacy Goals — long-term objectives designed to drive our efforts until we close our doors in
2023. The Legacy Framework was adopted by the Board in 2009, and since that time, it has
guided all aspects of our work. (See ClearWay Minnesota*M Legacy Framework, Appendix C.)

In order for ClearWay Minnesota to address emerging needs and adapt to changing
environments, the Legacy Framework is evaluated and updated periodically under the guidance
of the Strategic Development and Planning Committee. Following the 2015 release of the
Minnesota Adult Tobacco Survey (MATS), a large-scale research study on tobacco use, attitudes
and behaviors in our state, the Committee identified the need to update the Framework based
on the new data, as well as on developments in Minnesota’s tobacco control environment and
progress toward our long-term objectives. In the spring of 2015, Committee Members and staff
set about revising the document. In November of the same year, the full Board of Directors
provided input on the draft, and ultimately the revised Legacy Framework was adopted by the
Board in March of 2016.

The three Legacy Goals contained in the revised Legacy Framework are:

e By 2023, reduce the prevalence of smoking among adult
Minnesotans to less than 9 percent.

e By 2023, reduce secondhand smoke exposure among nonsmoking
Minnesotans to less than 5 percent.

e By 2023, advance the science of eliminating tobacco-related
health disparities.

Various data sources will be used to measure progress made toward the Legacy Goals.

Our Legacy

Fulfilling our
Mission
by

Mission
Strategic Priorities Strategic Plan

Values v

Sustain the impact of our work beyond 2023 thraugh the continued reduction of smoking, SHS exposure, and death and
disease caused by commercial tobacco use.

Sustained

Impact
beyond 2023

Close Out

Achieving
our
Legacy Goals




2015-2017 Strategic Plan

Progress toward our Legacy Goals is driven by multi-year Strategic Plans, which are developed
by the Strategic Development and Planning Committee and approved by the full Board. Our
Strategic Plans represent ClearWay Minnesota’s best judgment about appropriate priorities for
reducing the harms of tobacco over a specific period. They provide programmatic direction to
staff, and are the basis for annual budgeting.

In Fiscal Year 2014, the Board of Directors adopted a Strategic Plan covering fiscal years 2015-
2017. The Plan, from which annual workplans are developed, identifies four strategic priorities:

J Supporting policies that reduce tobacco use and exposure to secondhand smoke;

o Supporting Minnesotans in quitting tobacco use;

J Creating an environment that supports a tobacco-free future for Minnesotans; and
J Planning for ClearWay Minnesota’s limited life.

This Strategic Plan took effect on July 1, 2014. (See ClearWay Minnesota*™ 2015-2017 Strategic
Plan, Appendix D.) During Fiscal Year 2016, the Board also began developing the final Strategic
Plan for ClearWay Minnesota’s limited lifetime, to cover fiscal years 2018-2022; details of that
process and the new Strategic Plan will be shared in next year’s Report to the Court.

oy,

Policy Quitting

Environment Planning

v

ClearWay Minnesota’s’M Strategic Plan covers four planning areas



This Strategic Plan is flexible, and allows Board and staff to react nimbly and
appropriately to new opportunities or challenges. Work toward these Strategies
and Goals will aim for long-term impacts with major implications for reducing

POLICY:
Support policies that reduce tobacco use
and exposure 1o secondhand smoke.

Goal s Advance poloes that reduce access to
fovacch products, especially for youth

O 2 Advarce poloes that protect peopie from

tobacco's harm in Minnesota,

QUITTING:
Support Minnesoians in guitting tobacco use.
Cow !l ook Lo make 000rsssing tobacco wie

standare practice in health care.

Cow s Increase use of Cassation services. Moudng
QUITPLAN® Services.

OB Lchn Gow' 3 Increase guit Attenols among populations
30317 Advance commercial taaaccadree pollcies WO EhbTROAL Fotus 61 SORNCED sl

on trioel lanas.
Do & Advarcs poloes o incresse access

10 compe jovecto

trestment.

Our strategic
priorities ,~“ goals for the
next three years

ENVIRONMENT: PLANNING:

Create an environment that supports a
tobacco-iree future for Minnesotans.
Uow | Intiyerce public attitudes ond Senaviors to

make tobaczo use less scceptatie among af
Mimnesstans

Gual I Create an environment that provides more
opportunily, support ang motivalion for
prople 1o qul tobecto uve

Oow 2 Foster the ord

of innovalive ideas 1hat adwance progress
toward Chea Way Mincessda's Cegaty Goals

Plan for ClearWay Minnesota's imited ife,

Gl Achance progrema that reducs todacco-telsted
health dispantas and incrasae hoalth equity around
tobacco for af Misnescland

Lo I Buig capaciy for tebucos control leadership i
prionity gopuations.

Coa 3 Develop and sustan parinecshios 10 suppoet
Innovations that recuce todaccy’s harm

Low 4 Incremss PubRC and 2rivate 19sources dedicated 10
reducing todacco’s harm in Menescta.

Caw S Facistate planning tha future of tobacco control
otforts in Minnesota with strategic pertners.

ClearWay Minnesota’s’M Strategic Plan for fiscal years 2015-2017
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Long-term planning

ClearWay Minnesota will cease to exist in 2023. Governance structure planning efforts have
been underway since January of 2014, when the Board directed staff, in consultation with
external legal counsel, to review ClearWay Minnesota’s governing documents and recommend
changes to our governance structure to facilitate a smooth transition for our end of life.

Beginning in Fiscal Year 2015, research on best practices was conducted, and discussions were
held with staff and legal counsel, to inform recommendations for the Board to consider as the
organization approached 2023. The recommendations were intended to allow for flexibility in
the Board'’s structure and composition to maintain an efficient and high-performing Board to
ensure a smooth transition to 2023.

The recommendations encompassed four areas of long-term planning: programs, governance,
finance and administration. Related activities this year focused largely on governance, and staff
and legal counsel developed recommendations to the Board on topics such as Board size,
Committee structure, extending Board terms and allowing former Members to return to the
Board, among others.

The recommendations were discussed at the June and August 2015 Executive/Governance
Committee Meetings, and, under the guidance of the Executive/Governance Committee,
proposed revisions to the Bylaws and Articles of Incorporation were prepared for the Board to
review. In September of 2015, the recommendations were presented to the Board, with
commentary and support from external counsel. The first read of the Amended and Restated
Bylaws and Articles of Incorporation was at the November 2015 Board Meeting, and final
approval at the January 2016 Board Meeting. (See Resolution 2016-002, Appendix E.)

In April of 2016, the Amended and Restated Bylaws and Articles of Incorporation were
presented to Minnesota Attorney General Lori Swanson. Members of ClearWay Minnesota’s
Board and Staff met with Attorney General Swanson and Assistant Attorney General Angela
Behrens on April 7, 2016, to discuss the proposed revisions and obtain their input.

The Amended and Restated Bylaws and Articles of Incorporation were submitted to the Ramsey
County District Court for review on May 12, 2016, and became effective upon approval by the
Court on June 21, 2016. (See Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws, Appendix F1 and F2.)

As part of long-term planning, ClearWay Minnesota has also considered making some revisions
to its Conflict of Interest Policy, as we expect there will be issues with retaining the staff
necessary to ensure a smooth transition out of existence at the end of our lifespan. At this time,
the Board has decided not to make any revisions to the Policy, but we will continue to monitor
this situation and may address the Policy again at a later time.

Board development and education
Topics related to strategic planning and long-term planning were the predominant Board
education topics in Fiscal Year 2016. Other Board education topics for Fiscal Year 2016 were:
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e July 2015 - Highlights From the Third Leadership and Advocacy Institute to Advance
Minnesota’s Parity for Priority Populations (LAAMPP I1l), presented by LAAMPP Fellows
(see also Community Development — Community Development Contracts — Leadership
and Advocacy Institute to Advance Minnesota’s Parity for Priority Populations [LAAMPP]
— Post-Program Survey Report — LAAMPP |ll, pp. 68-70)

e November 2015 — Updates to Guidance on Open Meeting Law, presented by external
legal counsel Teresa Thompson of Fredrikson & Byron, and Increasing the Minimum
Legal Age to Purchase Tobacco Products to 21, presented by ClearWay Minnesota Vice
President Dr. Barbara Schillo

e March 2016 - Tracking the Tobacco Industry, presented by Betsy Brock of the
Association for Nonsmokers-MN

e May 2016 - Progress Toward Our Legacy Goals, presented by Dr. Schillo and Senior
Research Program Manager Ann St. Claire

Public policy

ClearWay Minnesota engaged in a number of public policy initiatives, authorized by the Board,
during Fiscal Year 2016. These initiatives are detailed in Program Grants and Contracts — Policy,
pp. 44-57. ClearWay Minnesota’s lobbyist of record for Fiscal Year 2016 was Lockridge Grindal
Nauen P.L.L.P.

The Board also adopted public policy statements outlining the organization’s positions on
critical tobacco control issues, and reasons for supporting those positions. (See ClearWay
Minnesota*™ Policy Statements, Appendix G.)

CEO compensation
Pursuant to the Court’s Order of June 13, 2005, ClearWay Minnesota discloses the Chief
Executive Officer’s annual salary in this Report.

The CEO’s annual performance and salary review is conducted by the full Board of Directors,
which thoroughly evaluates that officer’s execution of the duties described in the CEO position
description. A salary merit increase, if any, is determined as a component of the CEQ’s
performance, and is linked to the CEO salary range and merit increase percentage, established
by the Board.

Pursuant to their annual review of the CEQ’s performance, the Executive/Governance
Committee, in its role to oversee the organization’s human resources, facilitated the annual
performance review for the Chief Executive Officer. On January 20, 2016, the Board approved a
4 percent salary increase, effective November 1, 2015. In a separate process, the Board
annually reviews salary ranges for all ClearWay Minnesota staff, based upon a biannual
compensation study conducted by an outside consultant, and supplemented in off years by an
applicable salary survey. On April 20, 2016, the Executive/Governance Committee approved the
recommendation of Keystone Compensation Group, L.L.C., that all salary ranges be revised and
realigned consistent with their market analysis. As a result, the salary range for the CEO was set
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at $137,800-$206,600 ($172,200 midpoint), effective July 1, 2016. In addition, Keystone
recommended a budget pool of 3.0 percent, plus 0.5 percent for merit, for Fiscal Year 2017.
These recommendations were subsequently approved by the Board in May 2016, and they will
be taken into consideration during the next CEO annual review in the fall of 2016.

As a result of the CEO annual review in the fall of 2015, and the review recommendations
approved in January of 2016, as of June 30, 2016, the CEQO’s annual salary was set at $173,031.

Legislative Audit

When ClearWay Minnesota was established in 1998, the Ramsey County District Court granted
the Minnesota Office of the Legislative Auditor the authority to audit our organization. During
Fiscal Year 2016, the Office began an audit covering our activities from July of 2013 to March of
2016. In October of 2016, the Officer released a report on ClearWay Minnesota that contained
no findings. Details about the audit will be shared in next year’s Report to the Court; the 2016
report can be viewed at http://www.auditor.leg.state.mn.us/fad/pdf/fad1614.pdf.

Other activities
In addition, the Board also undertook the following initiatives in Fiscal Year 2016:

e Reviewed and updated the Interim Chief Executive Officer (CEO) Succession Plan;
e Approved revisions to the Nominating and Board Development Committee Charter; and
e Approved revisions to the Audit/Finance Committee Charter.

Fiscal Year 2016 Board Roster

Board Members filling the 11 at-large positions at various times during Fiscal Year 2016 were:

e Ellen Denzen, researcher with the National Marrow Donor Program (New Hope);

e Kelly Drummer, President and CEO of the Tiwahe Foundation (Minneapolis);

e Russel Kuzel, M.D., Chief Medical Officer and a Senior Vice President at UCare
(Minneapolis) (resigned March 2016);

e Laurie Lafontaine, former Vice President (Finance and Treasury) of Allina Health System
(Plymouth);

e Nevada Littlewolf, Executive Director and Founder of Rural and American Indigenous
Leadership, and Virginia City Council Member (Virginia);

e Pamela Lux, Director of Human Resources Communications at Travelers Insurance and
former Vice President of Marketing and Communications at Blue Cross and Blue Shield
of Minnesota (Shoreview);

e Vivian Jenkins Nelsen, cofounder, president and CEO of the INTER-RACE Institute, a
diversity think-tank at Augsburg College (Minneapolis);

e Howard Orenstein, Senior Assistant Hennepin County Attorney and former partner at
Robins, Kaplan, Miller & Cerisi (now Robins Kaplan L.L.P.) (St. Paul);
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e Jenny Peterson, Executive Director at Generations Health Care Initiatives (Duluth) (term
expired September 2015);

¢ Joy Rikala, independent consultant, former Minnesota Bureau of Criminal Apprehension
special agent and former police chief for the City of Minnetonka and the University of
Minnesota Police Department (Plymouth);

e Joel A. Swanson Il, Director of Strategic Marketing Communications at United Health
Group and former President at Risdall Public Relations (Mounds View); and

e Anne Vars, Health Strategy Project Manager at Target Corporation (Minneapolis).

Appointed Board Members serve at the pleasure of the appointing authorities within term
limitations. The appointing authorities, each of whom appoints two members, are the
Governor, the Speaker of the House, the Senate Majority Leader and the Attorney General. The
eight appointed Board Members ensure continuing public input and oversight.

Governor Mark Dayton appointed:

e Karen Kraemer, former Vice President of Disease and Case Management with
HealthPartners (Eden Prairie) (appointed to replace Rep. Rhodes at the end of his term);

¢ Jim Rhodes, Endowments and Pension Director for the Minneapolis Portfolio
Management Group, L.L.C., and a former State Representative (St. Louis Park) (term
expired September 2015); and

e Thomas Weaver, CEO of Achieve Services, Inc., and former Chief Operating Officer of
the Metropolitan Council (Anoka).

(Note: Both Rep. Rhodes and Mr. Weaver were first appointed to the Board by Governor Tim
Pawlenty and subsequently reappointed by Governor Dayton.)

Former Speaker of the House Paul Thissen appointed:

e Janet Avery, former manager of the state’s asthma program at the Minnesota
Department of Health (Golden Valley).

Former Speaker of the House Kurt Zellers appointed:
e Bob Boerschel, eFinancial Senior Counsel at Wells Fargo (Lakeville).
Former Senate Majority Leader Thomas Bakk appointed:

e Hugh T. Nierengarten, J.D., attorney and member of the Allina Health System board of
directors (Minneapolis).
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Former Senate Majority Leader Lawrence J. Pogemiller appointed:

e Daniel Johnson, nonprofit consultant, former executive at the National Multiple
Sclerosis Society and past president of the United Health Foundation and the Blue Cross
and Blue Shield of Minnesota Foundation (West St. Paul).

Attorney General Lori Swanson appointed:

e Brian Short, Chief Executive Officer of Leamington Co. and former U.S. Magistrate Judge
(Minneapolis); and

e Steven McWhirter, Executive Vice President of Dougherty & Company, L.L.C. (Maple
Plain).

ClearWay Minnesota Board Officers in Fiscal Year 2016 were:

¢ Joy Rikala, Chair (September 2015 — September 2016)

e Vivian Jenkins Nelsen, Vice Chair (September 2015 — September 2016)
e Bob Boerschel, Treasurer (September 2013 — September 2016)

e Daniel Johnson, Secretary (September 2015 — September 2016)

A full roster of Board Members and Officers for Fiscal Year 2017 (July 1, 2016 - June 30, 2017)
will be reported in next year’s Report to the Court.
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B. STAFF

ClearWay Minnesota’s staff is made up of individuals with expertise in public health, cessation,
research, public affairs, community development, marketing and communications, finance and
nonprofit administration. (See ClearWay Minnesota®™ Organization Chart Fiscal Year 2016,
Appendix H.) For Fiscal Year 2016, the Management Team of the organization consisted of:

e Chief Executive Officer David J. Willoughby, M.A ;

e Vice President Andrea Mowery;

e Vice President Barbara Schillo, Ph.D.;

e Chief Financial Officer Steven Bader;

e Director of Research Programs Raymond Boyle, Ph.D., M.P.H.;

e Director of Marketing and Communications Marietta Dreher;

e Director of Cessation Programs Paula Keller, M.P.H.;

e Director of Community Development Jaime Martinez, M.Ed.; and
e Director of Public Affairs Molly Moilanen, M.P.P.

(See ClearWay Minnesota*" Management Team Biosketches, Appendix I.)
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C. FINANCES

ClearWay Minnesota strives to be a good steward of the settlement funds with which the
organization was created, and many practices are in place to ensure appropriate financial
management and maximum cost-effectiveness of programs and operations. Annual budgets are
developed based on multi-year Strategic Plans. (See ClearWay Minnesota*™ 2015-2017
Strategic Plan, Appendix D.)

Audits

For Fiscal Year 2016, Olsen Thielen & Co., Ltd., was retained for a 10™ year by the Audit/Finance
Committee as independent auditor. At its meeting on June 23, 2016, the Committee reviewed
and approved the audit plan presented by the auditors. On August 23, 2016, the audited
numbers for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, were presented to the
Audit/Finance Committee by representatives of Olsen Thielen. (The audits were presented to
and accepted by the Board of Directors on September 21, 2016.)

As in every previous year, the audits found that in all material respects, ClearWay Minnesota’s
financial statements fairly present the organization’s financial position and changes in net
assets and cash flows. These statements were also determined to conform to accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. (See ClearWay Minnesota®V
Financial Statements, June 30, 2016 and 2015 and ClearWay Minnesota®™ Independent
Auditors’ Report to the Board of Directors and the Audit/Finance Committee, August 23, 2016,
Appendix J.)

Consistent with practices instituted in recent years, the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief
Financial Officer certified the accuracy of the audited financial statements. Although not
required by any regulation or law, this financial certification was adopted as a good governance
and accountability practice. (See ClearWay Minnesota*™ Audited Financial Statement
Certification, Appendix K.)

Total operating expenses for Fiscal Year 2016 were $15,588,731, and are summarized in the
following table:
Table 1
Expenses for Fiscal Year 2016

12 months ended June 30, 2016
C ti
essation $12,678,676 81.3%
Research and other tobacco
control purposes $1,636,269 10.5%
General and administrative $1.273,786 8.2%
TOTAL $15,588,731
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Required Filings

As a nonprofit organization, ClearWay Minnesota is required to file IRS Form 990 and 990 T
annually. We also post our Form 990 and attachments on our website at
http://clearwaymn.org/about/legal/. In addition, as a Minnesota nonprofit corporation, ClearWay
Minnesota is required to file a Charitable Organization Annual Report with the Office of the
Attorney General. (See ClearWay Minnesota®™ IRS Forms 990 and 990T, June 30, 2016,
Appendix L1 and L2, and ClearWay Minnesota®™ Charitable Organization Annual Report June
30, 2016, Appendix M.)

Investments

ClearWay Minnesota has adopted the general investment guidelines of the Minnesota State
Board of Investment (Minnesota Statutes, Chapter 11A, Section 24). In addition, our Bylaws
prohibit investing directly in securities issued by firms that generate revenues from tobacco
products.

Consistent with prior years, ClearWay Minnesota’s investment objective is to grow capital
prudently over the organization’s lifetime, which ends in 2023.

Investment strategy
As of June 30, 2016, ClearWay Minnesota structured its investments in four categories:

e Treasury ladder/cash (46 percent of the portfolio). The Treasury ladder provides
adequate and timely availability of funds to help meet ClearWay Minnesota’s budgeted
spending over the next seven years. The ladder will be invested in one- to three-year
Treasury securities with the intention of holding to maturity.

e Fixed income (29 percent of the portfolio). The fixed-income portfolio provides
adequate and timely availability of funds to help meet ClearWay Minnesota’s budgeted
spending over the next three years. The portfolio includes actively managed bond
strategies and will be periodically adjusted to maintain durations consistent with the
duration of budgeted spending needs.

e Capital appreciation (6 percent of the portfolio). The capital-appreciation portfolio
provides adequate and timely availability of funds to help meet ClearWay Minnesota’s
budgeted spending in Fiscal Year 2017. This portfolio will be fully liquidated by the end
of calendar year 2016 as ClearWay Minnesota reduces risk in its investment mix.

e Private equity (19 percent of the portfolio). The net cash flow from the private-equity
portfolio will be used each year to offset a portion of the anticipated budgeted
spending.

At least annually, ClearWay Minnesota reviews and refines, if deemed necessary, our
investment strategy in light of three major investment constraints: limited life, prohibition on
investing directly in tobacco-related companies and liquidity needs. This past fiscal year,
ClearWay Minnesota reduced our risk profile and secured future cash flows by liquidating four
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Capital Appreciation investment managers and one International Bond Fund investment
manager (total proceeds of liquidations were $11,159,000). Proceeds from liquidations were
transferred to U.S. Treasuries, Cash and a Domestic Short-Term Bond Fund. At year end, a total
of 10 distinct investment vehicles were used across the four investment strategies, as detailed
in Table 2 (see Ongoing Investment Oversight and Performance Evaluation, below).

Ongoing investment oversight and performance evaluation

ClearWay Minnesota’s Audit/Finance Committee uses an Investment Advisory Committee (IAC)
to give advice on matters relating to the investment portfolio. The IAC meets quarterly to
review the investment mix, fund performance and investment policies. The IAC also evaluates
investments recommended by ClearWay Minnesota’s investment consultant (currently Ellwood
Associates). The IAC’s advice is offered to the Audit/Finance Committee to help guide that
committee’s decision-making. This advice includes recommending and monitoring the
investment custodian, investment consultant and investment managers. As of June 30, 2016,
the IAC comprises four institutional investment experts and one Board Member. The Board
Member serves as Committee Chair.

As in prior years, the investment consultant provided a performance report to the Investment
Advisory Committee and ClearWay Minnesota staff each quarter. The consultant also performs
regular qualitative analysis of each investment manager’s organization, philosophy, account
and key personnel changes. In addition to other detailed information, the quarterly written
reports cover:

e Total time-weighted returns over various periods;

e Comparisons of returns to appropriate benchmark indices; and

e An analysis, by investment manager, of performance relative to their benchmarks and
any issues or concerns that may have arisen.

Portfolios are checked for compliance with the objectives, targets and policy guidelines
specified in ClearWay Minnesota’s Statement of Investment Objectives and Policies.

ClearWay Minnesota ended the year with the following 10 investment vehicles (sorted by
strategy):
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Table 2
Investment Manager by Strategy

June 30, 2016
STRATEGY TYPE MANAGER
Money Institutional money market Wells Fargo Bank, N.A.
Market/Cash ICS (FDIC insured product)  Venture Bank
U.S. Treasuries U.S. Treasuries Notes

U.S. Treasuries TIPS

Fixed Income Fixed income Intermediate J.P. Morgan Core Bond

Fixed income Short J.P. Morgan Short Duration
Capital Appreciation Hedge Funds Blackstone Park, GAM, Coast
Private Equity Private Equity Manager Mesirow

Private Equity Manager Coller

Private Equity Manager Weathergage

Summary of investment performance

Returns on ClearWay Minnesota’s investment components are measured against their
respective return objectives over a full market cycle. Market cycles may differ markedly in
length, and there is no standardized measure for a market cycle’s term. For ClearWay
Minnesota’s purposes, a full market cycle includes both a down leg and an up leg, in either
order. The up or down portions will each be of at least two consecutive quarters in length.
Therefore, a full market cycle may be as short as one year, although most market cycles are
expected to last from three to five years. Return shortfalls are permitted over portions of the
market cycle, provided that ClearWay Minnesota’s return objectives are met over the full
market cycle.

For the 12-month period ended June 30, 2016, ClearWay Minnesota’s investments returned -.9
percent, compared with a weighted benchmark return of +.9 percent. Since inception,
ClearWay Minnesota’s investments have generated approximately $78 million in investment
returns, and positive earnings have been experienced in 13 of the 18 years of the organization’s
existence.
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Ill. PROGRAM GRANTS AND CONTRACTS
A. CESSATION

Since inception through June 30, 2016, ClearWay Minnesota has funded $57.6 million in
cessation program grants and contracts. ClearWay Minnesota’s cessation work focuses on both
cessation services and cessation policy.

Currently, all Minnesotans have access to cessation services either through their health
insurance or through ClearWay Minnesota. Because our limited lifetime will end in 2023, we
are working to ensure that comprehensive cessation services remain available in the future.
(See ClearWay Minnesota®™ 2015-2017 Strategic Plan, Appendix D.) To facilitate this, ClearWay
Minnesota also supports cessation policy and systems change work among partners and
systems that could provide such services. By supporting both direct service delivery and
cessation policy initiatives, we strive to ensure that all Minnesota smokers, regardless of
insurance status, will have access to treatments to help them quit.

Cessation Services Contracts

QUITPLAN® Services S
ClearWay Minnesota’s cessation services are WAGEING.
referred to as QUITPLAN Services. QUITPLAN o v

Yo

NO DIRTY ' NO LECTURES
A LOOKS

Services are effective, science-based programs that
have given Minnesota tobacco users free tools to
quit since 2001. Consistent with the U.S. Public
Health Service Clinical Practice Guideline and the
U.S. Preventive Services Task Force’s
recommendations, QUITPLAN Services offers both
behavioral interventions and cessation medications.
To date, the program has helped more than 145,000
Minnesotans in their efforts to quit tobacco use.

NO JUDGMENTS.
JUST HELP.

QUITPLAN Services. Free tools
1o quit smoking your own way,

In Fiscal Year 2016, ClearWay Minnesota offered the - 4
following suite of QUITPLAN Services: .
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QUITPLAN HELPLINE
HIT TOBACCO WITH

EVERYTHING YOU'VE GOT

The QUITPLAN Helpline:

e Telephone counseling by trained coaches with integrated text and email support,
printed materials and nicotine replacement therapy (if appropriate), provided to
uninsured and underinsured Minnesotans.

Individual QUITPLAN Services:

e Nicotine replacement therapy (NRT) starter kits (two week supply of NRT) for all
Minnesota tobacco users;

e Text-messaging support program for all Minnesota tobacco users;

e Email support program for all Minnesota tobacco users; and

e A printed Quit Guide (self-help workbook) for all Minnesota tobacco users.

Alere Wellbeing, Inc., is the vendor that provides QUITPLAN Services. The QUITPLAN Services
website, www.quitplan.com, provides free information, tools and resources to all visitors.
Tobacco users can register for all QUITPLAN Services either online or by telephone. Online
social support (cessation advice) is provided for all Minnesota tobacco users using the
QUITPLAN Services Facebook page and Twitter feed.

QUITPLAN Services are provided in both English and Spanish. We partner with the National
Cancer Institute to provide access to a text messaging support program in Spanish through
SmokefreeTXT en Espaiiol. Tobacco users who speak languages other than English or Spanish
can request an interpreter when they call QUITPLAN Services so they can receive help in their
language.

QUITPLAN Services encourages all tobacco users to think about quitting and to try to quit. In
order to drive down smoking prevalence, we need to target tobacco users at all stages of
readiness to quit, and to make resources and services available to them regardless of their
readiness.
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Recognizing that tobacco dependence is a chronic, relapsing condition and that it takes most
tobacco users multiple attempts to quit successfully, tobacco users are encouraged to return to
QUITPLAN Services and enroll in additional services if they need further support in quitting or
would like to try to quit again.

As reported in last year’s Report to the Court, quit rates for QUITPLAN Services are strong and
comparable to what is seen in published literature for cessation services.

Media campaign

QUITPLAN Services is promoted with a large-scale mass-media campaign, incorporating
television and various other types of advertising. Ads were aired throughout Fiscal Year 2016 to
complement the program’s approach and reflect our caring, compassionate approach to
delivering QUITPLAN Services.

KILLS

[CRERLTE Y
HEART | i ' ] “oruio |
! [’)1.-'“-1 w | ETK‘, . = ; ,
—— i (¥ \ pha— Q:\:Il.“l -.'!'
~E DK — S 10
FaMor \ o — s e
6 Vo) i | ksno'l a et
\ oAy ‘

YOU ALREADY KNOW THE WHY.
WE'LL SHOW YOU THE HOW.

QUITPLAN Services.
Free tools to quit smoking
your own way.

——
PLAN

1-888-354-PLAN quitplan.com

QUITPLANZ® Services ads stress the program’s
non-judgmental approach to cessation counseling

Additionally, in Fiscal Year 2016 the services were also promoted with a statewide quit-tobacco
contest, The QuitCash Challenge™. (See Communications and Outreach — Advertising —
QUITPLAN® Services Campaign, pp. 73-76.)
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Tobacco users served

ClearWay Minnesota tracks both numbers of people who visit our website and contact us by
phone and the numbers of enroliments in QUITPLAN Services. In Fiscal Year 2016, 21,502
people called QUITPLAN Services and 195,210 people visited the quitplan.com website.

In Fiscal Year 2016, 15,539 tobacco users enrolled in QUITPLAN Services.

e 2,238 tobacco users enrolled in the QUITPLAN Helpline’s multi-call counseling program
o 1,729 tobacco users received NRT patches, lozenges or gum as part of their
Helpline enroliment

e 13,301 tobacco users enrolled in one or more of the Individual QUITPLAN Services (NRT
starter kit, text messaging, email and/or quit guide)
o 12,872 tobacco users received an NRT starter kit
o 7,486 tobacco users received a quit guide
o 4,564 tobacco users signed up for email messages
o 3,557 tobacco users signed up for text messages

Two years ago, ClearWay Minnesota reimagined QUITPLAN Services to provide Minnesota
tobacco users with more tobacco cessation choices and easy access by phone and online. Since
that time, interest in and use of the services has continued to be strong. More than 30,000
tobacco users enrolled in QUITPLAN Services in Fiscal Year 2015 and Fiscal Year 2016, and many
more were served by their health plans. For all but one of the service offerings (printed Quit
Guides), the number of enrollees increased from Fiscal Year 2015.

To make sure QUITPLAN Services maintains its appeal for all tobacco users, we continue to
monitor service use and to identify ways to attract tobacco users from communities with the
highest prevalence rates.

Reengagement

In Fiscal Year 2016, we completed a project that tested the effectiveness of using multiple
outreach methods to systematically reengage participants and encourage them to enroll again.
Participants receiving reengagement outreach were five times more likely to reengage
compared to those who did not receive the outreach. Given the positive findings from this
project, staff have implemented this process as a standard part of QUITPLAN Services
operations.

Evaluation of QUITPLAN® Services

ClearWay Minnesota uses evaluation data and other scientific evidence to guide our decision-
making about service offerings. We recognize that services will need to be enhanced or
modified to meet changing patterns of demand, to expand the reach of services and to
incorporate new evidence-based practices as they emerge.
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ClearWay Minnesota uses an external evaluation firm, Professional Data Analysts, Inc. (PDA), to
evaluate QUITPLAN Services. In Fiscal Year 2016, PDA worked closely with the ClearWay
Minnesota Cessation Department to conduct multiple evaluations of QUITPLAN Services. The
evaluation plan included monitoring service delivery through ongoing review of vendor data as
well as studies focusing on user satisfaction and treatment reach. Findings were shared with
service provider Alere Wellbeing to help them improve their programs.

Findings from service delivery monitoring

PDA reviewed the monthly data sent by Alere Wellbeing and examined trends in registrations,
counseling calls, shipments of nicotine replacement therapies, shipments of printed quit guides,
and other relevant service delivery data. PDA reported trends, changes in trends, and outliers in
the data to ClearWay Minnesota staff. Through ongoing monitoring of service delivery data,
ClearWay Minnesota was able to quickly identify potential issues that could impact participants’
experience with QUITPLAN Services and work with Alere Wellbeing to solve problems in a
timely manner.

Findings from the satisfaction survey

The user satisfaction study was conducted to monitor participant satisfaction with QUITPLAN
Services. An online survey was conducted between October of 2015 and January of 2016. PDA
randomly sampled participants who had been enrolled in QUITPLAN Services for approximately
three months and requested their participation in the survey via email and mail. PDA received
306 completed online surveys (a response rate of 17.1 percent), which included satisfaction
ratings and open-ended responses.

Satisfaction with QUITPLAN Services remains high. The majority of participants were either very
or mostly satisfied with the service(s) they chose (57 and 26 percent, respectively; 83 percent in
total). The level of satisfaction varied by services received. Those choosing the Helpline or
Starter Kits with email or text had the highest satisfaction rate (86 percent “very” or “mostly
satisfied”). Those receiving only the Starter Kit reported a lower satisfaction rate (77 percent
“very” or “mostly satisfied”), followed by participants receiving email and text only (64 percent
“very” or “mostly satisfied”). Respondents reported that signing up for QUITPLAN Services was
“very” (74 percent) or “somewhat” easy (22 percent). Few had problems getting nicotine
patches, gum, or lozenges (10 percent).

When asked what traits best describe QUITPLAN Services, 86 percent of respondents chose
positive words, such as straightforward, respectful and non-judgmental. Almost all participants
would recommend QUITPLAN Services to another tobacco user (87 percent). After receiving
services, 80 percent of respondents reported attempting to quit for 24 hours.

Participants had the option to provide open-ended comments as well. Most comments were
positive. Some examples are provided below:
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e  “QUITPLAN helped me by making me accountable for my actions. The text messages
were awesome and very motivational. I've been smoke-free for over six months and |
love it. My savings money took me on a cruise to the Bahamas! Thank you so much for
everything. You guys ROCK!!”

e “It's a free alternative and incentive to quit tobacco. The free supply of nicotine
replacements were the difference for me. “

e “If you are looking to quit in such a way that you did it ‘on my own,’ this as close as you
are going to get. You have just enough encouragement and none of the annoying
nagging at times when you really are not in the mood. It is YOUR goal with backing and
encouragement from QUITPLAN.”

e “The best thing about QUITPLAN is that it was easy to sign up and it was easy to get the
product. Also | like the fact that they ask you what you think will work best for yourself to
quit.”

Findings from the treatment reach analysis

The objective of the treatment reach analysis was to understand what proportion of Minnesota
tobacco users received QUITPLAN Services in a given year. We calculated this proportion for the
year prior to the launch of our new services (in 2014), and for each of the years following the
launch of the new services. Treatment prior to the launch of new services included enroliment
only in either the QUITPLAN Helpline or quitplan.com; treatment under the new QUITPLAN
Services included enrollment in the Helpline, the NRT starter kit, and/or the text messaging
program. Minnesota Adult Tobacco Survey (MATS) and census data were used to estimate the
number of tobacco users in each year studied.

The QUITPLAN Services treatment reach increased from 0.59 percent in the year prior to the
launch of new services to 1.86 percent and 1.80 percent in the first and second year of new
services, respectively. (National data show that, on average, state cessation quitlines reach 1.1
percent of a state’s tobacco users.) While the two years of new services are similar, treatment
reach in the new services era increased three-fold from the year prior to the launch of the new
services. These results show that the new QUITPLAN Services have been successful in providing
treatment to a larger proportion of Minnesota tobacco users.

Community Engagement Grant Initiative

As part of our focus to reach populations that continue to smoke at higher rates, ClearWay
Minnesota launched the Community Engagement Grant initiative in Fiscal Year 2015. The
primary goal of this initiative is to link smokers of low socioeconomic status (SES) to existing
cessation services; a secondary goal is to build capacity for funded organizations to continue
the work after the grant period. ClearWay Minnesota funded a total of 13 organizations for a
12-month funding period, eight in Fiscal Year 2015 (Cohort 1) and five in Fiscal Year 2016
(Cohort 2).

Below is the list of the five new Community Engagement Grants approved by ClearWay
Minnesota’s Board of Directors on July 15, 2015:
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e Dakota Wicohan, an American Indian nonprofit organization located in rural
southwestern Minnesota;

e Portico Healthnet, a nonprofit health and human services organization that helps
uninsured Minnesotans access affordable health coverage and care;

e Sub-Saharan African Youth and Family Services of Minnesota, a nonprofit human
service agency serving African communities in Minnesota;

e Touchstone Mental Health, a Hennepin County nonprofit organization providing
services to individuals whose lives are affected by mental illness; and

e Vietnamese Social Services of Minnesota, an agency that addresses the needs of
Vietnamese families and individuals.

Some examples of the grantees’ work include conducting community outreach, integrating
tobacco conversations and referral options into intake processes and programs, developing
culturally and linguistically appropriate materials to promote cessation resources, and using
media and communications strategies to engage tobacco users and educate them about
available cessation services.

Based on the successes experienced by grantees during their first year of work and the
continued importance of reaching low-SES smokers with messages about the harms of tobacco
and quitting resources, ClearWay Minnesota released a Request for Applications in January,
2016, to provide an opportunity for all Community Engagement grantees to apply for a second
year of funding. Seven Cohort 1 grantees submitted applications. Proposals were reviewed by a
panel consisting of ClearWay Minnesota staff and evaluated based on progress to date and
alignment of proposed activities with the goals of the community engagement granting
initiative. The panel recommended all seven proposals for funding. The panel’s
recommendations were reviewed and approved by the ClearWay Minnesota Board of Directors
on May 20, 2016.

Below is the list of the Community Engagement grantees that were awarded a second year of
funds in Fiscal Year 2016:

e The American Indian Cancer Foundation, an organization working to reduce the cancer
burden on American Indian families;

e The American Lung Association of the Upper Midwest, a nonprofit with the mission to
save lives by improving lung health and preventing lung disease, working in partnership
with organizations in both Mankato and Washington County;

e Comunidades Latinas Unidas En Servicio (CLUES), an organization that works to
improve quality of life for Latinos in Minnesota;

e Mental Health Resources, Inc., a nonprofit with the mission to foster hope, health and
recovery for those affected by mental illness;

e The National Alliance on Mental lliness (NAMI) Minnesota, which works to improve the
lives of children and adults living with mental illness, and of their families;
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e Native American Community Clinic, an organization that promotes wellness and health
in American Indian families; and

e RESOURCE, Inc., which provides chemical and mental-health services, education and
employment services.

Grantees used lessons learned from their first year of funding to create the workplan for their
second. Examples of the work include building on the most successful components from the
first year, refining organizational integration processes, offering staff training and conducting
community outreach.

Evaluation of this initiative is underway. Findings will be shared in future Reports to the Court.

Cessation Policy

The Cessation Department also dedicates resources toward a series of policy efforts to help
ClearWay Minnesota achieve our goals around ensuring access to comprehensive tobacco
dependence treatment for all Minnesotans. (See ClearWay Minnesota*™ 2015-2017 Strategic
Plan, Appendix D.)

Three areas serve as the foundation for our cessation policy work. These areas are:

Benefit design

The goal of this area is to ensure that all health insurance products include comprehensive
tobacco cessation benefits (barrier-free coverage for all forms of counseling and for FDA-
approved medications). In Fiscal Year 2016, staff continued working with state agencies and
other key decision-makers around strengthening health insurance benefits within private and
publicly funded health insurance products regulated by the state.

We continued to engage in health care reform activities at the state level as they relate to new
and modified health insurance requirements, including educational efforts around
requirements for tobacco dependence treatment. As a result, the State Employees Group
Insurance Program is now in compliance with the Affordable Care Act’s preventive services
requirement as it relates to tobacco cessation. Staff also worked closely with the Minnesota
Department of Health in educating providers and Minnesota Health Care Program Enrollees
about recent benefit-related policy changes and reimbursement mechanisms. Staff also
continued planning efforts for future work in this area.

Quality measurement

In order to enhance routine delivery of best-practice tobacco dependence treatment within
health care provider organizations, this area of work aims to strengthen tobacco-related quality
measures used in health care. Activities in Fiscal Year 2016 included continued relationship-
building with key stakeholders from the quality measurement community, particularly those
working on measure development at the Minnesota Department of Health. Planning for future
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work in this area continues, including continued opportunities to partner with the Minnesota
Department of Health in efforts to better measure how tobacco use is assessed and addressed.

Staff continued exploring opportunities to strengthen data collection related to social
determinants of health (race, ethnicity, language, etc.) to help interpret health care quality
measures. Because tobacco use is not distributed evenly across the entire population, collecting
additional data and integrating it with quality measures related to tobacco has the potential to
assist health systems in better understanding where gaps in tobacco treatment delivery exist
and in identifying strategies to help close those gaps. ClearWay Minnesota and other interested
stakeholders partnered with the Safety Net Coalition (a group of organizations working to
improve the health and health care of low-income, uninsured and disadvantaged Minnesotans)
to advance policies to begin addressing these measurement system gaps. We were collectively
successful in passing legislation to begin addressing these gaps; this was followed by the
Minnesota Department of Health mandating future collection of race, ethnicity, language and
country of origin data within Minnesota’s Statewide Quality Reporting and Measurement
System. Staff continues work in this area as a way to improve delivery of best practice tobacco
dependence treatment to all patients in Minnesota.

System integration

The goal of this area is twofold: to ensure that tobacco dependence treatment is integrated
into routine health care, and to foster integration of protocols to address tobacco into
Minnesota’s public programs that serve populations with high smoking rates (Head Start,
Women, Infants and Children [WIC], etc.).

Health system integration

We are supporting health system integration in three ways. The first is through our systems
change grants. These grants provide an opportunity for health systems to make the delivery of
tobacco treatment a standard practice of care and to fully integrate systems change strategies
that can be sustained over time. Through our granting initiative, we have funded five
Minnesota health systems. Each grant lasts for two years. Three health systems were funded in
Fiscal Year 2014 and two were funded in Fiscal Year 2015. The three grantees funded in Fiscal
Year 2014 ended in April 2016 and successfully implemented comprehensive strategies for
assessing and addressing patients’ tobacco use within their health system. Example
accomplishments include creating standard tobacco use assessment and treatment processes,
modifying electronic health records to support the processes, defining roles and leveraging the
expertise of members of the care delivery team to carry out the new process, and
implementing ongoing trainings about the new process.

Our second approach is through our new capacity-building project. The goal of our capacity-
building work is to provide Minnesota health systems with the appropriate tools and resources
to improve their performance on assessing and addressing tobacco use. We also work to build
internal health system capacity to help sustain these changes.
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On August 17, 2015, we released a Request for Qualifications (RFQ) titled Health Systems
Change Capacity Building Contract for Assessing and Addressing Tobacco Use. The purpose of
this RFQ was to seek a vendor to work closely with ClearWay Minnesota staff to elevate
addressing tobacco use as a priority among health systems, to provide information and
resources to support such work, and to use other strategies that will result in increased capacity
for assessing and addressing tobacco use. A panel of internal staff and external experts
convened to review the proposals submitted. After evaluating each applicant’s capabilities, past
relevant experience and fee structure, the panel recommended awarding the cessation policy
consulting contract to the Institute for Clinical Systems Improvement (ICSl). The Board

approved this recommendation on November 11, 2015.

ICSl is an independent, nonprofit organization with extensive experience in health systems
change located in Bloomington, Minnesota. Working closely with ICSI, we completed an in-
depth planning phase in Fiscal Year 2016. This included forming advisory groups to identify
opportunities, barriers and strategies to support health systems change, provide input into
future project activities, and begin to create buy-in among health systems and other
stakeholders for this work. A key insight discovered during the planning phase is the need to
elevate tobacco as a priority by sharing more on what health systems change for tobacco
dependence is and why it is important. This includes creating champions within and among
health systems and providing a mechanism for sharing ideas and strategies.

The third area of this work includes elevating tobacco use as a priority and better integrating
opportunities to improve how tobacco use is addressed in statewide health care reform
models. Staff have shared information about our health systems change work and
opportunities to leverage it in other state programs, primarily those funded by the Minnesota
Department of Health and the Minnesota Department of Human Services. We also continue to
build relationships to inform future work and partnerships in this area.

Systems change in public programs

As part of the ongoing efforts to help publicly funded programs elevate the importance of
addressing tobacco and integrating tobacco conversations into service delivery, ClearWay
Minnesota continued its partnership with the Minnesota Head Start Association. The key
activity during Fiscal Year 2016 was a presentation on tobacco at a statewide meeting and a
conversation with Head Start program directors to strategize on continuing this work within
Head Start programs. ClearWay Minnesota will continue these efforts in the upcoming fiscal
year.

From July 1, 2015, to December 31, 2015, Halleland Habicht Consulting, L.L.C., assisted
ClearWay Minnesota in our cessation policy work.

On August 17, 2015, a Request for Qualifications (RFQ) was released seeking a cessation policy
consultant to work collaboratively with staff in continuing efforts to ensure access to
comprehensive tobacco dependence treatment for all Minnesotans. Applicants were asked to
describe relevant experience in health care policy work and to complete a strategic assignment
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outlining a collaborative approach to achieving ClearWay Minnesota’s goals around health
insurance benefit design, health care quality measurement and health systems integration. A
panel of internal staff and external experts convened to review the single proposal submitted.
After evaluating the applicant’s capabilities, past relevant experience, fee structure and
strategic capabilities, the panel recommended awarding the cessation policy consulting
contract to MS Strategies, L.L.C. The Board approved this recommendation on November 11,
2015.

MS Strategies provided assistance to ClearWay Minnesota from January 1, 2016, through the
duration of Fiscal Year 2016. In May of 2016, the Board approved a subsequent contract with
MS Strategies to continue assisting us through Fiscal Year 2017.

Cessation policy evaluation

In Fiscal Year 2016, ClearWay Minnesota staff and external evaluator Professional Data
Analysts, Inc. (PDA), continued using an evaluation framework finalized in 2014 to effectively
assess our cessation policy work. PDA prepared a report documenting progress toward our
cessation policy goals and summarizing work in this area. ClearWay Minnesota also worked
with PDA to create and implement a process evaluation plan for our health systems change
grants. The plan will allow us to understand how the work is progressing, to identify lessons
learned for other health systems and to judge whether progress made during the grant period
is sustained after funding has ended.

Other Initiatives

State and national partnerships

ClearWay Minnesota has been instrumental in forging relationships and partnerships to
advance both cessation services and policies. Such partnerships help improve these services
and policies for Minnesotans, facilitate coordination and avoid duplication of efforts. Key
partnerships include:

e American Lung Association: The National Chapter of the American Lung Association has
a tobacco cessation policy project that provides up-to-date information and tools for
advocates, policymakers, media and smokers. This project includes multiple cessation
policy-focused workgroups of which ClearWay Minnesota staff are active members.
Staff works frequently with the American Lung Association to learn from other states
doing similar work and to disseminate our work nationally.

e (Call it Quits Collaborative: The Call it Quits Collaborative is a partnership that includes
the major health insurers in Minnesota (Blue Cross and Blue Shield of Minnesota,
HealthPartners, Medica, PreferredOne and UCare) and ClearWay Minnesota. The
Minnesota Department of Health is an ex officio member. A primary goal of the
collaborative is to allow health care providers to have better access to the tobacco
quitline services operated by each organization. As a result of the collaborative’s work,
health care providers can use a single form and fax number to refer patients who use
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tobacco to quitline support. Quitline services and cessation benefits offered by the
insurers have also been strengthened.

Minnesota Department of Health: The Minnesota Department of Health and ClearWay
Minnesota collaborate on many activities, including cessation-focused work. ClearWay
Minnesota partnered with the Department on a grant proposal to the U.S. Centers for
Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) in Fiscal Year 2014, which was funded in Fiscal
Year 2015. These funds supported a new outreach initiative targeting Medical
Assistance and MinnesotaCare enrollees, informing them that they have cessation
coverage through their health insurance. This work continued in Fiscal Year 2016; a
proposal to continue this work for a third year is under review at CDC. Additionally,
ClearWay Minnesota partnered with the Departments of Health and Human Services on
CDC’s 6|18 initiative, which focuses on reducing tobacco use among Medical Assistance
enrollees.

Minnesota Department of Human Services: ClearWay Minnesota is working with the
Minnesota Department of Human Services to identify ways to help address tobacco use
among Minnesota Medical Assistance and MinnesotaCare enrollees. In Fiscal Year 2016,
this partnership focused on 6|18 initiative activities as well as on opportunities to
elevate treating tobacco use among state-run health care reform initiatives such as the
Integrated Health Partnership program.

Minnesota Department of Commerce: As a part of our benefit design work (see
Cessation Policy — Benefit Design, p. 25), staff members have worked with the
Minnesota Department of Commerce to facilitate implementation of the Affordable
Care Act’s changes to tobacco cessation coverage.

Minnesota Management and Budget: As a state agency, Minnesota Management and
Budget administers the State Employees Group Insurance Program (SEGIP), which
provides health insurance and wellness programs primarily to state employees. As a part
of our benefit design work (see Cessation Policy — Benefit Design, p. 25), staff worked
with Minnesota Management and Budget staff to ensure state employees have access
to a comprehensive tobacco cessation health insurance benefit as mandated by the
Affordable Care Act.

North American Quitline Consortium (NAQC): The North American Quitline Consortium
(NAQC) is a consortium of quitlines across North America that shares information and
best practices. ClearWay Minnesota is an active member of NAQC and shares
information about QUITPLAN Services with Consortium members on an ongoing basis.
The Consortium also serves as a repository of knowledge and best practices, allowing
ClearWay Minnesota to continue to learn and improve services. Staff members serve on
NAQC's Board of Directors and Advisory Council.

Minnesota Head Start Association: The Minnesota Head Start Association (MHSA)
provides a unified voice for Head Start programs to speak about and act on issues
affecting low-income children and families, and works to improve Head Start programs
and policies. In July of 2014, the MHSA board approved a partnership with ClearWay
Minnesota to begin addressing tobacco with Head Start parents on a regular and
systematic basis. Our work with the MHSA and Head Start programs has been part of
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our systems change in public programs work. (See Cessation Policy — System Integration
— Systems Change in Public Programs, pp. 27-28.)

Dissemination

ClearWay Minnesota Cessation staff, grantees and contractors actively disseminate research
results, evaluation findings and other knowledge gained from our activities in publications and
at conferences and meetings. For details, please see Research — Dissemination, pp. 33-43.
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B. RESEARCH

ClearWay Minnesota funds research that will lead to reduced tobacco use and secondhand
smoke exposure in Minnesota. We encourage research that addresses tobacco use in
communities most affected by tobacco use and most targeted by tobacco industry marketing.
Since inception through June 30, 2016, ClearWay Minnesota has funded $29.7 million in
research program grants and contracts (plus an additional $7.1 million for evaluation projects).

Research Grants

ClearWay Minnesota awarded $650,000 in grant funding for five research projects and $10,000
for one research dissemination project during Fiscal Year 2016. Three grants are on the topic of
advancing tobacco regulatory science in Minnesota. Two of the tobacco regulatory science
projects address the use of menthol — one by measuring the impact of menthol electronic
cigarettes (e-cigarettes) on menthol cigarette smoking behaviors, and one using computer-
generated modeling to imagine the effects of several different point-of-sale policy regulations.
Another regulatory science grant funded in Fiscal Year 2016 will assess policies regarding point-
of-sale marketing on American Indian reservations.

One grant will fund a pilot project to implement a successful, culturally relevant family tobacco
intervention program into Chicano/Latino community organizations in Minnesota. The pilot
project is funded through the University of Minnesota’s Program in Health Disparities Research.
One additional grant raised the amount of a previously awarded grant for increasing quit
attempts among adult smokers in American Indian health clinics.

Finally, the dissemination grant was to further distribute the findings of previously funded
research on using a culturally tailored approach to proven cessation treatment within American
Indian health systems.

Specifically, the grants were awarded to:

e The University of Minnesota (Principal Investigator Michael Kotlyar, Pharm.D.), for an
amount not to exceed $125,000 for a term of 24 months; grant titled “Menthol-Flavored
E-Cigarette Use During a Simulated Ban of Menthol Cigarettes.” This study intends to
measure the impact of menthol flavored e-cigarettes on tobacco use behavior, and to
determine if the impact of menthol e-cigarettes is moderated by a hypothetical ban on
menthol cigarettes.

e The University of Minnesota and American Indian Cancer Foundation (Principal
Investigators Rachel Widome, Ph.D., and Kristine Rhodes, M.P.H.), for an amount not to
exceed $125,000 for a term of 24 months; grant titled “Impacts of Commercial Tobacco
Marketing on American Indian Reservations.” This study will describe the types and
variations in formal and informal policies and practices in tribal Nations that govern how
commercial tobacco is marketed and sold, and to determine community perceptions of
commercial tobacco marketing at the point of sale.
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e Public Health Law Center (Principal Investigator, Maggie Mahoney, J.D.), for an amount
not to exceed $250,000 for a term of 24 months; grant titled “Agent-Based Modeling to
Measure the Impact of Menthol and Retailer Density Policies in Minnesota.” This project
will identify current local and state-level tobacco control point-of-sale policy and activity
areas, and build an agent-based computational model designed to assess the potential
behavioral effects of policies restricting menthol cigarettes and retailer density in a
variety of Minnesota communities.

e The American Indian Cancer Foundation, for an amount not to exceed $10,000 for a
term of 12 months. The grant will further disseminate the findings of the previously
funded study “American Indian Systems for Tobacco Addiction Treatment.”

e The University of Minnesota Program in Health Disparities Research, for a 12-month
grant, not to exceed $25,000, to fund a pilot project, “Building Participatory
Dissemination Tools for a Latino Youth Smoking Prevention Study.” The award uses
translational science to work with communities on implementing a culturally-tailored
smoking prevention and cessation program.

e The American Indian Cancer Foundation, for an increase in funds for their grant project
titled “American Indian Health Systems Support for Improving Quit Assistance and Quit
Rates.” This 32-month project, with an original not to exceed amount of $250,000, will
engage American Indian health systems in a culturally tailored intervention to increase
quit attempts, effective cessation assistance and quit rates. The addition of $125,000
was made with Board approval so that more clinics than originally anticipated could join
the project.

Research Contracts

Technical assistance
The University of Wisconsin Center for Tobacco Research and Intervention (UW-CTRI) provides
technical assistance to research staff and grantees, including:

e Reverse site visits to discuss progress;

e Manuscript review and critique;

e Assistance preparing for conferences or other dissemination efforts; and
e Improving research design and other support as needed.

The UW-CTRI technical assistance team also provides staff with collaboration and dissemination
opportunities and reference librarian services as needed. Additionally, UW-CTRI invites
ClearWay Minnesota staff to attend the weekly seminars that the organization holds on
tobacco control and other health topics. In Fiscal Year 2016, UW-CTRI provided consultation on
a number of special projects, including ClearWay Minnesota’s Research Request for Proposals
and grantee manuscripts.
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Finally, UW-CTRI technical assistance has provided a unique service to some of our secondhand
smoke grantees in the last fiscal year. When this cohort of grantees began their projects (in
2014), UW-CTRI worked with ClearWay
Minnesota’s Research staff to bring
them together and discuss some of the
broader issues and connections
between their very different areas of
work. As the grants came to an end,
another day-long meeting was held to
discuss the outcomes of their
respective projects as well as
opportunities for synergy in policy
actions related to secondhand smoke
exposure. UW-CTRI is currently working
with these grantees on a joint
submission of manuscripts based on
the outcomes of these studies, to be
published in a peer-reviewed journal.

Dissemination ClearWay Minnesota’™ Research grantees
. Lo . talk with staff and technical assistance
We place a high priority on translation providers at a reverse site visit

and dissemination of ClearWay

Minnesota-funded research and programs. Consequently, we encourage grantees to explore
opportunities to publicize and share findings, and we make dissemination awards for activities
that share knowledge and tools resulting from ClearWay Minnesota-funded research. In
addition, ClearWay Minnesota staff actively disseminates research results, evaluation findings
and other knowledge gained from our activities in publications and at conferences and
meetings. Dissemination of this sort has established ClearWay Minnesota as a tobacco control
leader, and our findings have advanced knowledge, practices and policies that reduce tobacco’s
harm.

Surveillance: Minnesota Adult Tobacco Survey (MATS) Follow-Up Study 2015

The Minnesota Adult Tobacco Survey (MATS) is a large-scale surveillance project that monitors
progress in reducing tobacco use among Minnesotans. MATS collects in-depth surveillance data
on tobacco use, and cigarette smoking in particular, in the adult population of Minnesota.
MATS is the most comprehensive source of information about smoking prevalence, behaviors,
attitudes and beliefs among Minnesota adults. Additionally, MATS provides a scientific base
from which ClearWay Minnesota evaluates many activities and programs.

ClearWay Minnesota, in collaboration with partner organizations, has conducted five rounds of
MATS (in 1999, 2003, 2007, 2010 and 2014). Technical reports and fact sheets are available at
www.mnadulttobaccosurvey.org.
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In Fiscal Year 2016, ClearWay Minnesota conducted a follow-up survey with smokers and
recent quitters who were identified in the 2014 MATS and consented to be re-contacted for
research purposes. The intention of the survey was to gather additional information on e-
cigarette use and quitting behaviors among smokers and recent quitters. This work included
data collection in July of 2015. Results will be released through a variety of future conference
presentations and peer-reviewed publications.

Publications

One of ClearWay Minnesota’s priorities is to disseminate findings from research, evaluations
and other initiatives to other audiences. The goal of sharing this information is to help advance
the field of tobacco prevention and control in Minnesota and elsewhere. ClearWay Minnesota
staff, grantees and partners published a large number of peer-reviewed articles during Fiscal
Year 2016 on a range of topics, including findings from the 2014 MATS.

e “APilot Product Preference Study of Electronic Cigarettes and Nicotine Gum as Potential
Smoking Cessation Aids for African American Menthol Smokers,” by Christina Richards,
Sara Eischen, Anne Joseph, Dorothy Hatsukami, Joanne D’Silva, Philippe Gaillard and
Kolawole Okuyemi, Tobacco Regulatory Science. This paper identified preferences
among African American menthol smokers. African American menthol smokers in this
pilot study strongly preferred e-cigarettes as well as menthol-flavored products.

e “Tobacco User Characteristics and Outcomes Related to Intensity of Quitline Program
Use: Results From Minnesota and Pennsylvania,” by Rebecca Lien, Barbara Schillo, Jay
Mast, Amy Lukowski, Lija Greenseid, Jennifer Keith and Paula Keller, Journal of Public
Health Management and Practice. This study combines multiple factors of quitline
program use across two states to describe how participants use a five-call program,
assess whether intensity of program use is associated with participant subgroups and
assess whether key outcomes such as quitting and satisfaction are associated with
intensity.

e “A Case Study for Redesigning Tobacco Cessation Services: Gaining Critical Insights from
Current and Former Smokers,” by Marietta Dreher, Barbara Schillo, Molly Hull, Valerie
Esqueda and Andrea Mowery, Social Marketing Quarterly. This case study presents an
initiative that sought to understand the needs of current and former smokers in
Minnesota as part of an effort to redesign tobacco cessation services and engage more
smokers in the quitting process. Guidelines for redesigning services based on this
exploratory research are offered.

e “Developing Capacity, Skills and Tobacco Control Networks to Address Tobacco-Related
Disparities: Leadership and Advocacy Institute to Advance Minnesota’s Parity for Priority
Populations (LAAMPP),” by Linda Bosma, Raffaele Vacca, Jaime Martinez, Raymond
Boyle and Rod Lew, Journal of Health Disparities Research and Practice. This paper
describes and evaluates the LAAMPP Institute, and discusses lessons learned through
the Institute and future directions for community-based tobacco-control efforts. The
results of LAAMPP suggest that a cross-cultural leadership institute contributes to the
successful development of capacity and leadership skills among diverse populations and
may be a useful model for others working toward health equity. (See also Community
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Development — Community Development Contracts — Leadership and Advocacy Institute
to Advance Minnesota’s Parity for Priority Populations [LAAMPP], pp. 68-70.)
“Evaluating an Excise Tax on Electronic Cigarette Consumption: Early Results,” by
Michael Amato and Raymond Boyle, Tobacco Regulatory Science. Minnesota
simultaneously raised taxes on cigarettes and e-cigarettes in 2013. This is the first study
to report the effect of a tax increase on e-cigarette sales. These tax increases were
associated with a short-term spike in e-cigarette consumption at convenience stores,
followed by a decline.

“Deniers and Admitters: Examining Smoker Identities in a Changing Tobacco
Landscape,” by John Kingsbury, Michael Parks, Michael Amato and Raymond Boyle,
Nicotine and Tobacco Research. This paper examined smoker identity in the context of
emerging tobacco products and ongoing, statewide tobacco control programs.

“Why the World Will Never be Tobacco-Free: Reframing ‘Tobacco Control’ Into a
Traditional Tobacco Movement,” by Gina Boudreau, Carol Hernandez, Donna Hoffer,
Kathleen Starlight Preuss, Linda Tibbetts-Barto, Nicole Toves Villaluz and Sheryl Scott,
American Journal of Public Health. This article shares insights on understanding the
history of tobacco control in Indian Country, and on how to move forward in creating
change to achieve health equity using culturally based solutions. It provides
recommendations for tribes, non-Indian advocates and funders. The coordinators
provided personal stories and teachings as part of this article for people to understand
why they do this work to honor their ancestors. (See also Community Development —
Community Development Grants — Tribal Tobacco Education and Policy Initiative [TTEP]
— Evaluation of the Tribal Education and Policy Initiative [TTEP], p. 63.)

“Reaching Consumers: How the Tobacco Industry Uses Email Marketing,” by Betsy
Brock, Samantha Carlson, Molly Moilanen and Barbara Schillo, Preventive Medicine
Reports. Little is known about tobacco company email marketing and this study fills an
identified research gap by analyzing a subset of direct-to-consumer email promotions
sent to Minnesotans. A deeper understanding of this type of marketing is needed in
order to counter tobacco industry messaging and advance tobacco control in Minnesota
and nationally.

“Using Online Message Testing to Evaluate TV Ads, Select Effective Messaging and
Improve Public Health Campaigns,” by Andrea Mowery, Paul Riedesel, Marietta Dreher,
Barbara Schillo and Jessie Saul, Social Marketing Quarterly. This paper describes two
examples of online ad testing used to assess effectiveness of tobacco control ads in
Minnesota and how those results have been used.

“Price-Minimizing Behaviors in a Cohort of Smokers Before and After a Cigarette Tax
Increase,” by Anne Betzner, Raymond Boyle and Ann St. Claire, International Journal of
Environmental Research and Public Health. This paper examined smoking and
purchasing behaviors and the rationale behind choosing various approaches for
reducing the cost of tobacco products after a tax increase.

ClearWay Minnesota Senior Research Program Manager Ann St. Claire and Director of
Research Dr. Raymond Boyle also published a commentary in the October 2015 issue of
Minnesota Medicine, the journal of the Minnesota Medical Society, titled “The
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Clinician’s Role in Addressing Disparities in Tobacco Use.” This commentary discussed
the variation in tobacco prevalence across Minnesota’s diverse communities and
recommendations for how clinicians can tailor discussions with patients.

One publication made a particularly large impact in Fiscal Year 2016. Former ClearWay
Minnesota Research Post-Doctoral Fellow Dr. Michael Amato (now a Research Fellow at the
Truth Initiative) and ClearWay Minnesota Director of Research Programs Dr. Raymond Boyle
published an article titled “How to Define E-Cigarette Prevalence: Finding Clues in the Use
Frequency Distribution” in the journal Tobacco Control in June of 2015. Since that time, not only
has the article been widely cited in other researchers’ work and mentioned in numerous
conference presentations, it was also chosen as the “Editor’s Choice” article and highlighted in

a worldwide email promotion sponsored by the publication, the British Medical Journal.

The most significant finding from this paper was that defining prevalence by past 30-day use
may not be the most accurate measure for e-cigarettes, as it may capture many people who are
only experimenting.

Frequency of E-cig use among Curren! Smokens
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ClearWay Minnesota™ staff published an article
examining how e-cigarette prevalence is measured

The recognition of this paper nationally and internationally demonstrates the importance of the
work ClearWay Minnesota is doing in tobacco control research.

Conference presentations

ClearWay Minnesota staff members, grantees and contractors also gave several presentations
at conferences and other events that shared findings from ClearWay Minnesota-funded
research projects.
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American Evaluation Association Conference

Ve AMERICAN

EVALUATION
D ASSOCIATION

Sheri Scott, Tribal Tobacco Education and Policy (TTEP) evaluator, and Carol Hernandez, TTEP
coordinator and elder from Mille Lacs, participated in the American Evaluation Association
conference in Chicago on November 13 and 14, 2015. (See Community Development —
Community Development Grants — Tribal Tobacco Education and Policy Initiative [TTEP], pp. 58-
65.) They attended several sessions of the Indigenous Evaluation Topical Interest Group and
networked with indigenous evaluators from across the country and from New Zealand. On
Saturday, November 14, Ms. Scott and Ms. Hernandez held a roundtable workshop, “Evaluation
Use — By Whom? For Whom? Engaging Indigenous Program Staff in Telling their Own Story.”

Seventh Annual National Tribal Public Health Summit

National Indian
Health Board
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TTEP Coordinators Carol Hernandez and Jessie Kier and TTEP Evaluator Sheri Scott at the
Annual Meeting of the National Tribal Health Summit

37



This year’s National Tribal Public Health Summit, on the theme of “Achieving Health Equity: Re-
Envisioning Tribal Public Health for Seven Generations,” included presentations by Ms.
Hernandez and Ms. Scott as well as by Jessie Kier, a tribal grantee from the White Earth Nation.
(See Community Development — Community Developent Grants — Tribal Tobacco Education and
Policy Initiative [TTEP] — White Earth Nation, p. 62.) Their workshop, “Think Tribally, Act Locally:
Strategies to Support Tribal Policy Work on Health Issues,” focused on sharing lessons learned
on policy advocacy within sovereign tribal Nations. Ms. Hernandez opened the workshop with a
traditional tobacco (asemaa) prayer and shared the importance of restoring traditional tobacco
practices. She followed with a discussion of conducting work on tobacco policy within her
sovereign tribal government. Ms. Kier then spoke on her strategy of using a coalition to work on
tobacco policy, as well as on her work to promote building a smoke-free casino at White Earth.

National Conference on Tackling Tobacco Use in Vulnerable Populations

National Conference on Tackling
Tobacco Use in Vulnerable Populations

October 5 - 6, 2015 @ Bethesda, Maryland

Senior Research Manager Joanne D’Silva
presented a poster titled “An Examination of
Trends in Tobacco Disparities by Socioeconomic
Status in Minnesota” at the National Conference
on Tackling Tobacco Use in Vulnerable
Populations in Bethesda, Md. Findings from this
study suggest that complementing known
population-level strategies with community and
individual-level approaches are necessary to
eliminate the widening gap in smoking disparities
and to end the burden of tobacco-related disease
for populations of low socioeconomic status.

ClearWay Minnesota*™ Senior Research Program Manager
Joanne D’Silva (l.) with former acting Surgeon General
Boris Lushniak
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International Network for Social Network Analysis (INSNA) Annual Conference

In April, Dr. Linda Bosma, evaluator of the Leadership Institute to Advance
I N S A Minnesota’s Parity for Priority Populations (LAAMPP) attended the

International Network on Social Network Analysis conference in Newport
Beach, Calif., the professional association of researchers who conduct Social Network Analysis.
She presented findings from the evaluation of networks developed by LAAMPP [l Fellows. (See
Community Development — Community Development Contracts — Leadership and Advocacy
Institute to Advance Minnesota’s Parity for Priority Populations [LAAMPP] — Post-Program
Survey Report — LAAMPP |ll, pp. 68-70.) The presentation showed that Fellows had developed
larger, more extensive and diverse networks both within their own communities and with
statewide tobacco control networks, expanding tobacco control expertise to diverse
communities while connecting them to mainstream tobacco control networks in Minnesota.

Society for Research on Nicotine and Tobacco Annual Meeting (SRNT)

SOCIETY ror RESEARCH

oN NICOTINE & TOBACCO

Several staff, grantees and partners attended the 22" Annual Meeting of the Society for
Research on Nicotine and Tobacco (SRNT) in Chicago in March of 2016. The conference
provided opportunities to learn about cutting-edge tobacco science and policy research.

ClearWay Minnesota’s Director of Research Programs, Dr. Raymond Boyle, chaired a
symposium titled “How Should We Tax Electronic Nicotine Delivery Systems? Analyzing Current
Evidence to Inform Future Policy.” The panel of national experts also included Dr. Michael
Amato, a former ClearWay Minnesota employee who is now a research fellow at Truth
Initiative. Dr. Boyle also co-authored a related presentation titled, “Modeling the Impact of
Tobacco Control Policies on Cigarette and Smokeless Tobacco Use.”

Dr. Raymond Boyle, Director of Research Programs at ClearWay Minnesota*"
(center), leads a panel discussion at the 2016 Society for Research on Nicotine and
Tobacco (SRNT) annual conference
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ClearWay Minnesota’s Senior Research Program
Manager Joanne D’Silva gave two oral
presentations: “Building an Evidence Base for
Reducing Smoking Disparities Between
Indigenous and Non-Indigenous Peoples,” and
“Correlates of Menthol Cigarette Use Among
American Indian Smokers in Minnesota.” Both
highlighted how ClearWay Minnesota’s research
addresses the unique challenges of tobacco
control among our state’s diverse populations.

Senior Research Program Manager Joanne D’Silva at the 2016
Society for Research on Nicotine and Tobacco (SRNT) annual
conference

Staff, partners, and grantees also shared findings through numerous poster presentations:

Authors

Poster Title

Barbara Schillo, Paula Keller, Rebecca Lien,
Randi Lachter, Amy Kerr, Emily Subialka

Offering Consumers Choices: Patterns of
Service Selection in a Multi-Service Cessation
Program

Betsy Brock, Samantha Carlson, Molly
Moilanen, Barbara Schillo

Reaching Consumers: How the Tobacco
Industry Uses Email Marketing

Katrina Vickerman, Stacey Mahuna-Branter,
Paula Keller, Marietta Dreher, Barbara Schillo

Do Targeted Outreach Methods Increase
Smokers’ Re-Engagement in Quitline
Services?: Results From a Randomized
Quality Improvement Project

Kelvin Choi, Debra Bernat, Raymond Boyle

Exposure to and Engagement With Tobacco
Marketing Among Youth and Adult Smokers
by Metropolitan Status

Michael Amato, Joanne D’Silva, Raymond
Boyle

Slowing Menthol’s Progress: Differential
Impact of a Tobacco Tax Increase on
Cigarette Sales

Emily Subialka, Rebecca Lien, Michael Amato,
Erin O'Gara

Looking at Frequency of E-Cigarette Use
Among Cessation-Seekers Versus the General
Population in Minnesota: Considering the
Measurement of E-Cigarette Use

Amy Kerr, Rebecca Lien,, Barbara Schillo,
Randi Lachter, Vanessa Kittelson

NRT Starter Kits and Quit Rates: What
Influences Quitting?
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Staff continued to share new findings from the 2014 Minnesota Adult Tobacco Survey (MATS)
at the SRNT Annual Meeting. SRNT posters using MATS data are listed below:

Authors

Poster Title

Raymond Boyle, Joanne D’Silva, Cassandra
Stanton, Charles Carusi

Are We Minding the Gap?: An Examination of
Trends in Tobacco Disparities by
Socioeconomic Status in Minnesota

Michael Amato, Raymond Boyle, David Levy

E-Cigarette Use Frequency and Smoking
Cessation in a Prospective Cohort

John Kingsbury, Michael Parks, Michael
Amato, Raymond Boyle

Denier Versus Admitter Smoking Status in a
Population-Based Study

Michael Amato, Raymond Boyle, Rebecca
Lien

Use of Tobacco and Tobacco Cessation
Services in Urban and Rural Minnesota

Michael Amato, Raymond Boyle, David Levy

Differentiating Persistent E-Cigarette Users:
Assessing the Accuracy of Use Frequency as a
Predictive Measure

John Kingsbury, Michael Parks, Michael
Amato, Raymond Boyle

Using the Trans-Theoretical Model to
Evaluate a Statewide Tobacco Tax Increase

Raymond Boyle, Erin O’Gara, Joanne D’Silva

Are Current Minnesota Smokers More
Nicotine-Addicted? Testing the Hardening
Hypothesis: 1999-2014
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ClearWay Minnesota®™ staff and their posters
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ClearWay Minnesota Research grantees had a very productive year for dissemination. In
addition to the following presentations at SRNT, there were four peer-reviewed publications,
three additional conference presentations and several webinars and listserv mailings to share
findings from their ClearWay Minnesota-funded work.

e Grantee David Bohac from the Center for
Energy and Environment presented a
poster titled “Passenger Vehicle
Secondhand Smoke Particulate
Measurements”;

e Grantee Kerry Cork from the Public Health
Law Center presented a poster
“Addressing Tobacco-Related Health
Disparities in Assisted Living (‘Adult Foster
Care’) Residences”;

e Grantees Deb Hennrikus and Rachel
Widome from the
University of Minnesota
presented “Smoke-free
Policy Implementations in
Public Housing Buildings”;
and

e Grantee Anne Joseph from
the University of
Minnesota presented
“Concurrent Childhood
Screening for Lead and
Tobacco Smoke Exposure
at Well-Child Visits.”

ClearWay Minnesota’™ Research
grantees and their SRNT posters
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Other conferences

ClearWay Minnesota staff members, grantees and contractors presented at or
attended a number of other conferences throughout the year, including
meetings of the Minnesota Tobacco Control Comprehensive Framework
partners, the Minnesota Department of Health’s Health Care
Homes/Statewide Innovation Model Learning Days conference, the Minnesota
Community Measurement Seminar, the national Tobacco Control Network, the
U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) National Conference on
Health Communications, Marketing and Media, the North American Quitline
Consortium (NAQC) Conference, the National Summit on Smokeless and Spit
Tobacco, the Many Faces of Community Health Conference, the Agents of
Change Summit and the Oklahoma state Tobacco Control Network.

Grantees from the Association for Nonsmokers-Minnesota
and NorthPoint Health and Wellness Center present at the
National Summit on Smokeless and Spit Tobacco
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Research shows public policies that reduce secondhand smoke exposure and make tobacco
products less accessible work with quit-smoking services to reduce tobacco’s harm.

In compliance with the Court Order of February 25, 2003, approving ClearWay Minnesota’s
New Comprehensive Plans for Governance and Individual Smoking Cessation Activities,
ClearWay Minnesota spends at least as much on individual cessation as on environmental
approaches that reduce tobacco’s harm, such as policy change. As long as parity between
individual cessation and environmental programs is maintained, the Court permits the
ClearWay Minnesota Board of Directors to approve work supporting the creation,
implementation and defense of public policies to reduce tobacco’s harm. From inception,
ClearWay Minnesota has awarded $43.2 million to programs supporting individual-level
cessation and $24.9 million to environmentally based programs. In addition, $9.9 million has
been spent on surveillance/assessment programs, $9.3 million on capacity-building programs
and $1.1 million on other programs.

Statewide Policy Work

Minnesotans for a Smoke-Free Generation

In 2016 ClearWay Minnesota and partners launched Minnesotans for a Smoke-Free Generation,
a new coalition of organizations that share the goal of saving Minnesota youth from a lifetime
of addiction to tobacco. The coalition’s policy priorities are:

1. Raising the tobacco purchase age to 21.
Ninety-five percent of adult smokers
started before the age of 21. Widening the
gap between teens and those who can
legally purchase tobacco reduces kids’
ability to buy it or access it through social
networks.

2. Restricting sales of flavored tobacco
products. The tobacco industry uses
candy, fruit and menthol flavors to appeal
to youth, African Americans, Lesbian, Gay,
Bisexual, Transgender and Queer (LGBTQ)
communities and others. More than 40
percent of U.S. students who smoke use
flavored products, and restrictions will
help keep them out of young people’s hands.
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3. Increasing public funding for tobacco control efforts. Programs that help people quit
tobacco and prevent youth from becoming addicted save lives, but funding sources for
these programs in Minnesota are declining. Increasing funding for tobacco prevention
efforts is a proven way to reduce tobacco use.

4. Keeping tobacco prices high. This is the most effective way to prevent kids from
becoming addicted to tobacco products. High prices discourage youth from starting and
encourage current smokers to quit.

Minnesotans for a Smoke-Free Generation
par.tners mcItfde: A HeaIthlgr Southwest.; MINNESOTANS FOR A
African American Leadership Forum; Allina

Health; American Cancer Society — Cancer ® S M O K E = F R E E
Action Network; American Heart
“q GENERATION

Association; American Lung Association in

Minnesota; Apple Tree Dental; Association

for Nonsmokers-Minnesota; Blue Cross and

Blue Shield of Minnesota; CentraCare Health; Children's Defense Fund-Minnesota; Children's
Hospitals and Clinics of Minnesota; ClearWay Minnesota; Comunidades Latinas Unidas En
Servicio — CLUES; Essentia Health; Four Corners Partnership; Gillette Children's Specialty
Healthcare; HealthEast; HealthPartners; Hennepin County Medical Center; LAAMPP Institute;
Lincoln Park Children and Families Collaborative; Local Public Health Association of Minnesota;
March of Dimes; Mayo Clinic; Medica; Minnesota Academy of Family Physicians; Minnesota
Association of Community Health Centers; Minnesota Cancer Alliance; Minnesota Chapter of
the American Academy of Pediatrics; Minnesota Council of Health Plans; Minnesota Hospital
Association; Minnesota Medical Association; Minnesota Oral Health Coalition; Minnesota Public
Health Association; Model Cities of St. Paul, Inc.; North Memorial Health Care; NorthPoint
Health and Wellness Center; PartnerSHIP 4 Health; Rainbow Health Initiative; SEIU Healthcare
Minnesota; Tobacco Free Alliance; and Twin Cities Medical Society.

The coalition decided not to introduce any proactive legislation in 2016, but instead began a
conversation with state legislators about how we could work together to create a smoke-free
future.

Tobacco issues became a point of controversy at the close of the 2016 Minnesota Legislative
Session. The final tax bill that passed out of both chambers contained more than $30 million in
tax breaks for the tobacco industry. These included a repeal of an annual tobacco tax increase
to adjust for inflation, a large cut to the tax on Big Tobacco’s brands of e-cigarettes, and the
omission of other provisions to close loopholes and enhance enforcement of existing tobacco
laws.

In the final week of session, Minnesota health advocates raised awareness of the bill’s tobacco
components. The tax cuts were publicly criticized by Minnesotans for a Smoke-Free Generation,
by the state Health Commissioner Dr. Edward Ehlinger and by editorial boards around the state.
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A number of lawmakers joined the chorus of criticism, speaking against the cuts on the House
and Senate floors in the final hours.

After session ended, Governor Mark Dayton publicly blasted the tobacco tax cuts, calling them
“very, very distressing.” Minnesotans for a Smoke-Free Generation sent the Governor a letter
thanking him for his support, and criticisms of the cuts continued to appear in online social
media and on the opinion pages of newspapers around the state.

On June 6, the Governor exercised a “pocket veto” of the tax bill by not signing it before its
midnight deadline. Health groups celebrated this development as a victory against Big Tobacco.

Day at the Capitol
On May 3, 2016, ClearWay Minnesota and Minnesotans for a Smoke-Free Generation hosted an
advocacy Day at the Capitol for coalition members and their networks of advocates.

Minnesotans at Day at the Capitol 2016

Over 250 participants, the majority of them youth,
traveled from around the state to meet with
lawmakers and receive advocacy training.
Participants met with their lawmakers and asked
them to support the coalition’s four priorities.

Attendees also heard inspirational words from
lawmakers at a morning rally.

Sen. Kathy Sheran (Mankato), chief Senate author of the s S
Freedom to Breathe Act, speaks at Day at the Capitol ) S M OK E -FREE

4 GENERATION

#mnleg
@smokefreegenMN
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We used this event to leverage earned and social media. Participants wrote letters to the editor
while at the Capitol, and after the event ClearWay Minnesota sent out locally tailored press
releases to newspapers around the state detailing meetings attendees had with their
legislators. There was also a significant following of our event on social media.

Northland students rally at the state capitol to save
youth from tobacco addiction
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Policy Champions

The Policy Champions Project provides alumni from the Leadership and Advocacy Institute to
Advance Minnesota’s Parity for Priority Populations (LAAMPP), a program that builds leadership
skills among members of Minnesota diverse communities, with an opportunity to further apply
their knowledge, networks, skills and experiences to ClearWay Minnesota’s state and local
tobacco control policy campaigns. (See Community Development — Contracts — Leadership and
Advocacy Institute to Advance Minnesota’s Parity for Priority Populations [LAAMPP], pp. 68-70.)

The Association for Nonsmokers-Minnesota (ANSR-MN) has been coordinating the project since
2015. In Fiscal Year 2016, eight Policy Champions were selected, and they contributed to
ClearWay Minnesota’s policy priorities. At the state level, Policy Champions helped introduce
the new coalition, Minnesotans for a Smoke-Free Generation, to legislators and defended
against tobacco industry attempts to roll back the 2013 tobacco tax increase. At the local level,
Policy Champions helped pass proven tobacco prevention policies.

For example:

e St. Paul passed an ordinance restricting the sale of fruit- and candy-flavored tobacco
products to adult-only tobacco product shops.

e Richfield passed an ordinance requiring cigars to be sold for a minimum of $2.60 each.

e Ramsey County passed a policy prohibiting the use of electronic cigarettes in indoor
public workplaces and prohibiting smoking within 25 feet of building entrances.

To help build support for future policy campaigns, Policy Champions met with elected officials,
submitted letters to the editor, educated their peers and networks, gave public presentations

and participated in the 2016 Day at the Capitol.

Public Affairs Contracts

In Fiscal Year 2016, ClearWay Minnesota’s Public Affairs Department contracted with the
following vendors:

e Lockridge Grindal Nauen, P.L.L.P., for government relations services;

e Himle Rapp & Company, for public affairs services;

e CustomScoop, for media tracking and analysis; and

e The Association for Nonsmokers-Minnesota (ANSR-MN), for tracking and analyzing
tobacco companies’ marketing tactics and for coordinating the LAAMPP Alumni Policy
Champions project.
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In September 2016, the ClearWay Minnesota Board approved the Public Affairs Department’s
request for a continuation of a sole-source contract with the Association for Nonsmokers-
Minnesota (ANSR-MN) to track and analyze the tobacco industry’s marketing tactics. This
research is unique in scope; no one else in the nation is tracking the tobacco industry’s direct
mail, online and other marketing tactics at this scale. The information gained from this project
continues to fill an important gap as we seek to understand tobacco marketing and combat the
industry’s effort to keep current tobacco users addicted and attract new customers. This
surveillance project allows us stay on top of an ever-evolving industry and is essential to helping
develop effective tobacco control policies.

In addition, the Public Affairs Department completed a competitive bid process for government
relations services. Lockridge Grindal Nauen was awarded the contract in July 2015. (This

process was described in detail in last year’s Report to the Court.)

Local Community Grants

ClearWay Minnesota funds local efforts to organize public support around tobacco control
policies and related issues. This year, we funded eight grantees to pass meaningful tobacco
control policies at the local level:

e The Greater Mankato chapter of the American Lung Association in Minnesota;
e The Northeast chapter of the American Lung Association in Minnesota;

e The Association for Nonsmokers-Minnesota (ANSR-MN);

e CentraCare Health Foundation (organizing the Crave the Change initiative);

e Clay-Wilkin Community Health Board (organizing PartnerSHIP 4 Health);

e Goodhue County (organizing the 4 Corners Partnership);

e NorthPoint Health and Wellness Center; and

e Southwest Health and Human Services (organizing a Healthier Southwest).
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Policy deliverables included:

e Establishing, expanding and mobilizing local coalitions of grassroots advocates through
community outreach and organizing;

e Educating the public about tobacco cessation, QUITPLAN Services, and public policy and
research aligned with ClearWay Minnesota’s Strategic Plan (see Organization — Fiscal
Year 2016 Board Initiatives — Strategic Planning — 2015-2017 Strategic Plan, pp. 6-7);
and

e Supporting statewide initiatives to reduce the harm of flavored tobacco products and
raise the age to purchase tobacco to 21.

In addition, the grantees selected optional policy advocacy deliverables to pursue, including:

e Establishing tobacco-free college campuses;

e Adding e-cigarettes to clean indoor air policies;

e Updating and strengthening local tobacco ordinances;

e Setting minimum prices for non-premium cigars; and

e Creating tobacco-free grounds policies at workplaces and healthcare facilities.

During Fiscal Year 2016, local policy grantees helped advance policies that reduce tobacco’s
harm at both the state and local level.
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Local grassroots accomplishments

Creating more tobacco-free spaces

Local policy grantee CentraCare Health Foundation helped Central Lakes College pass and
implement a tobacco-free grounds policy that includes e-cigarettes. CentraCare helped create
and place signage around Brainerd and Staples campuses to remind students, staff, faculty and
visitors that Central Lakes College is tobacco-free. The grantee also partnered with college staff
to highlight the new policy and promote QUITPLAN Services to anyone interested in quitting.

AKES COLLEGE

CENTRAL L

New sign at
Central Lakes
College

Central Lakes
College and
CentraCare
staff
promoting
the new
tobacco-free
campus
policy
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Setting minimum prices for non-premium cigars

Single or “little” cigars are often sold in flavors like strawberry and grape, and research shows
that flavored tobacco products appeal to children and teens. Single cigars are typically sold for
much less than cigarettes — sometimes as little as 99 cents for three cigars, making them

cheaper than most types of candy. Setting a minimum price for these products will help make
them less affordable and appealing to youth.

Cheap, sweet-flavored “little” cigars

Several of our local policy grantees have worked with cities and counties to pass policies that
set a minimum price of $2.60 for a single cigar, and to ensure that as pack sizes increase, so
does the price. This year the cities of Minneapolis, Richfield and Moorhead and Murray County
passed such policies. We expect the dramatic increase in price to make these products less
enticing and affordable for young people. Some grantees also sent the postcard below to
tobacco retailers to help them understand the policy and comply with it. It shows the new
pricing structure for non-premium cigars.

oct of faur or Beee
wing prces

A Pock of A Pock of A pack of 4 or more

1 Cigor for ot least 2 Cigars for of least 3 Cigars for ot keast cigars for of leqst

MURRAY

Minneapolis COUNTY

City of Lakes MOORHEAD I N

MINKELEIOTA
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E-cigarette policies

E-cigarettes are battery-operated devices that heat liquids to create an aerosol inhaled by the
user. Studies have found lower levels of carcinogens in e-cigarettes than in combustible tobacco
products, but their aerosol does contain nicotine, heavy metals and other harmful chemicals.
Research on e-cigarettes and smoking cessation is not conclusive. Studies suggest some types
of e-cigarettes may be helpful to people trying to quit smoking, while other research raises
concern that using both regular and e-cigarettes may make quitting harder.

There is also concern about the relationships between cigarette smoking, youth tobacco
initiation and e-cigarette use. In Minnesota, youth use of e-cigarettes has dramatically
increased. Most e-cigarettes contain nicotine, which is addictive and harmful to adolescent
brain development. E-cigarettes come in many flavors; flavored tobacco appeals to kids, and
vaping may raise teens’ risk for future smoking. Research has also found exposure to ads is
related to e-cigarette use — nearly 60 percent of Minnesota high-schoolers saw e-cigarette ads
on TV in the past month.

Studies have found that e-cigarettes pollute indoor air, and that exposure to the aerosol can
make people want to smoke cigarettes. As of 2016, only 50 percent of Minnesotans are fully
protected from e-cigarettes in their local communities. Statewide, e-cigarette use is prohibited
in some settings, including schools, hospitals and clinics, most government buildings, state
colleges and university facilities, and daycares, but it is still allowed in many workplaces.

Advocates including ClearWay Minnesota grantees are working to make sure public e-cigarette
use is prohibited in local jurisdictions. This year, ClearWay Minnesota and local policy grantees
called attention to the fact that 50 percent of the state’s population is now covered by local
protections, showing public support for such policies and a need for state action.

Many Minnesota communities have added
e-cigarettes to their tobacco policies
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ClearWay Minnesota will continue to support local efforts to protect Minnesotans from e-
cigarette use and to build momentum toward a statewide policy. Additionally, ClearWay
Minnesota will support local communities in making additional updates to their tobacco
ordinances as they address e-cigarettes, such as capping tobacco license numbers, limiting
tobacco retailer proximity to schools and other youth-frequented areas, and raising the
minimum age to sell tobacco to 18.
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Minnesota recently passed
a public health milestone. Just
over 50 percent of
Minnesotans are now protect-
ed from the harmful substanc-
es in secondhand e-cigarette
aerosol in their hometowns.
Dodge County is among the
30 cities and 21 counties in
our state that have updated
their policies to prohibit
e-cigarette use wherever

smoking is already prohibited.

1 am proud to live in a place
that values my health and the
air I breathe,

Many people might not
know that e-cigarettes aren't
currently included in our
statewide clean indoor air law
called the Freedom to Breathe

in all public workplaces,
including bars and restau-
rants.

Although the long-term
effects of e-cigarettes are
unknown, studies have found
their aerosol contains nico-
tine, heavy metals, formalde-
hyde and other carcinogens.
Allowing these noxious sub-
stances to be exhaled in
indoor public spaces shared
by others is a risk that my
community’s leaders have
decided is too big to take.

It's time for the state legis-
lature to take action and pro-
tect all Minnesotans where
they live and work. In the
meantime, city council mem-
bers and county commission-

tinue to take the lead and pro-
tect residents from the poten-
tial risks of secondhand e-cig-
arette exposure by passing
local policy, like our leaders
did in Dodge County.

1 applaud the counties and
cities that have taken action to
keep e-cigarette use out of
public spaces and | am happy
to live in one of them. With
79% of Minnesotans support-
ing this type of restriction on
public e-cigarette use, it's
time all Minnesotans benefit
from this protection.

Alicia Schumacher
Dodge County Public Health
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Minneapolis policy restricting flavored tobacco products

Documents released during lawsuits against cigarette companies reveal a deliberate strategy to
market tobacco to youth. Flavors are used to lure nonsmoking kids and young adults, with the
assumption they will later “graduate” to non-flavored products. Industry memos show
companies researched the appeal of sweet flavors to youth, including “borrowing” data on
flavors from Life Savers candy. On the witness stand in 1998, one tobacco executive
characterized the industry by saying, “If you are really and truly not going to sell to children,
you are going to be out of business in 30 years.”

This practice continues today. In 2009, the federal government banned flavor additives other
than menthol in cigarettes, but increasingly, cheap single cigars are sold in candy flavors,
including chocolate, grape, strawberry and others. Smokeless tobacco products also use flavors,
as do e-cigarettes, which are sold in an endless array of options; flavors seen in Minnesota
include Bubble Gum, Sour Patch and Hawaiian Punch.

Research shows almost 90 percent of addicted adult smokers began using tobacco as
teenagers, and while teen cigarette smoking in Minnesota is down, use of other tobacco
products like cigars and e-cigarettes is way up. The correlation between flavorings and youth
smoking is strong: nationwide, 42 percent of students who smoke use flavored products.

This year our local policy grantees the Association for Nonsmokers-Minnesota (ANSR-MN) and
NorthPoint Health and Wellness Center were instrumental in the city of Minneapolis passing a
policy to restrict the sale of flavored tobacco products to adult-only tobacco shops and set a
minimum price of $2.60 each for non-premium cigars.

Minneapolis youth, advocates and media were in the
audience when the final vote was taken, and several Council
Members took time to state their strong support for the
policy and thank the youth activism that launched this work.

Thanks to the work of advocates in Minneapolis, the flavor
restriction policy went into effect on January 1, 2016. Now
tobacco with such kid-friendly flavors as grape, chocolate
and cherry can only be sold in about 25 of the city’s 350+
licensed tobacco

vendors.

Mpls. bans convenience stores
from selling flavored tobacco

S tar];-
buhe
\\\7
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Efforts are underway to evaluate the impact of this policy and to provide support for future
efforts to restrict access to flavored tobacco. A case study documenting lessons learned in
passing the ordinance was completed and disseminated through state and national outlets.
(See Protecting Young People in Minneapolis: A Case Study in Limiting Flavored Tobacco and
Raising the Minimum Price of Cigars, Appendix N.) Observational assessments were conducted
before and after policy implementation to understand compliance with the policy and changes
in the retail environment. In addition, items were added to the 2016 Minnesota Student Survey
to assess the impact of the policy on youth tobacco use. Analysis of the evaluation data is
underway and will be shared widely with a variety of audiences in the near future.

Educating community members about the harm of menthol

Local policy grantees and coalition members have started educating community members and
decision makers about the power of menthol-flavored tobacco to addict smokers. They created
a new campaign called Menthol Tobacco: Beautiful Lie, Ugly Truth.

Tobacco companies add menthol to their products to cool the throat and make them taste
better. As a result, menthol-flavored tobacco products are easier to start using and harder to

quit. African Americans, youth and Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Transgender and Queer (LGBTQ)
communities are among those most targeted and affected by the use of menthol tobacco.

BEAUTIFUL N3
NI TRUTH

ABOUT MENTHOL TOBACCO

Advocates in the Twin Cities metro area worked together with our grantees ANSR-MN and
NorthPoint on a video project to voice their concern about how they have been targeted by the
tobacco industry. The video features a poem by local spoken-word artist Joe Davis. This poem
exposes the beautiful lies of the tobacco industry and the ugly truth of how menthol-flavored
tobacco harms communities.
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Joe Davis recites his poem, “Beautiful Lie, Ugly Truth”

Restricting the sale of fruit and candy-flavored tobacco was a huge step forward and shows the strong
leadership of city council members in Minneapolis. A future goal is to build community support for
adding menthol to the policy.

Evaluation of local policy grants

At the beginning of each year of funding, grantees are required to submit objectives and to track and
report progress toward achieving targets on a quarterly basis. Our staff reviews and approves all
objectives and provides tracking and feedback in response to the quarterly reports.

Additionally, each quarter, grantees are required to submit reports on their progress toward measurable
outcomes in the areas of public education, coalition building and policy advocacy. In Fiscal Year 2016,
the local policy grantees accomplished the following:

e Placed 163 pieces of earned and paid media;

e Made 116 public presentations about tobacco’s harm, QUITPLAN Services and tobacco policies;
e Participated in 140 community events;

e Conducted 342 activities that reached out to elected officials; and

e Passed 57 local policies that reduce exposure to secondhand smoke and decrease tobacco use.

We will continue to track the progress of local policy grantees and report their outcomes annually.
Dissemination
ClearWay Minnesota Public Affairs staff actively disseminates research results, evaluation findings and

other knowledge gained from our activities in publications and at conferences and meetings. For details,
please see Research — Dissemination, pp. 33-43.
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D. COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT

During Fiscal Year 2016, ClearWay Minnesota engaged members of diverse communities in
efforts to reduce the harm that commercial tobacco causes them. (Commercial tobacco refers
to manufactured products such as cigarettes, not to the sacred and traditional use of tobacco
by American Indians and other groups.)

ClearWay Minnesota identifies as “priority populations” groups of people who:

e Have higher prevalence of tobacco use;

e Are disproportionately impacted by tobacco’s harm;

e Are less likely to use tobacco cessation services; and/or
e Are targeted by the tobacco industry.

These populations include American Indians; Africans and African Americans; Chicanos/Latinos;
Asians, Asian Americans and Pacific Islanders; Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Transgender and Queer

(LGBTQ) communities; and other populations.

ClearWay Minnesota supports community development through grants and planning grants,
contracts, technical assistance, and training to develop leadership in these populations.

Community Development Grants

Tribal Tobacco Education and Policy initiative (TTEP)

Commercial tobacco abuse in American Indian Nations is a health crisis. Fifty-nine percent of
American Indians in Minnesota smoke cigarettes (compared to 14 percent of all Minnesota
adults), and five of the six leading causes of death among Native people are linked to
commercial tobacco use.

ClearWay Minnesota supports Minnesota’s American Indian advocates in work to advance
smoke-free policies on tribal lands. In 2016, we continued funding a Tribal Tobacco Education
and Policy (TTEP) initiative promoting American Indian health and advancing smoke-free tribal
government policies on tribal lands in Minnesota by:
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Restoring traditional and sacred tobacco use;

Addressing and reducing tobacco industry marketing and influence;
Creating formal and informal smoke-free policies and system changes; and
Creating businesses and casinos that are smoke-free.

The TTEP initiative funded grants to Bois Forte Band of Chippewa, Fond du Lac Band of Lake
Superior Chippewa, Mille Lacs Band of Ojibwe, Upper Sioux Community and the White Earth
Nation. Each reservation developed strategies based on ClearWay Minnesota guidelines and
the readiness of their unique environments, with a goal of preparing their communities to
advance smoke-free tribal policies. Core elements across all grants included:

Building staff capacity, community support and resources for ongoing sustained efforts;
Restoring traditional/sacred tobacco traditions;

Addressing and reducing tobacco industry marketing and influence;

Creating formal and informal smoke-free policies and system changes; and

Making businesses and casinos in tribal communities smoke-free.

Notable activities and outcomes for each grantee for the past year included:

Bois Forte Band of Chippewa

Provided education at the Bois Forte State of the Band address;

Established 50-foot smoke-free buffer zones around Vermilion Clinic;
Participated in cultural gatherings that educated about traditional tobacco;
Organized collaborations between various Bois Forte units of government on the
tobacco issue; and

Educated Bois Forte communities on commercial vs. traditional tobacco and
secondhand smoke.

Bois Forte community members
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Fond du Lac Band

e Passed a smoke-free foster care policy;

e Passed a policy creating more smoke-free dining space in their Black Bear Casino and
Resort;

e Passed a policy making the Veterans Powwow Smoke-Free;

e At community events, educated on commercial vs. traditional tobacco, resulting in
traditional tobacco use only at some events; and

e Held a traveling art exhibition titled Asemaa: The Vessel of Connection across the state.

Tuesday, February 16, 2016

Tribal Center Lobby

For more information, call 878-2639.

Fornd du Lac Human Services Division | Community Health Services Department

Celebratory poster for smoke-free spaces in Fond du Lac
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Mille Lacs Band of Ojibwe

e Hosted Annual Tribal Tobacco Education and Policy Statewide Gathering;

e Continued smoke-free “tiny tots” celebrations;

e Presented at the American Evaluation Association and the National Indian Health Board
Conferences on the TTEP initiative;

e Partnered with a spiritual leader who has been educating on traditional tobacco
protocols in the community;

e Continued relationships to support establishing smoke-free foster homes in Mille Lacs;
and

e Continued educating on traditional tobacco and the harms of commercial tobacco.

Weweni Inaabaji’
aw Asemaa!

Traditional tobacco sign at Mille Lacs Powwow

Upper Sioux Community

e Held first smoke-free walk/run for community;

e Held a Gathering of Native Americans (GONA) to create partnerships with Tribal
Leadership;

e Collaboration with the language program to ensure the continuity of traditional tobacco
teachings to the community;

e Mass-mailed information to all Upper Sioux Community members; and

e Continued collaboration with Minnesota Department of Health-funded tribal programs
to educate on tobacco issues and promote QUITPLAN Services. (See Cessation —
Cessation Services Contracts — QUITPLAN® Services, pp. 18-23.)
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Former Upper Sioux Tribal Tobacco Education and
Policy Coordinator Nancy Blue

White Earth Nation

Continued dialogues about more smoke-free spaces in their casino;

Celebrated the first anniversary of a smoke-free employee breakrooms policy;

Created relationships with the new Contest Powwow to educate on traditional tobacco
and commercial tobacco;

Presented lessons learned to American Indian health advocates in Canada;
Collaborated with other organizations in White Earth and with other tribes on smoke-
free issues and initiatives;

Continued educating and providing access to traditional tobacco for cultural events; and
Collaborated with Minnesota Department of Health-funded tribal programs to educate
the community on tobacco issues and to promote QUITPLAN Services. (See Cessation —
Cessation Services Contracts — QUITPLAN® Services, pp. 18-23.)

Baskets of traditional tobacco in White Earth
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Evaluation of the Tribal Tobacco Education and Policy initiative (TTEP)

Scott Consulting has evaluated the TTEP projects since 2009, and was re-awarded the contract
through a competitive process in 2014. The ongoing evaluation informs TTEP grantees and
ClearWay Minnesota on the initiative’s progress.

TTEP sites have developed their own strategies tailored to their unique tribal communities.
Other TTEP grantee policy achievements in the past year include:

FRAMING HEALTH MATTERS

Why the World Will Never Be Tobacco-Free:
Reframing “Tobacco Control” Into a Traditional
Tobacco Movement

Gina Boudreau, Carol Hernandez, Donna Hoffer, Kathleen Starlight Preuss, Linda Tibbetts-Barto, Nicole Toves Villaluz, and Sheryl Scort, MPH

e Publishing a paper in the American Journal of Public Health titled “Why the World Will
Never Be Tobacco-Free: Reframing Tobacco Control into a Traditional Tobacco
Movement” (see also Research — Dissemination — Publications, pp. 34-36);

e Participating in billboard and radio advertising development for our American Indian-
directed Keep Tobacco Sacred campaign (see also Communications and Outreach —
Advertising — Keep Tobacco Sacred Campaign, pp. 77-78);

e Presenting at the American Evaluation Association and the American Public Health
Association Conference on their work in Indian Country; and

e Collaborating with the Minnesota Department of Health on a traditional tobacco
gathering on the Mille Lacs Reservation.

In addition, all grantees collaborated with others to enhance enforcement, and worked with
tribal leaders to spread the message of cultural strength through traditional tobacco use only.

Findings from the evaluation have been disseminated in various ways. (See Research —
Dissemination, pp. 33-43.)

63



. Leech Lake Tribal College commercial tobacco-free policy
')[01:- Leech Lake evaluation
- - In Fiscal Year 2016, the evaluation of Leech Lake Tribal College’s
Tribal C(.)"ege 54 (LLTC’s) commercial tobacco-free campus policy project was
Commercial Tobacco completed. LLTC was provided a TTEP grant in 2014 to make
Free Campus their campus commercial tobacco-free. The commercial

- tobacco-free campus policy took effect at the start of the 2014
fall term. The project and evaluation were co-funded by Blue
Cross and Blue Shield of Minnesota and ClearWay Minnesota.
The evaluation included pre- and post-implementation surveys
with students and faculty, done in 2013, 2014 and 2015. The
evaluator also visited to observe the campus environment.

Surveys conducted before and after the policy’s implementation
show that the percentage of students who use commercial tobacco dropped from 49 percent to
41 percent after the policy was implemented. Asemaa (traditional tobacco) practice increased
from 46 percent to 71 percent for students and from 56 percent to 71 percent for faculty and
staff within the last year. The majority of those at LLTC have embraced the elimination of
commercial tobacco on campus, with 83 percent of students and 84 percent of faculty and staff
supporting the policy. Even among students who are commercial tobacco users, 71 percent say
they support the policy and nearly half say the policy is helping them to smoke less.

The evaluation results suggest that LLTC's decision to take a year to prepare campus members
for the policy contributed to acceptance and awareness of the new restriction. Outcomes of the
evaluation have been disseminated via the American Indian College Fund website and Indian
Country Today, the nation’s largest magazine in Indian Country devoted to American Indian
issues. A future publication will also appear in the Journal of American Indian Higher Education.

7 Tr—
G | SIS (% i ﬁ

ClearWay Minnesota’™ and Blue Cross and Blue Shield of Minnesota
collaborated with Leech Lake Tribal College on a commercial tobacco-free campus policy
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Tribal Tobacco Education and Policy (TTEP) partnerships

Many components help make the TTEP initiative successful. Evaluation identifies the project’s
strengths and challenges. (See Evaluation of the Tribal Tobacco Education and Policy initiative
[TTEP], above.) Training, technical assistance and mentorship build skills to accomplish policy
goals. Tribal Tobacco Use Project (TTUP) studies provide data to expand knowledge and inform
grantees’ work. Partnerships with Native Americans in Philanthropy (NAP), the National Native
Network (NNN) and the American Indian Cancer Foundation are building statewide and
national initiatives to advance commercial tobacco-free policies on tribal lands. Additionally,
together with NAP, we communicated with foundations and tribal leadership in efforts to build
long-term sustainability for promoting health in Indian Country.

ClearWay

Partnerships

*“TTEP
Evaluation
“Training & TA
Minnesota
Network Health
{COC Funded) Blue Cross
Blue Shield
‘Su(n'?'lﬁn:bluq I I E I
e -
Americans In Mentorship
Philanthropy)
. “American
Tribal Tobacco :
Indian Cancer
Use Prevalence Foundation

*ClearWay Mmnesota Funded

Keep Tobacco Sacred Campaign

This year, ClearWay Minnesota created a 2017 Keep Tobacco Sacred calendar that shares
artwork by American Indian artists in Minnesota and educates on the differences between the
two tobacco ways. The artworks were drawn from Asemaa — The Vessel of Connection, a
traveling art exhibition we sponsored that showcased artworks exploring ideas of traditional vs.
commercial tobacco use. (See also Communications and Outreach — Advertising — Keep Tobacco
Sacred Campaign, pp. 77-78.)
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Keep Tobacco Sacred

TRADITIONAL TORACCO CALENDAR

Our 2017 Keep Tobacco Sacred calendar features cover art by Minnesota artist Karen Savage
The calendar is another tool to promote traditional tobacco use and counter commercial
tobacco abuse. Each month highlights an art piece that reinforces traditional tobacco practices.

Our grantees are distributing copies of the calendar among their Nations.

Dialogues With Indian Gaming and Tribal Leaders

American Indian Nations are sovereign, and so
Minnesota’s smoke-free law does not apply to
American Indian reservation workplaces, including casinos. To
Cancer Foundation support ongoing education about secondhand

smoke in the context of American Indian

workplaces, in Fiscal Year 2016 we continued to

support the American Indian Cancer
Foundation’s presence at regional and national meetings of organizations such as the National
Indian Gaming Association, National Indian Health Board and National Council of American
Indians. These meetings have led to invitations to visit individual tribal communities working on
tobacco and cancer issues. Indian gaming and tribal decision-makers have been provided with
inaccurate information by the commercial tobacco industry to deter them from making positive
changes. It is important for us to develop trusted relationships with tribal leadership,
businesses and gaming to show how they can be part of the solution.
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Notably, this past year, Kristine Rhodes, the American Indian Cancer Foundation’s Executive
Director, had a number of opportunities to discuss tribal tobacco issues at the national level.
She attended meetings and/or presented at the following events:

e A meeting of the National Congress of America Indians (St. Paul);

e The first national White House Tribal Youth Gathering (Washington, D.C.);

e A meeting of the U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) Tribal Advisory
Committee, the National Indian Health Board (Washington, D.C.);

e The National Indian Health Board Annual Consumer Conference (Washington, D.C.);

e The National Congress of American Indians annual meeting (San Diego);

e The National Indian Gaming Association mid-year meeting (Seminole Nation, Florida);

e The National Gaming Association Annual Trade Show (Phoenix);

e The Reservation Economic Summit of the National Center for American Indian
Enterprise Development (Las Vegas); and

e The National Indian Health Board (NIHB) Tribal Public Health Summit (Atlanta).

Community Development Contracts

Tribal technical assistance, training and mentorship

In Fiscal Year 2016, ClearWay Minnesota continued to provide technical assistance, training and
mentorship to Minnesota’s American Indian communities to support efforts to advance smoke-
free policies on tribal lands. ClearWay Minnesota also continued our partnership with the
Minnesota Department of Health, the Statewide Health Improvement Program (SHIP) and Blue
Cross and Blue Shield of Minnesota, all of which work to promote health in Indian Country.
These partners have shared resources to accomplish trainings.

Our contractors for training and mentorship are Wellstone Native American Leadership
Program and Mahnokini & Associates. These two contractors are uniquely qualified for this
work. This year, Lori New Breast of Mahnokini & Associates traveled to Tribal Tobacco
Education and Policy (TTEP) grantee sites (see Community Development Contracts — Tribal
Tobacco Education and Policy Initiative [TTEP], pp. 58-65) to provide tailored consultation and
mentorship on how to engage communities and develop leadership to advance smoke-free
policies. The Wellstone Native American Leadership Program complemented this effort with
several training activities.
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Leadership and Advocacy Institute to

Advance Minnesota’s Parity for Priority JWARDS 3 HOVEWENT = PARIT Vool
AN TROS for PRIC I

Populations (LAAMPP)

Since 2005, the cornerstone of our work
with diverse communities in Minnesota has
been the Leadership and Advocacy Institute
to Advance Parity for Minnesota’s Priority
Populations (LAAMPP). LAAMPP builds
advocacy and leadership skills for effective
tobacco control among members of
Minnesota’s African and African American;
American Indian; Asian, Asian American and
Pacific Islander; Chicano/Latino; and
Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Transgender and
Queer (LGBTQ) populations.

Asian Pacific Partners for Empowerment,
Advocacy and Leadership (APPEAL) is the
contractor for the Leadership Institute,
facilitating and organizing all trainings.
APPEAL has been the LAAMPP contractor
since 2005. The most recent LAAMPP
Institute, the third since inception, was co-funded by the Minnesota Department of Health and
ClearWay Minnesota.

LAAMPP trainings increase the capacity of community teams to create change in their
communities. LAAMPP Fellows also build relationships across communities that continue
beyond the Institute. The collaborative, cross-cultural environment encourages current and
former Fellows to work together, share resources and support each other’s tobacco control
efforts.

Post-program survey report — LAAMPP |l]

The third Leadership and Advocacy Institute to Advance Minnesota’s Parity for Priority
Populations (LAAMPP lIl) was held from September of 2012 through March of 2014. All three
Institutes were designed to build the capacity of diverse communities in Minnesota to more
effectively respond to tobacco issues and to help reduce commercial tobacco and other health-
related disparities.

In the first follow-up survey, 95 percent of Fellows reported applying knowledge and skills
acquired through the Leadership Institute after conclusion of the formal trainings. Furthermore,
of the 18 Fellows who reported applying such knowledge and/or skills, at least 17 reported
using knowledge and/or skills from all core competency areas.
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The follow-up survey asked a variety of open-ended questions. These questions allowed the
Fellows to describe their collaborations, knowledge and skill applications, leadership efforts,
and system and policy change efforts in their own words. One Fellow described how knowledge
and skills were applied in terms of a specific competency:

The work | do is all about tobacco prevention and control, so | do this by giving
presentations, making cold phone calls, [and] sending e-mails and letters about the
benefits of tobacco control. | do tabling as well to educate the public about tobacco
control. I've written letters to the editor and created ads to promote the work that I do,
both paid and earned media.

In describing their influence of others to learn more about commercial tobacco or become
involved in tobacco control, one Fellow remarked:

Growing up, | often heard people say that making someone uncomfortable with the
truth is rude. Since LAAMPP, | have learned to ask people kindly to please put their
cigarette out. | have been labeled as rude for doing so and have been accused of making
people feel unwelcome for not letting them smoke at my house, children’s parties and
family/friends picnics. Thanks to LAAMPP, | have the courage to talk about the dirty
truth that no one wants to hear. Thankfully, folks [are] listening and starting to realize
that good health comes first.

Close to three fourths of all respondents were involved in tobacco control 17-19 months
following the conclusion of the formal trainings. Further, over half of all respondents reported
involvement in collaborations or initiatives outside of their respective priority populations.
Sixteen of the 19 Fellows reported they had “moved others” or “demonstrated leadership”
since the conclusion of the LAAMPP lll trainings. Finally, 14 of these 16 Fellows reported that
their leadership efforts resulted directly or indirectly from their participation in LAAMPP .

Results from this survey add to the body of knowledge reported in other LAAMPP evaluations.
In Fiscal Year 2016, the Journal of Health Disparities Research and Practice published an article
about the third LAAMPP Institute, titled “Developing Capacity, Skills and Tobacco Control
Networks to Address Tobacco-Related Disparities: Leadership and Advocacy Institute to
Advance Minnesota’s Parity for Priority Populations (LAAMPP).” The article was based on the
evaluation of the Institute and suggests that a cross-cultural leadership institute contributes to
the successful development of capacity and leadership skills among diverse communities and
may be a useful model for others working toward health equity.

ClearWay Minnesota plans to use results from the follow-up survey, in conjunction with other
evaluation efforts, to contribute to promising and/or best practices in developing diverse
community leaders for tobacco control.

See also Research — Dissemination — Publications, pp. 33-43.
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LAAMPP Il Fellows

Dissemination

ClearWay Minnesota Community Development staff actively disseminates research results,
evaluation findings and other knowledge gained from our activities in publications and at
conferences and meetings.

Conferences

Healthy Native communities and philanthropy: The role of tribes and funders
As part of ClearWay Minnesota’s ongoing commitment to build sustainability for our work in
Indian country we continued our partnership with Native Americans in Philanthropy (NAP).

LeMoine LaPointe
facilitates a meeting on
supporting health in
American Indian
communities




In Fiscal Year 2016 we held five meetings in the metro area and on the Fond du Lac Nation. NAP
and ClearWay Minnesota invited American Indian leaders and the philanthropic community for
a conversation on supporting healthy American Indian communities in Minnesota. The
meetings were attended by funders, American Indian leaders and tribal college representatives.
For this series of meetings, LeMoine LaPointe, a nationally recognized facilitator originally from
the Little Crow community on the Rosebud reservation, guided discussions based on four
phases: Discovery — to discover the best of the past and present, especially in Indian Country;
Dream — what is possible to strengthen communities and relationships with philanthropy;
Design — communities and philanthropy working together to design approaches that promote
health in Indian Country; and Delivery — intentionally executing strategies that will strengthen
communities, promote health and are sustainable.
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Phoenix Equity Group — Washington Equity =
Leadership Summit .ﬂ’ Phoenix EqUity
In 2015 ClearWay Minnesota joined the &J. Grou

Phoenix Equity Group, an alliance of public kv P

health professionals, scientists and

community advocates who are committed to accelerating the process of advancing and
achieving health equity for all people. The mission of the Phoenix Group is to serve as an agent
of change dedicated to improving systems, organizations and processes that lead to improved
health by reducing commercial tobacco disparities and improved outcomes for populations
experiencing disparities, especially people of color, American Indian Nations and LGBTQ
(Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Transgender and Queer) communities.
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Key leadership of the Phoenix Group includes Truth Initiative; Asian Pacific Partners for
Empowerment, Advocacy and Leadership; the U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention
(CDC); the Network for LGBT Health Equity; the National Latino Alliance for Health Equity;
Horizons Foundation; and ClearWay Minnesota.

Washington Equity Leadership Summit

In Fiscal Year 2016, ClearWay Minnesota’s Community Development Department was invited to
participate and present at the Washington Equity Leadership Summit in Seattle. The summit’s
objectives were to:

e Provide a safe forum to engage in dialogue on advancing health equity (including
tobacco control) for priority populations in Washington;

e Assess readiness and identify priorities and next steps for moving equity forward; and

e Build and strengthen partnerships and leadership within and between priority
populations and health organizations to advance equity in Washington.

Engaging in such meetings and summits contributes to advancing the work of reducing health

disparities of priority populations, especially around commercial tobacco use. For other
examples of our dissemination, see Research — Dissemination, pp. 33-43.
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IV. COMMUNICATIONS AND OUTREACH

Communications and outreach activities help ClearWay Minnesota to promote QUITPLAN
Services, to motivate Minnesotans to attempt to quit using tobacco and to educate the public
about the dangers of tobacco use. Within a social marketing framework that combines
traditional marketing with the leading practices of the public health field, ClearWay Minnesota
develops campaigns after extensive research and planning, using guidelines from the U.S.
Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) and learning from the experiences of national
and state partners.

In addition to our advertising activities — such as paid advertising on television, Internet and
radio, and in print media and out-of-home venues (bus sides and billboards, e.g.) — we also
conduct outreach to raise awareness of our efforts with Minnesota community leaders and the
general public. Our media work is developed with input from current and former tobacco users
and from community members, using findings from surveys, focus groups and research studies.
Our communications work also includes customized outreach to diverse communities.

A. ADVERTISING

Through our work with Minneapolis advertising firm Clarity Coverdale Fury, ClearWay
Minnesota employs mass-media strategies to educate the public about the harms of tobacco. In
Fiscal Year 2016, our advertising efforts included continued promotion of QUITPLAN Services
and The QuitCash Challenge. Our media work also continued to raise awareness of tobacco’s
dangers to change social norms around tobacco use in Minnesota (with a continued focus on
candy-, fruit- and menthol-flavored tobacco), to help build support for public policy initiatives
that reduce tobacco’s harm. In addition, ClearWay Minnesota continued to use media to
support the Keep Tobacco Sacred messaging, updating billboard messaging and producing a
new documentary.

QUITPLAN® Services Campaign

The QUITPLAN® Services advertising campaign focuses on the fact that most smokers know they
should quit, increasing positive understanding and awareness of the nonjudgmental support
available through QUITPLAN Services, ClearWay Minnesota’s free program that provides
quitting support to Minnesota tobacco users. (See Program Grants and Contracts — Cessation —
Cessation Services Contracts — QUITPLAN® Services, pp. 18-23.)

Advertising campaign — No Judgments. Just Help.

ClearWay Minnesota strategically sponsors programming that Minnesota smokers are most
likely to see or hear. In Fiscal Year 2016, the QUITPLAN® Services media campaign — consisting
of TV, radio, out-of-home and digital ads — reached 99 percent of Minnesota adults an average
of 62 times throughout the year. Ads are also targeted at populations known to have high
tobacco prevalence rates, including low socio-economic communities and communities of
color.

73



The current campaign — No Judgments. Just Help. — continued throughout this fiscal year.
Created by Clarity Coverdale Fury, the campaign reflects QUITPLAN Services’ aim to provide
tobacco users with a hopeful, nonjudgmental approach to quitting, with few barriers. In
addition, ClearWay Minnesota continued to air its 30-minute QUITPLAN Services infomercial in
Minneapolis and Duluth. New television ads were created using testimonials from the
infomercial and aired statewide. QUITPLAN Services advertises in both English-language and
Spanish-language media.

NO JUDGMENTS.
JUST HELP.

QUITPLAN® Services.
Free tools to quit smoking your own way.

-

QUITPLAN

1-888-354-PLAN quitplan.com

W e
FR S

QUITPLANE® Services ads promise tobacco users “No Judgments. Just Help.”

ClearWay Minnesota works to ensure that messages reach specific communities including
African American, Chicano/Latino, American Indian and LGBTQ (Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual,
Transgender and Queer) communities. In many cases, this work supplements grantee efforts.
(See Program Grants and Contracts — Policy — Local Community Grants, pp. 49-57.) While our
mass-media advertising reaches many of these target audiences, we also employ specific tactics
including Spanish-language television and radio, community newspapers, sponsorship of tpt’s
Native Report in Duluth and billboard campaigns in Indian Country. (See Keep Tobacco Sacred
Campaign, pp. 77-78.)

74



The QuitCash Challenge™

In Fiscal Year 2016, ClearWay Minnesota sponsored the eighth QuitCash Challenge, a statewide
contest that encourages Minnesota tobacco users to make quit attempts and promotes our
range of free QUITPLAN Services. (See Program Grants and Contracts — Cessation — Cessation
Services Contracts — QUITPLAN® Services, pp. 18-23.) Participants register for the contest, and
attempt to quit using tobacco for a contest period covering one month. The grand prize winner
is randomly drawn, with tobacco-free status verified by urinalysis.

This year, a record 4,200 Minnesotans from around the state registered for the contest and a
chance to win $5,000. Michelle Hogen of Maplewood successfully quit smoking in the contest
month of April, and became the winner of the $5,000 grand prize. Smokers for more than 20
years, Michelle and her husband, Brian, both quit after learning she was pregnant with the
couple’s first child.

The Hogens’ status as expectant parents motivated them to quit smoking for good. “We were
starting to notice what 20 years of smoking does to your health. Brian was starting to develop a
smoker’s cough,” says Michelle. “When we learned | was pregnant, we were inspired to quit for
our baby.”

-
GNlITRLAN
Gramd Poee e

Michelle Hogen, winner of the 2016 QuitCash Challenge,™
with her husband, Brian

This year’s QuitCash Challenge also featured “Mini-Quit Mondays” each month leading up to
the big month-long contest. The “mini-quits” are a series of contests aimed at preparing
participants to quit for good by making temporary lifestyle changes around their tobacco use.
Examples of mini-quit challenges included asking smokers to stop smoking in their vehicles or to
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make their homes smoke-free for a day, etc., breaking up their routine to help them prepare to
quit. Participants in each mini-quit were eligible for a $100 gift card drawing to help reward
participation.

2 Select Language ¥

QUITPLAN® Services. No judgments. Just help.

A QuitCash Challenge™ “Mini-Quit Monday” asked participants to
avoid social smoking for a day

QUITPLAN® Services at the Minnesota State Fair
ClearWay Minnesota also continued
our presence at the Minnesota
State Fair. In 2016, the QUITPLAN
Services booth featured giveaways,
lung-function testing for smokers,
message boards for quitters and
information on QUITPLAN Services.
The booth also promoted the
QuitCash Challenge contest. (See
The QuitCash Challenge™,
preceding page.)

QUITPLANZ® Services State Fair booth
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Keep Tobacco Sacred Campaign

Minnesota’s American Indian Nations have tobacco traditions that were passed down for
generations. But those traditions have also been corrupted by the commercial tobacco industry,
which today profits off the recreational abuse of plants that were sacred medicines for
indigenous people.

Commercialization and direct marketing using American Indian images have led to an epidemic-
level health problem in Minnesota’s tribal communities. Today, the cigarette smoking rate for
American Indians is 59 percent — four times that of the general population (14 percent).

At the same time, American Indian people in Minnesota are working to restore traditional
tobacco practices, to reduce commercial tobacco abuse like cigarette smoking, and to prevent
secondhand smoke exposure. ClearWay Minnesota is helping by collaborating directly with
tribes. Through our Tribal Tobacco Education and Policy (TTEP) Initiative, we fund reservations
that are working to advance smoke-free policies and to raise awareness of the dangers of
commercial tobacco use and secondhand smoke exposure. The project allows the tribes
themselves to drive the work, and to determine readiness for specific changes within their
communities. (See Program Grants and Contracts — Community Development — Community
Development Grants — Tribal Tobacco Education and Policy Initiative [TTEP], pp. 58-65.)

ClearWay Minnesota also collaborated with Minnesota tribes to create Keep Tobacco Sacred,
an advertising campaign that reminds and educates about the differences between traditional
and commercial tobacco. Components have included billboards, radio ads, and art projects like
murals and exhibitions of Native artwork.

HEEP THE TRADITION.
HREAR THE ADDICTION.

WEEP TOBACCO SACAED.
| amw

e QUITPLAN /

Keep Tobacco Sacred ads reinforce
traditional teachings against commercial tobacco abuse
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The campaign was created in partnership with American Indians in a spirit of collaboration and
respect. Keeping tobacco sacred is a concept that has deep meaning for Native peoples, and the
Keep Tobacco Sacred ads respect their traditions while educating about the harms of smoking.

TV documentary: Reclaiming Sacred Tobacco

Throughout 2015 and 2016, ClearWay Minnesota also collaborated with Twin Cities PBS (tpt) on
Reclaiming Sacred Tobacco, a 30-minute documentary on the tobacco practices of Anishinaabe
and Dakota people in Minnesota. The program will have its broadcast premiere on November
13 at 7 p.m. on tpt’s MN Channel, to coincide with Native American Indian Heritage Month. A
full report on the program will be included in next year’s Report to the Court.

RECLAIMING SACRED TOBACCO

Still a Problem campaign

Mass-media campaigns help to shape the environment for policy by changing attitudes about
the issue of tobacco. This year, ClearWay Minnesota continued promoting the Still a Problem
campaign, which aims to make Minnesotans aware of the ongoing problem of tobacco use in
our state. In Fiscal Year 2016 the campaign was expanded to include a focus on the impact
menthol tobacco has on youth. Notable elements include a new TV ad that aired around the
state, which uses the metaphor of cyber-bullying to capture the experience of a young teen
attracted to smoking by menthol.
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Still a Problem ads remind Minnesotans of the
tobacco industry’s role in creating new smokers

Menthol cigarettes are targeted to and disproportionately used by groups including African
Americans, young people and Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Transgender and Queer (LGBTQ)
communities.

More information about how tobacco companies use flavors can be found at the Still a Problem
website, stillaproblem.com. Other campaign elements include additional TV, radio and out-of-
home ads (e.g., billboards, bus interiors and bus shelters) focused on menthol and other
flavored tobacco. The Still a Problem media campaign reached 99 percent of Minnesota adults
an average of 60 times during Fiscal Year 2016.

Tobacco
companies
NOT still target
MN youth.

SN .

mewtwor riavos | at stillaproblem.com

CCOL
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http://www.stillaproblem.com/

Visions of a Smoke-Free Generation Campaign

This year, we launched a new social media campaign to support Minnesotans for a Smoke-Free
Generation, a coalition of Minnesota organizations working to prevent youth smoking. (See
Program Grants and Contracts — Policy — Statewide Policy Work, pp. 44-48.) Visions of a Smoke-
Free Generation engaged young Minnesotans to share their thoughts about why they want to
remain smoke-free. The project launched in the spring of 2016 and was helpful in educating
policymakers and opinion leaders about the new coalition.

SMOKE-FREE
GENERATION

‘ snakefreogonmn Falliw

LF T

mokefreoganmn "L
BOO, | Ve Qrown U W
ured we | don'y rew
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) b that ¥

SMOKE-FREE
GENERATIQ

Visions of a Smoke-Free Generation helped young people
share their views about smoking on Instagram and Facebook
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Evaluation

ClearWay Minnesota rigorously evaluates our communications efforts to measure our progress
and identify areas for improvement. Every few years, we conduct an intensive evaluation of our
media campaigns. During Fiscal Year 2014, we completed a large-scale media evaluation that
covered four years of media tracking through longitudinal and cross-sectional surveys. This past
year, our approach to evaluating media efforts was to use online market research surveys,
focus groups, service volume tracking and vendor evaluations. These combined efforts allow us
to determine the effectiveness of our campaigns, and strategically inform any changes we make
to them throughout the year.

Evaluation activities this year included an online message survey pre-testing menthol television
ad concepts to incorporate into our Still a Problem campaign. Ads were tested to see which
most effectively influenced target audiences’ attitudes around the dangers of menthol and
communicated that more should be done to protect kids. Based on the message testing, which
showed an increase in Minnesotans agreeing that tobacco use is a significant problem after
seeing the ad, we produced a new ad, “Bad Relationship.” (See Still a Problem campaign, pp.
78-79.)

Evaluation helps us understand which advertisements
will resonate best with Minnesotans

In addition to the above measurements, our contractors are evaluated each year using the
following criteria. ClearWay Minnesota considers these criteria when renewing contracts or
initiating new projects.
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e Return on investment: Meets marketing goals, helps to advance ClearWay Minnesota’s
mission and vision, strives to exceed expectations, tenaciously stewards our budget,
negotiates value-added or pro-bono placements and leverages communication efforts.

e Timeliness: Meets or beats deadlines.

e Counsel: Anticipates needs, demonstrates problem-solving ability and provides counsel.

e Staff: Assigns appropriate staff and is professional when representing ClearWay
Minnesota.

e Organizational skills: Uses our time efficiently and communicates clearly.

e Creativity: Consistently demonstrates outstanding creativity in work product.

e Goals: Meets or exceeds process goals.

e Budget: Completes duties as outlined in the contract within the specified budget.

ClearWay Minnesota strives to provide the greatest return on investment to Minnesotans. Pro-
bono and value-added media are required as a part of the advertising media buy.

In Fiscal Year 2016, ClearWay Minnesota received $444,497 in value-added media and saved
$575,769 due to negotiating efforts by our advertising vendor Clarity Coverdale Fury, from a
combination of savings over average cost of broadcast media and out-of-home rate card
discounts.

Dissemination

ClearWay Minnesota Marketing and Communications staff actively disseminates research
results, evaluation findings and other knowledge gained from our activities in publications and
at conferences and meetings. For details, please see Research — Dissemination, pp. 33-43.
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B. COMMUNITY OUTREACH

Community outreach is an important way for ClearWay Minnesota to ensure that Minnesotans
are aware of our activities, including QUITPLAN Services, programmatic work and educational
campaigns. In addition to paid advertising, we reach Minnesotans through traditional media
such as print, television and online news outlets, and through online social media including
Twitter and Facebook. Regular contact with Minnesota individuals and communities is
important so we can develop the most effective programs possible and remain accountable to
the public.

Media Analysis

ClearWay Minnesota uses earned (i.e. non-paid) and digital media to reach key stakeholders
and increase public support for our campaigns and brands. Tracking and analyzing media
coverage is a measurable way to illustrate its value and its contributions toward ClearWay
Minnesota’s goals. Staff uses this information to evaluate methods and vendor contributions,
and to adjust processes to help ClearWay Minnesota achieve the best possible outcomes.

Media coverage is tracked and analyzed using database tools provided by a new vendor this
year, CustomScoop. Digital and social media analysis is compiled using various quantitative
tools, qualitative analysis and the institutional knowledge of ClearWay Minnesota staff.

ClearWay Minnesota’s earned and digital media efforts and outcomes in Fiscal Year 2016
reinforced the integrity of our brands and campaigns, and our reputation to key audiences.
There were more than 1,000 news stories in Minnesota focused on our brands and campaigns
this year. We influenced nearly half of the news stories about tobacco in Minnesota. A strong
majority of stories were positive or neutral in tone. All of these outcomes contribute to a
positive impression of ClearWay Minnesota as an organization and of our messages to key
audiences, including policymakers, influencers, partners and the public.

The most mentioned topics in news coverage of ClearWay Minnesota this year were issue-
related: tobacco price increases, the tobacco industry, flavoring, youth and e-cigarettes. Stand-
out stories reinforced our intended messages. We were able to be proactive most of the time in
generating coverage, and were also able to counteract opposition messages effectively when
necessary.
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Price increases

Tobacco industry

Youth

Flavoring

E-cigarettes
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Top five earned-media messages for ClearWay Minnesota*™ news coverage this year

We successfully launched the Minnesotans for a Smoke-Free Generation coalition early in 2016.
And despite not having a key piece of proactive legislation this session, the coalition’s message
of protecting kids helped us use the media to combat tobacco industry efforts in St. Paul.
Shedding light on Big Tobacco’s influence at the Capitol will help us better position ourselves to
go back to the Legislature in 2017, and to ask for their help protecting kids from tobacco. (See
Program Grants and Contracts — Policy — Statewide Policy Work, pp. 44-48.)

Our focus on local policies resulted in more grantees serving as spokespeople more often. Our
efforts to pitch community news outlets more effectively generated more targeted coverage
toward local audiences. These efforts give us a solid foundation for statewide policy activities
and a bank of news stories and opinion pieces that will become collateral materials for future
policy efforts at the state and local level.

We were also able to continue our QUITPLAN Services messages in the media to support our
paid advertising campaigns and our goal of increasing the number of people using quitting
services.

Our digital and social media efforts were successful for every brand across multiple platforms.
We expanded our reach and following for ClearWay Minnesota, QUITPLAN Services and
Minnesotans for a Smoke-Free Generation, with many positive interactions. We set the tone for
dealing with opposing viewpoints online, helping our partners understand that positive
engagement with every audience on social media isn’t possible, and that they don’t have to
“feed the trolls” by engaging with hostile individuals in non-productive ways.

Grassroots and newsletter communications used messages that were interesting to audiences,
and each were able to grow their following.
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V. CONCLUSION

Since 1998, ClearWay Minnesota has led efforts in our state to bring comprehensive, science-
based tobacco cessation treatment to smokers. By providing services to more than 145,000
Minnesota tobacco users through QUITPLAN Services, as well as by partnering with other
organizations to help populations most harmed by smoking and by changing health care
systems and policies to move patients toward quitting, we continue to develop new ways to get
proven cessation help to the people who need it.

But science shows that quitting alone isn’t enough. In order to truly eliminate the disease,
death, expense and reduced quality of life that go hand in hand with smoking addiction, we
must work just as hard to prevent young people from ever starting. That’s why we have made it
a priority to support work that is accomplishing that: from policies like cigarette taxes, smoke-
free laws and product restrictions, to mass-media campaigns that raise awareness of the
dangers of smoking.

In Minnesota, these efforts are paying off. The adult and youth smoking rates are at record
lows, and we are closer than ever to the promise of a truly smoke-free generation in our state.
This Report illustrates the many ways we are working to make that dream a reality, and it also
shows what we’re doing to help those communities who have not seen the same progress as
the general population.

As we look to the future, we will not slow down, but rather will accelerate our efforts so that
we may have the maximum impact to reduce smoking in Minnesota before our lifespan is
complete. Our goal is to leave behind a legacy that will continue to be felt in the lives and
health of Minnesotans for many, many years to come.
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ClearWay Minnesota™

Charter of the Board of Directors
Board Approved March 18, 2015

Introduction

This charter is intended as a tool to assist directors in understanding the role of the
ClearWay Minnesota Board of Directors in ensuring the organization fulfills its purpose.
The scope of the charter derives from the organization’s Articles of Incorporation and
Bylaws, and the body of law governing such issues. It is not an attempt to limit, enlarge
or change the responsibilities of the directors as determined by such Articles, Bylaws,
and body of law.

Purpose of the Organization

ClearWay Minnesota was created as a private nonprofit corporation with a limited
lifetime of 25 years. The organization’s mission is to enhance life in Minnesota by
reducing tobacco use and exposure to secondhand smoke through research, action and
collaboration. ClearWay Minnesota helps Minnesotans quit smoking and tobacco use,
and funds tobacco-related research and other initiatives that raise awareness of tobacco’s
dangers and make Minnesota a healthier place.

The Role of the Board of Directors

The Board of Directors is responsible for governance of the organization and the conduct
of its business. In discharging its responsibilities, the Board shall principally:

e Ensure that policies, and procedures are in place and being implemented to assure
the integrity of the organization and that policies are in place to comply with
applicable laws and regulations, and ClearWay Minnesota’s governing documents
and policies.

e Oversee policies and procedures that assure the development and enhancement of
the organization’s culture as shaped by its vision, mission, values and standards of
conduct.

e Ensure that policies and procedures are in place and being implemented to assure
that an effective Board of Directors is in place possessing appropriate skills to
fulfill its responsibilities through director selection, Board governance, and Board
evaluation.

e Hire, advise and counsel, encourage, evaluate, compensate, and if necessary,
replace the Chief Executive Officer.



e Oversee a succession plan for Board leadership, the CEO, and key senior
management positions.

o Set the long term strategic direction of the organization by establishing or
reviewing and approving the organization’s mission, vision, and values.

¢ Oversee planning and implementation of ClearWay Minnesota’s limited life plan.

e Annually review and approve (if necessary) the strategic plan and approve the
Annual Operating Plan and budget. Ensure that each has objectives and a means
of measurement.

e Opversee and approve ClearWay Minnesota’s financial and other reporting
obligations with particular attention to its annual report to the Ramsey County
District Court and the Minnesota Legislature.

e Oversee ClearWay Minnesota’s management and utilization of its human and
financial resources to ensure a responsible and effective organization.

e Promote regular education of the Board and management respecting (1) tobacco
control policies, practices, strategies and research, locally, nationally and
internationally, and (2) sound governance practices and policies.

The Board of Directors may, by resolution, delegate certain of its responsibilities to
Committees of the Board or to the organization’s CEO who remain accountable and
subject to the direction and control of the Board.

e Through the committees listed below and other committees which the Board may
establish from time to time, the Board provides oversight regarding certain
activities and responsibilities of the organization. The committees operate under
Board approved charters. The current standing committees of the Board are:

Executive/Governance

Audit/Finance

Nominating and Board Development
Strategic Development and Planning
Program Grants and Program Contracts

O 0 O 0O 0

o The Board works with management to set the organization’s direction while
delegating responsibilities for implementation to management.

o The Board engages with management to develop and then approve the
strategic plan of the organization.

o Management develops operational work plans and annual operating
budgets for review, approval, and monitoring by the Board.



o While the Board is ultimately responsible for review, approval and
monitoring of the plans, management is ultimately responsible for
execution and implementation.

o The Board is responsible for evaluating the effectiveness of the Board, the
CEO, and the organization.

The Board’s Standards of Conduct

The Board is expected to carry out its responsibilities consistent with applicable laws, the
organization’s governing documents, mission, policies, and the culture it has established
for the organization. In discharging its responsibilities:

e Board members must observe their duties of care, loyalty, and good faith, placing
the interests of the organization ahead of their own or their constituents, and act
consistent with the central purpose and governing documents and policies of the
organization.

¢ Board members must model the values of the organization including commitment
to: excellence; knowledge based innovation; integrity, honesty and accountability;
and a safe and respectful working environment.

e Board members hold each other accountable to: (1.) remain focused on the
strategic direction and plans of the organization; (2.) use a decision making
process that relies on adequate preparation, full participation, thorough discussion,
clarity, consensus, and closure; (3) fully engage, and help focus the discussions;
and (4) regularly evaluate Board and Director performance, formally and
informally providing positive and constructive feedback.



ClearWay Minnesotas™
Charter of the Audit/Finance Committee

Board Approved January 20, 2016
Purpose:

The Audit/Finance Committee shall assist the Board in fulfilling its oversight
responsibility for the integrity of ClearWay Minnesota’s financial and operational results,
the system of internal control, the audit process, ClearWay Minnesota’s investment
policies and portfolio, and compliance with legal and regulatory requirements (excluding
the Report to the Court, which is under the purview of the Board of Directors).

The Committee will meet at least four times per year, with authority to convene
additional meetings, as circumstances require. The Committee may invite members of
management, auditors or others to attend meetings and provide pertinent information, as
necessary. The Committee may meet separately with auditors, with staff voluntarily
excusing themselves, to discuss the audit process and results.

Committee Structure:

The Committee shall consist of no more than seven members of the Board of Directors,
including the Treasurer (who may or may not chair the Committee), and the chair of the
Investment Advisory Committee. The Board Chair shall appoint the Audit/Finance
Committee Chair. Committee Members shall be appointed by the Board Chair, approved
by the Executive/Governance Committee and ratified by the Board.

Each member will have an understanding of audit and financial functions. At least one
member shall be designated by the Board as the “Financial Expert,” based on the
guidelines attached under Appendix A. The Committee will annually recommend a
member or members for designation as Financial Expert to the Board for its
consideration.

Authority:

The Committee has authority to conduct or authorize special audits and investigations
into any matters within its scope of responsibility. It is empowered to:

e Appoint, compensate, terminate and oversee the work of any public accounting
firm employed by ClearWay Minnesota.

¢ Resolve any disagreements between management and the external auditors
regarding financial or operational control and reporting.

e Pre-approve all audit and non-audit services provided by our independent auditor.

e Retain independent counsel, accountants, or others to advise the Committee or
assist in the conduct of an investigation.

e Review and accept the external auditor’s reports along with management’s written
responses when appropriate.



e Be immediately informed by the auditor of all unresolved matters that obstruct the
conduct of an audit or review, after, where feasible, such matters were first
brought to the attention of the Chief Executive Officer and/or Chief Financial
Officer.

Review and approve the external auditor’s audit plans.

e Seek any information it requires from employees — all of whom are directed to
cooperate with the Committee’s requests — or with external auditors, legal counsel
or others as necessary.

e Oversee the performance of the responsibilities of the Investment Advisory
Committee (IAC), in accordance with the IAC’s Charter, including receiving
periodic reports from the IAC and periodically reporting to the Board regarding
the management and performance of Clearway’s financial assets.

liesponsibilities:.
The Committee will carry out the following responsibilities:
Financial and Operational Review Oversight

e Report to the Board on financial risks facing ClearWay Minnesota. The
Committee members should develop sufficient knowledge of the financial
statements and assess risk areas including understanding the critical judgments
and estimates contained therein. The Committee shall manage and understand
issues related to the tobacco settlement and Court restrictions on fund uses, and
approval of uses of funds.

e Advise the Board on the Statement of Investment Objectives and Policies. With
input from the Investment Advisory Commiittee, the Committee will periodically
review the Statement and recommend changes to the Board as appropriate. The
Committee shall make such other recommendations to the Board on such other
policies and procedures regarding stewardship and oversight of ClearWay
Minnesota’s financial assets as the Committee shall from time to time determine.

e Select and terminate when appropriate, after reviewing any analysis and
recommendations of the Investment Advisory Committee and ClearWay
Minnesota’s CFO, the investment custodian; the investment consultant; the
investment managers; and investment vehicles consistent with ClearWay
Minnesota policies. _

» Review significant accounting, operational and reporting issues and understand
their impact on the financial and operating results on the overall ClearWay
Minnesota system of internal control.

e Review and discuss the annual audited financial statements results with
management and the external auditors.

Periodically review current internal financial statements of ClearWay Minnesota.

e Review and recommend for approval to the Board of Directors revisions to the
Fiscal Policies of ClearWay Minnesota.

e Review and recommend for approval to the Board of Directors the annual
operating and capital budgets.



Internal Control

e Evaluate the effectiveness of ClearWay Minnesota’s internal control system,
including information technology security and control.

e Understand the scope of external auditor’s review of internal control over
financial and operational reporting and obtain reports on significant findings and
recommendations, together with management’s responses.

Other Responsibilities

o Perform other activities related to this Charter as requested by the Board of
Directors.

o Institute and oversee special investigations within the Committee’s area of
responsibility.

e Review and assess the adequacy of the Committee charter annually, requesting
Board approval for proposed changes, and ensure appropriate disclosure as may
be required by law or regulation.



APPENDIX A

Guidelines for determination of a qualified Financial Expert:

The Audit/Finance Committee determines who qualifies as a Financial Expert by
considering such things as the person’s education level, whether the person has any
professional certifications, whether the person has served as a principal financial officer,
controller or principal accounting officer of a company and the person’s duties in that
position, the person’s experience and familiarity with financial statements and accounting
rules, past experience on audit committees and any other relevant experiences. The
Audit/Finance Committee will look at the director’s qualifications and experiences taken
as a whole when determining whether or not such director qualifies as a Financial Expert.

A Financial Expert is defined as a person who has experience such as:

Principal accounting officer
Who has obtained such attributes through experience that involved the
performance of similar functions
¢ Or, in the judgment of the Audit/Finance Committee, results in similar expertise
and experience. These attributes include the following:
o An understanding of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP)
and financial statements;
o Experience applying GAAP in connection with the accounting for
estimates, accruals and reserves;
o Experience preparing or auditing financial statements that present
accounting issues;
o Experience with internal controls and procedures for financial reporting;
o An understanding of audit committee functions; and
o Understanding of investment performance and principles.

e Public accountant

e Auditor

e Principal financial officer
e Controller

[ ]

[ ]

This definition is not intended to impose a higher burden or level of responsibility on the
Financial Expert than on other audit committee members and should not be construed to
decrease the role of the other members of the Audit/Finance Committee.



ClearWay Minnesotas™

Charter of the Executive/Governance Committee
Board Approved March 18, 2015

Purpose:

The Executive/Governance Committee provides general oversight of the administration of
the organization. The Committee shall have the authority to act on behalf of the ClearWay
Minnesota Board of Directors regarding matters that require immediate attention or action
between regularly scheduled Board Meetings with ratification by the Board at the next
Board meeting. The Committee shall provide a forum for Directors to address all issues of
corporate governance and human resource-related policy items. The Committee shall meet
at the call of the Chair.

Committee Structure:

The members of the Committee will include the Board’s officers and the chairs of the
standing committees, which shall not constitute a majority of the Board. The Chair of the
Board will chair the Executive/Governance Committee.

Authority:

The principal elements of the Charter of the Executive/Governance Committee shall be:

Executive duties:

1. Provide advice and counsel to the Chief Executive Officer. (This duty is shared
with all other Board Members.)

2. Facilitate an annual review of the Chief Executive Officer on behalf of the Board
and report to the Board the results of the review, including a recommended
compensation package, for action by the Board. The review process shall be
conducted in a closed session of the Board, in accordance with the Minnesota
Open Meeting Law.

3. Recommend to the Board the selection and replacement, if necessary, of the CEO.
Provide for the development of a succession plan for the CEO and the key
employees of the corporation.

4. Review changes to human resource-related policy items such as the Personnel
Handbook and give input as necessary. Review and recommend major changes (as
determined by the CEO) to employee benefit plans and make recommendations to
the Board for final approval.



5. Approve biennially the compensation study contractor. The Board Chair shall
appoint a member of the Committee to serve as a liaison for the study. Annually
review and recommend changes to executive compensation, salary ranges and
budgeted merit increases and make recommendations to the Board for final
approval.

6. Review Policy Statements annually as a first read prior to Board approval. Policy
Statements guide the Board and staff decision making and help to set priorities.

Governance duties:

1. Assure that policies and procedures are in place and being implemented to ensure
that the Board, and its individual members, operate with the highest ethical
standards and integrity, including duties of care and loyalty. Act on issues of
conflict of interest that come before the Board as set forth in ClearWay
Minnesota’s Conflict of Interest Policy.

2. Approve standing committee assignments, including committee chair assignments,
at the first Executive/Governance Committee Meeting after a new Board Chair
takes office, or as needed and permitted by Article IV, Section 3 of the Bylaws.
Committee assignments are brought to the Board for ratification.

3. Ensure that policies and procedures are in place and being implemented to ensure
that the committees of the Board are fulfilling their obligations as defined by their
respective charters. Provide a process for each committee to review and update its
charter annually.

4. Ensure that at least once every two years, the Board of Directors Charter, Conflict
“of Interest Policy, Director Job Description, and other relevant policies, as listed in
the Board Handbook, be reviewed and updated as needed with final approval from
the Board.

5. Review periodically the governance processes, including Board organization and
structure, frequency of meetings and attendance and make any necessary
recommendations to the Board in accordance with the Two-Read Policy.

6. Ensure that orientation and training are in place for both new and current Board
Members, as appropriate.

7. Provide for a Board self-evaluation at least every two years.

8. Review annually the attendance and participation of Board Members and refer any
recommended action to the Board. It is ClearWay Minnesota’s policy that
Minnesota-based Board Members must be present for 50 percent of Board
meetings annually, and no Board Member may be absent for more than three



consecutive meetings unless there are extenuating circumstances. Failure to meet
these guidelines will be grounds for consideration for asking the Board Member to
resign from their position.

Develop the agenda for meetings of the Board of Directors, including the
distribution of Executive/Governance Committee minutes to the Board.



CLEARWAY MINNESOTA
CHARTER OF THE INVESTMENT ADVISORY COMMITTEE
Board Approved 9-20-06

I. PURPOSE:

The Investment Advisory Committee (the “Committee”) shall give advice on matters
relating to the investment policies and portfolio of ClearWay Minnesota. The Committee shall
be advisory only, and shall report to the Audit/Finance Committee.

II. COMPOSITION:

The Committee shall be comprised of no more than five persons appointed by the Chair
of the Board of Directors, subject to the concurrence of the Board. The term of each member
shall be one year, or until his or her successor is appointed, subject to a member’s earlier
resignation, removal by the Board, or unavailability for service. There shall be no maximum
number of terms for which a member may serve.

The Committee’s Chair shall be appointed by ClearWay Minnesota’s Board Chair, and
shall be a member of ClearWay Minnesota’s Board of Directors.

Each member shall be entitled to vote on all matters brought before the Committee.

Qualifications for Committee membership shall include an interest and knowledge in
capital investing, support for ClearWay Minnesota’s mission; and the ability to attend
 Committee meetings. Experience in institutional investing is strongly preferred. A candidate,
who in the past ten years has (had) any affiliation with any business or organization which
manufactures or sells tobacco products, is barred from Committee membership.

III. AUTHORITY:
The Committee is advisory only, and shall report to the Audit/Finance Committee.

IV. DUTIES AND RESPONSIBILITIES:

Responsibilities of the Committee include advising ClearWay Minnesota’s Audit/Finance
Committee and ClearWay Minnesota’s Chief Financial Officer (the “CFO”) on the Statement of
Investment Objectives and Policies. The Committee will periodically review the Statement,
including investment objectives, guidelines, strategies, risk and return parameters, and
performance measurement standards, and recommend changes as appropriate. The Committee
shall make such other recommendations to ClearWay Minnesota’s Audit/Finance Committee and
CFO on such other policies and procedures regarding ClearWay Minnesota’s financial assets as
the Committee shall from time to time determine.

ClearWay Minnesota: August 2006 Page 1 of 2



V.

In addition the Committee shall:

Recommend the selection and termination as appropriate, after receiving the
recommendations of ClearWay Minnesota’s CFO, a custodian bank; and receive periodic
reports through the CFO regarding performance, evaluation, and compensation of such
custodian bank.

Recommend the selection and termination as appropriate, after receiving the
recommendations of the CFO, an Investment Consultant to assist in structuring and
monitoring ClearWay Minnesota’s investment portfolio; and receive periodic reports through
the CFO regarding performance, evaluation, and compensation of such Investment
Consultant.

Recommend the selection and termination as appropriate, after receiving the
recommendations of the CFO, Investment Managers, commingled (“pooled”) funds, mutual
funds, and other appropriate investment vehicles consistent with ClearWay Minnesota
policy; and receive periodic reports through the CFO regarding performance, evaluation, and
compensation of such investment managers, funds, and other vehicles.

Periodically meet with the CFO and Investment Consultant to review an evaluation of the
overall performance of portfolio investments, and the consistency of those investments with
ClearWay Minnesota’s mission, principles, and policies; and recommend corrective action
deemed prudent and appropriate if investment performance is below expectations.

The Committee Chair shall periodically report to the Audit/Finance Committee regarding the
activities of the Committee, and provide such information as the Audit/Finance Committee
reasonably requests regarding. the actions of the Committee.

MEETINGS AND NOTES:

The Committee shall meet in person no fewer than two times per year, and as many

additional times as the Committee deems necessary.

The Committee shall prepare written notes of its meetings. Such meeting notes shall be

made available to the Audit/Finance Committee or Board if requested.

ClearWay Minnesota: August 2006 Page 2 of 2



ClearWay Minnesotas™

Charter of the Nominating and Board Development Committee
Board Approved January 16, 2013

Purpose:

The Nominating and Board Development Committee shall recommend at-large nominees to the
ClearWay Minnesota Board of Directors to fill all at-large vacancies and discuss possible
nominees for appointed vacancies. The Committee shall recommend officers to the Board of
Directors. The Committee shall oversee a plan for ongoing development of Board Members.

Committee Structure:

The Committee shall consist of seven members: four Board Members (of whom at least two will
be at-large members) and three -external community members who are not on the Board.
Committee members who are currently seated Board Members shall be appointed by the Board
Chair and approved by the Executive/Governance Committee. The Board Chair shall appoint the
Nominating and Board Development Committee Chair.

Authority:

The principal elements of the Charter of the Nominating and Board Development Committee
shall be:

1. Within two weeks of an at-large vacancy, to convene and solicit nominations to fill the
open Board position(s).

2. To assure that the solicitation of nominees shall proceed in a manner to be prescribed by
the Board.

3. To assess the Board’s current composition and identify needs to actively recruit
candidates for at-large Board positions.

4. To strive for a Board that broadly represents all Minnesotans.

5. To give special consideration in their nominee selection and recommendation to persons
who, in addition to dedication to ClearWay Minnesota’s vision, mission and values, have
expertise in one or more of the following areas:

- Governance of a not-for-profit organization
- Finance

- Communications

- Tobacco control/cessation

- Community organizing

- Health care



- Health insurance

- Populations at risk

- Public affairs

- Human resources

- Grant making

- Research and evaluation

- Legal

- Political expertise or experience

6. To utilize a peer nomination process that develops and presents annually to the Board of
Directors a slate of candidates to serve as Board officers for the upcoming year. A
Committee Member who is nominated as an officer of the Board shall not vote on, or
participate in deliberation of the position. The three external community members do not
participate in the selection of the slate of officers.

7. To present annually to the Board of Directors a slate of at large Board Members who
have completed their first three year terms and who are eligible and qualified, and who
wish to serve another term on the Board. A Committee Member who is nominated to
serve an additional term on the Board shall not vote on, or participate in discussion of, his
or her own nomination.

8. To identify key learning topics with Board input and provide opportunity for training for
on-going Board development.

ClearWay Minnesota



ClearWay MinnesotasM

Charter of the Program Grants and Program Contracts Committee
Board Approved January 15, 2014
Reviewed and no changes recommended: November 2015

Purpose:

The Program Grants and Program Contracts Committee (“PGPCC”) shall assist the Board in
fulfilling its oversight and fiduciary duties with respect to program grants and program contracts
(“Program Grants and Contracts”) in excess of $75,000%.

The primary function of the PGPCC is to provide oversight of the process and to recommend the
funding of Program Grants and Contracts pursuant to which ClearWay Minnesota staff:
e Solicits requests for applications for Program Grants and Contracts;
e Executes a process to review applications for Program Grants and Contracts; and
e Presents recommendations as to which applicant organizations should be awarded
Program Grants and Contracts.

Program Grants and Contracts are specific grants and contracts that the Research, Cessation,
Community Development and Public Affairs departments of ClearWay Minnesota make to
accomplish the strategic goals of the organization, consistent with the most current Strategic Plan
approved by the Board of Directors. Program Grants and Contracts do not include contracts
which support the administration of ClearWay Minnesota’s governance and business affairs or
the Marketing and Communications Department, which are reviewed and recommended for
funding by the Audit/Finance Committee.

The PGPCC shall meet no fewer than two times per year, and as many additional times as the
PGPCC Chair deems necessary to discharge its duties and responsibilities.

Committee Structure:

The PGPCC will be comprised of no more than seven members of the Board of Directors.
Committee Members shall be appointed by the Board Chair, approved by the
Executive/Governance Committee and ratified by the Board. The Board Chair shall appoint the
PGPCC Chair.

Authority:

Provide oversight to ClearWay Minnesota staff in connection with the process for soliciting,
reviewing and recommending for approval applications for Program Grants and Contracts. (See
Attachment A for an annotated flowchart of the Program Grants and Contracts Competitive
Review Process.)

1. Meet with staff to review proposed funding priorities and make final recommendations on

1 See ClearWay Minnesota’s Policies, Procedures and Guidelines Manual.



5.

funding priorities to the Board.

Exercise oversight to ensure that the grant and contract process established and managed by
the staff meets rigorous review processes consistent with ClearWay Minnesota’s policies and
procedures.

a. A member of the PGPCC may be designated to annually observe a review-panel
meeting to assure the integrity of the review-panel process.

b. The Chair or any member of the PGPCC may review documents that include the date
and title of all grant and contract review panels listed by fiscal year, a list of staff
present for all reviews conducted and documentation from the review members,
facilitator or chair that the summaries produced by staff are a fair and accurate
representation of the review-panel recommendations. These documents also include a
list of all individuals who served as reviewers (both external and staff) by fiscal year,
along with their curriculum vitae (for external reviewers only) and signed conflict of
interest forms.

Discuss and recommend funding for applicants to the Board based on the recommendation of
the review panels and financial due diligence reports from ClearWay Minnesota staff.

Review staff reports regarding progress of funded recipients with respect to their achieved
outcomes and/or performance of responsibilities. Report findings of progress to the Board or
the Executive/Governance Committee, as appropriate.
a. The PGPCC may request from the Chief Executive Officer or his or her designee,
advice and information concerning the performance of grantees and contractors.

Annually review the charter of the PGPCC and make recommendations to the Board
regarding desired changes.

The PGPCC’s authority shall not include routine programmatic monitoring or involvement with
programmatic activities of ClearWay Minnesota grantees or contractors, participation in the
review-panel process, or interacting with applicants with respect to their application, grant or
contract before, during or after the application review and funding process.

The PGPCC Members will treat all information regarding funding priorities, the funding process
and funding decisions as confidential and may not disclose, use or discuss confidential
application materials except in the context of fulfilling committee obligations.



ATTACHMENT A
Program Grant and Contract Competitive Review Process

Step 1: Based on the Strategic Plan, and approved budgets, a funding announcement is
developed.

Step 2: The Funding announcement is released to potential applicants based on eligibility
requirements.

Step 3: Letters of Intent are due from potential applicants; staff invite full applications from
those that meet qualifying criteria (this step is optional).

Step 4: Applicants submit full proposals.

Step 5: Review panel(s) meets. May include both external reviewers and ClearWay Minnesota
staff.

Step 6. Staff present review-panel funding recommendations to the PGPCC for action.
Step 7. Full Board makes final funding decisions.
Note that grants and contracts often have a multilayered review process that could include

multiple review panels, a revise and resubmit process, site visits and/or request for additional
information before a recommendation is made to the PGPCC.



ClearWay Minnesota™

Charter of the Strategic Development and Planning Committee
Board Approved: January 15, 2014

Reviewed by Committee with no proposed changes: November 14, 2014
Purpose:

The Strategic Development and Planning Committee shall lead ClearWay Minnesota’s Strategic
Planning efforts, monitor performance towards Legacy Goals and periodically review the 2023
Framework. '

Committee Structure:

The Strategic Development and Planning Committee shall consist of no more than eight members
of the Board. The Strategic Development and Planning Committee Chair and Committee Members
shall be appointed by the Board Chair, approved by the Executive/Governance Committee and
ratified by the Board.

Authority:

The principal elements of the Charter of the Strategic Development and Planning Committee shall
be:

1. To oversee the timing, development and modification of the Strategic Plan. The Strategic
Plan and modifications to the Strategic Plan will be recommended to and approved by the
full Board.

2. To oversee the timing, development and modification of the 2023 Framework. The
Framework and modifications to the Framework will be recommended to and approved by
the full Board.

3. To monitor research and trends in the field and national and state environment that impact
development of the Strategic Plan and 2023 Framework.*

4. To review ClearWay Minnesota’s annual evaluation findings and apply them to the
development, execution and modification of ClearWay Minnesota’s Strategic Plans and
2023 Framework.

5. To recommend education for the Board on issues that impact ClearWay Minnesota’s
strategic direction.

6. To plan and oversee regular Board retreats for the purpose of strategic planning.

7. To ensure that at least once every two years, the Strategic Development and Planning
Committee Charter is reviewed and updated as needed.

*The monitoring process currently includes the annual evaluation presentation, annual best practices presentation,
Board education in preparation for strategic planning and staff review.
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ClearWay Minnesota M
Restated Policy Concerning Conflicts of Interest
Approved by the ClearWay Minnesota Board of Directors September 19, 2012
Approved by the Ramsey County District Court May 14, 2013

l. Introduction

The Board of Directors of ClearWay MinnesotasM is committed to governing the organization in a
manner that takes appropriate care to identify, minimize the impact of and, where possible, eliminate
actual, possible or perceived conflicts of interest. This policy is intended to assist ClearWay Minnesota
Board Members and employees in identifying actual conflicts of interest and situations in which there
might be a conflict or the appearance of a conflict even if no actual conflict exists. This document also
describes the procedures that the Board has established for disclosing and resolving conflict situations
that arise.

Every Board Member and employee is responsible for knowing and following this policy. Board
Members and employees receive regular training in how to follow and apply this policy. Each year,
every Board Member and employee reviews a list of current ClearWay Minnesota grantees and
contractors and discloses any relationships with organizations that have grants or contracts with
ClearWay Minnesota before submitting a mandatory certificate of compliance with this policy.
ClearWay Minnesota informs its vendors and grantees of this policy and its application.

I1. Definitions

1) A ClearWay Minnesota Board Member or employee is “affiliated” with an organization (and
has an “affiliation” with an organization) if he or she or a family member is an officer of, director
of, employed by, an independent contractor for, receiving proceeds from a ClearWay Minnesota
grant or contract, or has a financial interest in the organization.

2) A “Board Member” is a person who is on the ClearWay Minnesota Board. A Board Member
may be appointed or elected.

3) “Family members” of a person are the person’s spouse or domestic partner, parents,
stepparents, siblings, children, stepchildren, and spouses or domestic partners of the person’s
children and stepchildren.

4) “Relatives” of a person are the person’s aunts and uncles.

5) A person has a “financial interest” if the person has, directly or indirectly, through
governance, business or investment:

a) An existing, foreseeable or recent (within the past year) ownership interest of more
than 2 percent in any entity with which ClearWay Minnesota has, or is negotiating, a
grant, contract or other arrangement; or

b) An existing, foreseeable or recent (within the past year) compensation arrangement
1



with ClearWay Minnesota or with any entity or person with which ClearWay Minnesota
has, or is negotiating, a grant, contract or other arrangement.

I11.  Actual Conflict of Interest

To ensure that the decisions of the ClearWay Minnesota Board and employees are objective and
independent, the Board prohibits giving contracts and grants to Board Members or ClearWay Minnesota
employees, or the family members of either. If a Board Member or employee is affiliated with an
organization with which ClearWay Minnesota is considering a grant or contract, the person may have
an actual conflict of interest. The Board has created the following rules and procedures for such
situations.

1) Absolute Prohibition on Contracts and Grants with Board Members, Employees or
Their Family Members. ClearWay Minnesota will not give grants to, or enter into contracts
with, a ClearWay Minnesota Board Member or ClearWay Minnesota employees (except for
employment contracts) or the family members of either while the person is serving ClearWay
Minnesota and for one year after the person ceases to be a Board Member or employee of
ClearWay Minnesota.

2) Contracts with or Grants to Organizations Affiliated with Board Members. ClearWay
Minnesota will not give grants to, or enter into contracts with, organizations with which a Board
Member is affiliated at the time of his or her election or appointment to the ClearWay Minnesota
Board or at any time during his or her service as a Board Member unless:

a) The Board Member promptly resigns from the affiliated organization and for one year
thereafter does not participate in discussions or decisions by ClearWay Minnesota about
awarding or managing grants and contracts with the affiliated organization; or

b) The Board Member promptly resigns from the ClearWay Minnesota Board; ClearWay
Minnesota sends the affiliated organization a certification form; and within 30 days, that
organization returns the form verifying that the person will not, for one year following
his or her resignation, participate in discussions or decisions of the organization regarding
seeking or fulfilling grants or contracts with ClearWay Minnesota.

3) Contracts with or Grants to Organizations Affiliated with Family Members or Relatives
of Board Members. If a family member or relative of a Board Member is, or becomes, affiliated
with an organization that has a grant or contract with ClearWay Minnesota, that organization
must:

a) Certify in writing to ClearWay Minnesota that the family member or relative will not
solicit, supervise, manage, administer or have a financial interest in the ClearWay
Minnesota grant or contract for the duration of that grant or contract;

b) Submit the certification within 30 days after the disclosure of the relationship to the
affiliated organization or a written request from ClearWay Minnesota; and

¢) Promptly update the certification if the status of the family member or relative changes.
2



4) Contracts with or Grants to Organizations Affiliated with Employees. ClearWay
Minnesota will not give grants to, or enter into contracts with, organizations with which a
ClearWay Minnesota employee is affiliated unless:

a) The employee promptly resigns from the affiliated organization and for one year
thereafter does not participate in discussions or decisions by ClearWay Minnesota about
awarding or managing grants and contracts with the affiliated organization; or

b) The employee promptly resigns from ClearWay Minnesota; ClearWay Minnesota
sends the affiliated organization a certification form; and within 30 days, that organization
returns the form verifying that the person will not, for one year following his or her
resignation, participate in discussions or decisions of the organization regarding seeking
or fulfilling grants or contracts with ClearWay Minnesota.

5) Contracts with or Grants to Organizations Affiliated with Family Members or Relatives
of Employees. If a family member or relative of a ClearWay Minnesota employee is, or becomes,
affiliated with an organization that has a grant or contract with ClearWay Minnesota, that
organization must:

a) Certify in writing to ClearWay Minnesota that the family member or relative will not
solicit, supervise, manage, administer or have a financial interest in the ClearWay
Minnesota grant or contract for the duration of that grant or contract;

b) Submit the certification within 30 days after disclosure of the relationship to the
affiliated organization or a written request from ClearWay Minnesota; and

c) Promptly update the certification if the status of the family member or relative changes.
IV.  Procedure for Disclosing an Actual Conflict of Interest

1) ClearWay Minnesota Board Members and Chief Executive Officer (CEO). Every Board
Member and the CEOQ is responsible for disclosing any conflict as described in Section 111 to
the Chair of ClearWay Minnesota’s Board (Board Chair) or, if the Board Chair has the
conflict, to the Vice Chair of the Board as soon as he or she discovers the conflict. If any
action has been taken before the disclosure, the process outlined in Section VII.1.b will be
followed.

2) ClearWay Minnesota Employees. Every employee is responsible for disclosing any conflict
as described in Section 111 to the CEO as soon as he or she discovers the conflict. If any action
has been taken before the disclosure, the process outlined in Section V11.2.b will be followed.

V. Possible Conflict of Interest

Depending on the specific circumstances, a ClearWay Minnesota Board Member or employee could
have a conflict in the following situations. (Examples are provided for illustrative purposes only and are
not intended to be all-inclusive.) To ensure that the decisions of the ClearWay Minnesota Board and

3



employees are objective and independent, the Executive/Governance Committee of the ClearWay
Minnesota Board will determine whether an actual conflict of interest exists in these and similar
situations following the process detailed in Section VII. The Executive/Governance Committee also may
delegate the resolution of a possible conflict issue to another Board committee.

1) There is a proposed action involving ClearWay Minnesota in which a family member or
relative of a ClearWay Minnesota Board Member or employee has a financial interest; or

2) A person or an organization involved in decisions regarding the performance or supervision
of a ClearWay Minnesota grant or contract has a personal, social or business relationship with a
ClearWay Minnesota Board Member, employee, or a family member of either; or

3) A family member or relative of a ClearWay Minnesota Board Member or employee is
affiliated with an organization that has a grant or contract with ClearWay Minnesota.

VI.  Appearance of Conflict (Perceived Conflict)

A perception that the ClearWay Minnesota Board or employees are not making a fair, objective and
independent decision may be created by circumstances that fall outside of the definition of an actual
conflict of interest. The following examples (provided for illustrative purposes only and not intended to
be all-inclusive) demonstrate when the interests or concerns of Board Members or employees, or their
relationships with family members, relatives, or other persons or entities, could be seen as affecting the
decisions of ClearWay Minnesota. To protect the integrity and reputation of ClearWay Minnesota, the
Executive/Governance Committee will determine how a perceived conflict of interest will be handled in
these and similar situations following the process detailed in Section VII. The Executive/Governance
Committee also may delegate the resolution of a perceived conflict issue to another Board committee.

1) ClearWay Minnesota considers a grant to an organization, and a ClearWay Minnesota Board
Member was previously on the board of that organization.

2) An appointed Board Member’s allegiance, or perceived allegiance, to his or her appointing
authority is perceived as influencing his or her objectivity on an issue before the ClearWay
Minnesota Board.

3) A ClearWay Minnesota employee or his or her spouse has a close friend (not a family member
or relative) who has a financial interest in a ClearWay Minnesota vendor or grantee.

VII. Procedures for Disclosing, Assessing and Addressing a Possible or Perceived Conflict or
an Actual Conflict Disclosed after Action has been Taken

1) For ClearWay Minnesota Board Members and the Chief Executive Officer
Every Board Member and the CEO must disclose to the Board Chair the relevant facts of any
proposed action involving ClearWay Minnesota in which he or she has a possible or perceived

conflict as soon as it is discovered. If the Board Chair has a possible or perceived conflict, he or
she must disclose to the Vice Chair the relevant facts of the possible or perceived conflict.

4



Every Board Member and the CEO must notify the Board Chair (or the Vice Chair if the matter
involves the Chair) if he or she thinks there is a conflict of interest with another Board Member
or the CEO on a particular action.

a) If the disclosure is made before the Board or a Board committee considers the

action

The Executive/Governance Committee will review the possible or perceived
conflict and decide by majority vote if the person has a conflict. The person
may be present at the Executive/Governance Committee meeting and, if the
person is a member of the committee, he or she may be counted toward a
quorum. The Executive/Governance Committee may ask the person for
relevant information about the situation but the person will not participate in
the discussion or voting.

If the committee decides that the Board Member or CEO does not have a
conflict, he or she may participate in the consideration of the proposed action.
If the committee decides that the Board Member or CEO does have a conflict,
he or she will not participate in the consideration of the proposed action.

The Board Member or CEO may appeal the Executive/Governance
Committee’s decision to the ClearWay Minnesota Board. The Board will
decide the issue without the participation of the person whose conflict is in
question.

b) If the disclosure is made after the Board or a Board committee considers the

action

If a possible or perceived conflict is not discovered before the Board or Board
committee decides on the action, the Board Member or the CEO must disclose
the possible or perceived conflict to the Board Chair (or the Vice Chair, if the
Board Chair has the possible or perceived conflict) as soon as it is discovered.

i. The Executive/Governance Committee will follow the process outlined in the

VI11.1.a to determine whether there is a conflict and, if so, what remedial action
should be taken. The Board Member or CEO may appeal both the decision as
to whether there is a conflict and the remedy to the Board.

2) For a ClearWay Minnesota Employee

Every ClearWay Minnesota employee must disclose to the CEO the relevant facts of any
proposed ClearWay Minnesota action in which the employee has a possible or perceived conflict
as soon as it is discovered. Every employee also must notify the CEO or the Board Chair (if the
matter involves the CEQ) if he or she thinks there is a conflict of interest with another employee
on a particular action.



a) If the disclosure is made before the Board considers the action

I. The CEO will review the possible or perceived conflict and decide if the
employee has a conflict. In the case of an employee who reports directly to
the CEO, the CEO will advise the Board Chair of the decision about the
existence of a conflict, and the Board Chair will obtain the
Executive/Governance Committee’s confirmation of the proposed decision
before finalizing it.

ii. If the employee has a conflict, he or she will not participate in the deliberation
or decision by ClearWay Minnesota regarding the action unless the Board
Chair or the CEO asks him or her to provide information.

iii. The employee may appeal the conflict decision to the ClearWay Minnesota
Board, which will decide the issue.

b) If the disclosure is made after the Board considers the action

i. If a possible or perceived conflict is not discovered before the Board or a
Board committee decides on the action, the employee must disclose the
possible or perceived conflict to the CEO as soon as it is discovered.

ii. The CEO will review the possible or perceived conflict and decide if the
employee has a conflict. If the employee has a conflict, the CEO will
determine whether any remedial action will be taken.

iii. In the case of an employee who reports directly to the CEO, the CEO will
advise the Board Chair of the decision about the existence of a conflict and
any necessary remedial action, and the Board Chair will obtain the
Executive/Governance Committee’s confirmation of the proposed decision
before finalizing it.

iv. If the Board Chair or the CEO decides that the questions of a conflict or
remedial action should be referred to the Board or the Executive/Governance
Committee, the procedure described in Section VII.1.a will be followed.

v. The employee may appeal the conflict decision to the ClearWay Minnesota
Board, which will decide the issue.

VIII. Records

Appropriate records will be kept to document the handling and resolution of all matters involving
conflicts.

IX.  Policy Enforcement; Education and Training

The Executive/Governance Committee will consider and determine the enforcement of this policy, as
6



well as the education of ClearWay Minnesota Board Members and employees about this policy.
X. Gifts

No ClearWay Minnesota Board Member or employee may receive a gift, including tickets to sporting or
cultural events, from any third party in connection with their service to ClearWay Minnesota if the value
of such gift is greater than $5.00. ClearWay Minnesota employees must report any gifts they receive to
their supervisor. Gifts from prospective grantees or vendors will not be accepted.

Gifts of food or flowers with a value greater than $5.00 will be placed in a common area of the office
and shared with all employees and visitors. The aggregate value of the food or flowers cannot be greater
than $100.00. Any gift may be returned; gifts worth more than $100 must be returned.

ClearWay Minnesota employees may consume food or beverages provided by partners, vendors or
grantees while attending events or meetings as part of conducting ClearWay Minnesota business.
Employees do not have to pay the host organization for food or beverages consumed at such events or
meetings. Employees are not required to report meals consumed while conducting ClearWay Minnesota
business unless they are seeking reimbursement.

XI.  Consultant Fees, Honoraria

All ClearWay Minnesota employees and Board Members are encouraged to participate in community
and professional activities. If the activities are part of their ClearWay Minnesota duties and
responsibilities, any payment received must be turned over to ClearWay Minnesota. This includes any
fees derived from ClearWay Minnesota reports, activities, events, speaking engagements or honoraria
while employed by ClearWay Minnesota or while serving on the ClearWay Minnesota Board.

XIl.  Loans

ClearWay Minnesota will not loan money or property to, or guarantee the obligations of, any person.



AMENDED AND RESTATED BYLAWS
of
CLEARWAY MINNESOTASM
Effective Julyl7, 2013

ARTICLE VI
CONFLICT OF INTEREST; ACCEPTANCE OF GIFTS

Conflicts of interest, including policies relating to loans and gifts, are governed by ClearWay
Minnesota’s Restated Conflict of Interest Policy, adopted by ClearWay Minnesota’s Board of
Directors September 19, 2012.

Enforcement of the Conflict of Interest Policy shall be considered and determined by the
Executive/Governance Committee of the ClearWay Minnesota Board. Any final decision relating
to any conflict of interest matter involving ClearWay Minnesota shall be made by the ClearWay
Minnesota Board on the recommendation of the Executive/Governance Committee, or a
committee designated by the Executive/Governance Committee, of the ClearWay Minnesota
Board.
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BACKGROUND

In 1998, ClearWay Minnesota was created as an independent nonprofit that would work to reduce
tobacco’s harm in Minnesota for a period of 25 years. Recognizing that we would cease to exist in
2023, the ClearWay Minnesota Board in 2007 directed the organization to begin planning for our end
of life by creating a Legacy Framework, a new tool to complement our regular strategic planning
cycles. By doing this, the Board took a historic opportunity to shape the work of our remaining time,
and to determine how our legacy could influence the health and lives of Minnesotans and reduce
tobacco’s harm after our time is over. (Tobacco in this document refers specifically to the use of
commercial tobacco products such as cigarettes, and not to the sacred and traditional use of tobacco
by American Indians and other groups.)

ClearWay Minnesota’s Legacy Framework defines our desired lasting impact, and articulates what we
hope will remain after our end of life and what long-term goals will help us to get there. The
Framework is a resource for making ongoing decisions about our work. It shapes and guides change
for the organization within the complex, dynamic environment of tobacco control. It will serve our
Board and staff throughout the rest of our lifetime, as we continue to excel, to meet our long-term
goals and to maximize impact in a changing environment.

The Legacy Framework and the Legacy Goals were constructed with great care, drawing on the
collective expertise of many partners, consultants, staff and Board Members. We took into account
tobacco control best and promising practices, the counsel of state and national tobacco control
experts, information gathered from other life-limited organizations and the most recent and relevant
scientific literature. Updates to the Framework were made in 2011 and 2015 in response to changes in
the tobacco control environment and to new data about tobacco and secondhand smoke trends in
Minnesota.

MISSION AND LEGACY GOALS EXPLAINED

The Legacy Framework positions ClearWay Minnesota’s Mission Statement, which describes our
purpose and focus, in the context of our limited-life status. Our Legacy Goals clearly define specific
outcomes to measure our success at achieving our mission. They are designed to be bold and to bring
about changes that reduce the harm tobacco causes the people of Minnesota in truly meaningful
ways. Combined, the Mission Statement and Legacy Goals define what we will work toward (with the
help of partner organizations) during our remaining lifetime.

MISSION STATEMENT (our core purpose and focus)

The mission of ClearWay Minnesota is to enhance life for all Minnesotans by reducing tobacco use and
exposure to secondhand smoke through research, action and collaboration.



LEGACY GOALS (specific outcomes to measure our success at achieving our mission)

e By 2023, reduce the prevalence of smoking among adult Minnesotans to less than 9 percent.

e By 2023, reduce secondhand smoke exposure among nonsmoking Minnesotans to less than 5
percent.

e By 2023, advance the science of eliminating tobacco-related health disparities.

Our Legacy Goals are reflections of our strategic priorities. These priorities, as well as shorter-term
goals, are laid out in our Strategic Plans and implemented through our annual workplans and budgets.

EVALUATION

ClearWay Minnesota’s work is founded in evidence-based research, and we value evaluation as an
important aid in accomplishing our desired legacy. Evaluation informs strategic planning and helps us
improve our programs, contributes to the knowledge base around tobacco, and provides
accountability and transparency for the organization.

Our Legacy Evaluation measures how our activities are moving us closer to achieving our Legacy Goals,
by tracking progress toward specific goal outcomes and long-term impacts. Progress is reported to the
Board of Directors as data becomes available to inform decision-making and planning.

The following measures are used to evaluate progress made toward our Legacy Goals:
Goal One (smoking prevalence)

e Data from the Minnesota Adult Tobacco Survey (MATS) is used to measure the
smoking rate among adult Minnesotans.

Goal Two (secondhand smoke exposure)

e Data from the Minnesota Adult Tobacco Survey (MATS) is used to measure rates of
secondhand smoke exposure among adult nonsmokers in homes, cars and other
locations.

e Data from the Minnesota Youth Tobacco Survey is used to measure secondhand
smoke exposure among nonsmoking middle-school and high-school students.

Goal Three (eliminating tobacco-related health disparities)

Eliminating tobacco-related health disparities across the diverse populations of Minnesota will require
better understanding and measurement of tobacco trends among groups disproportionately harmed
by tobacco. Focusing on advancing science in this area will directly inform and advance disparity
reduction work, and will help to close disparities gaps both now and in the future.

e Data from the Minnesota Adult Tobacco Survey (MATS), the Behavioral Risk Factor
Surveillance System (BRFSS) and the Tribal Tobacco Use Project (TTUP) is used to
establish trends and develop models for projecting future reductions for smoking



prevalence and secondhand smoke exposure rate reductions among specific
populations, including Minnesotans of low socioeconomic status and American
Indians in Minnesota.

e Data is used to identify interventions that are effective at reducing rates in these
populations.

e We will disseminate findings, so that the knowledge we create may continue to be
used by others to reduce disparities in the longer term.

OUR FOUNDATION

ClearWay Minnesota strives to excel through our last day of operation. In addition to our mission, we
are guided by our Vision, Business Definition and Values, and all our activities are consistent with
court-authorized guiding documents. Our time and energy are invested in activities that have the
highest value, deliver that value within the shortest timeframe and have enduring impact. We remain
committed to innovation and flexibility in pursuit of our goals.

VISION: Eliminate the harm tobacco causes the people of Minnesota.

VALUES: Commitment to Excellence: Vigorously pursue the best possible outcome in all
areas of our work.

Knowledge-Based Innovation: Design and put into practice the most effective
plan of action, basing our priorities on the most relevant and current evidence
and knowledge.

Integrity, Honesty and Accountability: Remain consistently loyal to our public
mandate, maintain the highest ethical standards and operate with openness
and transparency.

Safe and Respectful Environment: Provide a safe haven for diverse opinions and
show equal respect for all Minnesotans’ views.

BUSINESS ClearWay Minnesota is an independent, statewide organization that engages

the public in efforts to support our mission. ClearWay Minnesota funds the

DEFINITION: following:

e Research projects;

e Programs to help people stop tobacco use;

e Community outreach activities;

e [Efforts to strengthen communities’ internal resources; and
e Health-improvement collaborations.



PLANNING CYCLES AND FORECASTING

Our strategic planning cycles promote continuous evaluation and adjustment, both proactive and
reactive, based on environmental changes and new knowledge. Our future planning, including our
Strategic Plan, our annual workplans and other programmatic, financial, administrative and
governance planning that will occur in light of our limited life, will be informed by key strategic
guidance from this Framework.

Our long-term financial planning includes creating annual financial/investment models, long-term
budget plans aligned with our programs and annual budgets. This work is complemented by the risk-
assessment and investment oversight activities of the Board of Directors, the Audit/Finance
Committee and senior staff. Forecasting will reduce portfolio assets over our remaining life to zero
dollars by June of 2023. Forecast summaries will be updated annually based on actual investment
performance, asset drawdown and revised expected returns.

Administrative planning will ensure that ClearWay Minnesota has organizational resources sufficient
to carry out our changing work and bring the organization to an orderly close. And governance
planning will maintain and improve our Board’s ability to provide effective leadership and oversight as
we approach our end of life.

OUR LEGACY

Our Legacy Framework defines what ClearWay Minnesota will work toward during our remaining
lifetime. Although the programs and policies implemented during our life will have lasting impact, the
problem of tobacco’s harm in Minnesota will persist after our organizational end of life. To ensure our
legacy’s impact is truly felt beyond the close of our doors, we are partnering with other organizations
and individuals to share knowledge and to influence ongoing, sustainable tobacco control work. Our
efforts now are creating momentum that will empower these others to make additional, meaningful
strides after we’ve gone. The realization of our mission and goals, the longest-term impacts our work
will have on the health of Minnesotans, and the future work of others, together will equal our true

legacy.
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This Strategic Plan is flexible, and allows Board and staff to react nimbly and
appropriately to new opportunities or challenges. Work toward these Strategies
and Goals will aim for long-term impacts with major implications for reducing
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
CLEARWAY MINNESOTA™

RESOLUTION 2016-0002
WHEREAS, ClearWay Minnesota will cease to exist in 2023; and

WHEREAS, the Board directed staff, in consultation with external legal counsel, to
review ClearWay Minnesota’s governing documents and recommend changes to
ClearWay Minnesota’s Policy Concerning Conflicts of Interest to facilitate ClearWay
Minnesota’s end of life; and

WHEREAS, staff and legal counsel presented recommended revisions to ClearWay
Minnesota’s Policy Concerning Conflicts of Interest to the Executive/Governance
Committee on December 16, 2015, and to the Board for a first reading at its January 20,
2016, meeting; and

WHEREAS, the Board has reviewed and approved the recommended revisions to
ClearWay Minnesota’s Policy Concerning Conflicts of Interest;

NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY RESOLVED THAT:

The recommended revisions to ClearWay Minnesota’s Policy Concerning Conflicts of
Interest are approved. Copies of the documents are attached and incorporated into this
Resolution.

The Amended and Restated Policy Concerning Conflicts of Interest will be submitted to
the Ramsey County District Court for review, and will become effective upon approval
by the Court.

DATED, this 16" day of March, 2016, B %\
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ARTICLES OF INCORPORATION
OF
CLEARWAY MINNESOTA SM

The undersigned incorporators, natural persons 18 years of age or older, in order to form
a corporate entity under Minnesota Statutes, Chapter 317A, adopt the following articles
of incorporation.

ARTICLE |
NAME/REGISTERED OFFICE

The name of this corporation shall be ClearWay Minnesota SM. The corporation’s
registered office is located at Suite 400, Two Appletree Square, 8011 34" Avenue,
Minneapolis, MN 55425,

ARTICLE Il
PURPOSE

This corporation is organized exclusively for scientific, educational and charitable
purposes, within the meaning of Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986,
as now enacted or hereafter amended. To this end, the corporation shall, through grants
and programs, manage the smoking cessation and national research accounts ordered
established by the Consent Judgment in State of Minnesota, by Hubert H. Humphrey |11,
and Blue Cross-Blue Shield of Minnesota v. Philip Morris Incorporated, et al, Ramsey
County File No. C1-94-8565 (May 8, 1998), in compliance with the Court’s Order
Approving Plan of Administration Pursuant to Consent Judgment dated August 27, 1998.
The corporation may similarly administer any other funds, grants or appropriations,
including other funds from the settlement of the lawsuit, as the Legislature may request,
or as may lawfully otherwise become available to it; and engage in activities intended to
diminish the human and economic costs of the use of tobacco products. All funds,
whether income or principal, and whether acquired by gift or contribution or otherwise,
shall be devoted to said purposes.

ARTICLE Il
LIMITATIONS

At all times the following shall operate as conditions restricting the operations and
activities of the corporation:

1. No part of the net earnings of the corporation shall inure to any Director or officer of
the corporation, nor to any other private persons, excepting solely such reasonable
compensation that the corporation shall pay for services actually rendered to the
corporation, or allowed by the corporation as a reasonable allowance for authorized
expenditures incurred on behalf of the corporation;



2. No substantial part of the activities of the corporation shall constitute the carrying on
of propaganda or otherwise attempting to influence legislation, or any initiative or
referendum before the public, and the corporation shall not participate in, or intervene in
(including by publication or distribution of statements), any political campaign on behalf
of, or in opposition to, any candidates for public office;

3. Notwithstanding any other provision of these articles, the corporation shall not carry
on any other activities not permitted to be carried on by a corporation exempt from
federal income tax under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as now
enacted or hereafter amended; and

4. The corporation shall not lend any of its assets to any officer or director of this
corporation, or guarantee to any person the payment of a loan by an officer or director of
this corporation.

ARTICLE IV
DIRECTORS/MEMBERS

The corporation shall have no voting members. The management and affairs of the
corporation shall be at all times under the direction of a Board of Directors, whose
operations in governing the corporation shall be defined by statute and by the
corporation's Bylaws. No Director shall have any right, title, or interest in or to any
property of the corporation devolve from their relationship to the corporation as a
Director. The powers, authorities and duties of the Board, the time and place of its
meetings, and all other matters concerning the Board, subject to the provisions of
applicable law and the other provisions of these Articles, shall be prescribed in the
Bylaws.

The corporation's Board of Directors shall consist of 19 persons. No person may be a
Director

1. If that person
a. is, or has been within the ten years before becoming a director, the
agent, attorney, employee, lobbyist, or representative of; or
b. receives, or has received within the ten years before becoming a
director, any compensation from; or
C. is, or has been within the ten years before becoming a director,

otherwise affiliated with

any business or organization which sells tobacco products, or any trade
association the majority of the members of which sell tobacco or tobacco
products; or

If that person or a political committee, political fund or principal campaign
committee acting on behalf of that person receives or has received within



two years before the person becomes a director, any political
“contribution” under Minn. Stat. Section 10A.01, subd. 7 or 2 U.S.C.
Section 431(8)(A) from a tobacco manufacturer, whether made directly by
the manufacturer or indirectly through an employee acting in the scope of
his employment, affiliate, lobbyist or other agent acting under the
substantial control of a tobacco manufacturer and

2. Unless that person has a demonstrated history of activities directed at or
expertise related to reducing the human and economic consequences of
tobacco use.

The Board of Directors shall consist of:

Two Directors appointed by the Speaker of the House
Two Directors appointed by the Senate Majority Leader
Two Directors appointed by the Governor

Two Directors appointed by the Attorney General
Eleven at-large directors.

ARTICLE V
DEBT OBLIGATIONS AND PERSONAL LIABILITY

No officer or Director of this corporation shall be personally liable for the debts or
obligations of this corporation of any nature whatsoever, nor shall any of the property of
the officers or Directors be subject to the payment of the debts or obligations of this
corporation.

ARTICLE VI
DURATION

This corporation shall remain in existence for 25 years from the date of incorporation.

ARTICLE VII
DISSOLUTION

Upon the time of dissolution of the corporation, the Board of Directors shall distribute the
corporation’s assets to the State for a purely public purpose, in accordance with IRS Code
Section 170 (c)(1), after paying, or making provisions for the payment of, all debts,
obligations, liabilities, costs and expenses of the corporation.

ARTICLE VI
AMENDMENTS TO ARTICLES OF INCORPORATION

These articles may be amended by the affirmative vote of 14 members of the Board of
Directors.



ARTICLE IX
INCORPORATORS

The incorporators of this corporation are:

Hubert H. Humphrey I11
102 State Capitol
Saint Paul, Minnesota 55155

C. Everett Koop
6706 Democracy Boulevard
Suite 107
Bethesda, Maryland 20817-1129

The undersigned incorporators certify both that they execute these Articles for the
purposes stated herein, and that by such execution, they affirm the understanding that
should any of the information in these Articles be intentionally or knowingly misstated,
they are subject to criminal penalties for perjury set forth in Minnesota Statutes Section
609.48 as if this document had been executed under oath.
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AMENDED AND RESTATED BYLAWS
of
CLEARWAY MINNESOTA
Effective September 19, 2012

ARTICLE |
CORPORATE POWERS; COURT JURISDICTION

This Corporation shall have powers to the full extent allowed by the law. All powers and
activities of this Corporation shall be exercised and managed by, or under the direction of, the
Board of Directors of this Corporation, subject, however, to the jurisdiction and Orders of the
Ramsey County District Court, Ramsey County, Minnesota (the “Court”).

ARTICLE Il
PRINCIPAL OFFICE

The principal office of this Corporation shall be located at Suite 400, Two Appletree
Square, 8011 34™ Avenue, Minneapolis, MN 55425. This Corporation may have offices at such
other places, within the State of Minnesota, as the Board of Directors may from time to time
designate.

ARTICLE Il
BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Section 1. Number. In accordance with the Court’s Orders and the Amended Acrticles of
Incorporation, the Board of Directors shall consist of 19 persons appointed or elected as follows:

a. Two Directors, of different political parties, appointed by the Speaker of the

House.

b. Two Directors, of different political parties, appointed by the Senate Majority
Leader.

C. Two Directors appointed by the Governor.

d. Two Directors appointed by the Attorney General.

e. Eleven at-large Directors nominated and elected in accordance with Article 11I,
Section 4.

Section 2. Director Qualifications. In electing At-Large Directors and in appointing
Directors, the Board and the appointing authority shall give consideration to selection of persons
who are committed to this Corporation’s mission, and have expertise in areas related to tobacco
control/cessation, education and research related to tobacco issues, the governance of a nonprofit
organizations, finance (including budgeting, investments, preparation of financial reports and
statements and auditing financial statements), communications, community organizing, health
care, health insurance, diversity and populations at risk, marketing, public affairs, human
resources, law, such other qualifications and characteristics as the Board may determine from
time to time, and to the selection of Directors so that the Board, taken as a whole, broadly
represents all Minnesotans.
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Section 3. Appointed Directors. Those Directors appointed by the Governor, the
Attorney General, the Speaker of the House and the Senate Majority Leader in accordance with
Article 111, Section 1 are referred to as “Appointed Directors.”

Section 4. Nomination and Election of At-Large Directors. Those Directors who are
elected rather than appointed are referred to as “At-Large Directors.” The Board shall establish a
process for the selection of At-Large Director candidates, and the filling of vacancies caused by
the resignation, removal, disqualification or unavailability for service of At-Large Directors.
At-Large Directors are elected by vote of a majority of the Directors then in office. No director
may vote on his/her reelection.

Section 5. Terms of Office, Staggered Terms. Directors shall serve three year terms,
subject to their earlier resignation, removal, disqualification or unavailability for service. In
order to provide for staggered terms of office, Directors are classified into Group I, comprised of
six Directors, Group Il, compromised of six Directors, and Group 111, comprised of seven
Directors. No director may serve more than two consecutive terms, not including a partial term
if a director takes office with less than 18 months remaining in his or her predecessor’s term.

In the event that a Director who would be subject to the term limits set forth in this section is
elected as Board Chair for a two-year term pursuant to Article V, Section 2, the Board may
extend such Director’s term by one additional year, such that if such Director served two
consecutive terms, such Director would have served for a total of seven years.

Board terms shall expire at midnight on September 28 of their respective three-year terms.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, a director holds office until a successor is elected or appointed
and qualifies, subject to such director’s resignation, removal, disqualification or unavailability
for service.

Section 6. Termination of Director Term Immediately Upon Change in Eligibility
Status. The term of a director who loses eligibility by knowingly accepting a disqualifying
affiliation or campaign contribution prohibited by Article IV, Paragraph | of the Articles of
Incorporation, terminates automatically upon acceptance of the disqualifying affiliation or
contribution.

Section 7. Vacancies; Appointment/Election of Successor Directors. A vacancy shall
be deemed to exist on the Board in the event that the actual number of Directors is less than the
authorized number for any reason. VVacancies among At-Large or Appointed Directors may be
filled for the unexpired portion of the vacated term. When a vacancy occurs among the
Appointed Directors, the Board shall as soon as practicable notify the appointing authority, in
writing, of such vacancy and request appointment of a qualified person to fill such vacancy.

Section 8. Resignation and Removal. Resignations shall be effective upon receipt by
the Board Chair, the Chair of the Nominating Committee or the Chief Executive Officer, unless a
later effective date is specified in the resignation. A two-thirds majority of the Directors then in
office may remove any At-Large director at any time, with or without cause, and any Appointed
Director at any time with cause. The appointing authority who appointed an Appointed Director

Board Approved September 19, 2012 2



may remove that Appointed Director at any time without cause. Removal shall be effective upon
the mailing of a written notice to the director who is removed.

Section 9. Annual and Regular Meetings. The Board of Directors shall hold an annual
meeting for the purpose of electing At-Large Directors and officers, and transacting any other
business coming before it. The Board shall also hold regularly scheduled meetings (referred to
as “regular meetings”) as it may determine. Notice of the annual and regular meetings shall be
given in accordance with Article 11, Section 11.

Section 10. Special Meetings. Special meetings of the Board of Directors may be called
by the Board Chair, or by a majority of the Directors. Notice of special meetings shall be given
in accordance with Article 111, Section 11.

Section 11. Notice, Place and Time of Meetings. Notice of the place and time of
annual, regular meetings and special meetings of the Board of Directors shall be given to each
director at least five days before any such meeting if given by first-class mail or three days
before any such meeting if given personally or by telephone (including a voice messaging
system), facsimile, electronic mail, or other electronic means, and shall state the date, place, and
time of the meeting, and the matters then known to be considered at the meeting. Notice of
meetings of the Board, including emergency meetings, shall be given to the public in accordance
with the Open Meeting Law. Board meetings shall be held at this Corporation’s principal
offices, unless otherwise noticed.

Section 12. Meetings and Minutes Held and Kept in Accordance with Certain
Statutes. Except as authorized by the Court, all meetings of the Board of Directors shall be
conducted, and records kept, in accordance with the Open Meeting Law and the Minnesota
Government Data Practices Act.

Section 13. Validity of Board Action, Curing a Failure of Notice. A director may
waive notice of a meeting of the Board. A waiver of notice by a director entitled to notice is
effective whether given before, at, or after the Board meeting which is the subject of the notice,
and whether given in writing, orally, or by attendance. Attendance by a director at a meeting is a
waiver of notice of that meeting, unless the director objects at the beginning of the meeting to the
transaction of business because the meeting is not lawfully called or convened and does not
participate in the meeting. All waivers shall be noted in writing and filed with the records of this
Corporation.

Section 14. Quorum; Act of the Board. A majority of the total number of Directors then
in office shall constitute a quorum for the purpose of convening a Board meeting. The act of a
majority of the Directors present at a meeting at which a quorum is present shall be the act of the
Board of Directors, except as otherwise provided in these Bylaws or in Minnesota Statutes
Chapter 317A. A meeting at which a quorum is initially present may continue to transact
business notwithstanding the withdrawal of that number of Directors such that a quorum is no
longer present, as long as any action is taken by that number of Directors which would otherwise
be required to take an action at a meeting at which a quorum was present. Pursuant to Minn.
Stat. 8317A.237, no proxy voting is permitted.
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Section 15. Inspection of Books and Records. Every director shall have the absolute
right at any reasonable time, for purposes consistent with his or her fiduciary duties to this
Corporation, to inspect and copy all books, records, and documents, and to inspect the physical
properties of this Corporation.

Section 16. Directors Not Compensated; Reimbursement for Out-of-Pocket
Expenses Authorized. Directors shall serve without per diem or other compensation. The
Board of Directors may authorize, by resolution, the payment to Directors and Honorary Chairs
of reasonable out-of-pocket expenses actually incurred in the course of this Corporation’s
business, which may include the expense of attending Board of Directors and Board Committee
meetings and attending and participating in other activities of this Corporation.

Section 17. Electronic Participation in Meetings For Directors Who Are Located
Outside of the Seven-County Metropolitan Area. Directors who are located outside of the
seven-county metropolitan area may participate in Board and Committee meetings by any means
of communication through which the participants may simultaneously hear each other during the
meeting. Participation in a meeting by such means constitutes personal presence at the meeting,
and a meeting at which some of the participants attend by such means constitutes a meeting of
the Board or the Committee if the notice provisions of Section 11of this Article and the quorum
requirements of Section 14 of this Article are complied with, subject to the following additional
conditions:

a. Members of the public present at the regular meeting location of this Corporation
can hear clearly all discussion of all matters, and all votes of the Board or Committee members
in attendance at the meeting; and

b. The Board or Committee Chair or Vice Chair is physically present at the regular
meeting location of this Corporation; and

C. All votes of Directors or Committee members are conducted by roll call, so that
each Director’s or Committee member’s (as the case may be) vote on each issue can be
identified.

Section 18. Electronic Participation in Meetings For Directors Who are Located
Within the Seven-County Metropolitan Area. Directors who are located within the seven-
county metropolitan area, but who are unable to attend a Board or Committee meeting because
personal appearance at such meeting is impractical, may participate in Board and Committee
meetings by any means of communication through which the participants may simultaneously
hear each other during the meeting. Participation in a meeting by such means constitutes
personal presence at the meeting, and a meeting at which some of the participants attend by such
means constitutes a meeting of the Board or the Committee if the notice provisions of Section 11
of this Article, the quorum requirements of Section 14 of this Article, and conditions (a), (b), and
(c) of Section 17 of this Article are complied with, and also subject to the following additional
conditions:
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a. If the meeting would lack a quorum without the electronic participation of that Director
or Committee member; and

b. The subject matter of the meeting is critical and time sensitive as determined by the
Committee Chair or Board Chair; and

c. The reasons for allowing that Member’s electronic participation are documented in the
minutes of that meeting.

ARTICLE IV
COMMITTEES

Section 1. Board Committees. The Board of Directors shall appoint an
Executive/Governance Committee with the authority to act for the Board between meetings and
such other authority as the Board may determine; and may, from time to time, appoint such other
committees as it deems appropriate. The Board shall prescribe the duties and responsibilities of,
and establish the number of members to be appointed to, each committee.

Section 2. Quorum; Act of a Committee. A majority of the total number of committee
members shall constitute a quorum for the purpose of convening a committee meeting. A
meeting at which a quorum is initially present may continue to transact business notwithstanding
the withdrawal of that number of committee members such that a quorum is no longer present, as
long as any action is taken by that number of Directors which would otherwise be required to
take an action at a meeting at which a quorum was present.

Section 3. Appointment of Members and Chair. The Chair of the Board of Directors
shall appoint the chair and members of each committee subject to the concurrence of the
Executive/Governance Committee.

Section 4. Terms of Committee Members. Committee members shall serve for a term
of one year and until their successors are appointed, subject to their earlier removal, resignation,
disqualification or unavailability for service. There shall be no limit as to the number of one-
year terms which may be served by committee members.

Section 5. Committee Charters and Meetings. The Board of Directors shall adopt a
committee charter for the governance, and setting forth the duties and responsibilities, of each
Board committee so long as the provisions of such committee charter are not inconsistent with
the provisions of these Bylaws. Meetings and actions of Board committees shall be governed by
the applicable committee charter, these Bylaws, the Open Meeting Law and Minnesota
Government Data Practices Act.
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ARTICLE YV
OFFICERS

Section |. Officers. The officers of this Corporation shall include a Board Chair, a Vice
Chair, a President and Chief Executive Officer, a Chief Financial Officer, a Secretary, a
Treasurer, and up to two Honorary Chairs. The Board Chair and Vice Chair, Secretary, and
Treasurer of the Board shall be Directors of this Corporation. The offices of Board Chair, Vice
Chair, President and Treasurer may not be held by the same person at the same time.

Section 2. Election. The officers of this Corporation other than the Board Chair, shall be
elected annually by the Board of Directors. Officer terms shall expire at midnight on September
28 or until their successors are elected and qualified, subject to their earlier resignation, removal,
disqualification or unavailability for service. The Board Chair shall be elected for a term of one
or two years, and he or she shall serve until his or her successor is elected and qualified, subject
to his or her resignation, removal, disqualification or unavailability for service. A Board Chair
may only serve one two-year term, not including the completing of a partial term created by a
vacancy in the office of Board Chair. A Board Chair who is subject to the term limits of Article
I11 Section 5, may serve one additional year (a total of seven years) on the Board to complete a
two-year term as Board Chair.

Section 3. Removal. Any officer may be removed, with or without cause, by the
affirmative vote of a two-thirds majority of the Directors then in office, without prejudice,
however, to any contract rights of such officer. Removal shall be effective upon the taking of the
action of removal by the Board or a subsequent date determined by the Board, and shall be
communicated to the officer who is removed by notice.

Section 4. Resignation. Any officer may resign at any time by giving written notice to
this Corporation. The resignation is effective when notice is given to this Corporation, unless a
later date is specified in the notice.

Section 5. Vacancies. The Executive/Governance Committee, by majority vote at a
meeting at which a quorum is present, may appoint a person to fill a vacancy that occurs in any
office between meetings of the Board of Directors on an interim basis. If the vacant office was
held by a director, the person appointed shall also be a director of this Corporation. The Board
of Directors shall vote at its next meeting to ratify the interim appointment or fill the vacancy
with another person. The officer filling a vacant position shall serve the unexpired portion of the
former officer’s term.

Section 6. Board Chair. The Board Chair shall have such powers and shall perform
such duties as may be specified in these Bylaws or prescribed by the Board of Directors. The
Board Chair shall preside at all meetings of the Board of Directors, and be generally responsible
for all matters pertaining to the conduct of meetings of the Board. If the Board Chair is not
present at a meeting of the Board, the Vice Chair shall preside at the meeting. If the Board Chair
later joins the meeting, he or she shall then assume the role of chairing the meeting. The Board
Chair shall be an ex-officio member of each Board Committee, and shall be entitled to vote on
matters under consideration by each Board Committee; however, the Board Chair will not be
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considered a member of a committee for the purposes of determining a quorum for a committee
meeting.

Section 7. Vice Chair. The Vice Chair shall have such powers and duties as the Board
Chair or the Board may delegate consistent with these Bylaws and applicable law.

Section 8. President. Unless provided otherwise by a resolution adopted by the Board
of Directors, the President shall (a) be the Chief Executive Officer of this Corporation, and have
general active management of the business of this Corporation; (b) see that all orders and
resolutions of the Board are carried into effect; (c) sign and deliver in the name of this
Corporation contracts and other instruments pertaining to the business of this Corporation,
except in cases in which the authority to sign and deliver is required by law to be exercised by
another person or is expressly delegated by the Articles, these Bylaws or the Board to some other
officer or agent of this Corporation; and (d) perform such other duties as may from time to time
be prescribed by the Board.

Section 9. Secretary. The Secretary shall oversee in-house counsel in the keeping of a
full and complete record of the proceedings of the Board of Directors and its committees, the
giving of such notices as may be proper or necessary, the keeping of the corporate books and
records of this Corporation, and shall have such other powers and duties as may be prescribed by
the Board or these Bylaws.

Section 10. Treasurer. The Treasurer shall oversee the CFO in the (a) keeping of
accurate financial records for this Corporation, (b) reporting from time to time regarding the
financial condition of this Corporation, (c) preparation and distribution of financial statements
and other returns of this Corporation, and (d) such other duties as may be prescribed by the
Board of Directors from time to time.

Section 11. Chief Financial Officer. Unless provided otherwise by a resolution adopted
by the Board of Directors, the Chief Financial Officer of this Corporation shall be responsible for
(a) the keeping of accurate financial records for this Corporation, (b) deposit of all monies, drafts
and checks in the name of and to the credit of this Corporation in such banks and depositories as
the Board of Directors shall designate from time to time, (c) the disbursement of corporate funds
and issuing of checks and drafts in the name of this Corporation, individually, or with other
properly designated employees of this Corporation as authorized by the Board of Directors,

(d) providing to the Board of Directors from time to time an account of the transactions
conducted and authorized by the Chief Financial Officer, (e) reporting from time to time to the
Board of Directors and/or the Chief Executive Officer the financial condition of this Corporation,
(f) preparation and distribution to appropriate parties of financial statements and various other
statements, returns and reports of this Corporation consistent with the Chief Financial Officer’s
duties, and (g) such other duties as may be prescribed by the Board of Directors and/or Chief
Executive Officer from time to time. The Board of Directors and/or the Chief Executive Officer
of this Corporation may authorize the delegation of certain responsibilities of the Chief Financial
Officer to one or more other employees of this Corporation. The Chief Financial Officer shall be
subject to the oversight of the Treasurer, and shall report to, and be subject to the direction of,
the Chief Executive Officer.
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Section 12. Honorary Chair. Up to two persons may be designated as Honorary Chairs
of this Corporation from time to time by the Board of Directors. An Honorary Chair shall be
invited to attend Board meetings at the discretion of the Board Chair, and when present may
participate in discussions, but shall not vote on matters voted on by the Directors. An Honorary
Chair shall have such other privileges and responsibilities as the Board of Directors may
determine, consistent with these Bylaws and applicable law.

Section 13. Other Officers. The Board of Directors may elect or appoint such other
officers or agents as the Board shall determine. Such other officers elected appointed by the
Board of Directors shall perform such duties and be responsible for such functions as the Board
of Directors shall determine.

ARTICLE VI
CONFLICT OF INTEREST; ACCEPTANCE OF GIFTS

Conflicts of interest, including policies relating to loans and gifts, are governed by ClearWay
Minnesota’s Restated Conflict of Interest Policy, adopted by ClearWay Minnesota’s Board of
Directors effective September 19, 2012.

Enforcement of the Conflict of Interest Policy shall be considered and determined by the
Executive/Governance Committee of the ClearWay Minnesota Board. Any final decision
relating to any conflict of interest matter involving ClearWay Minnesota shall be made by the
ClearWay Minnesota Board on the recommendation of the Executive/Governance Committee, or
a committee designated by the Executive/Governance Committee, of the ClearWay Minnesota
Board.

ARTICLE VII
INDEMNIFICATION AND INSURANCE

Section 1. Right of Indemnitee. Subject to the provisions of Sections 2 through 5 of
this Article, this Corporation shall indemnify and advance expenses to, such persons, for such
expenses and liabilities, in such manner, under such circumstances, and to such extent, as is
permitted by Minnesota Statutes, Section 317A.521, as now enacted or hereafter amended.

Section 2. Limitations Respecting Indemnification and Advancement of Expenses.
This Corporation shall not indemnify, or advance expenses on behalf of, an Indemnitee:

@ With respect to a Proceeding brought by such Indemnitee, or such
Indemnitee’s legal representative, against this Corporation or any other Indemnitee,
unless such Proceeding involves enforcement of plaintiff Indemnitee’s rights under this
Article VII or Section 317A.521 of the Minnesota Statutes; or

(b) If it shall be finally determined by a court, administrative agency or
arbitration panel having jurisdiction in the matter, from which no further appeal has been
or can be taken, that such indemnification or advancement of expenses on behalf of such
Indemnitee is unlawful or unenforceable.
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Section 3. Procedures Respecting Indemnification and Advancement of Expenses.

@) Notification. An Indemnitee shall promptly notify this Corporation upon
the commencement of a Proceeding for which the Indemnitee intends to request
indemnification or advancement of expenses; however, failure to notify this Corporation
will not relieve this Corporation from its obligations, if any, to indemnify, and advance
expenses on behalf of Indemnitee with regard to any liabilities incurred and expenses
paid prior to such notification.

(b) Assumption of Defense. This Corporation may, alone or jointly with any
other indemnifying party, assume the defense of a Proceeding for which it received notice
or otherwise, and shall promptly notify Indemnitee of such assumption of defense. This
Corporation will not be liable to the Indemnitee for any expenses subsequently incurred
by Indemnitee in connection with the defense of such Proceeding unless Indemnitee shall
have reasonably concluded that there is a conflict of interest between this Corporation
and Indemnitee, or between Indemnitee and one or more other Indemnitees whose
defense has been assumed by this Corporation, in the conduct of the defense of the
Proceeding, and such conclusion is supported by an opinion of counsel experienced in the
defense of litigation against corporate Directors and officers, which counsel shall be
satisfactory to Indemnitee and this Corporation.

(© Approval of Counsel. This Corporation shall have the right to approve
Indemnitee’s choice of counsel and the terms of engagement of such counsel utilizing the
same process for determinations of eligibility for indemnification and advancement of
expenses under Minn. Stat. §8317A.521, Subd. 6, which consent shall not be unreasonably
withheld. This Corporation may consider:

() Whether Indemnitee is cooperating in the selection of counsel with
other Indemnitees so that all Indemnitees are represented by one law firm except
to the extent Section (b) is applicable;

(i) The experience of such counsel in similar matters;
(iii)  The financial arrangements with such counsel; and

(iv)  To the extent this Corporation has obtained directors’ and officers’
liability insurance applicable to such Proceeding, whether such insurance
company has consented to the Indemnitee’s choice of counsel and the terms of
engagement of such counsel.

Section 4. Settlements. This Corporation shall not be liable to indemnify an Indemnitee
under this Article VI for any amounts paid in settlement of any Proceeding effected without this
Corporation’s prior written consent. This Corporation shall not settle any action or claim in any
manner which would impose any non-indemnified penalty, limitation, expense or liability on
Indemnitee without Indemnitee’s prior written consent. Neither this Corporation nor Indemnitee
will unreasonably withhold their consent to any proposed settlement.
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Section 5. Corporation’s Right to Counsel. With respect to any Proceeding as to
which this Corporation has not assumed the defense, this Corporation may engage its own
counsel, at its expense, to assist in the defense of such Proceeding.

Section 6. Effect on Statutory Requirements; Definitions. The limitations set forth in
Sections 2, 3 and 4 shall be in addition to the statutory standards for indemnification and
advancement of expenses set forth in Section 317A.521 of the Minnesota Statutes. The
definition of “Proceeding” is as set forth in Section 317A.521 of the Minnesota Statutes.
“Indemnitee” means any person who is or may be eligible for indemnification or advancement of
expenses by this Corporation pursuant to this Article VII and includes such Indemnitee’s estate,
spouse or legal representative.

Section 7. Insurance. This Corporation shall purchase and maintain insurance on behalf
of any person, including any director, officer, employee or agent of this Corporation against
liability asserted against and incurred by such person in such person’s official capacity as defined
in Minnesota Statutes, Section 317A.521, as now enacted or hereafter amended, whether or not
this Corporation would have been required to indemnify such person against such liability under
Article VII, Section 1.

ARTICLE VIII
GRANTS AND CONTRACTS AND OTHER PROGRAM ACTIVITIES

Section 1. Purpose of Grants and Contracts. In addition to the power to engage
directly in activities which further this Corporation’s purposes, as expressed in the Articles of
Incorporation, this Corporation shall have the power to make grants and contributions, render
other financial assistance, and enter into contracts to further said purposes. In accordance with
the Court’s Order in State by Humphrey, et al. v. Philip Morris, Incorporated et al., Ramsey
County District Court File No. C1-94-8565 (August 28, 1998), this Corporation may not make
any grant, contribution or contract, or render any other financial assistance, if the Board
determines that the effect of the grant would be to reduce or substitute for benefits available from
private insurance or other programs, or to offset a reduction in benefits made in anticipation of
this Corporation’s funding.

Section 2. General Criteria for Grants, Contracts and Other Plans and Programs.
In developing its plans for grants, contracts and other projects and programs, the Board of
Directors shall:

a. Build upon the plans and recommendations of The Final Report of' the
Advisory Committee on Tobacco Policy and Public Health, and other planning efforts for
tobacco control, tobacco control models of health plans, and similar efforts, local and
national.

b. Work to reinforce and strengthen the public infrastructure for tobacco
control at the community and state level.

C. Draw upon the experiences of other states and other groups in developing
and evaluating similar programs and make use of the expertise and technical assistance of
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the United States Centers for Disease Control and Prevention and other experts in
designing effective programs, evaluating them, and ensuring accountability.

d. Rely extensively on experts with specialized expertise, to develop plans
and programs for cessation, research and other tobacco control initiatives.

e. Incorporate strong evaluation components from the inception of programs
and modify as necessary to maximize health outcomes.

Section 3. Power in Board of Directors. The Board of Directors shall have control over
grants, contributions, other financial assistance and contracts given by this Corporation. The
Board shall review requests for funds and shall require that such requests specify the use to
which the funds will be put. The Board may establish and authorize a process for staff
authorization of grants up to a specified amount.

Section 4. Refusal, Withdrawal. The Board of Directors, in its absolute discretion,
shall have the right directly, or through its Chief Executive Officer, to refuse to make any grants,
contracts, or contributions, or to render other financial assistance, for any or all of the purposes
for which the funds are requested. In addition, the Board, in its absolute discretion, shall have the
right to withdraw its approval of any grant at any time and use the funds for other purposes
consistent with this Corporation’s Articles of Incorporation.

Section 5. Accountability and Evaluation. The Board of Directors shall ensure that
criteria for the evaluation of grant projects and Board activities are developed and applied, and to
ensure the accountability of grantees or other recipients of Board funding. The criteria may take
into account the size of the grant or other expenditure, and such other factors as the Board
determines will maximize the effectiveness of and accountability for, authorized Board activities.

Section 6. Restrictions on Contributions. To the maximum extent allowed by the
conditions, if any, attached to a contribution, this Corporation shall retain complete control and
discretion over the use of all contributions it receives. Contributions received by this
Corporation from solicitations for specific grants shall be regarded as for the use of this
Corporation and not for any particular organization or individual mentioned in the solicitation.

ARTICLE IX
INVESTMENTS

The Board of Directors shall have responsibility for the approval of this Corporation’s
investment policies and objectives upon the recommendations of the Finance and Audit
Committee or such other Committee as the Board may from time to time determine, which
Committee shall have the responsibility for overseeing this Corporation’s investment of its
assets, making recommendations to the Board of Directors regarding the investment policies and
objectives of this Corporation, and such other recommendations as the Committee shall from
time to time determine. Such Committee shall have such additional duties and responsibilities as
the Board may determine from time to time and as are set forth in such Committee’s Charter.
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ARTICLE X
MISCELLANEOUS

Section |. Fiscal Year. The fiscal year of this Corporation shall end each year on June
30.

Section 2. Annual Audit. The Board shall contract for an annual financial audit by a
certified public accountant. The audit shall be available to the public. This Corporation shall
also be subject to audit, upon request, by the State of Minnesota Legislative Auditor, and the
Board shall take all necessary steps to cooperate with such an audit.

Section 3. Annual Reports. Within 120 days after the end of this Corporation’s fiscal
year, the Chief Executive Officer shall furnish a written annual report to all Directors of this
Corporation. The annual report shall be open to the public and shall contain the following
information:

a. the assets and liabilities of this Corporation, including the principal
balance of the court-ordered cessation and national research accounts and any other
dedicated funds, as of the end of the fiscal year;

b. the principal changes in assets and liabilities, including trust funds, during
the fiscal year;

C. the revenue or receipts of this Corporation, both unrestricted and restricted
for particular purposes, for the fiscal year;

d. the expenses or disbursements of this Corporation, for both general and
restricted purposes, for the fiscal year; and

e. the annual audit report, IRS Form 990 and any report by the Legislative
Auditor.

The foregoing report shall be accompanied by any report thereon of this Corporation’s
independent accountants.

Section 4. Regular Reports. In addition to the annual reports, the Board Chair shall, by
the end of January in each year, send to the Judge of Ramsey County District Court then
assigned to exercise continuing jurisdiction over the Consent Judgment in State of Minnesota, by
Hubert H. Humphrey I11, its Attorney General, and Blue Cross and Blue Shield of Minnesota v.
Philip Morris, Incorporated, et al., File No. C1-94-8565, a report with this Corporation’s most
recent financial statements and a summary of projects completed during the previous year. The
Board Chair shall also send a similar report to the Speaker of the House and the Senate Majority
Leader by the end of January in each year. The report to the Legislature may include in addition
any tobacco control recommendations for action by the Legislature or other public bodies.

Section 5. Amendments. The Board of Directors shall have the authority to amend,
repeal, or adopt new Bylaws by vote of two-thirds of the Directors then in office; provided, that
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all Directors shall be notified of the proposed amendments at least thirty (30) days before such
action takes place.
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ClearWay Minnesota™ Fiscal Year 2015 Policy Statements, Board Approved on November 18, 2015

‘ClearWay anesotas‘" Polzcy Posztzon One. .

ClearWay anesota supports mamtammg and mcreasmg
' - anesota s tobacco prlces. o

Facts:

¢ Increasing the price of tobacco is one of the most effective methods for preventing and reducing
tobacco use. Every 10 percent increase in the real price of tobacco reduces smoking prevalence by
1.5 percent and overall cigarette consumption by approximately 3 to 5 percent.!

® Increasing the price of tobacco is one of the most effective methods for preventing youth
initiation and use among young adults. Every 10 percent increase in the real price of tobacco
reduces the number of youth who smoke by more than 5 percent,' and the number of youth who start
smoking by 10 percent.? Youth are two to three times more responsive than the general population to
price increases, and are more likely to quit or cut back on smoking in order to avoid the cost.>In a
University of Minnesota study involving youth and young adults, 76 percent of those who had
smoked in the past 30 days reported being aware of a recent price increase (Minnesota’s 2005 health
impact fee, which increased cigarette pack prices by $0.75). Among the same group of smokers, 17
percent reported quit attempts and 24 percent reported reducing smoking because of the price
increase.*

¢ Certain smokers are more responsive to changes in the price of cigarettes. Cigarette price and tax
increases have been shown to reduce smoking among youth, young adults, African Americans and
Chicanos/Latinos. Pregnant women are also more likely to reduce or quit smoking when tobacco
prices rise.® A recent research review found individuals with low income or education were more
likely than the general population to reduce both smoking and cigarette consumption following price
increases.’

e Tobacco use remains a persistent problem in Minnesota. In Minnesota, each year tobacco use is
responsible for more than 5,100 deaths. Additionally, the annual cost of smoking in Minnesota is
estimated to be $2.87 billion in direct health care costs.® As of 2014, 14.4 percent of Minnesota adults
continue to smoke, and 15.3 percent of the state’s 18-24-year-olds smoke.’

e There is more work to be done nationally to reduce smoking rates. In 2013, a new low of 17.8
percent of U.S. adults were current cigarette smokers.!® The states that have seen some of the largest
reductions in youth prevalence (e.g., Maine, New York and Washington) have all pursued
comprehensive tobacco control programs that include significantly increasing the price of tobacco
products.!! At the same time, many states have made little progress with tobacco control efforts such
as increasing tobacco taxes and passing comprehensive smoke-free workplace laws that cover places
such as bars and restaurants.

e Smokeless tobacco continues to be popular. In 2014, 7.2 percent of Minnesota adult males used
smokeless tobacco. Among smokers, 7.4 percent reported using smokeless tobacco in addition to
cigarettes in 2014. This reflects the tobacco industry’s marketing of smokeless tobacco products to
smokers.’

* Minnesota’s cigarette tax ranks high in the United States. In 2013, Minnesota’s cigarette excise
tax and sales tax increased the price of cigarettes by $1.75 per pack. This led to a 12 percent reduction
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in sales of cigarettes for July to December 2013, compared to the same period in 2012."? As of August
1, 2015, Minnesota ranked eighth in the United States for its cigarette tax. Seven states (New York,
Massachusetts, Rhode Island, Connecticut, Hawaii, Vermont and Washington) currently have
cigarette tax rates over $3.00 per pack. 3

® Higher tobacco prices encourage smokers to quit. In-state evidence shows that cigarette price
increases prompt many smokers to quit or cut back.? In 2013, Minnesota’s tax on cigarettes increased
by $1.75 per pack. Quit attempts by Minnesotans increased dramatically. During the first two weeks
of July 2013, QUITPLAN Services received 256 percent more calls than in the first two weeks in July
2012, and saw a 289 percent increase in visits to quitplan.com. In addition, smokers reported that this
price increase influenced their'smoking behaviors, with 60.8 percent thinking about quitting, 48.1
percent cutting down on smoking and 44.2 percent making quit attempts. Among smokers who
successfully quit in the year following the tax increase, 62.8 percent reported that the price increase
helped them make a quit attempt, and 62.7 percent reported that it helped keep them from smoking
again.’ :

® Tobacco’s harm disproportionately impacts low-income smokers who are more likely to quit or
cut back following price increases. Opponents of tobacco taxes frequently argue that a cigarette
price increase will fall heavily on the economically disadvantaged, since tobacco is disproportionately
used by low-income individuals. However, low-income populations are 70 percent more responsive
to price increases than affluent populations. Consequently, low-income smokers are considerably
more likely to stop or reduce tobacco use following a price increase. Since low-income smokers
suffer disproportionately from the health effects of smoking, a larger proportion of the eventual
benefits of quitting (and the correspondent savings on health care) will accrue to this low-income
population.™*

e Tobacco taxes are a stable and predictable source of revenue. Tobacco taxes are less volatile than
other state revenue sources, such as income or corporate taxes, because tobacco sales are less affected
by economic slowdowns or recessions.> Minnesota’s revenue estimates are reliable for predicting
new revenue from increased tobacco taxes and fees. In 2013, when Minnesota raised the tax on
cigarettes and other tobacco products, the Minnesota Department of Revenue estimated tobacco tax
revenue would generate approximately $593,271 million in revenue in Fiscal Year 2014. The actual
revenue reported by Minnesota Management and Budget was $607,120 million —$13,849 higher than
the original estimate.'® Minnesota’s model to estimate revenue from tobacco taxes takes into account
declines in consumption, smoking rates and youth initiation.

Background Notes:

e On May 23, 2013, Governor Mark Dayton signed into law a bill significantly increasing excise tax
rates on cigarettes and other tobacco products and making several other important changes to
Minnesota tobacco tax laws. Highlights of the new law include:

¢ The excise tax on cigarettes increased by $1.60 per pack (from $1.23 per pack to $2.83

~ per pack).

e The excise tax on other tobacco products increased from 70 percent to 95 percent of
wholesale price.

o The definition of a “cigarette” for excise tax purposes has been amended to include so-
called little cigars. As a result, products that bear a close resemblance to standard
cigarettes will now be taxed as cigarettes, even if they are labeled as “cigars,” “small
cigars,” “cigarillos” or “mini-cigarillos.”
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e AsofJanuary 1, 2014, a minimum tax was applied to containers of “moist snuff.” The
excise tax will be either 95 percent of the wholesale price or $2.83 per container

. (whichever is greater).

¢ A full summary of the tobacco tax components of the new law can be found on the Public
Health Law Center’s website.

® For the purposes of taxation in Minnesota, all tobacco products except cigarettes are considered
“other tobacco products” (OTPs). Any increase in Minnesota’s cigarette tax should be accompanied
by an equivalent increase in the OTP tax rate. Maintaining tax equity between cigarettes and OTPs is
becoming increasingly important, as a large price disparity between cigarettes and OTPs may
encourage product substitution and undermine the cessation impact of a tax increase. Additionally,
the tobacco industry has been advocating for lower excises taxes on tobacco products that they argue
are less harmful than cigarettes. But that is true only if people completely switch, which data suggest
is not happening; meanwhile, the industry is specifically promoting dual use of cigarettes with OTPs.
ClearWay Minnesota supports keeping the price of cigarettes and OTPs equally high and not
adjusting tax rates on some products based on tobacco industry claims.

® Electronic cigarettes (e-cigarettes) are battery-operated devices that allow the user to inhale a vapor
produced from cartridges filled with nicotine, flavors and other chemicals. Currently, Minnesota taxes
the nicotine cartridges of electronic cigarettes as tobacco products, at 95 percent of the wholesale
price. Minnesota should continue to impose the same excise tax rate on e-cigarettes as all other
tobacco products and should monitor future regulatory guidance by the FDA. In 2015, traditional
tobacco companies such as Reynolds America, aggressively lobbied for legislation in Minnesota and
around the country proposing to tax electronic cigarettes based on milliliters of nicotine. In
Minnesota, this change would significantly decrease the tax rate on “closed-system” e-cigarette
brands primarily owned by traditional tobacco companies. Independent e-cigarette manufacturers and
retailers oppose this new tax method because they see it as a competitive advantage for traditional
tobacco companies.

* “Little cigars™ are filtered, often sweet-flavored products that are similar in size, shape, product
engineering and packaging to cigarettes. The 2013 law that expanded Minnesota’s definition of
cigarettes to include these products has increased the price of most brands, making them less
attractive to youth and other price-sensitive populations.

* Minnesota taxes tobacco products other than cigarettes using an ad valorem approach. This ensures
that the tax burden does not decline over time by automatically adjusting for increases in the
wholesale price of tobacco. Currently, Minnesota taxes non-cigarette tobacco products at 95 percent
of their wholesale price. In recent legislative sessions, Philip Morris has aggressively pursued
legislation to change the method of taxing moist snuff from an ad valorem system to a weight-based
one. Weight-based taxes result in a declining tax burden on OTPs (including moist snuff) and are
therefore not in the best interest of public health. Philip Morris is currently the market leader in
premium moist snuff brands, and a change to weight-based taxes would significantly benefit the
company by solidifying its market share. Other tobacco manufacturers oppose what they see as a
competitive advantage for Philip Morris.

®  When the price of cigarettes increases, some smokers look for cheaper options, such as making
cigarettes using loose-leaf or “roll-your-own” tobacco. In 2009, the federal tobacco excise tax
increased, making the federal tax on roll-your-own tobacco equal to the federal cigarette tax. At the
same time, pipe tobacco continued to be taxed at a much lower rate. As a result, many roll-your-own
companies relabeled their tobacco as “pipe tobacco” to avoid the higher rate. In 2013, Minnesota
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increased the tax on loose-leaf tobacco and pipe tobacco from 70 percent to 95 percent of wholesale.
Continued efforts to raise the price of all tobacco products and create tax uniformity across products
will help deter individuals and companies from replacing high-tax tobacco products with lower-tax
ones.

e For several years, ClearWay Minnesota and Blue Cross and Blue Shield of Minnesota have convened
a group of more than 30 of the state’s leading health and nonprofit organizations to work in coalition
to increase taxes on tobacco products. The coalition was the driving force behind the significant 2013
tobacco tax increase. A complete list of partners can be found at www.raiseitforhealth.org.

® As we look to future policy efforts around increasing taxes on cigarettes and other tobacco products,
it will be helpful to know more about a number of pressing questions, including:

® As smoking prevalence decreases, do price increases have the same impact on quitting?

® As tobacco prices continue to increase through taxes, is there a point of diminishing
returns?

* If data on long-term use of noncombustible tobacco products becomes available, should
we consider a different tax rates on products that demonstrate different or lower risk
rates?
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Facts:

¢ Secondhand smoke is a threat to public health. In June of 2006, the U.S. Surgeon General released
the most comprehensive scientific report ever produced on the health harms of secondhand smoke.
This was the first report issued by the Surgeon General on secondhand smoke since 1986. The
Surgeon General concluded that there is “massive and conclusive scientific evidence” about the
health dangers of secondhand smoke. Key findings from the report include:!

* The scientific evidence that secondhand smoke causes serious diseases, including lung cancer,
heart disease and respiratory illnesses, is massive and conclusive. There is no longer a scientific
controversy or any scientific debate.

There is no risk-free level of exposure to secondhand smoke.

® Exposure to secondhand smoke has substantial and immediate adverse effects on the

cardiovascular system.

* Smoke-free policies protect Minnesotans from secondhand smoke. From 2003 to 2010 there was a
large decrease in the percentage of Minnesotans who reported that someone had smoked near them in
any location in the past seven days (from 67 percent in 2003 to 46 percent in 2010).2 In 2014, 31.7
percent of adult nonsmokers in Minnesota reported being exposed to secondhand smoke in a location
other than in the home or car in the past seven days.’ Decreased exposure to secondhand smoke
corresponds with an increase in public, worksite and voluntary home and vehicle smoke-free policies.
In 1999, 65 percent of Minnesotans reported having smoke-free policies for their own homes. That
percentage rose significantly to 89.3 percent in 2014.> Along with these reductions in exposure,
awareness of the dangers of secondhand smoke is high. According to the 2014 Minnesota Adult
Tobacco Survey (MATS), 92.6 percent of Minnesotans believe that secondhand smoke is very or
somewhat harmful to health.?

® Specific evidence from Minnesota demonstrated that banning indoor smoking protects people
from the dangers of secondhand smoke. According to a March 2008 study, Minnesota’s smoke-free
law reduced exposure to NNAL (a tobacco-specific cancer-causing chemical) in nonsmoking
hospitality workers by 77 percent, and their levels of cotinine (a marker for nicotine exposure)
decreased by 83 percent.*

¢ Smoke-free policies create a supportive environment for quitting. Several studies of health and
economic impacts of smoke-free legislation have found increased interest in quitting and reduced
cigarette consumption following smoke-free laws being implemented. Some studies indicate the
longer a smoke-free law is in place, the more likely smokers may be to quit.” In 2010 (three years
after Minnesota’s comprehensive smoke-free law was implemented), current and former smokers
were asked, “What effects, if any, do smoking restrictions at work, home, restaurants, bars or
elsewhere have on your smoking?” More than 40 percent of current and recently quit smokers say
that smoke-free policies made them think about quitting. In addition, 62 percent of current smokers
say that smoke-free policies have made them cut down on cigarettes, and 49 percent of former
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smokers who quit in the past five years say that smoke-free policies made them cut down before
quitting.?

Children and youth are particularly vulnerable to the health effects of secondhand smoke
exposure because their bodies are still developing. According to the 2014 Minnesota Youth
Tobacco Survey, 41.7 percent of nonsmoking middle-school students and 47.8 percent of nonsmoking
high-school students were exposed to secondhand smoke in the past seven days.® Recent studies
demonstrate significantly higher exposure to toxins in secondhand smoke in the back seats of cars
than in other indoor environments, such as restaurants and bars.”® Children are particularly vulnerable
to the effects of secondhand smoke as their bodies are still developing. Secondhand smoke is a known
cause of Sudden Infant Death Syndrome (SIDS), potentially fatal respiratory tract infections, frequent
and severe asthma attacks, and frequent ear infections, which often contribute to hearing problems.’
Since 2007, the American Academy of Pediatrics has called for policies that prohibit smoking in cars
with minors.'® Currently five U.S. states and several other local jurisdictions ban smoking in cars with
children riding in them." In 2014, the Minnesota Legislature passed legislation requiring a smoke-
free environment (homes and vehicles) for all Minnesota children in licensed foster care.

Specific populations within Minnesota are disproportionately exposed to secondhand smoke. A
recent national study found 25.3 percent of nonsmokers were exposed to secondhand smoke in 2011-
2012; however, rates among children aged three to 11 and non-Latino whites were considerably
higher at 40.6 percent and 46.8 percent, respectively.'? Data from the Tribal Tobacco Use Survey, a
study of Minnesota’s tribal communities, illustrate that American Indians are far more likely to be
exposed to secondhand smoke at home (43 percent) and in indoor workplaces (37 percent) and other
community settings (71 percent) than the general Minnesota population (10 percent, 9 percent and 34
percent respectively).>'* Although multi-unit housing structures in Minnesota are increasingly
adopting voluntary smoke-free policies (including government-subsidized housing complexes), about
17 percent of all Minnesotans living in multi-unit housing structures reported smelling smoke in their
unit in the past seven days, according to the 2014 MATS.? Low-income populations tend to have
higher rates of secondhand smoke exposure. Nationally, 60 percent of those living below the poverty
level were exposed to secondhand smoke in 2007-2008.!* The 2014 MATS found significantly higher
exposure to secondhand smoke among those who reported incomes of $35,000 or less both at home
(5.8 percent) and in the car (14.1 percent) than among those with incomes of $75,000 or more (2.1
percent and 4.8 percent respectively).

Backsround Notes:

The Freedom to Breathe Act of 2007, the comprehensive smoke-free law prohibiting smoking in
workplaces, is a public policy success. It has improved health, has been adopted and widely embraced
by business owners, and is popular with Minnesotans:

e A September 2012 public opinion survey found that 85 percent of Minnesotans support the
statewide smoke-free law." ’

e The Freedom to Breathe Act applies to virtually all businesses in the state. As of July 2010, the
Minnesota Department of Health had received minimal reports of violations of the three-year-old
Freedom to Breathe Act.'

e A recent study demonstrated that policies like Freedom to Breathe both protect nonsmokers from
secondhand smoke and are associated with less smoking among youth and young adults."”

ClearWay Minnesota supports additional policies to reduce exposure to secondhand smoke. Activities
include, but are not limited to local smoke-free ordinances, smoke-free higher education campuses,
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smoke-free childcare sites, smoke-free foster homes, smoke-free worksites, smoke-free vehicles with
minors as passengers, smoke-free multi-unit housing and smoke-free casinos.

* Fewer Minnesotans are exposed to secondhand smoke (2003 [61 percent] to 2010 [38 percent]) and
more Minnesotans are adopting voluntary smoke-free home rules (1999 [65 percent], 2010 [87
percent]). Such a trend is notable, since secondhand-smoke policy efforts in Minnesota have mainly
been concerned with workplaces, not homes. This positive change in social norms suggests that
policies for public settings might also impact practices in private ones.'® Exposure in the home has
continued to decline, dropping from 4.4 percent among nonsmoking adult Minnesotans in 2007 to 3.2
percent in 2014.3

e  While the harm of secondhand smoke exposure indoors is undeniably shown by research, the harm of
exposure in outdoor settings is less evident.!” Exposure in outdoor settings is more variable than
indoor exposure.?® Caution should be taken, however, by those with preexisting health conditions,
which can be aggravated even by brief secondhand exposure.?! In addition, the U.S. Centers for
Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) recommends creating smoke-free environments as one of the
most effective ways to promote durable social norm change for tobacco use.?? These combined
factors provide a solid foundation for restricting smoking outdoors. ClearWay Minnesota supports
some public policies restricting smoking in outdoor settings, including worksite campuses, higher
education campuses, parks, zoos and community events.

¢ - Electronic cigarettes (e-cigarettes) have now joined other tobacco products in the marketplace. E-
cigarettes are battery-operated devices that contain nicotine, flavors and other chemicals and produce
an aerosol that is inhaled by the user. Consistent with the recent mass marketing of these products,
rates of Minnesota adults ever trying them have increased dramatically over a short period of time. In
2014, 5.9 percent of adult Minnesotans use e-cigarettes; this has increased from 0.7 percent in 2010.3
The health impacts of using these products and inhaling the aerosol is unknown. Because of these
unknowns, we need to make sure indoor air is kept clean.

* A scientific review found that e-cigarette emissions can be a source of indoor air pollution and
concluded that they should be included in smoke-free policies.

¢ Similarly, organizations such as the World Health Organization (WHO) are also making
recommendations to prohibit exposure to secondhand aerosol in public places. *

e E-cigarette aerosol has lower levels of toxins than conventional cigarettes smoke, but studies
show it contains nicotine, heavy metals, formaldehyde and other carcinogens which can be
inhaled deep into the lungs by users or non-users.>>?* The concentrations of toxins produced can
vary greatly among the many different types of e-cigarette. There have been no long-term studies
conducted on e-cigarettes, so the long-term impact on the health of users or those exposed to
secondhand aerosol is unknown. In 2014, the Minnesota Legislature passed legislation regulating
the sales and use of e-cigarettes. Under the new law, e-cigarette use (and therefore exposure to
secondhand aerosol) is prohibited in various settings, including all government-owned and -
licensed buildings such as public schools, hospitals, correctional facilities and daycares. As of
November 3, 2015, 12 counties and 23 cities in Minnesota have gone further, prohibiting e-
cigarette use in all places covered by the Freedom to Breathe Act. These policies result in 46
percent of all Minnesotans being covered by clean indoor air policies that include e-cigarettes.

e A recent study showed that youth exposure to television e-cigarette advertisements increased
more than 250 percent from 2011 to 2013.%° And research has shown that e-cigarette advertising
gave smokers — even those who had quit smoking — the urge to smoke conventional cigarettes.
These products may encourage youth to try other tobacco products, including conventional
cigarettes, which are known to cause disease and lead to premature death.’!
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® ClearWay Minnesota supports the adoption, implementation and enforcement of policies (public
and voluntary) that prohibit e-cigarette use in all indoor workplaces, including bars and
restaurants, in order to uphold the standard of clean indoor air that Minnesotans expect and
support.
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Facts:

Preemption of public policies is a tobacco industry strategy. Preempting local ordinances is a
priority for tobacco companies because they are difficult to stop, and because tobacco companies
know that such ordinances effectively reduce tobacco use and hurt tobacco industry profits.! Victor L.
Crawford, a former lobbyist for the tobacco industry trade group the Tobacco Institute, said, “We
could never win at the local level . . . so the Tobacco Institute and tobacco companies’ first priority
has always been to preempt the field.”

A preemptive tobacco law would erase progress made at the local level. Preemption limits local
tobacco control efforts and has historically been very difficult to reverse. In Minnesota, many local
ordinances go beyond the statewide smoke-free law by, for example, restricting smoking within a
designated distance of building entrances or prohibiting smoking in all guest rooms in hotels and
motels.® Any type of statewide preemptive language, including outdoor preemption, would weaken
those local ordinances.

Backeround Notes:

Specific areas of law targeted for preemption include but are not limited to youth access restrictions,
smoke-free policies, retailer licensing, tobacco advertising and taxation. Currently, 13 states have
laws that partially or completely preempt local ordinances from restricting smoking in worksites.
They are Nebraska, Wisconsin, Utah, South Dakota, Oklahoma, Florida, Tennessee, North Carolina,
Virginia, Pennsylvania, Connecticut, New Hampshire and Michigan.*

Broad support exists for allowing local action on policies reducing exposure to secondhand smoke,
reducing youth exposure to tobacco products and limiting access to tobacco products. Organizations
that oppose preemption laws include the American and Minnesota Medical Associations, the U.S.
Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), the American Cancer Society — Midwest
Division, the American Heart Association — Northland Affiliate, the League of Minnesota Cities, the
Campaign for Tobacco-Free Kids, the Tobacco Technical Assistance Consortium, the National
Association of County and City Health Officials and the National Association of Local Boards of
Health.

Many localities in Minnesota have enacted policies that go above and beyond the standards included
in the Minnesota Clean Indoor Air Act. For example, cities and counties have passed policies that
restrict smoking within certain distances of entrances and exits, ban the sampling of tobacco products
in retail stores and prohibit the use of e-cigarettes anywhere conventional smoking is not allowed.

Recently, many localities in Minnesota have enacted policies that go above and beyond the standards
included in Minnesota’s youth access and tax statutes. For example, cities and counties have passed
policies limiting the number of tobacco retailer licenses in their community, increasing the minimum
age to sell tobacco to 18, requiring a minimum price and minimum package size for cigars and
restricting the sale of flavored tobacco products to adults-only stores.
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;ClearWay anesotafw Polzcy Posztton Four. .

o ‘ learWay anesota supports addltmnal pubhc fundmg of evxdence—based efforts fi: . :
and: promxsmg practxces to reduce tobacco use, especxally among pnorxty populatlonsk young
- : ‘ adults and youth . -

Facts:

* A comprehensive approach is the key to reducing and preventing tobacco use. The U.S. Centers
for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) recommends evidence-based, statewide tobacco control
programs that are comprehensive, sustained and accountable. These include state, community and
health-system-based interventions; cessation services; counter-marketing; policy development and
implementation; surveillance; and evaluation.!

¢ Minnesota’s investment in tobacco prevention falls short. CDC recommends that anesota spend
* $52.9 million a year in order to have an effective, comprehensive tobacco control program.! In Fiscal
Year 2015, Minnesota only spent $22.3 million, or 42.2 percent of CDC’s recommendation, on
tobacco control.2 In contrast, in Fiscal Year 2015 the state of Minnesota collected an estimated $1.4
billion from ongoing settlement payments and tobacco taxes and fees; this funding is not dedicated to
public health or tobacco control.? Furthermore, recent reports show the tobacco industry spends more
than $135 million annually on advertising and marketing in Minnesota.® ¢

® Preventing youth from beginning tobacco use is essential to lowering prevalence rates. In
Minnesota, 78.3 percent of smokers tried their first cigarette when they were 18 or younger,’ and
more than 90 percent of smokers nationwide start before leaving their teens.® Approximately 19.3
percent of Minnesota high-school students used some form of tobacco in the past 30 days.’

¢ Adequately funded mass-media campaigns aimed at youth are cost-effective and successful.
According to the U.S. Surgeon General, evidence is sufficient to conclude that mass-media
campaigns are an important part of comprehensive statewide tobacco control programs that can
prevent the initiation of tobacco use and reduce its prevalence among youth.® Research has shown
that tobacco prevention investments produce short- and long-term health care cost savings.’

e The U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) recommends funding
multicultural organizations and networks. CDC best practices recommend a comprehensive
approach to preventing and reducing commercial tobacco use (differentiated from the sacred tobacco
practices of American Indians and other groups), which includes funding multicultural organizations
and networks to collect data and develop and implement culturally appropriate interventions for
specific communities.!

¢ Some of Minnesota’s diverse populations have much higher rates of smoking than Minnesota’s
population as a whole. Several studies have documented higher rates in specific communities,
including American Indian, African American, Chicano/Latino, Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Transgender
and Queer (LGBTQ) and Asian, Asian American and Pacific Islander communities.!%!3
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Background Notes:

* Although increasing the price of tobacco products is one of the most effective ways to prevent youth
from starting to use tobacco, the lack of a youth-focused counter-marketing campaign creates a
significant gap in Minnesota youth prevention efforts. The 2014 Minnesota Youth Tobacco Survey
showed that 19.3 percent of Minnesota students have used any tobacco products in the last 30 days.”

» ClearWay Minnesota actively pursues opportunities to leverage state and federal funding for tobacco
prevention and cessation. For example, in May 2015, the Minnesota Legislature passed a bill
requiring the Minnesota Department of Health to fund a one-time grant of $200,000 from SHIP
funding. The law requires that the grant be used to engage members of the African American
community and community-based organizations to implement strategies and interventions to reduce
the disproportionately high usage of cigarettes by African Americans, especially the use of menthol-
flavored cigarettes, as well as the disproportionate harm tobacco causes in that community. In 2013,
the Minnesota Legislature passed a bill including a one-time appropriation of $100,000 for the
Minnesota Department of Revenue to study and propose recommendations for improving compliance
with the state’s tobacco tax collection system. Additionally, ClearWay Minnesota participates in the
Statewide Health Improvement Program (SHIP) Coalition, which advocates for increased funding for
obesity and tobacco prevention funds. The SHIP coalition’s work resulted in increased program
funding for these purposes (from $15 million for fiscal years 2012-2013 to $35 million for fiscal
years 2014-2015 and again for fiscal years 2016-2017). On an ongoing basis, ClearWay Minnesota
partners with the Minnesota Department of Public Health to obtain funding from the CDC to enhance
cessation related activities. Most recently, this partnership resulted in funding to conduct outreach to
Medical Assistance and MinnesotaCare enrollees to educate them about cessation coverage available
to them as well as to support and improve the Call it Quits Referral Program.

e In line with a 2009 report published by the Robert Wood Johnson Foundation, Voices in the Debate:
Minority Action for Tobacco Policy Change, ClearWay Minnesota supports building a tobacco
control movement that is responsive to the history, culture, language geography, socioeconomic
status, and gender and sexual orientation of Minnesota’s growing and heterogeneous communities. '
ClearWay Minnesota’s efforts include building leaders in priority populations through the LAAMPP
Institute (a program that develops skills for tobacco control efforts among diverse-community
leaders), developing campaigns that reach these populations in multiple languages, supporting
culturally-based research, providing free cessation services, providing grants to community
organizations to link smokers of low socioeconomic status to existing cessation services, and funding
the Tribal Tobacco Education and Policy (TTEP) project, a granting initiative resulting in education
and policy activities among Minnesota’s American Indian populations.

*  Achieving health equity, eliminating health disparities and improving the health of all Americans are
overarching goals to improve and protect the nation’s health. The future health of the nation will be
determined, to a large extent, by how effectively federal, state and local agencies and private
organizations work with communities to eliminate health disparities among populations experiencing
a disproportionate burden of disease, disability and death.'
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~Clearay Mimnesoe™ Poley Positon Fve:

Facts:

¢ Research shows that people are much more likely to successfully quit tobacco use if they receive
help.! Quitting is extremely difficult for many smokers. Among current smokers who made quit
attempts in the past 12 months, over half (56.6 percent) made multiple attempts to quit.> The 2008
U.S. Clinical Practice Guideline Update Treating Tobacco Use and Dependence describes how
medication, counseling and a combination of the two are effective in helping tobacco users
successfully quit.! Tobacco cessation treatment is also one of the services that receive a top grade
from the U.S. Preventive Services Task Force (USPSTF). Additionally, data show that advice from
health care providers increases the use of evidence-based cessation treatments and improves
outcomes.’

¢ The majority of Minnesota smokers want to quit. According to the 2014 Minnesota Adult Tobacco
Survey (MATS), more than half (53.4 percent) of current adult smokers made a quit attempt in the
past year.?

¢ There are barriers to accessing health care, and these affect access to tobacco dependence
treatment. Barriers such as cost of health insurance, copayments, prior authorization and lack of
comprehensive coverage disproportionately impact low-income populations.®* Decreasing barriers to
tobacco dependence treatment increases use of cessation pharmacotherapy, quit attempts and
sustained abstinence rates.* ¢ Implementing comprehensive, barrier-free tobacco-cessation coverage,
as described in the Affordable Care Act, makes it easier for tobacco users to quit and for physicians to
help them do so.” Additionally, barriers to accessing health insurance, such as tobacco surcharges,
could result in tobacco users being charged prohibitively high health insurance premiums. A study in
California showed that an average tobacco user could end up paying 19 percent of his annual income
in premiums because of surcharges.®

e Cessation services are cost-effective and yield a positive return on investment. The Clinical
Practice Guideline demonstrates that effective treatments for tobacco users exist and should become a
part of standard health care. Tobacco dependence treatment, including both counseling and
medications, is one of the most cost-effective preventive services, providing substantial return on
investment in the short and long term.!

e Helping patients quit smoking is a core responsibility of health care systems, and there are
opportunities for improvement. Data show that advice from health care providers increases use of
evidence-based cessation treatments and improves outcomes.> However, 2014 MATS data show
about 78.9 percent of current smokers are advised not to smoke by health care providers, but only half
(52.6 percent) received referrals for assistance in quitting smoking.? Evidence indicates that
institutional or systems support, including prompts, reminder systems, and measuring and reporting
on adherence to best practices, improves the rates of delivering effective clinical interventions around
tobacco use.!%!!
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Addressing the social determinants of health is necessary to reduce tobacco use among low-
socioeconomic status populations.'>!* Social determinants of health include living and working
conditions that influence individual and population health (e.g., place of residence, occupation,
religion, education, income and health insurance status). Accounting for social determinants in the
analysis of health data, such as data on tobacco use and treatment delivery, provides a more complete
picture of the health of population groups. Because tobacco use is not distributed evenly across the
entire population, collecting additional data on the social determinants of health and integrating it
with quality measures, including those related to tobacco, has the potential to assist health systems in
better understanding where gaps in tobacco treatment delivery exist and identify strategies to help
close those gaps.' Strengthening data systems around social determinants of health can enhance
strategies to effectively address the root causes of health disparities.'®

Background Notes:

ClearWay Minnesota defines a comprehensive cessation benefit to include both counseling
(individual, group and telephone) and medications (all FDA-approved cessation medications) for at
least two quit attempts per year. These benefits should be provided with no copayments or
coinsurance and should not be subject to prior authorization or deductibles, or to annual or lifetime
dollar limits." This definition of a comprehensive benefit is consistent with other definitions,
including the Clinical Practice Guideline' and the Federal Employees Health Benefit Program.!”
ClearWay Minnesota advocates for barrier-free, comprehensive cessation benefits within all
insurance products, including individual and group products, the State Employees Group Insurance
Program and other publicly funded programs (e.g., Medical Assistance, MinnesotaCare).

Minnesota Health Care Programs (MHCP — Medical Assistance and MinnesotaCare) enrollees have
coverage for all FDA-approved tobacco cessation medications with a one- or three-dollar copayment.
In 2015, legislation was passed that prohibits copayments on preventive services, including tobacco
cessation interventions. When fully implemented, this legislation will remove copayments on these
medications.

MHCP reimburses health care provider organizations for individual and group counseling services
delivered by eligible providers, including physician extenders. Physician extenders are health care
professionals who are not physicians but who perform medical activities typically performed by a
physician (e.g., nurses and pharmacists). One way to expand access to cessation services for MHCP
enrollees is to ensure that all types of health care professionals who deliver cessation education and
counseling services are able to seek reimbursement for doing so. In late 2014, tobacco cessation
counselors were added to the definition of physician extenders who can deliver education and
counseling to MHCP enrollees.!® These counselors must be employed by a physician or by the same
provider organization that employs the physician, and must meet the supervision requirements of a
Physician Extender as defined by Minnesota Health Care Programs. ClearWay Minnesota supports
ongoing, successful implementation of this new reimbursement policy.

The Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act (ACA) allows health insurers to charge up to 50
percent more than standard rates for people who use tobacco. Such premium surcharges would be
paid entirely by the individual, and would mean highly disproportionate cost increases for lower-
income persons. These cost increases have potential to be prohibitively high, leading to a lack of
insurance coverage and therefore becoming a barrier to accessing cessation services.® Additionally,
there is no research demonstrating that tobacco surcharges are effective for encouraging smokers to
quit or reducing tobacco use. Under the ACA, states can impose stricter standards and could choose
to disallow tobacco rating entirely or to limit the tobacco-rating factor to lesser amounts. ClearWay
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Minnesota supports efforts to minimize or prohibit tobacco user surcharges.

¢ ClearWay Minnesota supports the implementation of tobacco cessation treatment changes outlined in
the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act. These changes include:

e Since 2010, all state Medicaid programs are required to cover smoking cessation services
recommended by the Public Health Service Clinical Practice Guideline for pregnant women
without co-payments.

® Since 2011, any smoker enrolled in Medicare will have coverage for cessation counseling. The
new policy will apply to services under Parts A and B and will not change the prescription drug
benefit (Part D) or state policies for Medicaid or the Children’s Health Insurance Program. The
new benefit will cover two individual cessation counseling attempts a year. Each attempt may
include up to four sessions, with a total annual benefit covering up to eight sessions per patient.

® Since January 1, 2014, state Medicaid Programs can no longer exclude smoking cessation
medications from their formularies.

¢ Since 2010, all new and significantly changed health plan products, including private products as
well as products for Medicaid-expansion populations, must cover all preventive services given an
‘A’ or ‘B’ rating from the U.S. Preventive Services Task Force (USPSTF) with no cost-sharing
(co-pays, co-insurance, deductibles). Tobacco cessation treatment is one of the services that
receive an ‘A’ rating from the USPSTF. However, the USPSTF cessation recommendation does
not provide detailed guidance on how to translate this into insurance coverage.

e On May 2, 2014, the U.S. Departments of Health and Human Services, Labor and Treasury
issued guidance on insurance coverage of tobacco cessation as a preventive service. The guidance
states that, to comply with ACA preventive services requirements, health plans should, for
example, cover the following benefit:

o Screening for tobacco use.
o Two quit attempts per year, consisting of:
* Four sessions of telephone, individual or group cessation counseling lasting
at least 10 minutes each per quit attempt; and
*  All medications approved by the FDA as safe and effective for smokmg
cessation, for 90 days per quit attempt, when prescribed by a health care
provider.

The guidance also reiterates that plans must not include cost-sharing for these treatments, and that
plans should not require prior authorization for any of these treatments.

e Minnesota’s health care system is undergoing major transformations. The roles, accountability and
financial incentives of health plans, providers and government public health agencies are changing.
There are opportunities within existing health care reform activities (e.g., Health Care Homes,
Accountable Care Organizations, Accountable Communities for Health and Integrated Health
Partnerships) for ClearWay Minnesota to influence benefit design and health system innovations to
ensure that tobacco dependence treatment is routinely provided. ClearWay Minnesota must capitalize
on these reform efforts by providing resources, influence and expertise.

e Minnesota’s 2008 Health Reform Law requires the Commissioner of Health to establish a
standardized set of quality measures for health care providers across the state. These mandatory
statewide measures are collectively called the Statewide Quality Reporting Measurement System
(SQRMS). These measures are publically reported for use by consumers, health plans and other
health care entities. The Commissioner of Health is required to annually evaluate the measures
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included in the standardized set of quality measures. Measures within SQRMS are written into state
statute and can only be amended through formal rule-making. ClearWay Minnesota supports efforts
to strengthen measurement of tobacco use and treatment within health care quality measurement
systems.

® The Statewide Quality Reporting and Measurement System (SQRMS) currently includes clinical-
based quality measures (e.g., tobacco use status, glucose level, cholesterol, blood pressure). SQRMS
does not take into account other non-clinical factors that impact a provider’s ability to keep their
patients healthy (e.g. race, ethnicity, language, other social determinants of health). These non-
clinical factors impact a health system’s ability to be successful on clinical quality measures, such as
measures on tobacco use and treatment. These data can also be used to risk-adjust, or weight,
measures within SQRMS. The goal of risk adjustment is to ensure health care quality measures are
capturing the full picture of the quality of care delivered, including information on the social
determinants of health. In 2015, legislation passed requiring the following:

o Stratification of quality measures by race, ethnicity, preferred language and country of
origin beginning with five measures, and stratifying additional measures in the future.

o Considering future stratification of measures by additional social determinants of health.

o Inclusion of relevant social determinants of health within the existing risk adjustment
system. »

o Inclusion of priority population representation within MN Community Measurement’s
governance structure.

The Commissioner of Health must implement these changes in consultation with communities
impacted by health disparities. ClearWay Minnesota supports the ongoing, successful implementation
of this legislation especially as it relates to tobacco use and treatment quality measures.
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CIearWay anesotaSM Poltcy Posztton Slx'

ClearWay anesota supports anesota’s Amencan Indlan Nat:ons in the efforts to reduce
commerclal tobacco use and pass pohcy imtlatxves to prevent exposur‘ to secondhan 1)
. workspaces, mcludmg restaurants, bars and casmos, on Indlan lands m anesota.

Facts:

¢ Commercial tobacco use is a leading cause of death for American Indians. In Minnesota, five of
the six leading causes of death among American Indians — heart disease, cancer, diabetes, stroke and
lower respiratory disease!- are related to commercial tobacco use.”

e Smoking prevalence rates are high in Minnesota’s American Indian communities. Statewide, 59
percent of American Indians are current smokers (compared to14.4 percent of all Minnesota adults).>*

e Most American Indians in Minnesota are regularly exposed to secondhand smoke. Seventy-one
percent of American Indian adults in Minnesota are exposed to secondhand smoke at community
locations on a regular basis (compared to 34 percent of total Minnesota adults®), and 37 percent of
employed American Indian adults who work in indoor environments are exposed to secondhand
smoke (compared to 9 percent of Minnesota adults overall).>*

¢ In Minnesota, casino employees are not protected from secondhand smoke. Recent reports show
that, in Minnesota, tribal gaming and government provide 41,700 jobs.® Many of these employees
work in tribal casinos and are exposed to the dangers of secondhand smoke in their workplaces. A
recent study of casinos concluded that less than two hours of exposure to secondhand smoke is
enough to impair the heart’s ability to pump blood, placing susceptible casino patrons and workers at
acute risk of heart disease.’ ;

¢  Smoking in casinos exposes patrons and workers to high levels of dangerous toxins. In 2003, a
study was conducted on the effects of secondhand smoke in nonsmokers who visited casinos for an
average of a little over four hours. The study measured a tobacco-specific carcinogen, NNK, and
found an average increase of 112 percent in a four-hour period. Study findings “demonstrate that
exposure of nonsmokers to ETS (environmental tobacco or secondhand smoke) in a commercial
setting results in uptake of a tobacco-specific lung carcinogen.” This study is evidence that customers,
employees and tribal members are being subjected to known carcinogens.® This exposure has the
potential to be prevented with the expansion of smoke-free policies. Research conducted in 2005-
2006 by the National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health (NIOSH) on secondhand smoke
confirmed that dealers at casinos in Las Vegas exposed to secondhand smoke were found to have
increased levels of NNAL (another cigarette carcinogen) over an eight-hour work shift.’

® Ventilation or air cleaning systems found in some casinos are ineffective at reducing the health
risks of secondhand smoke. It has been proven that ventilation and air cleaning systems do not
control health risks from secondhand smoke exposure. Only comprehensive smoke-free air policies in
all indoor locations adequately reduce exposure levels to those comparable to outdoor air quality.’

¥ Commercial tobacco refers to manufactured products such as cigarettes, and not to the sacred, traditional use of tobacco by
American Indians and other groups.
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® There is public support for smoke-free casinos. A recent study shows that 54 percent of casino
patrons were more likely to visit if casinos were smoke-free.'

Background Notes:

e ClearWay Minnesota recognizes the unique indigenous cultural and ceremonial tobacco traditions of
American Indians and seeks to address health disparities that stem from commercial tobacco use and
exposure to secondhand smoke. The core principles that guide this work at ClearWay Minnesota are:

s We recognize the sovereign rights of American Indian Nations, rights secured under Indian
treaties and agreements with the United States, and all other rights and benefits to which
American Indian Nations are entitled under the laws of the United States and the state of
Minnesota.’

* Building trust and establishing long-term working relationships is paramount to working with
tribal communities.

e The use and cultivation of traditional tobacco for spiritual and ceremonial use is an infinite and
inherent right of the American Indian spiritual, religious and ceremonial traditions and practices
as guaranteed under the American Indian Religious Freedom Act (1978).1!

¢ We recognize that for many American Indian cultures there are “two tobacco ways”: Traditional
tobacco use honors the Creator and is governed by cultural protocol for spiritual, ceremonial and
cultural uses. Manufactured/commercial tobacco addiction and product use causes sickness,
disease and death in communities."?

¢ Restoring traditional/sacred tobacco traditions is fundamental to advancing smoke-free tribal
policies and cessation, and to promoting American Indian health.

® Advancing policies in partnership with American Indian Nations advances health equity. According
to a recent report released by the Minnesota Department of Health, causes of health inequities in
American Indian communities are directly linked to determined and deliberate efforts of American
federal, state and local governments to uproot the American Indian people from their land, eradicate
their languages and destroy their way of life."

¢ The Freedom to Breathe Act of 2007 does not apply to sovereign nations in Minnesota.
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Cle"" Wa v M"meSOtaSM Polzcy Posztwn Seven- -

ClearWay anesota supports the U S Food and Drug Admlmstratmn (FDA) usmg !ts full legal
. authonty in regulatmg tobacco products ‘

Facts:

® In 2009, an historic law gave the U.S. Food & Drug Administration (FDA) the authority to
regulate tobacco products for the first time. On June 22, 2009, President Obama signed the Family
Smoking Prevention and Tobacco Control Act into law, granting the FDA authority to regulate the
manufacturing, marketing and sale of tobacco products for the first time. The law also lifted federal
preemption on states’ ability to further regulate tobacco products.!

* FDA now has comprehensive regulatory authority over tobacco products. A Center for Tobacco
Products was created within the FDA to administer the law. The FDA has jurisdiction to regulate both
traditional and newer tobacco products (such as e-cigarettes), to require ingredient disclosure, to
restrict tobacco marketing and advertising, to strengthen cigarette and smokeless tobacco warning
labels, to reduce federal preemption of state cigarette advertising restrictions and to increase efforts to
block sales to minors.?

¢ Lifting of federal preemption provides states with new policy tools to reduce tobacco use. With
the full implementation of the law, states will be able to pursue policies that were previously
preempted by federal law, most notably the location, color, size, number and placement of cigarette
advertisements.

Background Notes:

© In 2014, the FDA announced plans to regulate “newly-deemed” tobacco products, including e-
cigarettes. The new rules would require makers of new products to comply with marketing, reporting
and sales rules that apply to existing tobacco products.’ ClearWay Minnesota submitted a public
comment urging the FDA to apply the same flavoring, advertising and marketing restrictions for e-
cigarettes as conventional cigarettes, to eliminate the menthol exemption from the flavor ban (see
below) and to implement any new restrictions as quickly as possible, without extending comment
periods or delaying implementation dates.* ClearWay Minnesota also supports extending the ban on
flavoring in cigarettes to all tobacco products.

» Significant portions of the law have already gone into effect, including a ban on flavored cigarettes
(menthol exempted) on September 20, 2009, and prohibition of the advertising or labeling of tobacco
products with the terms “light,” “mild,” “low” or similar descriptors without an FDA order on June
22,2010. Requirements that new, larger health warning labels for smokeless tobacco also went into
effect on June 22, 2010. Requirements that cigarette packaging contain color graphics depicting the
negative health consequences of smoking are currently being litigated, and have yet to be
implemented.” ClearWay Minnesota has provided public support for the components of the law that
are already in effect and that are being held up in the courts. :
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® The Family Smoking Prevention and Tobacco Control Act is being legally challenged on multiple
fronts. In different courts, tobacco manufacturers and retailers have challenged provisions in the law
related to outdoor advertising regulations, modified-risk tobacco products, warning labels, flavored
cigarettes and cigars, flavored rolling papers, and the authority and composition of the Tobacco
Products Scientific Advisory Committee.

® The law’s success relies on the public health community providing necessary input and scientific
evidence to support the FDA’s regulatory actions. It is imperative that the tobacco control community
provides strong support and stands up to the tobacco industry’s efforts to derail the regulatory
5
process.

* In 2015, the FDA accepted comments to determine whether or not it should require child-resistant
packaging and/or poisoning warnings for products that contain liquid nicotine. ClearWay Minnesota
signed on to a letter of support written by the Public Health Law Center, encouraging FDA to require
such packaging and warnings.

* Alsoin 2015, the FDA issued warning letters to three tobacco companies (including Reynolds
American, which owns the Natural American Spirit brand) that had violated the Family Smoking
Prevention and Tobacco Control Act by using misleading advertising that characterized their products
as less harmful than others. If the companies continue to make these claims, the FDA can and should
order them removed from the market. The FDA also took action to remove four cigarette brands from
shelves, citing that these products had different characteristics from existing approved products, and
that R.J. Reynolds had not shown there were no new public health concerns around the new products.
ClearWay Minnesota will continue to advocate for the FDA to pursue vigorous enforcement of
current laws and regulations that are not being followed by the tobacco industry.

® Asthe FDA advances its regulatory agenda and legal parameters become clear, ClearWay Minnesota
will look to incorporate new policy tools into our work.

® Minnesota’s federal elected officials have urged the FDA to exert its authority and regulate e-
cigarettes and other tobacco products quickly and decisively. U.S. Senator Amy Klobuchar has
challenged e-cigarette makers publicly to stop using celebrity endorsements and kid-friendly flavors
to market e-cigarettes to youth. Senator Al Franken sits on the U.S. Senate Committee for Health,
Education, Labor and Pensions, which has met with officials at the FDA and CDC. Senator Barbara
Boxer has introduced the Protecting Children from Electronic Cigarette Advertising Act. ClearWay
Minnesota supports these efforts, and will work with our Congressional delegation where appropriate.
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ClearWay anesot Poltcy Posztmn Ezght ﬁ .

ClearWay anesota supports regulatory‘ ctlon to reduce the 1mpact of menthol clgarettes.

Facts:

e Menthol cigarettes have been disproportionately targeted to priority populations and youth.
Tobacco industry documents show that the tobacco industry used targeting strategies intentionally
tailored to market menthols to African Americans, Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Transgender and
Queer (LGBTQ) communities, and youth at disproportionate rates.!> Documents also revealed
that Lorillard Tobacco Company characterized high-school students as “the base of our business”
for menthol cigarettes.® Advertising studies also show that menthol cigarette advertising is more
highly concentrated in storefronts of minority-populated areas, as well as in magazines with
African American and Chicano/Latino readerships.**> Hundreds of examples of the tobacco
industry’s targeting of these populations can be found at http://www.trinketsandtrash.org.

® Menthol increases smoking initiation rates among youth. A 2013 U.S. Food and Drug
Administration (FDA) report showed that menthol cigarettes increase youth smoking initiation,
lead to greater addiction and decrease successes in quitting smoking.'® As an additive, menthol
gives a cooling sensation and masks the harshness of cigarette smoke, thereby making it easier for
adolescents to start smoking.*” A study demonstrated that menthol levels in cigarettes were
deliberately manipulated by the industry to broaden the appeal of cigarettes to youth.® In the
United States, there are 19.2 million menthol cigarette smokers, including 1.1 million adolescents
ages 12-17. The teen menthol smoking rate is higher than that of any other age group.” Compared
to those who have been smoking for more than a year, youth who recently began smoking are
more likely to smoke menthols.!” Eighty-three percent of African American youth smokers'® and
70 percent of LGBTQ youth smokers report smoking menthol cigarettes.'!

e African Americans smoke menthol cigarettes at higher rates and are more likely to suffer
and die from smoking-related diseases. Tobacco use is the top cause of preventable death and
disease among African Americans.'? Almost one in five — 19.1 percent — of all African Americans
smoke menthol cigarettes.'® Among adult African American smokers, 88 percent smoke
menthols, compared to 26 percent of adult white smokers.'* Eight out of every 10 (83 percent)
African American youth smokers smoke menthols.!! African Americans have the highest death
rate and shortest survival rate from most cancers.!* They are also 53 percent likelier to die of
heart disease.!” African Americans are among the individuals most exposed to secondhand
smoke.'¢ Research suggests higher disease rates among African Americans may result in part
from menthol smoking.!” A study of African American smokers also found individuals who
smoke menthol cigarettes are likely to believe menthols are less harmful than non-menthol
cigarettes. '® African American menthol users are more likely to consider quitting smoking than
African American non-menthol cigarette smokers, but are less likely to successfully quit.'*® In
addition, African American menthol smokers are less successful in long-term abstinence than
African American non-menthol smokers.?!

¢ Members of Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Transgender and Queer (LGBTQ) communities smoke
menthol cigarettes at higher rates than the general population. More than 36 percent of
LGBTQ smokers smoke menthol cigarettes, with LGBTQ female smokers smoking menthols at
an extremely high rate (42.9 percent).?
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e Adding menthol to cigarettes makes it harder for smokers to quit. Multiple studies have
shown that menthol smokers are more likely to try but less likely to successfully quit smoking
than non-menthol cigarette smokers.

¢ Menthol tobacco use is a specific problem for Minnesota. In Minnesota, 25.1 percent of
smokers report smoking menthol cigarettes.”®> About half of Minnesota teen smokers (44.3
percent of high-school students) smoke menthol cigarettes. Preference for menthol cigarettes
among Minnesota students has more than doubled since 2000.2 In Minnesota, smoking-related
disease rates among American Indians are at epidemic levels, and 30 percent of American Indian
smokers smoke menthol cigarettes.”

e Policies that regulate or restrict menthol tobacco products have potential to reduce tobacco
addiction and improve health. Research suggests that if menthol were banned in the U.S., 39
percent of menthol smokers, including 47 percent of black menthol smokers, would quit
smoking.?® Among Minnesota menthol smokers, approximately half reported they would quit
smoking if menthol cigarettes were banned.?” Therefore, banning menthol has the potential to
reduce tobacco-related disparities. It is estimated that by 2050, there would be a 10 percent
reduction in overall smoking prevalence and 633,252 lives would be saved.®

Background Notes:

e Menthol is a cigarette additive that is either extracted from mint oils or produced synthetically. It
is added to cigarettes for its cooling and counter-irritant properties and gives menthol cigarettes
their characteristic flavor.?? Ninety percent of cigarettes contain some menthol, and tobacco
products flavored primarily with this chemical are marketed as “menthol” products. There are
over 350 different varieties of menthol cigarettes.>

o (ClearWay Minnesota supports a federal ban on menthol in cigarettes and in all other tobacco
products. The 2009 Family Smoking Prevention and Tobacco Control Act gave the FDA the
authority to regulate tobacco products. The Act also banned all flavored cigarettes except those
containing menthol. The FDA created the Tobacco Products Scientific Advisory Committee
(TPSAC) and charged the committee with developing a report and recommendations that address
“the issue of the impact of the use of menthol in cigarettes on the public health including such use
among children, African Americans, Hispanics and other racial and ethnic minorities.”!

e The position to support an FDA ban of menthol from cigarettes is supported by several public
health entities, including the American Legacy Foundation, the American Cancer Society, the
American Heart Association, the American Lung Association, the Campaign for Tobacco-Free
Kids, the National African American Tobacco Prevention Network, the American Academy of
Pediatrics, the American Public Health Association, the Center for American Progress and the
Delta Sigma Theta sorority.

® The TPSAC used a rigorous process and well-established standards to review evidence from the
scientific community and the tobacco industry and to arrive at its recommendations. The TPSAC
report, presented to the FDA on March 18, 2011, concluded that “menthol cigarettes adversely
affect U.S. public health and that there is no public health benefit to menthol cigarettes.”*

* The FDA also conducted its own independent review of the literature and in July 2013 concluded
that menthol cigarettes lead to increased smoking initiation, greater addiction and decreased
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quitting. The report concluded that “these findings, combined with the evidence indicating that
menthol’s cooling and anesthetic properties can reduce the harshness of cigarette smoke and the
evidence indicating that menthol cigarettes are marketed as a smoother alternative to non-menthol
cigarettes, make it likely that menthol cigarettes pose a public health risk above that seen with
non-menthol cigarettes.” The FDA then issued an Advanced Notice of Proposed Rule Making
to invite public input. The docket closed in November 2013. Action from the FDA is still
pending.

e (ClearWay Minnesota also supports the rights of state and local governments to regulate menthol
to the extent it is legally permissible. Potential regulatory options include restricting the sale of
menthol tobacco products and restricting point-of-sale advertising.

e Chicago, Illinois, passed an ordinance in 2014 prohibiting sales of flavored tobacco products,
including menthol tobacco, within 500 feet of schools.** Canadian provinces including Ontario,
Quebec, Nova Scotia, New Brunswick and Prince Edward Island have banned sales of menthol
tobacco products altogether. **

e The Minnesota Legislature passed legislation in 2015 authorizing a one-time grant of $200,000
from the Statewide Health Improvement Plan (SHIP) to address menthol tobacco use among
African Americans in Minnesota.

e In July 2015, the city of Minneapolis in passed an ordinance banning the sale of flavored tobacco
in stores children can enter, but the policy specifically exempts menthol. In September 2015,
ClearWay Minnesota executed a new grant with NorthPoint Health and Wellness Center to
educate Minnesotans about the health harms and history of menthol-flavored tobacco, build
grassroots support for policies that restrict access to menthol tobacco products and explore
options to add menthol to Minneapolis’ flavor policy.
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'ClearWay anesotas’” Polzcy Posmon Nme

nesota supports restrlctl g the sale of ﬂavored toba o prod: cts, mcludmg menthoi,
cxgarettes and electromc clgarettes, at the local state and natlonal levels. .

Facts:

e The tobacco industry uses flavors to target youth. Tobacco industry documents show that tobacco
companies have used fruit, candy and alcohol flavors to attract new users. As documented in their
internal communications:

o “Sweetness can impart a different delivery taste dimension which younger adults may be
receptive to™!;

o “It’sawell- known fact that teenagers like sweet products™?; and

o “Flavored products would have appeal in the under-35 age group, especially in the 12-24
group.™

¢ Flavored tobacco products appeal to youth and young adults. Research shows that fruit, candy
and alcohol flavors are attractive to minors and young adults.* Flavored tobacco products exploit
sensory cues associated with candy and drinks that are popular with youth, such as Kool-Aid, Jolly
Ranchers and Life Savers.>® In a recent national survey of students in grades six to 12, 35.9 percent of
current cigar smokers were using flavored cigars.” In Minnesota, the vast majority of students who
have tried cigars used flavored cigars. According to the 2011 Minnesota Youth Tobacco Survey, 35.4
percent of Minnesota students have tried flavored cigar products. Additionally, a recent Minnesota
Department of Health (MDH) survey found that nearly 13 percent of Minnesota kids are using e-
cigarettes, which come in kid-friendly flavors like gummy bear and cotton candy. 3

¢ Use of flavored tobacco products, including menthol, by youth is rising. From 2000 to 2014,
menthol cigarette use by high-school students in Minnesota increased from 20 to 44 percent.’
Moreover, youth are much more likely to smoke menthol cigarettes than are adult smokers,’ with 25.1
percent of adult smokers usually smoking menthol cigarettes.!

* Flavored smoking products lead many children and young adults to become lifetime smokers.
The earlier youth initiate smoking, the more likely they are to become addicted as adults. Almost 90
percent of adult smokers started smoking as teenagers.!! Flavored cigarettes (except menthol) are
prohibited by law, but many youth smokers are using flavored tobacco products such as cigars and
cigarillos. According to the U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), 42 percent of
middle-school and high-school students who smoke were using flavored smoking products.'? In New
York City, teens who tried (non-menthol) flavored tobacco products were nearly three times more
likely to smoke than those who had never tried them.!* Candy and fruit flavors mask the harsh taste of
tobacco, making it easier for kids to start using tobacco products. Once youth start using one tobacco
product, they are more likely to experiment with others.'

¢ Flavored tobacco products are just as addictive and dangerous as non-flavored tobacco
products. Research shows that youth believe flavored tobacco products are less dangerous and
addictive than non-flavored tobacco."” All tobacco products contain nicotine, which is the addictive
chemical manipulated by the tobacco industry to make it hard to quit. No form of tobacco is safe.
According to leading national health institutes, regular cigar smoking causes cancer, heart disease and



ClearWay Minnesota®™ Fiscal Year 2015 Policy Statements, Board Approved on November 18, 2015

chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD). Cigar smoke contains the same toxins as cigarette
smoke.'® Smokeless tobacco causes oral cancer, pancreatic cancer and cancer of the esophagus.'” And
as reported in the 2014 Surgeon’s General Report, evidence suggests that nicotine exposure during
adolescence, a critical window for brain development, may have lasting adverse consequences for
brain development.'®

¢ Flavorings used in e-cigarettes can be harmful. Research shows that inhaling e-cigarette aerosol
inflames lung tissue, and the extent of the inflammation can vary depending on the flavoring that’s
used in the e-cigarette liquid."

» Since the FDA banned flavored cigarettes, cigar use has increased. In the 1960s, the tobacco
industry worked to expand their appeal to youth with flavored “little cigars™ and other cheap flavored
products.?’ Federal law prohibits flavoring in cigarettes, but users often do not distinguish between
cigarettes and flavored little cigars. Since 2009 when flavored cigarettes were prohibited, little cigar
and cigarillo use among young adults (18-24-year-olds) has increased. In 2011, 18.5 percent of young
adult tobacco users reported using flavored tobacco products, compared to 11.9 percent in 2005. In
the last 12 years, sales of cigars in the United States have increased from six billion cigars to more
than 13 billion.”!

Background:

e In 2009, the U.S. Food and Drug Administration banned the use of most flavoring agents in
cigarettes. Menthol was exempted from the flavor ban, which also does not apply to non-cigarette
tobacco products. State and local governments have the authority to create their own regulations
around tobacco sales, including restrictions around flavoring.

e States and local jurisdictions have the authority to restrict the sale of flavored tobacco products. New
York City, Providence, Rhode Island, Chicago and Newton, Massachusetts, have passed restrictions
on the sale of flavored tobacco products. Federal courts have upheld state and local governments’
authority to create such policies.

e OnJuly 10, 2015, the Minneapolis City Council voted unanimously to restrict the sale of flavored
tobacco products (excluding menthol) to adult-only tobacco product shops and to set a minimum
price for cheap cigars. As a result of these policies, tobacco manufactured in kid-friendly flavors like
grape, chocolate and cherry can only be sold by 20 of the city’s 300-plus licensed tobacco vendors,
and cigars must be sold for at least $2.60 apiece wherever they are sold.
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ClearWay anesotaSM Pollcy Pos1twrz Ten.

ClearWay anesota supports mcreasmg the mmxmum 1egal age to purchase tobacco
~ ‘ products to 21 . .

Facts:

e According to the Surgeon General, preventing youth from initiating tobacco use is essential if
we want to continue to reduce prevalence.! The majority of tobacco users begin using tobacco at a
young age. Ninety percent of current smokers report trying their first cigarette before the age of 19,
and 100 percent report first using before age 26.%* In Minnesota, 78.3 percent of smokers tried their
first cigarette when they were 18 or younger, and 19.3 percent of Minnesota high-school students
used some form of tobacco in the past 30 days.** Young people who initiate smoking as teens are at
greater risk of becoming addicted adult smokers.®” Although nationally, youth smoking rates declined
by half between 1997 and 2011, more must be done to accelerate progress in further reducing overall
smoking rates.’

» Adolescents are especially vulnerable to the health impacts of tobacco use. The adolescent brain
is adversely impacted by exposure to nicotine and the long-term cognitive effects of nicotine
exposure is a significant public health concern.” These concerns led the Minnesota Department of
Health to issue a health advisory in 2015 to inform health care professionals and parents that no
amount of nicotine exposure is safe for youth.® According to the Surgeon General: “[The] earlier age
of onset of smoking marks the beginning of the exposure to the many harmful components of smoking.
This is during an age range when growth is not complete and susceptibility to the damaging effects of
tobacco smoke may be enhanced. In addition, an earlier age of initiation extends the potential
duration of smoking throughout the lifespan. For the major chronic diseases caused by smoking, the
epidemiologic evidence indicates that risk rises progressively with increasing duration of smoking;
indeed, for lung cancer, the risk rises more steeply with duration of smoking than with number of
cigarettes smoked per day.”

e Many smokers transition to regular, daily use between the ages of 18 and 21. Half of adult
smokers become regular, daily smokers before age 18 and many others transition to regular tobacco
use between the ages of 18 and 21.° 1t is estimated that four out of five adult smokers become regular

~ daily smokers before they turn 21.° Raising the minimum legal age to purchase tobacco products can
reduce the risk of teen smokers transitioning to regular tobacco use and increase their chances of
successfully quitting.®

¢ Older adolescents, including friends and classmates, are a social source of tobacco for youth.

Many of those who purchase cigarettes for minors are under the age of 21.'%"! In the United States,
more than two thirds (69 percent) of 10™-grade students and nearly half (47.2 percent) of eighth-grade
students report that getting cigarettes is easy.'? Nearly two thirds (63.3 percent) of 12-17 year olds

-who had smoked in the last month had given money to others to purchase cigarettes for them.” In
Minnesota, almost two of every five adolescent underage smokers reported obtaining their tobacco
products through other people rather than by purchasing them themselves in a store.* Research has
shown that smokers 18-19 years of age are the group most likely to have been asked to provide
tobacco to those who are underage.'* Raising the minimum legal purchase age to 21 increases the age
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gap between adolescents and those who can legally provide tobacco and removes easy access to
tobacco products from the high-school environment.!*!6

* Tobacco companies target 18-21-year-olds. The tobacco industry heavily targets 18-21-year-olds.
Internal industry documents note that if cigarette companies don’t “capture new users by their early
twenties, it is unlikely that they ever will.”® The 2014 Surgeon General’s Report notes that the
tobacco industry serves as the root cause of the smoking epidemic, aggressively marketing and
promoting deadly tobacco products and recruiting youth and young adults as new consumers of these
products.’

* Raising the minimum legal age to purchase tobacco products to 21 would simplify enforcement.
In the retail environment, it would become more difficult for an adolescent to pass as a 21-year-old
than an 18-year-old."” In addition, it would also simplify identification checks for retailers, as many
states (including Minnesota) have driver’s licenses that indicate if the driver is under the age of 21."

* Raising the minimum legal age to purchase tobacco products to 21 would improve the health of
young people and save lives. It would reduce prevalence by reducing youth initiation, reduce
diminished academic, athletic and job performance tied to teen smoking, and substantially reduce
tobacco-related disease and death.’

Background:

* The 2009 Family Smoking and Prevention Act sets a minimum age of 18 to purchase tobacco, but
prohibits the FDA from establishing a higher nationwide minimum age.’ States and local
governments, however, continue to have authority to increase the minimum legal age to purchase
tobacco products, and many are using this strategy to reduce the harms of tobacco in their
communities.'” Most states set the minimum age at 18; four states (Arkansas, Alabama, Utah and
New Jersey) have a minimum age of 19.% At least 80 localities in eight states, including New
York City, have raised the age to purchase tobacco to 21.'% On June 19, 2015, Hawaii became the
first state to raise the age to purchase tobacco to 21.'%

o While limited, there is direct research from places that have implemented policies to support
increasing the minimum legal age. After Needham, Massachusetts, increased its tobacco sales age
to 21 in 2005, tobacco use among high-school students was reduced by nearly half.'® Both
smoking rates and cigarette purchases declined significantly more in Needham than in 16
comparison communities. These declines were seen across all subgroups, with the exception of
ninth-grade students, who already reported low smoking rates. In addition, alcohol use did not
decline significantly more in Needham compared to the other communities, indicating the
changes were specific to cigarette use and not due to broader declines in substance use. Likewise,
studies of England’s experience when it raised the minimum purchase age for cigarettes from 16
to 18 years of age in 2007 showed that this increase was associated with significant declines in
smoking prevalence among 16- and 17-year-olds and that youth ages 11-15 were less likely to

become regular smokers.?-?!

* A 2014 national survey shows that 75 percent of adults favor increasing the minimum purchase
age for tobacco to 21.? The majority of all assessed groups were in favor of this tobacco control
strategy, with no statistically significant differences by gender, race, education, income and
geographical region. It is notable that the majority of smokers (69.9 percent) were in support of
raising the age to purchase tobacco to 21.% Young smokers (18-24) were the only group
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significantly less likely to support raising the minimum legal age; still, the majority (64.8 percent)
even of this group had a favorable view of the policy.?

e While there is strong public support for raising the minimum legal age to purchase tobacco
products, the tobacco industry is strongly opposed to this, as reflected in their internal
documents:® “Raising the legal minimum age for cigarette purchaser to 21 could gut our key
young adult market (17-20), where we sell about 25 billion cigarettes and enjoy a 70 percent
market share.” — Philip Morris report, January 21, 1986

e The FDA, through the Institute of Medicine, convened an expert panel to study the public health
implications of raising the tobacco purchase age, and their report was released in March of 2015.°
Based on a review of the literature and the use of well-established tobacco simulation models, the
Institute report concludes that:

e Increasing the minimum legal age to purchase tobacco products will likely prevent or delay
initiation by adolescents and young adults, with the greatest impact for 15-17-year-olds.

e The impact of raising the minimum legal age to 21 will likely be substantially higher than
raising it to 19; the added effect of raising it from 21 to 25 is significantly less.?

* By the time today’s teenagers reach adulthood, a minimum legal age, if enacted now, would
reduce prevalence of tobacco use among those adults by 3 percent if raised to age 19, by 12
percent if raised to age 21, and by 16 percent if raised to age 25.%

e Tobacco-related disease and mortality would decrease in proportion to these projected
declines in prevalence.’

s It is projected raising the minimum legal age to 21 nationally would result in 240,000 fewer
premature deaths, 45,000 fewer deaths from lung cancer and 4.2 million fewer years of life
lost for those born between 2000 and 2019.

e Increasing the minimum legal age for tobacco products will improve maternal, fetal and
infant outcomes by reducing the likelihood of maternal and paternal smoking.?

e To date, evidence-based approaches that include increasing the unit price of tobacco products,
mass media combined with other community interventions, and restricting minors’ access to
tobacco products have proven effective in significantly reducing youth tobacco rates.?* Recent
evidence shows cigarette smoking among teens continues to decline and increases in perceived
risk and disapproval of smoking appear to have contributed to the continued downturn in cigarette
use.'2 However, social sources of tobacco may become increasingly important as other
restrictions at point of sale increase.!® Disrupting social sources of access to tobacco products will
be critical. Furthermore, in a recent Gallup survey, nearly nine in 10 smokers expressed regret
that they ever started smoking, leading experts in the field to conclude that “helping today’s
adolescents avoid that regret requires a comprehensive strategy that includes strong supply-side
interventions. We believe that Tobacco 21 laws are a logical next step.”?2
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ClearWay Minnesota®™ Senior Management Team Biosketches

ClearWay Minnesota’s staff is made up of individuals with expertise in public health, tobacco
cessation, research, community development, finance, investments, communications, public
affairs and nonprofit administration. For Fiscal Year 2014, the Senior Management Team of the
organization consisted of:

Chief Executive Officer David J. Willoughby, M.A.

David J. Willoughby has served as CEO since November of 2000, and leads ClearWay
Minnesota’s efforts in all areas, including cessation, research, communications and public
affairs, community development and other initiatives.

In addition to his responsibilities at ClearWay Minnesota, Willoughby has developed
collaborative initiatives to reduce commercial tobacco’s harm and promote long-term health in
Indian Country. Willoughby also served on the Board of the North American Quitline
Consortium (NAQC) for five years and was Board Chair of that organization for three years.

Before joining ClearWay Minnesota, Willoughby was Vice President of Cancer Prevention and
Control for the Southwest Division of the American Cancer Society in Arizona. He also served
on the Arizona Advisory Council on Tobacco Prevention and Cessation.

Willoughby is bilingual in Spanish and English and holds a Bachelor of Arts degree in theology
and a Master’s in counseling.

Vice President Andrea Mowery

Andrea Mowery oversees the Communications and Public Affairs Departments and
organizational strategic planning for ClearWay Minnesota. Mowery has more than 20 years of
experience in the strategic communications and public affairs fields.

Mowery has shared her experience and skills with other states and organizations, helping them
select contractors, evaluate their programs and learn from Minnesota-based initiatives. Mowery
has presented at a number of conferences since joining ClearWay Minnesota, including the
National Conference on Tobacco or Health, the Society for Research on Nicotine and Tobacco,
the University of South Florida’s Social Marketing Conference and the U.S. Centers for Disease
Control and Prevention’s Media and Messaging Conference.

Formerly an account supervisor and the Health and Wellness Specialty Director at Tunheim in
Minneapolis, Mowery developed and managed strategic communications programs on behalf of
that agency’s clients, including United Health Group and Target Corporation. Prior to joining
Tunheim, Mowery worked as the Assistant Director of Special Projects at the Minnesota
Attorney General’s Office, developing social marketing and community relations campaigns to
advance policy.

Vice President Barbara A. Schillo, Ph.D.
Vice President Dr. Barbara Schillo leads research and cessation initiatives, coordinates efforts to
translate knowledge into initiatives that reduce tobacco use, and provides the organization



strategic and administrative leadership. Prior to becoming a Vice President, Dr. Schillo served as
the organization’s Director of Research Programs from 2001 to 2008. She currently serves on the
Board of Directors for the North American Quitline Consortium and is a past Advisory Council
Member.

Dr. Schillo is active in sharing research and evaluation findings with others and has published on
the topics of tobacco cessation including quitlines, tobacco control mass media campaigns,
tobacco-related disparities in priority populations, and tobacco policy. As a community
psychologist, Dr. Schillo has directed projects, published and lectured in areas of tobacco
control, community health promotion and disease prevention, substance abuse, and health policy.

Dr. Schillo currently serves as a Board Member for the North American Quitline Consortium.
She has also served as a community faculty member in the Department of Psychology at
Metropolitan State University. Prior to her joining ClearWay Minnesota, she served as a Senior
Program Director for the Michigan Public Health Institute. Dr. Schillo received her doctorate and
M.A. in community psychology at Michigan State University and a B.A. in psychology from the
University of Minnesota.

Chief Financial Officer Steven Bader

Director of Research Programs Raymond Boyle, Ph.D., M.P.H
Dr. Raymond Boyle leads ClearWay Minnesota’s Research Department. He is responsible for
oversight of the grants and contracts within the research portfolio.

Dr. Boyle has enjoyed a 20-year career in tobacco control research. He completed his doctorate
at the University of Oregon and has a Master of Public Health degree in epidemiology from the
University of Minnesota. Dr. Boyle came to ClearWay Minnesota in 2009 from the University of
Minnesota, Department of Family Medicine and Community Health. He has published over more
than 70 peer-reviewed articles.

Director of Marketing and Communications Marietta Dreher

Marietta Dreher oversees all communications and mass-media strategies for ClearWay
Minnesota, including advertising, public relations, social media, event planning and general
communications. She has been with ClearWay Minnesota for more than 12 years. She is
currently a member of the Office on Smoking and Health Media Network’s Stakeholder
Committee and an advisor to the Centers of Disease Control and Prevention’s Media Campaign
Resource Center.

Prior to joining ClearWay Minnesota, Dreher spent over a decade working in advertising in the
Twin Cities. Formerly an account supervisor at BBDO, Dreher worked on the New Jersey
Department of Health’s Comprehensive Tobacco Control Program, developing social marketing
campaigns in youth prevention and adult cessation. Dreher also worked in account management
at Clarity Coverdale Fury and Kruskopf Olson.

Dreher earned her Bachelor’s degree at the University of St. Thomas in economics.



Director of Cessation Programs Paula Keller, M.P.H.
Paula Keller oversees all aspects of ClearWay Minnesota’s smoking cessation initiatives,
including QUITPLAN® Services, policy initiatives, evaluation and strategic planning.

Keller has more than 20 years of experience in tobacco cessation, tobacco control policy and
public health. She has extensive program management and policy analysis experience and has
published on a variety of tobacco control topics. She also currently serves on the North American
Quitline Consortium’s Advisory Council and on the Society for Research on Nicotine and
Tobacco’s Public Health Policy Network Advisory Committee. Prior to joining ClearWay
Minnesota in 2010, Keller was Senior Policy Advisor for the University of Wisconsin Center for
Tobacco Research and Intervention.

Keller earned a Bachelor’s degree in community health education from the University of
Wisconsin — La Crosse and a Master’s of Public Health in public health policy and
administration from the University of Michigan.

Director of Community Development Jaime Martinez, M.Ed.

As Director of Community Development, Jaime Martinez oversees efforts to improve the
capacity of priority population communities to expand the tobacco control movement in
Minnesota. These populations include American Indians; Africans and African Americans;
Chicanos/Latinos; Asians, Asian Americans and Pacific Islanders; Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual,
Transgender and Queer (GLBTQ) communities; groups of low socio-economic status; and other
populations.

Martinez’s education includes Bachelor of Science and Master of Education degrees and he has
competed coursework toward a Ph.D. He has been a Kellogg Fellow in education with the
Institute for Education Leadership at the University of Minnesota and a Fellow in the Advocacy
Institute’s Tobacco Control Leadership Fellows Program in Washington, D.C. He has more than
25 years of experience in alcohol and tobacco policy in Minnesota.

Martinez’s community activities include having served on the boards of the Smoke-Free
Coalition and Minnesota Join Together Coalition to Reduce Youth Alcohol Use, the Minneapolis
Advisory Committee on Alcohol, Tobacco and Other Drug Problems, Minnesota Department of
Human Services State Alcohol and Other Drug Abuse Advisory Council, and the Minnesota
Public Health Association, where he served as President.

Martinez has been at ClearWay Minnesota since 2000 and previously worked for the Community
Prevention Coalition of Hennepin County, a community initiative with the Hennepin County
Community Health Department. His work in alcohol policy has been featured in a publication
titled Case Histories in Alcohol Policy, by the Trauma Foundation, San Francisco General
Hospital, San Francisco, California, 2001. His work has received numerous honors and awards
and he is often guest faculty at the School of Public Health, University of Minnesota.

Director of Public Affairs Molly Moilanen, M.P.P.
Molly Moilanen leads ClearWay Minnesota’s public policy efforts. She is responsible for
advancing tobacco control policies at the local and state level using grassroots organizing, direct



lobbying and public relations. Since Moilanen joined ClearWay Minnesota in 2004, she has
managed various QUITPLAN programs and developed the local policy grant program. She also
served on the organization’s internal strategic planning team and currently co-chairs
Minnesotans for a Smoke-Free Generation, a coalition of more than 50 health and nonprofit
organizations committed to passing statewide policies to further reduce tobacco’s harm in
Minnesota.

Before coming to ClearWay Minnesota, Moilanen served as a Senior Program Officer at
ServeMinnesota, where she oversaw the state’s AmeriCorps programs. She also worked for
Minnesota Senator Steve Kelley and taught Master’s-level public policy courses at Concordia
University in St. Paul.

Moilanen graduated from Grinnell College with a B.A. in political science and earned a Master’s
degree in public policy from the Humphrey School of Public Affairs at the University of
Minnesota.
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{V Orsex THIELEN & Co., LTD.

Certified Public Accountants & Consultants

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Board of Directors
ClearWay MinnesotaS¥
Bloomington, Minnesota

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of ClearWay Minnesotas™ (a nonprofit
organization) which comprise the statement of financial position as of June 30, 2016 and 2015,and
the related statements of activities, functional expenses and cash flows for the years then ended,
and the related notes to the financial statements.

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this
includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation
and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We
conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States
of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement.

"An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment,
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control
relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. Accordingly, we express
no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of ClearWay MinnesotaSM as of June 30, 2016 and 2015 and the changes in its net
assets and its cash flows for the years then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally

accepted in the United States of America.
| O, Tty + (o, Uid.

St. Paul, Minnesota
August 23, 2016

1

St. Paul Office | 2675 Long Lake Road | St. Paul, MN 55113-1117 1 651-483-4521 | 651-483-2467 FAX
Minneapolis Office | 300 Prairie Center Dr., Ste. 300 | Minneapolis, MN §5344-7908 | 952-941-9242 | 952-941-0577 FAX



CLEARWAY MINNESOTASM

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
JUNE 30, 2016 AND 2015

ASSETS
2016 2015
Cash $ 19,158 $ 18,485
Accounts receivable 13,068 99,414
Prepaid expenses 78,278 50,090
Investments 55,278,182 71,968,643
Equipment and leasehold improvements, net 42,558 30,213
TOTAL ASSETS $ 55,431,244 $ 72,166,845
LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS
LIABILITIES:
Accounts payable $ 823,023 $ 1,101,133
Accrued expenses 185,371 179,773
Grants payable 2,569,254 3,023,520
Total liabilities 3,577,648 4,304,426
NET ASSETS:
Unrestricted - designated for tobacco research and
other tobacco control purposes 51,853,596 67,862,419
Total net assets 51,853,596 67,862,419
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS $ 55,431,244 $ 72,166,845

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.

2



CLEARWAY MINNESOTASM

STATEMENTS OF ACTIVITIES

YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2016 AND 2015

REVENUE AND GAINS:
Net investment income (loss)
Contributions and grants
Total revenue and gains (losses)

EXPENSES:
Program services:
Tobacco cessation
Research and other tobacco issues
Total program services

Supporting services:
General and administrative
Total expenses
CHANGE IN NET ASSETS
NET ASSETS at beginning of year

NET ASSETS at end of year

2016 2015

$  (539,446) $ 1,896,782
119,354 123,955
(420,092) 2,020,737
12,678,676 12,060,970
1,636,269 1,906,344
14,314,945 13,967,314
1,273,786 1,181,438
15,588,731 15,148,752
(16,008,823) (13,128,015)
67,862,419 80,990,434

$ 51,853,596 $ 67,862,419

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.

3
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CLEARWAY MINNESOTASM

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2016 AND 2015

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Change in Net Assets

Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets to

net cash used in operating activities:
Depreciation
Unrealized losses on investments
Realized gains on investments
Change in assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable
Prepaid expenses
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Grants payable
Net cash used in operating activities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Purchase of equipment
Purchase of investments
Proceeds from sale of investments
Net cash provided by investing activities

NET CHANGE IN CASH
CASH at beginning of year

CASH at end of year

2016

2015

$ (16,008,823)

$ (13,128,015)

12,688 24,829
1,257,328 233,007
(146,985) (1,396,086)
86,346 (33,963)
(28,188) 8,405
(278,110) 413,326
5,598 7,723
{454,266) (289,129)
(15,554,412) (14,159,903)
(25,033) (12,452)
(67,846,024) (108,840,965)
83,426,142 123,013,319
15,555,085 14,159,902
673 1)
18,485 18,486
$ 19158 $ 18485

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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CLEARWAY MINNESOTASM

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Nature of Organization

ClearWay Minnesota®M is an independent, nonprofit organization that works to improve the health of
all Minnesotans by eliminating the harm caused by tobacco. ClearWay Minnesota was created in
1998 to administer 3 percent ($202 million) of Minnesota’'s tobacco settlement funds over a period
of 25 years.

ClearWay Minnesota’s mission is to enhance life in Minnesota by reducing tobacco use and
exposure to secondhand smoke through research, action and collaboration. The organization’s
work is grounded in sound science and public health best practices, and includes a comprehensive
body of tobacco cessation programs (marketed as QUITPLAN® Services), extensive grant-making
activities in areas of research, policy and community development, and media campaigns to raise
awareness of the harms of tobacco use and secondhand smoke exposure.

Basis of Presentation

Financial statement presentation follows generally accepted accounting principles as outlined in the
Financial Accounting Standards Board's Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 958. Under ASC
9568 ClearWay Minnesota is required to report information regarding its financial position and
activities according to three classes of net assets, unrestricted net assets, temporarily restricted net
assets and permanently restricted net assets. ClearWay Minnesota has no temporarily or
permanently restricted net assets.

Accounting Estimates

The presentation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and
expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Accounts Receivable

Receivables are reported at the amount the Organization expects to collect on balances
outstanding at year end. The Organization monitors outstanding balances and periodically writes
off balances that are determined to be uncollectible. The Organization has concluded that losses on
balances outstanding at year end will be immaterial.



CLEARWAY MINNESOTASM

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Equipment and Leasehold Improvements

Equipment and leasehold improvements are carried at cost or, if donated, at the approximated fair
value at the date of donation. Additions, improvements or major renewals are capitalized. If items of
property are sold, retired or otherwise disposed of, they are removed from the asset and
accumulated depreciation accounts and any gain or loss thereon is reflected in the statement of
activities. ClearWay Minnesota capitalizes assets with a cost of $2,500 or greater.

Depreciation is provided using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets
as follows:

Leasehold improvements 5-10 Years
Furniture and fixtures 7 Years
Office equipment 5 Years
Computer software and equipment 3 Years

Revenue Recognition

Grants are recognized when earned. Revenue is earned when eligible expenditures, as defined in
each grant are made. Expenditures under government grants are subject to review by the granting
authority. To the extent, if any, that such a review reduces expenditures allowable under these
grants, the Organization will record such disallowance at the time the final assessment is made.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying value of accounts receivable, prepaid expenses, accounts payable and accrued
expenses are reasonable estimates of their fair value due to the short-term nature of these financial

instruments.

Investments in marketable securities are stated at fair value, which is determined by quoted market
prices at June 30, 2016 and 2015. Alternative investment fund of funds and private equity fund of
funds, for which there is no public market, are valued at net contributions to the fund plus allocated
share of undistributed profit and losses, including realized and unrealized gains and losses based
on the financial information provided by the investee funds’ management, which may include
audited financial statements of the investee funds. Because these alternative investments are not
readily marketable, their estimated value is subject to uncertainty and, therefore, may differ from the
value that would have been used had a ready market for such investment existed.

In general, investments are exposed to various risks, such as interest rate, credit and overall market
volatility risk. Due to the level of risk associated with cerfain investments, it is reasonably possible
that changes in the values of the investment will occur in the near future and that such changes
could materially affect the investment balances.

Included in investments on the statement of financial position are money market and short-term
investment funds. The money market and short-term investment funds are readily convettible to
cash and are stated at cost plus accrued interest, which approximates fair value.

Grants payable are stated at fair value by discounting payments due in more than one year. Grants
payable cancelled in a subsequent year are recorded in the year of cancellation.



CLEARWAY MINNESOTASM

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Fair Value Measurements

Under generally accepted accounting principles as outlined in the Financial Accounting Standards
Board's Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 820, fair value is the price that would be received
to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at
the measurement date. ASC 820 establishes a three-level fair value hierarchy that prioritizes
information used in developing assumptions when pricing an asset or liability as follows:

Level 1 :

Financial assets and liabilities are valued using inputs that are unadjusted quoted prices in active
markets accessible at the measurement date of identical financial assets and liabilities. The
inputs include those traded on an active exchange, such as the New York Stock Exchange, as
well as U.S. Treasury and other U.S. government and agency mortgage-backed securities that
are fraded by dealers or brokers in active over-the-counter markets.

Level 2

Financial assets and liabilities are valued using inputs that are quoted prices for similar assets, or
inputs that are observable, either directly or indirectly for substantially the full term through
corroboration with observable market data. Level 2 included private collateralized mortgage
obligations and private corporate debt securities.

Level 3

Financial assets and liabilities are valued using pricing inputs which are unobservable for the
asset, inputs that reflect the reporting entity's own assumptions about the assumptions market
participants would use in pricing the asset. lLevel 3 includes private equity and alternative
investments. o . - e

The fair values of the Organization’s investments were determined based on inputs as presented in
Note 3.

In May 2015, the FASB issued an accounting standard update (ASU 2015-07) on disclosures for
investments in certain entities that calculate net asset value (NAV) per share or its equivalent which
removes the requirement to categorize these investments within the fair value hierarchy. The
Organization will adopt this accounting standard update for the year ended June 30, 2017. When
adopted, this standard will be applied retrospectively to all periods presented.

Functional Allocation of Expense

The costs of providing various 'programs and services are summarized on a functional basis on the
statement of activities. Accordingly, certain costs were allocated among the programs or services
benefited based on best estimates by management.

Program Grants and Contracts

Program grants and contract expenses are reported on the statements of functional expenses net of
grant cancellations, if any.



CLEARWAY MINNESOTASM

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Income Taxes

ClearWay Minnesota is exempt from federal income taxes under the provisions of Section 501(c)(3)

of the Internal Revenue Code. The Organization is also exempt from Minnesota income taxes.

The Organization follows the current accounting guidance related to uncertainty in income taxes.
This guidance clarifies the recognition threshold and measurement requirements for income tax
positions taken or expected to be taken in income tax returns. This includes positions that the entity
is exempt from income taxes or not subject to additional income tax liability on unrelated business
income. Under the standards, the Organization recognizes tax benefits from uncertain tax positions
only if it is more likely than not that the tax positions will be sustained on examination by taxing
authorities. The Organization has identified no significant income tax uncertainties. The
Organization files information returns as a tax-exempt organization. Should that status be
challenged in the future, all years since inception could be subject to review by the IRS.

Advertising Expense
Advertising expense is expensed as incurred.

NOTE 2 - EQUIPMENT AND LEASEHOLD IMPROVEMENTS

Equipment and leasehold improvements at June 30, 2016 and 2015 consist of the following:

Leasehold improvements
Furniture and fixtures

Office equipment

Computer software and equipment

L.ess accumulated depreciation
Net equipment and leasehold improvements

Depreciation expense for the years ended June 30, 2016 and 2015 was $12,688 and $24,829,

respectively.

2016 2015
$ 26,243 $ 26,243
72,586 72,586
50,761 50,761
238,530 213,496
388,120 363,086
345,562 332,873
$ 42,558 $ 30213




CLEARWAY MINNESOTASM

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 3 - INVESTMENTS

Investments are stated at fair value at June 30, 2016 and 2015, and consisted of the following:

2016 2015
Money market and short-term investment funds $ 8,772,595 $ 8,371,489
Bonds and pooled bond funds 32,541,473 37,262,743
U.S. equity fund - all cap index -~ 4,321,571
International equities - 3,999,317
Alternative investment fund of funds 3,324,427 3,596,528
Private equity fund of funds 10,639,687 12,887,018
Commodity index fund - 1,629,977
Total $ 55,278,182 $71,968,643
Net investment income for the years ended June 30, 2016 and 2015 consisted of the following:
2016 2015
Interest income $ 635,082 $ 870,792
Realized gains on sales of investments 146,985 1,396,086
Unrealized losses on investments {1,257,328) {233,007)
‘Management fees (64,185) (137,090
Total $ (539,446) $ 1,896,781
The following tables, as of June 30, 2016 and 2015, provide information by Level for assets that are measured
at fair value.
Fair value measurements
using inputs considered as
Description Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
2016:
Bonds and pooled bond funds 32,541,473 $32541473 $ - $ -
Alternative investment fund of funds 3,324,427 53,368 - 3,271,059
Private equity fund of funds 10,639,687 143,264 - 10,496,423
Subtotal 46,505,587 $32,738105 $ -  $13,767,482
Money market and short-term investment funds 8,772,595
Total 55,278,182
2015:
Bonds and pooled bond funds 37,262,743 $37,262,743 $ - % -
U.S. equity fund - large cap enhanced index 4,321,571 4,321,571 - -
International equities 3,999,317 3,899,317 - -
Alternative investment fund of funds 3,596,528 96,667 562,997 2,936,864
Private equity fund of funds 12,887,018 - - 12,887,018
Commodity index fund 1,529,977 - 1,529,977 -
Subtotal 63,597,154 $45,680,298 $ 2092974 $15,823,882
Money market and short-term investment funds 8,371,489
Total 71,068,643
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CLEARWAY MINNESOTASM

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 3 - INVESTMENTS (Continued)

Fair value measurements of investments in entities which utilize inputs classified as Level 2 and Level 3 include
alternative investment fund of funds, private equity fund of funds, and the commodity index fund. The
Organization uses the net asset value of these investment entities to determine the fair value of these
investments which do not have a readily determinable fair value and either have the attributes of an investment
company or prepare their financial statements consistent with the measurement principles of an investment
company.

Alternative investment fund of funds includes investments in limited partnerships. These limited partnerships
are invested in investment funds which in turn are invested in domestic or foreign stocks and bonds. The fair
value of the investment in the limited partnerships are valued at net contributions to the fund plus allocated
share of undistributed profit and losses, including realized and unrealized gains and losses based on the
financial information provided by the investee funds’ management, which may include audited financial
statements of the investee funds.

Private equity fund of funds are invested in limited partnerships which have invested primarily in venture capital
and limited partnerships, which in turn are invested in domestic and foreign stocks. The fair value has been
estimated based on quoted market prices for the underlying securities or the capital balances reported by the
underlying partnerships which are valued at net contributions to the fund plus allocated share of undistributed
profit and losses, including realized and unrealized gains and losses based on the financial information provided
by the investee funds’ management, which may include audited financial statements of the investee funds.

Commodity index funds include investments in multi-strategy commodity funds. The funds allocate assets
across a broad spectrum of commodity-oriented asset categories. The fair value has been estimated based on
the investment balances reported by the commodity fund.

The following table provides summary of changes in fair value of the Organization’s Level 3 financial assets for
the years ended June 30, 2015 and 2016:
Investments in Investee Funds by Class
Alternative Investments  Private Equity  Commodity

Total Fund of Funds Fund of Funds Index Fund
Balance at June 30, 2014 $ 18,863,600 $ 4,500,268 $ 14,358,368 § 4,964
Sales {5,306,616) (1,802,547) (3,404,069) -
Net realized and unrealized gains
on investments 2,238,678 305,959 1,932,719 -
Investment expense {50,148) (50,148) - -
Transfers in and out of Level 3 78,368 83,332 - (4,964)
Balance at June 30, 2015 15,823,882 2,936,864 12,887,018 -
Sales (2,284,970) (33,232) (2,251,738) -
Net realized and unrealized gains (losses)
on investments (241,197) (245,604) 4,407 -
Investment Expense 6,734 6,734 - -
Transfers in and out of Level 3 463,033 606,297 (143,264) -
Balance at June 30, 2016 $ 13,767,482 $ 3,271,059 $ 10,496,423 § -
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CLEARWAY MINNESOTASM

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 3 - INVESTMENTS (Continued)

Fair value measurements of investments in certain entities that calculate net asset value per share (or its
equivalent) as of June 30, 2016 and 2015 are as follows:

Redemption
2016 2015 Unfunded Frequency Redemption
Net Asset Net Asset Commit- (If Currently Notice
Value Value ments Eligible) Period
Alternative investment fund of funds $ 3,324,427 $ 3,596,528 § - Annual 90 days
Private equity fund of funds 10,639,687 12,887,018 2,333,000 N/A N/A

The Organization has purchase commitments of $2,333,000 to invest in private equity fund of funds portfolios.
Commitments of $600,000 are estimated to be called by June 30, 2017. The Organization does not anticipate
the remaining purchase commitments will be called.

NOTE 4 - CONCENTRATIONS

Financial instruments which potentially subject ClearWay Minnesota to concentrations of credit risk consist
principally of cash and investments. At times during fiscal years 2016 and 2015, cash balances exceeded
federally insured limits. The investments are not insured and involve risks, including the possible loss of the
principal invested.

NOTE 5 - GRANTS PAYABLE

Grants payable at June 30, 2016 and 2015, are as follows:

2016 2015
Payable in less than one year $ 1,885,235 $2,342,919
Payable in one to five years 741,440 740,710
Subtotal 2,626,675 3,083,629
Less: discount to present value at 7.00% 57,421 60,109
Total grants payable $ 2,569,254 $ 3,023,520

NOTE 6 - RETIREMENT PLAN

ClearWay Minnesota participates in a 401(k) defined contribution retirement investment plan that covers all
employees who meet eligibility requirements. For the years ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, the plan provided
eligible employees with a 50% matching contribution up to 5% of the employee’s compensation, a safe harbor
contribution of 3% and a discretionary employer contribution of 7%. ClearWay Minnesota’s contributions to the
plan totaled $372,304 and $334,210 for the years ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively.
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CLEARWAY MINNESOTASM

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 7 - COMMITMENTS

ClearWay Minnesota has entered into leases for office space and equipment. Future minimum
lease payments for the next five years under these lease agreements are as follows:

Yearé Ending June 30:

2017 $ 131,276
2018 24,858
2018 5,046
2020 4,200
2021 —_

Total $ 165,380

Occupancy expense for the years ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, was $134,694 and $129,447,
respectively.

NOTE 8 - SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
ClearWay Minnesota evaluated its June 30, 2016 financial statements for subsequent events
through August 23, 2016, the date the financial statements were approved by ClearWay

Minnesota's Audit/Finance Committee. ClearWay Minnesota is not aware of any subsequent
events which would require recognition or disclosure in the financial statements.
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Way

MINNESOTA

AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENT CERTIFICATION

David J. Willoughby/Steven L. Bader individually certify that:

1.

o

(V%)

Each has reviewed the audited financial statements for the years ended June 30, 2016 and

2015 of ClearWay Minnesota;

Based on the knowledge of each of the undersigned, after due review and consideration, the
financial statements, and other financial information included in the statements, fairly present
in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of
ClearWay Minnesota as of, and for, the period presented in these financial statements.

Based on the knowledge of each of the undersigned, there are appropriate procedures,
processes and adequate systems of internal controls in place at ClearWay Minnesota to
support the undersigned’s representation in paragraph 2 above that the financial statements
fairly represent the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of ClearWay
Minnesota, and to detect noncompliance with applicable laws and regulations and with the
governing documents and policies of ClearWay Minnesota.

Dated: g/ / 17{/ 29 ((, Signature: >M§’_\

avid J. Willpughby
Chlef Executive Officer

Dated: (/ (6 // A Signature: \G&'ﬂf W’/Q/

Steven L. Bader
Chief Financial Officer
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OMB No. 1545-0047

o 990 Return of Organization Exempt From Income Tax 2 0 1 5

Under section 501{c), 527, or 4947(a)(1) of the Internal Revenue Code (except private foundations)

Department of the Treasury p Do not enter social security numbers on this form as it may be made public. ~OpentoPublic
Internal Revenue Service P _information about Form 990 and its instructions is at www.irs.gov/form990, __ Inspection
A For the 2015 calendar year, or tax year beginning JUL 1, 2015 andending JUN 30, 2016
B Check it C Name of organization D Employer identification number
applicable:
cange. | CLEARWAY MINNESOTA (SM)
2‘:;?129 Doing business as 41-1921094
raturn Number and street (or P.0. box if mail is not delivered to street address) Room/suite | E Telephone number
Fofo/ TWO APPLETREE SQ, 8011 34TH AVE § 400 952-767-1400
e City or town, state or province, country, and ZIP.or foreign postal code G Gross recaipts $ 62,049 ,561.
reum el MINNEAPOLIS , MN 55425 . H(a) Is this a group retumn
{op "f:a' F Name and address of principal officerrDAVID J. WILLOUGHBY for subordinates? !:IYes [E No
pending SAME AS C ABOVE H(b} Ase all subordinates included? Yes No
| Tax-exempt status: | 501(c)(3) 501(c) ( ) (insert no.) 4947(a)(1) or 527 If "No," attach a list. (see instructions)
J Website: p WWW . CLEARWAYMN ., ORG H(c) Group exemption number P
K_Form of organization: | X | Corporation Trust Association Other [ L Year of formation: 199 8] m State of legal domicile: MIN

Summary

@ | 1 Briefly describe the organization’s mission or most significant activities; CLEARWAY MINNESOTA (SM) IS AN
g INDEPENDENT NONPROFIT ORGANIZATION THAT WORKS TO IMPROVE THE HEALTH
g 2 Check this box P if the organization discontinued its operations or disposed of more than 25% of its net assets.
2| 3 Numberof voting members of the governing body (Part Vi, line1a) e e 3 18
g 4 Number of independent voting members of the goveming body (Part VI, fine ) 4 18
2 | 5 Total number of individuals employed in calendar year 2015 (PartV,line2s) .. . o 5 30
S| & Total number of volunteers (estimate if NeCESSANY) ..o 6 21
Ft 7a Total unrelated business revenue from Part VI, column (C), fine12 7a 29,227.
b_Net unrelated business taxable income from Form990-T, fine34 ... 7b 9,035,
Prior Year Current Year
g | 8 Contributions and grants (Part VIll line 1h) ... 123,955. 119,354.
§ | @ Program service revenue (Part Vill, line2g) . ... 0. 0.
é 10 investment income (Part Vill, column (A), lines 3, 4, and D) e 2,266,878. 752,840.
11 Other revenue (Part Vli, column (A), lines 5, 6d, 8¢, 9¢, 10c, and 1€y 0. 29,227,
12 Total revenue - add lines 8 through 11 (must equal Part VIli, column (A, line12) ... 2,390,833. 901,421,
13 Grants and similar amounts paid (Part IX, column (A), lines 13 4,902,154. 5,227,741.
14 Benefits paid to or for members (Part IX, column A lined) 0. 0.
@ | 15 Salaries, other compensation, employee benefits (Part IX, column (A), lines 510) 3,421,085. 3,532,295,
2 | 16a Professional fundraising fees (Part IX, column (A), fine 19€) 0. 0.
§ b Total fundraising expenses (Part IX, column (D), line 25) P 0.1 . . .
Y147 Other expenses (Part IX, column (A), lines 11a-11d,11f24e) 6,962,602, 6,892,880.
18 Total expenses. Add lines 13-17 (must equal Part IX, column A, fine25) 15,285,841. 15,652,916.
19 _Revenue less expenses. Subtract line 18 fromline12 ... ...~ <12,895, 008.p<14,751,495,>
58 Beginning of Current Year End of Year
$51 20 Total assets (PartX,ine 16) ... 72,166,845.] 55,431,244,
<3| 21 Total liabilities (Part X, ine 26) .. ... : 4,304,426. 3,577,648.
gu% 22 Net assets or fund balances. Subtract line 21 from line 20 .................... SRTTUR 67,862,419. 51,853,596.

| Sighature Block
Under penalties of perjury, | declare that | have examined this return, including accompanying schedules and statements, and to the best of my knowledge and belief, it is
frue, correct, and complete. Daclaration of preparer (other than officer) is based on all information of which preparer has any knowledge.

Sign } Signature of officer Date
Here DAVID J. WILLOUGHBY, CHIEF EXEC OFFICER
Type or print name and tie
Print/Type preparer's name Preparer's signature Date Check PTIN
Paid  [LINDA M. NELSON LINDA M. NELSON 11/1/16 | sorenpoes PO0205567
Preparer |Firm's name p OLSEN THIELEN & CO., LTD FirmsENp 41-1360831
Use Only | Firm'saddress), 2675 LONG LAKE ROAD
: ST. PAUL, MN 55113 Phoneno.651-483-4521
May the IRS discuss this return with the preparer shown above? (see instructions) ... LX] Yes No
532001 12-16-15  LHA For Paperwork Reduction Act Notice, see the separate instructions. Form 990 (201 5)

SEE SCHEDULE O FOR ORGANIZATION MISSION STATEMENT CONTINUATION



Statement of Program Service Accomplishments

Form 990 (2015) CLEARWAY MINNESOTA (SM) o 41-1921094 page2
Part Il

Check if Schedule O contains a response ornoteto any lineinthis Part Hl ... @

1

Briefly describe the organization’s mission:

SEE PART I, LINE 1

Did the organization undertake any significant program services during the year which were not listed on

the prior Form 880 0r 990-EZ? . ..o X]ves No
If "Yes," describe these new services on Schedule O.
Did the organization cease conducting, or make significant changes in how it conducts, any program services? DYes No

f "Yes," describe these changes on Schedule O.

Describe the organization’s program service accomplishments for each of its three largest program services, as measured by expenses.
Section 501(c)(3) and 501 {c)(4) organizations are required to report the amount of grants and allocations to others, the total expenses, and
revenue, if any, for each program service reported.

4a

(Code: )(Expeﬂssss 7 7 8 3 5 r 632. including grants of $ 1 ’ 977 ’ 857 * } (Revenue$ O . )
COMMUNICATIONS AND PUBLIC AFFAIRS
COMMUNICATIONS AND OUTREACH ACTIVITIES HELP CLEARWAY MINNESOTA TO
PROMOTE CESSATION SERVICES, TO MOTIVATE MINNESOTA TOBACCO USERS TO QUIT
AND TO EDUCATE MINNESOTANS ABOUT TOBACCO'S DANGERS. CLEARWAY MINNESOTA
DEVELOPS CAMPAIGNS AFTER EXTENSIVE RESEARCH AND PLANNING, USING
GUIDELINES FROM THE U.S. CENTERS FOR DISEASE CONTROL AND PREVENTION
(CDC) AND LEARNING FROM THE EXPERIENCES OF NATIONAL AND STATE PARTNERS.

CLEARWAY MINNESOTA CONDUCTS STATEWIDE ADVERTISING CAMPAIGNS CONSISTING

OF PAID BROADCAST, INTERNET, PRINT AND OUT-OF-HOME ADVERTISING.
ADDITIONALLY, CLEARWAY MINNESOTA CONDUCTS OUTREACH INCLUDING COMMUNITY
VISITS, MEDIA INTERVIEWS AND MEETINGS WITH COMMUNITY LEADERS. THIS WORK

4b

{Code: ) (Expenses $ 1 ’ 636 ’ 269, including grants of $ 841 ' 654, } (Revenue$ 0. )
RESEARCH
CLEARWAY MINNESOTA PROVIDES GRANTS TO ACADEMIC, PROFESSIONAL AND
COMMUNITY-BASED ORGANIZATIONS AROUND THE STATE TO CONDUCT RESEARCH THAT
ADVANCES SCIENTIFIC KNOWLEDGE OF EFFECTIVE TOBACCO CONTROL PROGRAMS AND
POLICIES. DURING FISCAL YEAR 2016, CLEARWAY MINNESOTA AWARDED FIVE
RESEARCH GRANTS. THREE OF THE GRANTS WERE FOR PROJECTS ADVANCING
RESEARCH IN TOBACCO REGULATORY SCIENCE. OF THESE, ONE FOCUSES MENTHOL
REGULATION, ONE ON POINT-OF-SALE REGULATION, AND ONE ON REGULATIONS OF

COMMERCIAL TOBACCO MARKETING ON AMERICAN INDIAN TRIBAL RESERVATIONS.
CLEARWAY MINNESOTA AWARDED ONE DISSEMINATION GRANT TO DISTRIBUTE
FINDINGS ON INCORPORATING CULTURALLY RELEVANT, PROVEN CESSATION
PRACTICES INTO AMERICAN INDIAN HEALTH SETTINGS. FINALLY, ONE GRANT WAS

4c

(Code: )(Expanses$ 4,120,722- including grants of $ 1,715,6890 ) (Revenus$ 119,330- )
CESSATION
CLEARWAY MINNESOTA SERVES MINNESOTANS BY PROVIDING EVIDENCE-BASED OR
PROMISING PROGRAMS TO HELP PEOPLE QUIT TOBACCO USE. SINCE INCEPTION,
QUITPLAN SERVICES HAS HELPED MORE THAN 145,000 MINNESOTANS IN THEIR
ATTEMPTS TO QUIT.

CLEARWAY MINNESOTA ALSO HELPS DIRECT MINNESOTANS TO APPROPRIATE
CESSATION SERVICES, EITHER THROUGH QUITPLAN SERVICES OR THROUGH THEIR
HEALTH PLANS.

QUITPLAN SERVICES CONSISTS OF THE QUITPLAN HELPLINE AND INDIVIDUAL
QUITPLAN SERVICES. THE QUITPLAN HELPLINE PROVIDES TELEPHONE COUNSELING

4d

Other program services (Describe in Schedule O.)

(Expenses $ 7 2 2 ’ 322. including grants of $ 6 9 2 : 5 4 1. ) (Revenue $ 0 o)

4e

Total program service expenses p- 14,314 ,945.

532002
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Form 990 (2015) CLEARWAY MINNESOTA (SM) 41-1921094 page3
] Partiv. ] Checklist of Required Schedules
Yes | No
1 Is the organization described in section 501(c)(3) or 4947(a)(1) (other than a private foundation)?
IF7YeS," COMPIBIE SCREQUIR A || | | . oeoeoeeeeeeeoeeeeeeees oo e oo oo 11X
2 Is the organization required to complete Schedule B, Schedule of Contributorsp . . . 2 X
3 Did the organization engage in direct or indirect political campaign activities on behalf of or in opposition to candidates for
public office? If "Yes, " complete Schedule C, Part | ... 3 X
4 Section 501(c)(3) organizations. Did the organization engage in lobbying activities, or have a section 501(h) election in effect
during the tax year? /f "Yes," complete Schedule C, Part Il . e 4 | X
§ Is the organization a section 501(c)(), 501(c)(5), or 501(c}(6) organization that receives membership dues, assessments, or
similar amounts as defined in Revenue Procedure 98-19? /f "Yes, " complete Schedule C, Partill | . 5 X
6 Did the organization maintain any donor advised funds or any similar funds or accounts for which donors have the right to
provide advice on the distribution or investment of amounts in such funds or accounts? If "Yes," complete Schedule D, Part! | & X
7  Did the organization receive or hold a conservation easement, including easements to preserve open space,
the environment, historic land areas, or historic structures? /f "Yes,” complete Schedule D, Part i 7 X
8 Did the organization maintain collections of works of art, historical treasures, or other similar assets? /f "Yes, " complete
R 8 X
9 Did the organization report an amount in Part X, line 21, for escrow or custodial account liability, serve as a custodian for
amounts not listed in Part X; or provide credit counseling, debt management, credit repair, or debt negotiation services?
I *Yes, " complete Schedule D, Part IV e 9 X
10 Did the organization, directly or through a related organization, hold assets in temporarily restricted endowments, permanent
endowments, or quasi-endowments? /f "Yes," complete Schedule D, Part V. ...
11 If the organization's answer to any of the following questions is "Yes," then complete Schedule D, Parts VI, VII, VIll, X, or X
as applicable.
a Did the organization report an amount for land, buildings, and equipment in Part X, line 10? /f "Yes, " complete Schedule D,
PIEVE e bt b5ttt st sre s e eeeseerennn t1a| X
b Did the organization report an amount for investments - other securities in Part X, line 12 that is 5% or more of its total
assets reported in Part X, line 167 /f "Yes, " complete Schedule D, Part VIl | | . . . . oo 11 | X
¢ Did the organization report an amount for investments - program related in Part X, line 13 that is 5% or more of its total
assets reported in Part X, line 167 /f "Yes," complete Scheduie D, Part VIl | . ... 11c X
d Did the organization report an amount for other assets in Part X, line 15 that is 5% or more of its total assets reported in
Part X, line 162 If "Yes," complete Schedule D, Part IX .. . . . e 11d X
e Did the organization report an amount for other liabilities in Part X, line 2572 If "Yes,* complete Schedule D, PartX 11e X
f Did the organization’s separate or consolidated financial statements for the tax year include a footnote that addresses
the organization’s liability for uncertain tax positions under FIN 48 (ASC 740)? /f "Yes," complete Schedule D, Part X 11| X
12a Did the organization obtain separate, independent audited financial statements for the tax year? If *Yes, " complete
Schedule D, Parts X1 and Xl ..ot 12a) X
b Was the organization included in consolidated, independent audited financial statements for the tax year?
If "Yes," and if the organization answered "No" to line 12a, then completing Schedule D, Parts Xl and Xil is optional 12b X
13 Is the organization a school described in section 170(b)(1)(A)(i)? /f "Yes,” complete Schedule £~ 13 X
14a Did the organization maintain an office, employees, or agents outside of the United States? 14a X
b Did the organization have aggregate revenues or expenses of more than $10,000 from grantmaking, fundraising, business,
investment, and program service activities outside the United States, or aggregate foreign investments valued at $100,000
or more? /f "Yes, * complete Schedule F, Parts [and IV . ... 14b| X
15  Did the organization report on Part IX, column (A), line 3, more than $5,000 of grants or other assistance to or for any
foreign organization? If *Yes," complete Schedule F, Parts lland IV e, 15 X
16  Did the organization report on Part IX, column (A), line 3, more than $5,000 of aggregate grants or other assistance to
or for foreign individuals? /f *Yes, " complete Schedule F, Parts il and IV .. . 16 X
17  Did the organization report a total of more than $15,000 of expenses for professional fundraising services on Part IX,
column (A), lines 6 and 11e? /f "Yes," complete Schedule G, Part ... . 17 X
18  Did the organization report more than $15,000 total of fundraising event gross income and contributions on Part VI, lines
1cand 8a? If "Yes,” complete Schedule G, Part Il | e 18 X
19 Did the organization report more than $15,000 of gross income from gaming activities on Part Vi, line 9a? /f *Yes,"
complete Schedule G, Partlll .. ... 19 X
Form 990 (2015)
532003
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Part IV [ Checklist of Required Schedules (continued)

20a
b

21

22

23

24a

Did the organization operate one or more hospital facilities? /f "Yes," complete ScheduleH . . . .
If "Yes" to line 20a, did the organization attach a copy of its audited financial statements to thisretum?
Did the organization report more than $5,000 of grants or other assistance to any domestic organization or

domestic government on Part IX, column (A), ine 1? If "Yes," complete Schedule |, Partsland il
Did the organization report more than $5,000 of grants or other assistance to or for domestic individuals on

Part IX, column (A), line 27 If "Yes," complete Schedule |, Partsland Il ... e
Did the organization answer "Yes" to Part VII, Section A, line 3, 4, or 5 about compensation of the organization's current

and former officers, directors, trustees, key employees, and highest compensated emp!oyees?ylf "Yes, " complete

SCACTUIE U | ..ottt e eee oot es s ees e eee et se e s s
Did the organization have a tax-exempt bond issue with an outstanding principal amount of more than $100,000 as of the
last day of the yéar, that was issued after December 31, 20027 If "Yes, " answer lines 24b through 24d and complete
Y R .
Did the organization invest any proceeds of tax-exempt bonds beyond a temporary period exception?

¢ Did the organization maintain an escrow account other than a refunding escrow at any time during the year to defease

25a

27

28

BNY TaX-8XEMPT DONGAST | | it e a e e ettt
Did the organization act as an "on behalf of" issuer for bonds outstanding at any time duringtheyear? .
Section 501(c)(3}, 501(c){4), and 501(c)(29) organizations. Did the organization engage in an excess benefit

transaction with a disqualified person during the year? /f "Yes, " complete Schedule L, Part/ .
Is the organization aware that it engaged in an excess benefit transaction with a disqualified person in a prior year, and

that the transaction has not been reported on any of the organization’s prior Forms 990 or 990-EZ? /f "Yes, " complete
SCRAUIE L, PAMEI ||| \\\\\\\ o\ eee oo eeeee s eeee e e e
Did the organization report any amount on Part X line 5, 6, or 22 for receivables from or payables to any current or

former officers, directors, trustees, key employees, highest compensated employees, or disqualified persons? If "Yes,"
complete SChedule L, Part Il | || e
Did the organization provide a grant or other assistance to an officer, director, trustee, key employee, substantial

contributor or employee thereof, a grant selection committee member, or to a 35% controlled entity or family member

of any of these persons? If *Yes," complete Schedule L, Part Il | . .. ....o——
Was the organization a party to a business transaction with one of the following parties (see Schedule L., Part IV

instructions for applicable filing thresholds, conditions, and exceptions):

Yes | No
20a X
20b
21| X
220 1 X
23 | X
24a X
24b
24c
24d
25a X
25h X
26 X

a A current or former officer, director, trustee, or key employee? If "Yes," complete Schedule L, Part vV X
b A family member of a current or former officer, director, trustee, or key employee? /f “Yes," complete Schedule L, Part IV 28b X
¢ An entity of which a current or former officer, director, trustee, or key employee (or a family member thereof) was an officer,
director, trustee, or direct or indirect owner? /f "Yes," complete Schedule L, Part IV 28¢c X
29 Did the organization receive more than $25,000 in non-cash contributions? /f "Yes, " complete Schedule M 29 X
30 Did the organization receive contributions of art, historical treasures, or other similar assets, or qualified conservation
contributions? /f "Yes," complete Schedule M ..o 30 X
31 Did the organization liquidate, terminate, or dissolve and cease operations?
If *Yes,” complete SChedUle N, Partl | ||| ..o e s e 31 X
32 Did the organization sell, exchange, dispose of, or transfer more than 25% of its net assets?/f "Yes," complete
SCREAUIE N, Part Il || oo oo e ee s e e ee s eee e 32 X
33 Did the organization own 100% of an entity disregarded as separate from the organization under Regulations
sections 301.7701-2 and 301.7701-3? If "Yes,* complete Schedule R, Part | 33 X
34 Was the organization related to any tax-exempt or taxable entity? If "Yes," complete Schedule R, Part I, lli, or IV, and
PAIEV, 18 T .\ oo ee oo oo eeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeoeses e 34 X
35a Did the organization have a controlled entity within the meaning of section 5S12(0)(13)? . 135a X
b If "Yes" to line 35a, did the organization receive any payment from or engage in any transaction with a controlled entity
within the meaning of section 512(b)(13)? /f "Yes," complete Schedule R, Part V, line 2 35b
36 Section 501(c})(3) organizations. Did the organization make any transfers to an exempt non-charitable related organization?
If "Yes," complete Schedule R, Part V, € 2 . || ... 36 X
37 Did the organization conduct more than 5% of its activities through an enﬁty that is not a related organization
and that is treated as a partnership for federal income tax purposes? /f *Yes, " complete Schedule R, PartVI 37 X
38 Did the organization complete Schedule O and provide explanations in Schedule O for Part VI, lines 11b and 19?
Note. All Form 990 filers are required to complete Schedule O ... i ag | X
Form 990 (2015)
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Statements Regarding Other IRS Filings and Tax Compliance

Check if Schedule O contains a response or note to any line in this Part V

2a

Enter the number reported in Box 3 of Form 1096. Enter -0- ifnot applicable 1a
Enter the number of Forms W-2G included in line 1a. Enter -O- if not applicable . ... 1b
Did the organization comply with backup withholding rules for reportable payments to vendors and reportable gaming

{gambling) Winnings 10 Prize WINNEIS? ._............c.ccooiiirieitriieiie e et s e en s e seeseeeseenes oo
Enter the number of employees feported on Form W-3, Transmittal of Wage and Tax Statements,
filed for the calendar year ending with or within the year covered by this retumn 2a

b If at least one is reported on line 2a, did the organization file all required federal employment tax returns?
Note. If the sum of lines 1a and 2a is greater than 250, you may be required to e-file (see instructions)
3a Did the organization have unrelated business gross income of $1,000 or more during theyear?
b If "Yes," has it filed a Form 990-T for this year? /f "No," to line 3b, provide an explanation in Schedule O .
4a At any time during the calendar year, did the organization have an interest in, or a signature or other authority over, a
financial account in a foreign country (such as a bank account, securities account, or other financial account)? .
b If "Yes," enter the name of the foreign country: > SEE SCHEDULE O
See instructions for filing requirements for FINCEN Form 114, Report of Foreign Bank and Financial Accounts (FBAR).
5a Was the organization a party to a prohibited tax shelter transaction at any time during the taxyear? .
b Did any taxable party notify the organization that it was or is a party o a prohibited tax shelter transaction?
¢ If "Yes," to line 5a or 5b, did the organization file Form 8886-T?
6a Does the organization have annual gross receipts that are normally greater than $100,000, and did the organization solicit
any contributions that were not tax deductible as charitable contributions? 6a X
b If "Yes," did the organization include with every solicitation an express statement that such contributions or gifts
Cwere nOttax dedUCHIDIE? | | e
7 Organizations that may receive deductible contributions under section 170{c). . 1
a Did the organization receive a payment in excess of $75 made partly as a contribution and partly for goods and services provided to the payor? | 7a X
b If *Yes," did the organization notify the donor of the value of the goods or services provided? . 7b
¢ Did the organization sell, exchange, or otherwise dispose of tangible personal property for which it was required
B0 Mil FOMM B2B2? .ttt ettt oo et e et ettt er et nen e s et e et eereneeneen
d If "Yes," indicate the number of Forms 8282 filed during the year
e Did the organization receive any funds, directly or indirectly, to pay premiums on a personal benefit contract?
f Did the organization, during the year, pay premiums, directly or indirectly, on a personal benefit contract?
g [f the organization received a contribution of qualified intellectual property, did the organization file Form 8899 as required?
h If the organization received a contribution of cars, boats, airplanes, or other vehicles, did the organization file a Form 1098-C?
8 Sponsoring organizations maintaining donor advised funds. Did a donor advised fund maintained by the
sponsoring organization have excess business holdings at any time during theyear?
9 Sponsoring organizations maintaining donor advised funds.
a Did the sponsoring organization make any taxable distributions under section 49667
b Did the sponsoring organization make a distribution to a donor, donor advisor, or related person?
10 Section 501{c)(7) organizations. Enter:
a Initiation fees and capital contributions included on Part Vill, line 12 . . 10a
b Gross receipts, included on Form 990, Part Vill, line 12, for public use of club facilites 10b
11 Section 501(c){12) organizations. Enter:
a Gross income from members or shareholders | ... .. ... 11a
b Gross income from other sources (Do not net amounts due or paid to other sources against
amounts due or received oM TheM.) e e 11b
12a Section 4947(a)(1) non-exempt charitable trusts. Is the organization filing Form 990 in lieu of Form 10417
b If "Yes," enter the amount of tax-exempt interest received or accrued during theyear ................. 12b
13  Section 501(c)(29) qualified nonprofit health insurance issuers.
a Is the organization licensed to issue qualified heatth plans in more than one state? .
Note. See the instructions for additional information the organization must report on Schedule O.-
b Enter the amount of reserves the organization is required to maintain by the states in which the
organization is licensed to issue qualified healthplans .. . . U 13b
¢ Enterthe amount of reserves ONhand || . ... e e e 13¢c : 4o
14a Did the organization receive any payments for indoor tanning services during the taxyear? 14a X
b _If "Yes," has it filed a Form 720 to report these payments? /f "No, " provide an explanation in Schedule O ... 14b
Form 990 (2015)
532005
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Part VI | Governance, Management, and Disclosure For each "Yes" response to lines 2 through 7b below, and for a "No" response

to line 8a, 8b, or 10b below, describe the circumstances, processes, or changes in Schedule Q. See instructions.

Check if Schedule O contains a response ornoteto anylineinthis Part VI ..o

Section A. Governing Body and Management

1a Enter the number of voting members of the governing body at the end of the taxyear 1a

If there are material differences in voting rights among members of the governing body, or if the governing
body delegated broad authority to an executive committee or similar committee, explain in Schedule 0.

b Enter the number of voting members included in line 1a, above, who are independent ... . 1b
2 Did any officer, director, trustee, or key employee have a family relationship or a business relationship with any other ;
officer, director, trustee, or key empIOYER? || e 2

3 Did the organization delegate control over management duties customarily performed by or under the direct supervision

X
of officers, directors, or trustees, or key employees to a management company orotherperson? 3 X
4 Did the organization make any significant changes to its goveming documents since the prior Form 990 was filed? . 4 X
5 Did the organization become aware during the year of a significant diversion of the organization's assets? 5 X
6 Did the organization have members or StoGkNOIAErS? || || .. .. ... 6 X

7a Did the organization have members, stockholders, or other persons who had the power to elect or appoint one or
more members of the goveming body? | .. 7a X

b Are any govemance decisions of the organization reserved to {or subject to approval by) members, stockholders, or

persons other than the goveming DOGY? | | e 7b X

8  Did the organization contemporaneously document the meetings held or written actions undertaken during the year by the following:
@ The goveming DOUY? | ... ..ottt r s e

b Each committee with authority to act on behalf of the governing body? .

9 s there any officer, director, trustee, or key employee listed in Part Vil, Section A, who cannot be reached at the

organization’s mailing address? /f *Yes," provide the names and addressesin Schedule O ... ... . ... 9 X
Section B. Policies (This Section B requests information about policies not required by the Internal Revenue Code.)

. Yes | No

10a . Did the organization have local chapters, branches, or affiliates? 10a X

b If "Yes," did the organization have written policies and procedures governing the activities of such chapters, affiliates,

and branches to ensure their operations are consistent with the organization's exempt purposes? .
11a Has the organization provided a complete copy of this Form 990 to all members of its governing body before filing the form?
b Describe in Schedule O the process, if any, used by the organization to review this Form 990.
12a Did the organization have a written conflict of interest policy? If "No, " go to line 13

b Were officers, directors, or trustees, and key employees required to disclose annualy interests that could give rise to conflicts?

¢ Did the organization regularly and consistently monitor and enforce compliance with the policy? /f "Yes, " describe
in Schedule O how this was done 12¢

13 Did the organization have a written wWhisHeblower PONCY ?

14 Did the organization have a written document retention and destruction poliCY?
15 Did the process for determining compensation of the following persons include a review and approval by independent

persons, comparability data, and contemporaneous substantiation of the deliberation and decision? ;

a The organization's CEO, Executive Director, or top management official 15a ] X

b Other officers or key employees of the organization 156 | X

If "Yes" to line 15a or 156b, describe the process in Schedule O (see instructions).
16a Did the organization invest in, contribute assets to, or participate in a joint venture or similar arrangement with a
taxable entity dUNNG te YEar? e et s et ettt
b If "Yes," did the organization follow a written policy or procedure requiring the organization to evaluate its participation
in joint venture arrangements under applicable federal tax law, and take steps to safeguard the organization’s
exempt status with respect to such amrangements? . . i

Section C. Disclosure

17  List the states with which a copy of this Form 990 is required to be filed WMN , CA ,NY , VT ,MD

18 Section 6104 requires an organization to make its Forms 1023 (or 1024 if applicable), 990, and 990-T (Section 501(c)(3)s only) available
for public inspection. Indicate how you made these available. Check all that apply.
Own website L__.] Another's website Upon request D Other (explain in Schedule O)
19 Describe in Schedule O whether (and if so, how) the organization made its governing documents, conflict of interest policy, and financial
statements available to the public during the tax year.
20 State the.name, address, and telephone number of the person who possesses the organization’s books and records:

LANA KOPYLOV -~ 952-767-1400

8011 34TH AVE S, STE 400, MINNEAPOLIS, MN 55425

532006 12-16-15 Form 990 (2015)



Form 990 (2015) CLEARWAY MINNESOTA (SM) 41-1921094 Page 7.
]Part VII] Compensation of Officers, Directors, Trustees, Key Employees, Highest Compensated
Employees, and Independent Contractors
Check if Schedule O contains a response or note to anylineinthisPart VIt o

Section A. Officers, Directors, Trustees, Key Employees, and Highest Compensated Employees
1a Complete this table for all persons required to be listed. Report compensation for the calendar year ending with or within the organization’s tax year.
® List all of the organization’s current officers, directors, trustees (whether individuals or organizations), regardiess of amount of compensation.

Enter -0- in columns (D), (E), and (F) if no compensation was paid.
® List all of the organization's current key employees, if any. See instructions for definition of "key employee.” )
® List the organization’s five cufrent highest compensated employees (other than an officer, director, trustee, or key employee) who received report-
able compensation (Box 5 of Form W-2 and/or Box 7 of Form 1098-MISC) of more than $100,000 from the organization and any related organizations.
® List all of the organization’s former officers, key employees, and highest compensated employees who received more than $100,000 of
reportable compensation from the organization and any related organizations.
® List all of the organization’s former directors or trustees that received, in the capacity as a former director or trustee of the organization,
more than $10,000 of reportable compensation from the organization and any related organizations.
List persons in the following order: individual trustees or directors; institutional trustees; officers; key employees; highest compensated employees;
and former such persons.

D Check this box if neither the organization nor any related organization compensated any current officer, director, or trustee.

(A) (B) €) (D) (E) {F)
Name and Title Average | oo cf e‘c’ks'rf,'g?man one Reportable Reportable Estimated
hours per | box, unless person is both an compensation compensation amount of
week officer and a director/trustee) from from related other
(list any g the organizations compensation
hoursfor |3 = organization (W-2/1099-MISC) from the
related | £ § P (W-2/1099-MISC) organization
organizations| £ | 5 g g” and related
below § § 5 5 g;: 5 organizations
line) HEHEHESE
(1) TOM WEAVER 4.00 .
BOARD CHAIR (THRU SEPTEMBER'15) X X 0. 0. 0.
(2) JOY RIKALA,VICE CHAIR THRU 9/15 7.00
BOARD CHAIR (BEGINNING SEPT'15) X X 0. 0. 0.
(3) BOB BOERSCHEL 4.00
TREASURER X X 0. 0. 0.
(4) DANIEL JOHNSON "2.00
SECRETARY (BEGINNING SEPTEMBER'15) X X 0. 0. 0.
(5) VIVIAN JENKINS NELSEN K SECRETARY 3.00
(THRU 9/15) VICE CHAIR (BEG 9/15) X X 0. 0. 0.
(6) JOEL SWANSON 2.00
DIRECTOR X 0. 0. 0.
(7) ELLEN DENZEN 4.00
DIRECTOR X 0. 0. 0.
(8) KELLY DRUMMER 1.00
DIRECTOR X 0. 0. 0.
(9) RUSSEL KUZEL, MD 2.00
DIRECTOR (THRU MARCH'16) X 0. 0. 0.
(10) PAMELA LUX 2.00
DIRECTOR X 0. 0. 0.
(11) STEVEN MCWHIRTER 3.00
DIRECTOR X 0. 0. 0.
{12) HOWARD ORENSTEIN 1.00
DIRECTOR X 0. 0. 0.
(13) JENNY PETERSON 3.00
DIRECTOR (THRU SEPTEMBER'15) X 0. 0. 0.
(14) BRIAN SHORT 1.00
DIRECTOR X 0. 0. 0.
(15) JIM RHODES 4.00
DIRECTOR (TERU SEPTEMBER'15) X 0. 0. o.
(16) JANET KEYSSER 1.00
DIRECTOR X 0. 0. 0.
(17) KAREN KRAEMER 1.00
DIRECTOR (BEGINNING SEPTEMBER'15) X 0. 0. 0.

532007 12-16-15 Form 990 (2015)



Form 990 (2015) CLEARWAY MINNESOTA (SM) 41-1921094  page8
IP art vm Section A. Officers, Directors, Trustees, Key Employees, and Highest Compensated Employees (continued)
(A) (B) {c) (D) (E) {F)
Name and title Average (do ot cf egksfgg‘than one Reportable Reportable Estimated
hours per | box, unless person is both an compensation compensation amount of
week officer and a director/trustee) from from related other
(istany | s the organizations compensation
hoursfor | £ = organization (W-2/1099-MISC) from the
related | 3 | & 2 (W-2/1099-MISC) organization
organizations| 2 | = g g and related
below |[S18|_|2|88|, organizations
{18) LAURIE LAFONTAINE 1.00
DIRECTOR X 0. 0. 0.
(19) NEVADA LITTLEWOLF 1.00
. DIRECTOR (BEGINNING SEPTEMBER'15) X 0. 0. 0.
(20) HUGH NIERENGARTEN 1.00
DIRECTOR (BEGINNING SEPTEMBER'15) X 0. 0. 0.
(21) ANNE VARS 1.00
DIRECTOR X 0. 0. 0.
(22) DAVID J, WILLOUGHBY 40.00 ‘
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER X 159,754. 0. 46,771.
(23) STEVEN BADER 40.00
CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER X 126,386. 0.] 17,064.
(24) BARBARA SCHILLO 40.00
VICE PRESIDENT X 139,027. 0.] 40,341.
(25) ANDREA MOWERY 40.00
VICE PRESIDENT X 142,839. 0.] 34,312.
(26) JAIME MARTINEZ 40.00
DIRECTOR OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT X 123,559, 0.] 30,384.
b Subetotal > 691,565. 0./ 168,872,
¢ Total from continuation sheets to Part VI, SectionA > 225,617. 0. 62,851.
d Total(addlinestband 1¢) ... > 917,182, 0.] 231,723.

2 Total number of individuals (including but not limited to those listed above) who received more than $100,000 of reportable
compensation from the organization P

3 Did the organization list any former officer, director, or trustee, key employee, or highest compensated employee on
line 1a? If "Yes, " complete Schedule J for such individual

and related organizations greater than $150,0007? /f *Yes, " complete Schedule J for such individual

4 For any individual listed on line 1a, is the sum of reportable compensation and other compensation from the organization

5 Did any person listed on fine 1a receive or accrue compensation from any unrelated organization or individual for services

rendered to the organization? /f "Yes, " complete Schedule J for such person

Section B. Independent Contractors

1 Complete this table for your five highest compensated independent contractors that received more than $100,000 of compensation from
the organization. Report compensation for the calendar year ending with or within the organization’s tax year.

(A) (B} (C)
Name and business address Description of services Compensation
CLARITY COVERDALE FURY, INC., 120 SOUTH MEDIA BUY AND
SIXTH ST, STE 1300, MINNEAPOLIS, MN 55402 RADVERTISING SERVICES 6 ,094,249,
PROFESSIONAL DATA ANALYSTS, INC., 219 MAIN QUITPLAN AND MEDIA
STREET SE, STE 302, MINNEAPOLIS, MN 55414 [EVALUATION 254,594,
2  Total number of independent contractors {including but not limited to those listed above) who received more than
$100,000 of compensation from the organization p» 2 o : :
SEE PART VII, SECTION A CONTINUATION SHEETS Form 990 (2015)
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Form 990
lPart V"] Section A. _ Officers, Directors, Trustees, Key Employees, and Highest Compensated Employees (continued)
(A) (B) () (D) (E) {F)
Name and title Average Paosition Reportable Reportable Estimated
hours (check all that apply) compensation compensation amount of
per from from related other
" week g the organizations compensation
(list any g § organization {W-2/1098-MISC) from the
hoursfor |3 = (W-2/1099-MISC) organization
related |z |% B and related
organizations| £ | 5 gig organizations
below 2 Sl g § 5
fine) glglglz|2|s
(27) RAYMOND BOYLE 40.00
DIRECTOR OF RESEARCH PROGRAMS X 116,618. 0., 31,125.
(28) MARIETTA DREHER 40.00
DIRECTOR OF MARKETING & COMMUNICATIO X 108,999. 0.] 31,72s6.
Totalto Part VIl Section Aline1c oo 225,617. 62,851,

532201
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‘Part Vil |

Federated campaigns

revenue

revenue

CLEARWAY MINNESOTA (SM) 41-1921094 Page 9
Statement of Revenue
Check if Schedule O contains a response ornoteto any line inthis Part VIl .. ..oooiiiiiiiiiieieioeeeeeveeeesieeeecseseesanss
— — (0] B © )
Total revenue Related or Unrelated R%\’é’f’r‘l“tafx‘;{gded
exempt function business sectio%s er

512-514

298] 12
£ CampagNS ...
58 b Membership dues ...
A ¢ Fundraisingevents .. ... ...
< o
(R d Related organizations ... ... -
g uE) e Government grants (contributions) | 1e 119,330 l
.% 5 £ All other contributions, gifts, grants, and .
2 g similar amounts not included above i 24,4
'g-g g Noncash contributions included in lines 1a-1f: $
0a& h Total Addlinesta-1f ... o | 2
Business Code] =~
8 2a
.g . b
(] 5 c
£3| «
o f - All other program service revenue ...
g Total. Addlines2a2f ... >
3 Investment income (including dividends, interest, and
other similar amounts) ..., > 605,855, 605,855,
4  Income from investment of tax-exempt bond proceeds P
5 Royallies ... >
{i) Real (i) Personal
6a Grossrents ...
b Less:rental expenses ..
¢ Rental income or (foss) ...
d Netrentalincome or (I0SS) ..., »
7 a Gross amount from sales of (i) Securities (i) Other
assets other than inventory | 61,295,125,
b Less: cost or other basis
and sales expenses . 61,148,140,
¢ Gainor{loss) . 146,985, ] .
d Net gain of JOSS) ......o.oooeiveiieeeeeeeeeee e > 146,985, 146,985,
g | 8a Grossincome from fundraising events (not . .
£ including $ of
é contributions reported on line 1c). See
5 PartiV,line18 ... a
g b Less: direct expenses b
¢ Net income or (loss) from fundraising events  _.............. >
9 a Gross income from gaming activities. See
Part IV, line 19 X a
b Less: direct expenses b
¢ Net income or (loss) from gaming activities ... >
10 a Cross sales of inventory, less retumns
and allowances | ... a
b lLess:costofgoodssold ... b
¢ Net income or {loss) from sales of inventory _............... > — — —
Miscellaneous Revenue Business Code) - - e
14 a PTNRSHP UNRELATED BUSINESS INCOME | 900099 29,227, 29,2217,
b
c
d Allotherrevenue ] _
e Total. Addlines 11a-11d > 29,227, ~ , o .
42  Total revenue. See instructions. ..., » 901,421, 0. 29,227, 752,840,
532009 12-16-15 Form 990 (2015)
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CLEARWAY MINNESOTA (SM)

41-1921094 Page 10

Part IX | Statement of Functional Expenses
Section 501(c)(3) and 501(c)(4) organizations must complete all columns. All other organizations must complete column (A).

Check if Schedule O contains a response ornote to any ine inthis Part IX ...........oo.ooioiiiiiiiieoeeoeeeieeeeeeeeeereereeeeanesrsanean L]
Do not include amounts reported on lines 6b, Total e(;?[genses Progra(n?)service Managég)ent and Func(lg)ising
7b, 8b, 9b, and 10b of Part VIll. expenses eneral expenses expenses
1 Grants and other assistance to domestic organizations - .
and domestic governments. See Part IV fine 21 5,151,010. 5,151,010.}
2 Grants and other assistance to domestic -
individuals. See Part IV, line22 76,731. 76,7314
3 Grants and other assistance to foreign -
organizations, foreign governments, and foreign
individuals. See Part IV, lines 15and 16 .
4 Benefits paid to or formembers ...
5 Compensation of current officers, directors,
trustees, and key employees ... 389,166. 269,376. 119,790.
6 Compensation not included above, to disqualified
persons (as defined under section 4958(f)(1)) and
persons described in section 4958(c)(3)}B) .
7 Othersalariesandwages ... . 2,373,538, 1,640,412, 733,126.
8 Pension plan accruals and contributions (include
section 401(k) and 403(b) employer contributions) 331,940. 231,064, 100,876.
9 Otheremployeebenefits ... 231,798- 161,355- 70,443-
10 Payrolitaxes ... 205,853. 142,270. 63,583.
11 Fees for services (non-employees):
a Management | ... ...
bolegal . 59,956. 41,453. 18,503.
© ACCOUNtING .. .. .. 21,910. 15,149. 6,761.
d Lobbying ...
e Professional fundraising services. See Part IV, line 17 P
f Investment managementfees . ... ... 64,185.
g Other. (If line 11g amount exceeds 10% of line 25, .
column (A) amount, fist line 11g expenses on Sch 0.) 109,439. 75,666. 33,773.
12 Advertising and promotion .. .. .. ..
13 Office eXPeNSes. . ... .......ooooovvvorevererrrer.. 200,688. 170,314. 30,374.
14 Information technology | . .. . ...
15 Royalties
16 OCCUPANGY ...._....o.ococcooeoooeoeeeeeeeee e 134,694. 91,428. 43,266.
17 Travel ... 99,195. 85,719. 13,476.
18 Payments of travel or entertainment expenses
for any federal, state, or local public officials
19 Conferences, conventions, and meetings . 54,145. 44,513. 9,632.
20 iInferest
21 Paymentstoaffiiates | .. ...
22 Depreciation, depletion, and amortization 12,688. 8,489. 4,199.
23 Insurance . ... 18,382. 12,298. 6,084.
24  Other expenses. ltemize expenses not covered o = - -
above. (List miscellaneous expenses in line 24e. If line
24e amount exceeds 10% of line 25, column (A) = - 3 . b
amount, list line 24e expenses on Schedule 0.) .y - - ~
a PUBLIC EDUCATION/RELATI 5,769,457, 5,766,843, 2,614.
b EVALUATION FEES 282,751, 282,751.
¢ CONSULTANTS 59,716. 44,308, 15,408.
d OTHER EXPENSES 5,674. 3,796. 1,878.
e All other expenses
25  Total functional expenses. Add lines 1 through24e | 15,652,916.] 14,314,945, 1,337,971. 0.
26 Joint costs. Complete this line only if the organization
reported in column (B) joint costs from a combined
educational campaign and fundraising solicitation.
Check here Jp- D if following SOP 98-2 (ASC 958-720)
532010 12-16-15 Form 990 (2015)
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Form 990 (2015) 41-1921094 page 11
]Part X | Balance Sheet
Check if Schedule O contains a response or note to any INe N this Part X . ..o oo eeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeerseneesensenseennn
(A) (B)
Beginning of year End of year
1 Cash-NON-NtereStbeanng .................ccccccoooooooorooeoeeeeeeesses oo 18,485.] 1 19,158.
2 Savings and temporary cash investments 2
3 Pledges and grants receivable, Net .. ... ..., 96,334.] 3 10,793.
4 AcCOUNtS receivable, NBt | . ||| . ..o sceeeeeoeeos e, 3,080.] 4 2,275.
5 Loans and other receivables from current and former officers, directors, - .
trustees, key employees, and highest compensated employees. Complete
Partllof Schedule L | e,
6 Loans and other receivables from other disqualified persons (as defined under |
section 4958(f)(1)), persons described in section 4958(c)(3)(B), and contributing
employers and sponsoring organizations of section 501(c)(9) voluntary
% employees’ beneficiary organization; (see instr). Complete Partllof SchL 6
3 7 Notesand loans receivable, net | ... 7
< | 8 Inventoriesforsaleoruse ... ... 8
9 Prepaid expenses and deferred Charges . ... 50,090.] o 78,278.
10a Land, buildings, and equipment: cost or other . .
basis. Complete Part Vi of Schedule D 10a 388,120. ] =
b Less: accumulated depreciation ... 10b 345,562. 30,213, 42,558.
11 Investments - publicly traded SECURHES _...._.___.._..........c.coocooorsrooccccrrrrrn. 53,955,120.} 1| 41,314,068.
12 Investments - other securities. See Part IV, line 11 . ... 18,013,523.1 12 13,964,114.
13 Investments - program-related. See Part IV, line 11 13
14 Intangibleassets | .. ... 14
16 Otherassets. SeePartiV,line 11 15
16 _ Total assets. Add lines 1 through 15 (mustequalline34) ... 72,166,845.] 16 55,431, 244.
17 Accounts payable and acCrued eXPENSeS ... _.......c.cccccooorororeoccccrrrrr. 1,280,906.| 17 1,008,394.
18 Grantspayable e, 3,023,520.] 18 2,569,254.
19 Deferredrevenue . e
20 Tax-exemptbond labilities
21 Escrow or custodial account liability. Complete Part IV of Schedule D |
® |22 Loans and other payables to current and former officers, directors, trustees, |
= key employees, highest compensated employees, and disqualified persons. .
8 Complete Partll of Schedule L ... .. 22
= |23 Secured mortgages and notes payable to unrelated third parties . .. 23
24 Unsecured notes and loans payable to unrelated third parties ... 24
26 Other liabilities (including federal income tax, payables to related third
parties, and other liabilities not included on lines 17-24). Complete Part X of
Schedule D |t e 25
26 Total liabilities. Add lines 17 through25 . ... ... ... 4,304,426.] 26 3,577,648.
Organizations that follow SFAS 117 (ASC 958), check here > X and - -
a complete lines 27 through 29, and lines 33 and 34. - | -
S |27 Unrestricted netassets .. ... 67,862,419. 27| 51,853,596.
g 28 Temporarily restricted net assets 28
T 29 Permanently restricted netassets ... : 29
T Organizations that do not follow SFAS 117 (ASC 958), check here P -
& and complete lines 30 through 34. ‘ l
% |30 Capital stock or trust principal, of CUrrent funds ... _.._.._..........c.cccorrecoroccrrn 30
ﬁ 31 Paid-in or capital surplus, or land, building, or equipmentfund ... ... 31
% | 32 Retained earnings, endowment, accumulated income, or otherfunds . 32
Z |33 Total netassets or fund DABNCES .___.................coovrrosrroeeerereesoeersese oo 67,862,419./33| 51,853,596.
134 Totalliabilities and netassets/ffundbalances _................................ 72,166,845.] 34 55,431,244.
Form 990 (2015)
532011
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lPart Xl | Reconciliation of Net Assets

Check if Schedule O contains a response or noteto any line inthis Part Xl ... .

© 0O NG DA WN -

-k
o

Total revenue (must equal Part Vill, colurmn (A), line 12) 1 901,421.
Total expenses (must equal Part IX, column (4), line 25) 2 15,652 ,916.
Revenue less expenses. Subtract line 2fromlinet 3| <14,751,495.>
Net assets or fund balances at béginning of year (must equal Part X, line 83, column (&) 4 67,862 (419.
Net unrealized gains (losses) on investments 5 <1,257,328.>
Donated services and use of facilities ... 6

Investmentexpenses e 7

Prior period adjustments 8

Other changes in net assets or fund balances {explain in Schedule O} 9 0.
Net assets or fund balances at end of year. Combine lines 3 through 9 (must equal Part X, fine 33,

COMN B)) oo 10 51,853,596.

1

2a

3a

Accounting method used to prepare the Form 990: D Cash Accrual Gther

If the organization changed its method of accounting from a prior year or checked "Other," explain in Schedule O.
Were the organization’s financial statements compiled or reviewed by an independent accountant?
If “Yes," check a box below to indicate whether the financial statements for the year were compiled or reviewed on a
separate basis, consolidated basis, or both:

Separate basis ] Consolidated basis ] Both consolidated and separate basis

Were the organization's financial statements audited by an independent accountant?
If "Yes," check a box below to indicate whether the financial statements for the year were audited on a separate basis,
consolidated basis, or both:

Separate basis D Consolidated basis !:J Both consolidated and separate basis
If *Yes" to line 2a or 2b, does the organization have a committee that assumes responsibility for oversight of the audit,
review, or compilation of its financial statements and selection of an independent accountant?
If the organization changed either its oversight process or selection process during the tax year, explain in Schedule O.
As a result of a federal award, was the organization required to undergo an audit or audits as set forth in the Single Audit
Act and OMB Circular A-1337?

if “Yes," did the organization undergo the required audit or audits? If the organization did not undergo the required audit

or audits, explain why in Schedule O and describe any steps taken to undergo suchaudits ... .

: 3a X

...... 3b

532012

12-16-15
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OMB No. 1545-0047

Public Charity Status and Public Support B Y o ¥ 1 o~
Complete if the organization is a section 501(c){3) organization or a section 20 15
4947(a)({ 1) nonexempt charitable trust.

SCHEDULE A
{Form 990 or 990-EZ)

Department of the Treasury P Attach to Form 990 or Form 990-EZ. - Open toﬁuﬁlfé .

Intarnal Revenus Service P> Information about Schedule A {Form 890 or 990-E2) and its instructions is at WWW.irs.gov/form990. | .= Inspection

Name of the organization Employer identification number
CLEARWAY MINNESOTA (SM) 41-1921094

l Part § ] Reason for Public Charity Status (Al organizations must complete this part.) See instructions.

The organization is not a private foundation because it is: (For lines 1 through 11, check only one box.)

A church, convention of churches, or association of churches described in section 170(b){ 1}{A)i).

A school described in section 170{(b)(1){A)(ii). (Attach Schedule E (Form 990 or 990-EZ).)

A hospital or a cooperative hospital service organization described in section 170({b){ 1}{A)iii).

A medical research organization operated in conjunction with a hospital described in section 170(b}( 1)}(A)iii). Enter the hospital's name,

WM -

city, and state:
An organization operated for the benefit of a college or university owned or operated by a governmental unit described in
section 170{(b){1){A}{iv). (Complete Part I1.)
A federal, state, or local government or governmental unit described in section 170{b)(1)}{A}{v).
An organization that normally receives a substantial part of its support from a governmental unit or from the general public described in
section 170{b){1){A){vi). (Complete Part 1I.)
A community trust described in section 170(b){1){A)}{vi). (Complete Part il)
An organization that normally receives: (1) more than 33 1/3% of its support from contributions, membership fees, and gross receipts from
activities related to its exempt functions - subject to certain exceptions, and (2) no more than 33 1/3% of its support from gross investment
income and unrelated business taxable income (less section 511 tax) from businesses acquired by the organization after June 30, 1975.
See section 509(a){2). (Complete Part il1.)
An organization organized and operated exclusively to test for public safety. See section 509(a)(4).
An organization organized and operated exclusively for the benefit of, to perform the functions of, or to carry out the purposes of one or
more publicly supported organizations described in section 509(a){1) or section 509{a){2). See section 509(a)(3). Check the box in
lines 11a through 11d that describes the type of supporting organization and complete lines 11e, 11f, and 11g.
a EX:] Type . A supporting organization operated, supervised, or controlled by its supported organization(s), typically by giving
the supported organization(s) the power to regularly appoint or elect a majority of the directors or trustees of the supporting
organization. You must complete Part IV, Sections A and B.
I:l Type l. A supporting organization supervised or controlled in connection with its supported organization(s), by having
control or management of the supporting organization vested in the same persons that control or manage the supported
organization(s). You must complete Part IV, Sections A and C.
c [:} Type lll functionally integrated. A supporting organization operated in connection with, and functionally integrated with,

]

3]

0 00 O

10
11

(]

its supported organization(s) (see instructions). You must complete Part IV, Sections A, D,andE.

Type Il non-functionally integrated. A supporting organization operated in connection with its supported organization(s)

that is not functionally integrated. The organization generally must satisfy a distribution requirement and an attentiveness

requirement (see instructions). You must complete Part IV, Sections A and D, and Part V.

e D Check this box if the organization received a written determination from the IRS that it is a Type |, Type lI, Type Hi
functionally integrated, or Type IIl non-functionally integrated supporting organization.

d

f Enter the number of supported organizations ... | 1 ]
g Provide the following information about the supported organization(s).
(i) Name of supported {ii) EIN {iii) Type of organization Kiv) Is the organization| (v) Amount of monetary {vi} Amount of
organization (described on lines 1-9 fisted in your ” support (see other support (see
above (see instruction)) {geverning document? instructions) instructions)
Yes No

SEE SCHEDULE A, PART VI, 6 X SEE SCHEDULE A, PART VI,
SUPPLEMENTAIL INFORMATION SUPPLEMENTAIL INFORMATION

Total - _ ll . 0. 0.

LHA For Paperwork Reduction Act Notice, see the Instructions for Schedule A (Form 990 or 990-EZ) 2015
Form 990 or 990-EZ. 532021 09-23-15




41-1921094 page2

orm 990 or 990-
upport Schedule for
(Complete only if you checked the box on line 5, 7, or 8 of Part | or if the organization failed to qualify under Part Ili. if the organization
fails to qualify under the tests listed below, please complete Part lil.}

Section A. Public Support
Calendar year (or fiscal year beginning in) > (a) 2011 {b) 2012 {c) 2013 (d) 2014 (e) 2015 {f) Total
1 Gifts, grants, contributions, and
membership fees received. (Do not
include any "unusual grants.")
2 Tax revenues levied for the organ-
ization's benefit and either paid to
orexpended onitsbehalf
3 The value of services or facilities
furnished by a governmental unit to
the organization without charge
4 Total. Add lines 1 through 3
5 The portion of total contributions
by each person (other than a
governmental unit or publicly
supported organization) included
on line 1 that exceeds 2% of the
amount shown on line 11,
column (f)
Public support. Subtract line 5 from lined. |
Section B. Total Support
Calendar year (or fiscal year beginning in) (a) 2011 {b) 2012 {c) 2013 {d) 2014 {e} 2015 {f) Total
7 Amountsfromlned '
8 Gross income from interest,
dividends, payments received on
securities loans, rents, royalties
and income from similar sources ___
9 Net income from unrelated business
activities, whether or not the
business is regularly carried on
10 Other income. Do not include gain
or loss from the sale of capital
assets (Explainin Part V1) . ...
11 Total support. Add lines 7 through 10 | . .
12 Gross receipts from related activities, etc. (see instructions)
13 First five years. If the Form 990 is for the organization's first, second, third, fourth, or fifth tax year as a section 501(c)(3)

Schedule A (F

organization, Check this boxX and StoP Rere oo » D
Section C. Computation of Public Support Percentage
14 Public suppott percentage for 2015 (line 6, column (f) divided by line 11, column () ... 14 %
15 Public support percentage from 2014 Schedule A, Partll, fine 14 . 15 %
16a 33 1/3% support test - 2015, If the organization did not check the box on line 13, and line 14 is 33 1/3% or more, check this box and

stop here. The organization qualifies as a publicly supported organization ... 0

b 33 1/3% support test - 2014. If the organization did not check a box on line 13 or 16a, and line 15 is 33 1/3% or more, check this box
and stop here. The organization qualifies as a publicly supported organization ...
17a 10% -facts-and-circumstances test - 2015. If the organization did not check a box on line 13, 163, or 16b, and line 14 is 10% or more,
and if the organization meets the "facts-and-circumstances" test, check this box and stop here. Explain in Part VI how the organization

meets the "facts-and-circumstances" test. The organization qualifies as a publicly supported organization . ... .. . . ... »
b 10% -facts-and-circumstances test - 2014. If the organization did not check a box on line 13, 16a, 16b, or 173, and line 15 is 10% or
more, and if the organization meets the “facts-and-circumstances" test, check this box and stop here. Explain in Part VI how the
organization meets the "facts-and-circumstances" test. The organization qualifies as a publicly supported organization . ... » ]
18 Private foundation. If the organization did not check a box on line 13, 163, 16b, 17a or 17b, check this box and see instructions ... » [:]

Schedule A {Form 990 or 990-EZ) 2015

532022
09-23-15



Schedule A (Form 990 or 990-£2) 2015 CLEARWAY MINNESOTA (SM) 41-1921094 pages
- %upport §cﬁe%ule for Organizations Described in Section 509(a)(2)
(Complete only if you checked the box on line 9 of Part | or if the organization failed to qualify under Part Ii. If the organization fails to
: gualify under the tests listed below, please complete Part Il.}
Section A. Public Support
Calendar year (or fiscal year beginning in) p» {a) 2011 (b} 2012 {c) 2013 (d) 2014 {e) 2015 {f) Total
1 Gifts, grants, contributions, and
membership fees received. (Do not
include any "unusual grants.”)

2 Gross receipts from admissions,
merchandise sold or services per-
formed, or facilities furnished in
any activity that is related to the
organization’s tax-exempt purpose

3 Gross receipts from activities that
are not an unrelated trade or bus-
iness under section513

4 Tax revenues levied for the organ-
ization’s benefit and either paid to
orexpended on its behalf

5 The value of services or facilities
furnished by a governmental unit to
the organization without charge

6 Total. Add lines 1 through5 ..

7a Amounts inciuded on lines 1, 2, and

3 received from disqualified persons

b Amounts included on lines 2 and 3 received
from other than disqualified persons that
exceed the greater of $5,000 or 1% of the
amount on line 13 for the year

¢ Add lines 7aand 7b

_.8_Public support: (s igiin Jofon ine6) S
Section B. Total Support
Calendar year (or fiscal year beginning in) > {a) 2011 {b) 2012 {c) 2013 (d) 2014 (e) 2015 (f) Total

9 Amounts fromline86 ...
10a Gross income from interest,
dividends, payments received on
securities loans, rents, royalties
and income from similar sources
b Unrelated business taxable income
(less section 511 taxes) from businesses

acquired after June 30, 1975
cAddlines10aand10b . ...
11 Net income from unrelated business
activities not included in line 10b,
whether or not the business is
regularly cariedon . .
12 Other income. Do not include gain
or loss from the sale of capital
assets (Explain in Part VI.) «...oooceeee
13 Total support. (add lines 9, 10c, 11, and 12}

14 First five years. If the Form 990 is for the organization’s first, second, third, fourth, or fifth tax year as a section 501(c)(3) organization,

check this DOX and STOP NEre ... »
Section C. Computation of Public Support Percentage
15 Public support percentage for 2015 (line 8, column (f) divided by line 13, column () ... ... 15 %
16 Public support percentage from 2014 Schedule A, Part b line 15 oo 16 %
Section D. Computation of Investment Income Percentage
17 Investment income percentage for 2015 (line 10c, column (f) divided by line 13, column (f) 17 %
18 Investment income percentage from 2014 Schedule A, Part Il ine 17 e, 18 %
19a 33 1/3% support tests - 2015. If the organization did not check the box on line 14, and line 15 is more than 33 1/3%, and line 17 is not

more than 33 1/3%, check this box and stop here. The organization qualifies as a publicly supported organization ... ... >

b 33 1/3% support tests - 2014, If the organization did not check a box on line 14 or line 193, and line 16 is more than 33 1/3%, and
line 18 is not more than 33 1/3%), check this box and stop here. The organization qualifies as a publicly supported organization | . .

20 Private foundation. If the organization did not check a box on fine 14, 19a, or 19b, check this box and see instructions . ... »
532023 09-23-15 Schedule A (Form 990 or 990-EZ) 2015




Schedule A (Form 990 or 990-E7) 2015 CLEARWAY MINNESOTA (SM)

41-1921094 pages

[Part IV | Supporting Organizations
{Complete only if yoﬁ checked a box in line 11 on Part I. If you checked 11a of Part |, complete Sections A
and B. If you checked 11b of Part |, complete Sections A and C. If you checked 11c¢ of Part [, complete
Sections A, D, and E. If you checked 11d of Part |, complete Sections A and D, and complete Part V.)

Section A. All Supporting Organizations

1 Are all of the organization’s supported organizations listed by name in the organization’s goveming
documents? /f "No" describe in Part VI how the supported organizations are designated. If designated by
class or purpose, describe the designation. If historic and continuing relationship, explain.

2 Did the organization have any supported organization that does not have an IRS determination of status

under section 509(a)(1) or (2)? /f "Yes," explain in Part VI how the organization determined that the supported

organization was described in section 509(a)(1) or (2).

Did the organization have a supported organization described in section 501(c)(4), (), or (6)? If "Yes," answer

(b) and (c) below. '

b Did the organization confirm that each supported organization qualified under section 501(c)(4), (5), or (6) and
satisfied the public support tests under section 509(a)(2)? /f "Yes, " describe in Part VI when and how the
organization made the determination.

¢ Did the organization ensure that all support to such organizations was used exclusively for section 170(c)(2)(B)

purposes? /f "Yes, " explain in Part VI what controls the organization put in place to ensure such use.

Was any supported organiza{ion not organized in the United States (“foreign supported organization”)? /f

"Yes," and if you checked 11a or 11b in Part I, answer (b) and (c) below.

b Did the organization have ultimate control and discretion in deciding whether to make grants to the foreign
supported organization? If "Yes," describe in Part VI how the organization had such control and discretion
despite being controlled or supervised by or in connection with its supported organizations.

¢ Did the organization support any foreign supported organization that does not have an IRS determination

under sections 501(c)(3) and 509(a)(1) or (2)? If "Yes," explain in Part VI what controls the organization used

to ensure that all support to the foreign supported organization was used exclusively for section 170(c)(2)(B)
purposes.

Did the organization add, substitute, or remove any supported organizations during the tax year? /f "Yes,"

answer (b) and (c) below (if applicable). Also, provide detail in Part Vi, including (i) the names and EIN

numbers of the supported organizations added, substituted, or removed; (i} the reasons for each such action;

(iii) the authority under the organization’s organizing document authorizing such action; and (iv) how the action

was accomplished (such as by amendment to the organizing document).

b Type | or Type Il only, Was any added or substituted supported organization part of a class already
designated in the organization's organizing document?
¢ Substitutions only. Was the substitution the result of an event beyond the organization’s control?

6 Did the organization provide support (whether in the form of grants or the provision of services or facilities) to
anyone other than (j) its supported organizations, (if) individuals that are part of the charitable class
benefited by one or more of its supported organizations, or (iii) other supporting organizations that also
support or benefit one or more of the filing organization's supported organizations? /f "Yes, " provide detail in
Part VI.

7 Did the organization provide a grant, loan, compensation, or other similar payment to a substantial contributor
(defined in section 4958(c)(3)(C)), a family member of a substantial contributor, or a 35% controlled entity with
regard to a substantial contributor? /f “Yes," complete Part | of Schedule L (Form 990.or 990-EZ).

8 Did the organization make a loan to a disqualified person (as defined in section 4958) not described in line 77

If "Yes," complete Part | of Schedule L (Form 990 or 990-E2Z).

Was the organization controlied directly or indirectly at any time during the tax year by one or more

disqualified persons as defined in section 4946 (other than foundation managers and organizations described

in section 509(a)(1) or (2))? If "Yes," provide detail in Part VI,

b Did one or more disqualified persons (as defined in line 9a) hold a controlling interest in any entity in which
the supporting organization had an interest? If "Yes, " provide detail in Part VI.

¢ Did a disqualified person (as defined in line 9a) have an ownership interest in, or derive any personal benefit

from, assets in which the supporting organization also had an interest? /f "Yes, " provide detail in Part VI.

Was the organization subject to the excess business holdings rules of section 4943 because of section

4943(f) (regarding certain Type Il supporting organizations, and all Type Hl nonfunctionally integrated

supporting organizations)? /f "Yes," answer 10b below.

b Did the organization have any excess business holdings in the tax year? (Use Schedule C, Form 4720, to
determine whether the organization had excess business holdings.)

3a

4a

5a

9a

10a

532024 09-23-15
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Schedule A (Form 990 or 990-£2) 2015 CLEARWAY MINNESOTA (SM)
] Eal‘t V] Supporting Organizations ;onfinged)

11

Has the organization accepted a gift or contribution fr%m any of the following persons?
a A person who directly or indirectly controls, either alone or together with persons described in (b) and (c)
below, the governing body of a supported organization?
b A family member of a person described in (a) above?
¢ A35% controlled entity of a person described in (a) or (b) above?/f *Yes® fo g, b, or ¢, provide detail in Part V1.
Section B. Type | Supporting Organizations

1 Did the directors, trustees, or membership of one or more supported organizations have the power to
regularly appoint or elect at least a majority of the organization's directors or trustees at all times during the
tax year? If "No," describe in Part VI how the supported organization(s) effectively operated, supervised, or
controlled the organization's activities. If the organization had more than one supported organization,
describe how the powers to appoint and/or remove directors or trustees were allocated among the supported
organizations and what conditions or restrictions, if any, applied to such powers during the tax year.

2  Did the organization operate for the benefit of any supported organization other than the supported
organization(s) that operated, supervised, or controlled the supporting organization? /f "Yes, " explain in
Part VI how providing such benefit carried out the purposes of the supported organization(s) that operated,
supervised, or controlled the supporting organization.

Section C. Type Il Supporting Organizations

1 Were a majority of the organization's directors or trustees during the tax year also a majority of the directors
or trustees of each of the organization’s supported organization(s)? /f "No, " describe in Part VI how control
or management of the supporting organization was vested in the same persons that controlled or managed
the supported organization(s).

Section D. All Type lll Supporting Organizations

1 Did the organization provide to each of its supported organizations, by the last day of the fifth month of the
organization’s tax year, (i) a written notice describing the type and amount of support provided during the prior tax
year, (ii) a copy of the Form 990 that was most recently filed as of the date of notification, and (iii) copies of the
organization’s goveming documents in effect on the date of notification, to the extent not previously provided?

2 Were any of the organization’s officers, directors, or trustees either (i) appointed or elected by the supported
organization(s) or (ij) serving on the goveming body of a supported organization? If "No, " explain in Part VI how
the organization maintained a close and continuous working relationship with the supported organization(s).

3 By reason of the relationship described in (2), did the organization’s supported organizations have a
significant voice in the organization’s investment policies and in directing the use of the organization's
income or assets at all times during the tax year? /f *Yes," describe in Part VI the role the organization's
supported organizations played in this regard.

Section E. Type Il Functionally-integrated Supporting Organizations

1
a
b
c

2
a

Check the box next to the method that the organization used to satisfy the Integral Part Test during the yeafsee instructions):
The organization satisfied the Activities Test. Complete line 2 below.
The organization is the parent of each of its supported organizations. Complete line 3 below.
The organization supported a govemmental entity. Describe in Part VI how you supported a government entity (see instructions).
Activities Test. Answer (a) and (b) below.
Did substantially alf of the organization’s activities during the tax year directly further the exempt purposes of
the supported organization(s) to which the organization was responsive? /f "Yes," then in Part VI identify
those supported organizations and explain  how these activities directly furthered their exempt purposes,
how the organization was responsive to those supported organizations, and how the organization determined
that these activities constituted substantially all of its activities.
Did the activities described in (a) constitute activities that, but for the organization’s involvement, one or more
of the organization’s supported organization(s) would have been engaged in? /f "Yes, " explain in Part VI the
reasons for the organization's position that its supported organization(s) would have engaged in these
activities but for the organization's involvement.
Parent of Supported Organizations. Answer (a) and (b) below.
Did the organization have the power to regularly appoint or elect a majority of the officers, directors, or
trustees of each of the supported organizations? Provide details in Part VI.
Did the organization exercise a substantial degree of direction over the policies, programs, and activities of each
of its supported organizations? If "Yes " describe in Part VI the role played by the organization in this regard.

532025 08-23-15
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Schedule A (Form 990 or 990-£7) 2015 CLEARWAY MINNESOTA (SM)
[Part V | Type lil Non-Functionally Integrated 509(a)(3) Supporting Organizations
1 LI Check hereif the organization satisfied the Integral Part Test as a qualifying trust on Nov. 20, 1970. See instructions. All
other Type Ill non-functionally integrated supporting organizations must complete Sections A through E.

41-1921094 pages.

B)C t Yea
Section A - Adjusted Net income (A) Prior Year ® (o‘:;trii?\abe '

Net short-term capital gain

Recoveries of prior-year distributions

Other gross income (see instructions)

Add lines 1 through 3

Depreciation and depletion

Portion of operating expenses paid or incurred for production or
collection of gross income or for management, conservation, or
maintenance of property held for production of income (see instructions)
7 Other expenses (see instructions) 7
8 Adjusted Net Income (subtract lines 5, 6 and 7 from line 4) 8

G b (O -

O[O |h [N [

[+ 2]

B tY
~ Section B - Minimum Asset Amount {A) Prior Year ® g;rtrieorr:al) o

1 Aggregate fair market value of all non-exempt-use assets (see
instructions for short tax year or assets held for part of year):
Average mbnthly value of securities

Average monthly cash balances

Fair market value of other non-exempt-use assets

Total (add lines 1a, 1b, and 1c)

Discount claimed for blockage or other

factors (explain in detail in Part VI):

2 Acquisition indebtedness applicable to non-exempt-use assets

oo |0 (T

3 Subtract line 2 from line 1d

4 Cash deemed held for exempt use. Enter 1-1/2% of line 3 (for greater amount,
see instructions).

5 Net value of non-exempt-use assets (subtract line 4 from line 3)

6 Multiply line 5 by .035

7 . Recoveries of prior-year distributions

8 Minimum Asset Amount (add line 7 to line )

Section C - Distributable Amount Current Year

Adijusted net income for prior year (from Section A, line 8, Column A)
Enter 85% of line 1

Minimum asset amount for prior year (from Section B, line 8, Column A)
Enter greater of line 2 or line 3

Income tax imposed in prior year

Distributable Amount. Subtract line 5 from line 4, unless subject to
emergency temporary reduction (see instructions) . . .
7 LI Check here if the current year is the organization’s first as a non-functionally-integrated Type i suppomng organlzatlon (see
instructions).

DA (W IN -

Scheduie A {(Form 990 or 890-EZ) 2015
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Schedule A (Form 990 or 990-£7) 2015 CLEARWAY MINNESOTA (SM)
[Part V | Type lll Non-Functionally Integrated 509(a)(3) Supporting Organizations (oniinyed)
Section D - Distributions Current Year

1 Amounts paid to supported organizations to accomplish exempt purposes

2 Amounts paid to perform activity that directly furthers exempt purposes of supported
organizations, in excess of income from activity
Administrative expenses paid to accomplish exempt purposes of supported organizations
Amounts paid to acquire exempt-use assets
Qualified set-aside amounts (prior IRS approval required)
Other distributions (describe in Part VI). See instructions.
Total annual distributions. Add lines 1 through 6.
Distributions to attentive supported organizations to which the organization is responsive
{provide details in Part V1). See instructions.

9 Distributable amount for 2015 from Section G, line 6

10 Line 8 amount divided by Line 9 amount

41-1921094 page7

BRI RIGREN 7

0] (i) (iii)
Excess Distributions Underdistributions Distributable
Section E - Distribution Allocations (see instructions) X Stribud Pre-2015 Amount for 2015

1 Distributable amount for 2015 from Section C, line 6

2 Underdistributions, if any, for years prior to 2015
(reasonable cause required-see instructions)

3 Excess distributions carryover, if any, to 2015:

From 2013

From 2014

Total of lines 3a through e

Applied to underdistributions of prior years

Applied to 2015 distributable amount

Carryover from 2010 not applied (see instructions)
i Remainder. Subtract lines 3g, 3h, and 3i from 31.

4  Distributions for 2015 from Section D,

line 7: $
a Applied to underdistributions of prior years
b Applied to 2015 distributable amount
¢ Remainder. Subtract lines 4a and 4b from 4.

5 Remaining underdistributions for years prior to 2015, if
any. Subtract lines 3g and 4a from line 2 (if amount
greater than zero, see instructions).

6 Remaining underdistributions for 2015. Subtract lines 3h
and 4b from line 1 (if amount greater than zero, see
instructions).

7 Excess distributions carryover to 2016. Add lines 3j
and 4c.

8 Breakdown of fine 7:

——-———---——-————---—-a —————

b L .
¢ Excess from 2013
d Excess from 2014
e Excess from 2015

TR T 00 T W

Schedule A (Form 890 or 990-EZ) 2015
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Schedule A (Form 990 or 990-£7) 2015 CLEARWAY MINNESOTA (SM) 41-1921094 pages

Jart Supplemental Information. Provide the explanations required by Part I}, line 10; Part Il, line 17a or 17b; Part Ill, line 12;
Part IV, Section A, lines 1, 2, 3b, 3¢, 4b, 4c, 52, 6, 9a, 9b, 9¢, 11a, 11b, and 11c; Part IV, Section B, lines 1 and 2; Part IV, Section C,
line 1; Part 1V, Section D, lines 2 and 3; Part IV, Section E, lines 1c, 2a, 2b, 3a and 3b; Part V, line 1; Part V, Section B, line 1e; Part V,
Section D, lines 5, 8, and 8; and Part V, Section E, lines 2, 5, and 6. Also complete this part for any additional information.
(See instructions.)

PART I, LINE 11G

(I) & (II) STATE OF MINNESOTA THROUGH THE SECOND JUDICIAL DISTRICT

COURT. CLEARWAY MINNESOTA (SM) WAS CREATED BY (AND REMAINS SUBJECT TO

THE AUTHORITY OF) THE STATE OF MINNESOTA'S JUDICIAL BRANCH, HAVING BEEN

FORMED BY ORDER OF THE STATE'S SECOND JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT TO

RECEIVE AND ADMINISTER FUNDS WON BY THE STATE OF MINNESOTA IN THE

STATE'S SUCCESSFUL LAWSUIT AGAINST A CONGLOMERATE OF TOBACCO COMPANiES

FOR REMEDIES AND RELIEF FROM INJURIES TO THE HEALTH AND WELFARE OF THE

PEOPLE OF THE STATE. FROM INCEPTION THE ORGANIZATION'S GOVERNANCE

STRUCTURE HAS BEEN UNDER CONTROL OF THAT COURT, AND THE ORGANIZATION'S

BOARD IS COMPRISED IN PART OF APPOINTEES WHO SERVE AT THE PLEASURE OF

THE STATE'S LEGISLATURE AND EXECUTIVE BRANCHES.

(IV) AS EXPLAINED IN CLEARWAY MINNESOTA (SM)'S EXEMPTION APPLICATION,

THERE IS NO SPECIFIC NAMING OF A "SUPPORTED" ORGANIZATION IN THE

ARTICLES OF INCORPORATION, BUT THE ARTICLES WERE PART OF THE COURT'S

ORDER WHICH ITSELF BOTH CREATES THE ORGANIZATION WITH PURPOSES AND

GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE FURTHERING THE STATE'S NEEDS AS MANDATED BY THE

COURT ORDER.

(V) & (VI) 100% OF EXPENDITURES AS MANDATED BY TERMS OF THE

ORGANIZATION'S FORMATION BY THE COURT AND ORGANIZATIONAL DOCUMENTS.

(SEE EXPLANATION OF RELATIONSHIP TO THE STATE OF MINNESOTA IN (I) AND

(II) ABOVE.)

PART IV, SECTION A, LINE 6

HISTORICALLY, AND IN LINE WITH REPORTING OBLIGATIONS TO THE STATE'S
532028 09-23-15 Schedule A {Form 990 or 990-EZ) 2015




Schedule A (Form 990 or 990-E7) 2015 CLEARWAY MINNESOTA (SM) 41-1921094 Page 8
w Supplemental Information. Provide the explanations required by Part I, line 10; Part II, ine 17a or 17b; Part Il line 12;
Part 1V, Section A, lines 1, 2, 3b, 3c, 4b, 4c¢, 5a, 6, 9a, 9b, 9¢, 11a, 11b, and 11c; Part IV, Section B, lines 1 and 2; Part IV, Section C,
line 1; Part IV, Section D, lines 2 and 3; Part IV, Section E, lines 1c, 2a, 2b, 3a and 3b; PartV, line 1; Part V, Section B, line 1e; Part V,
Section D, lines 5, 6, and 8; and Part V, Section E, lines 2, 5, and 6. Also complete this part for any additional information.

(See instructions.)

COURTS AND OFFICIALS, CLEARWAY MINNESOTA HAS REPORTED PAYMENTS TO

ORGANIZATIONS ISSUED UNDER RFPS, AND SOME PAYMENTS TO INDIVIDUALS

PROVIDED UNDER RFPS, AS "GRANTS," IN LARGE PART TO ENSURE SYNCHRONICITY

WITH THE EXPANDED REPORTING ON SUCH "GRANTS" EFFECTED UPON SCHEDULE I

AND REPORTING TO THE STATE'S COURT CLEARWAY MINNESOTA MAKES ON AN

ANNUAL BASIS. HOWEVER, THE CHARACTERIZATION OF THE RECIPIENTS AS

GRANTEES RATHER THAN AS PROVIDERS OF SERVICES IN LINE WITH THE "GRANT"

PROGRAMS' RFPS HAS ALWAYS BEEN AN ISSUE IN PREPARATION OF FORM 990'S

PART IX STATEMENT OF FUNCTIONAL EXPENSES, AS THE EXPENDITURES COULD BE

REPORTED UPON LINE 11 RATHER THAN LINE 1 (IN THE CASE OF "GRANT"

AGREEMENTS WITH ORGANIZATIONS) OR LINE 2 (IN THE CASE OF "GRANT"

AGREEMENTS WITH INDIVIDUALS), AND THE EXPANDED REPORTING UPON SAME IN

SCHEDULE I). ACCORDINGLY, THE "YES" ANSWER AT PART IV SECTION A LINE 6

IS NOT INDICATIVE OF A VIOLATION OF REG. 1.509(A)-4(I)(2), AS CLEARWAY

MINNESOTA RECOGNIZES THAT AS A SUPPORTING ORGANIZATION IT MUST ENGAGE

SOLELY IN ACTIVITIES THAT SUPPORT OR BENEFIT ITS SUPPORTED ORGANIZATION

AND NOT DEVIATE FROM THIS REQUIREMENT, WHICH PER THE CITED REGULATIONS

IN GENERAL MEANS THAT SUPPORTING ORGANIZATIONS ARE ALLOWED TO:

- MAKE GRANTS DIRECTLY TO SUPPORTED ORGANIZATIONS;

- PROVIDE SERVICES AND FACILITIES DIRECTLY TO ITS SUPPORTED

ORGANIZATIONS;

‘-~ MAKE GRANTS OR PROVIDE SERVICES OR FACILITIES TO EITHER INDIVIDUAL

MEMBERS OF THE CHARITABLE CLASS BENEFITED BY ITS SUPPORTED ORGANIZATION

OR OTHER SUPPORTING ORGANIZATIONS THAT ALSO SUPPORT OR BENEFIT ITS

SUPPORTED ORGANIZATION.

532028 09-23-15 ) ‘ Schedule A (Form 990 or 990-EZ) 2015



Schedule A (Form 990 or 990-E7) 2015 CLEARWAY MINNESOTA (SM) 41-1921094 pages

l Part Vi I Supplemental Information. Provide the explanations required by Part I, line 10; Part i1, line 17a or 17b; Part Ill, line 12;
Part 1V, Section A, lines 1, 2, 3b, 3¢, 4b, 4c, 5a, 6, 9a, 9b, 9¢, 11a, 11b, and 11c; Part IV, Section B, fines 1 and 2; Part IV, Section C,

line 1; Part IV, Section D, lines 2 and 3; Part IV, Section E, lines 1c, 2a, 2b, 3a and 3b; Part V, line 1; Part V, Section B, line 1e; Part V,
Section D, lines 5, 6, and 8; and Part V, Section E, lines 2, 5, and 6. Also complete this part for any additional information.
(See instructions.)

CLEARWAY MINNESOTA'S OPERATION OF RFP'S TO EFFECT THE "GRANTS" PROGRAMS

EFFECTUATED IN THE SPECIFIC PROGRAM ARENAS NOTED IN THIS FORM'S PART

III LINES 4A-4D (AND FULLY DISCUSSED IN FLOW-OVER NARRATION FROM THAT

PART TO SCHEDULE 0) IS THE METHODOLOGY THAT THE STATE OF MINNESOTA

EMBRACED, BOTH WHEN CLEARWAY WAS CREATED AND FUNDED WITH THE STATE OF

MINNESOTA'S MONIES AND AS THE STATE CONTINUES TO MAKE GRANTS AND HAVE

REPORTING ON SAME PROVIDED BACK TO THE STATE'S COURT AND OFFICIALS.

532028 09-23-15 Schedule A (Form 990 or 990-EZ) 2015



Schedule B Schedule of Contributors

Pl 990-EZ, P Attach to Form 990, Form 990-EZ, or Form 990-FF.

o P Information about Schedule B {Form 990, 990-EZ, or 990-PF) and
epartment of the Treasury N R B

Internal Revenuse Service its instructions is at www.irs.gov/form990 .

OMB No. 1545-0047

2015

Name of the organization

CLEARWAY MINNESOTA (SM)

Employer identification number

41-1921094

Organization type{check one):

Filers of: Section:

Form 990 or 990-EZ 501{c)( 3 } {enter number) organization
4947(a)(1) nonexempt charitable trust not treated as a private foundation
527 political organization

Form 990-PF ‘ 501(c)(3) exempt private foundation
4947(a)(1) nonexempt charitable trust treated as a private foundation

501(c)(3) taxable private foundation

Check if your organization is covered by the General Rule or a Special Rule,

Note. Only a section 501(c)(7), (8), or (10) organization can check boxes for both the General Rule and a Special Rule. See instructions.

General Rule

For an organization filing Form 990, 990-EZ, or 990-PF that received, during the year, contributions totaling $5,000 or more (in money or
property) from any one contributor. Complete Parts | and II. See instructions for determining a contributor’s total contributions.

Special Rules

For an organization described in section 501(c)(3) filing Form 990 or 980-EZ that met the 33 1/3% support test of the regulations under
sections 509(z)(1) and 170(b)}(1}{(A)v)), that checked Schedule A (Form 990 or 990-EZ), Part 1], line 13, 16a, or 16b, and that received from
any one contributor, during the year, total contributions of the greater of (1) $5,000 or (2) 2% of the amount on (i) Form 990, Part VIIl, line 1h,

or (i) Form 990-EZ, line 1. Complete Parts | and Il

For an organization described in section 501(c)(7), (8), or (10) filing Form 980 or 990-EZ that received from any one contributor, during the
year, total contributions of more than $1,000 exclusively for religious, charitable, scientific, literary, or educational purposes, or for

the prevention of cruelty to children or animals. Complete Parts |, I, and Hi.

For an organization described in section 501(c)(7), (8), or (10) filing Form 990 or 990-EZ that received from any one contributor, during the
year, contributions exclusively for religious, charitable, etc., purposes, but no such contributions totaled more than $1,000. If this box

is checked, enter here the total contributions that were received during the year for an exclusively religious, charitable, etc.,

purpose. Do not complete any of the parts unless the General Rule applies to this organization because it received nonexclusively

religious, charitable, etc., contributions totaling $5,000 or more during the year

> 3

Caution. An organization that is not covered by the General Rule and/or the Special Rules does not file Schedule B (Form 990, 980-EZ, or 990-PF),
but it must answer "No" on Part IV, line 2, of its Form 990; or check the box on line H of its Form 990-EZ or on its Form 990-PF, Part |, line 2, to

certify that it does not meet the filing requirements of Schedule B (Form 990, 990-EZ, or 990-PF).

LHA For Paperwork Reduction Act Notice, see the Instructions for Form 990, 990-EZ, or 990-PF. Schedule B (Form 890, 990-EZ, or 990-PF) {2015)

523451
10-26-15



Schedule B (Form 990, 990-EZ, or 990-PF) (2015)

Page 2

Name of organization

Employer identification number

CLEARWAY MINNESOTA (SM) 41-1921094
Part|  Contributors (see instructions). Use duplicate copies of Part | if additional space is needed.
(a) (b} (¢} (d)
No. Name, address, and ZIP + 4 Total contributions Type of contribution
1 ) Person [E
Payroli
$ 119,330. Noncash
{Complete Part Il for
noncash contributions.)
(a) (b) (c} {d)
No. Name, address, and ZIP + 4 Total contributions Type of contribution
Person
Payroll
$ Noncash
(Complete Part Il for
noncash contributions.)
(a) (b) {c) (d)
No. Name, address, and ZIP + 4 Total contributions Type of contribution
Person
Payroli
$ Noncash
(Complete Part It for
noncash contributions.)
(@) ) (b) © (d)
No. Name, address, and ZIP + 4 Total contributions Type of contribution
Person
Payroll
$ Noncash
(Complete Part il for
noncash contributions.)
(a) . (b) (c}) (d)
No. Name, address, and ZIP + 4 Total contributions Type of contribution
Person
Payroll
$ Noncash
(Complete Part Il for
noncash contributions.)
{a) {b) ] (d)
No. Name, address, and ZIP + 4 Total contributions Type of contribution
Person
Payroli
$ Noncash
{Complete Part Il for
noncash contributions.)

523452 10-26-16
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Schedule B (Form 980, 990-EZ, or 990-PF) (2015)

Page 3

‘Name of organization

CLEARWAY MINNESOTA (SM)

Employer identification number

41-1921094

Part I Noncash Property (see instructions). Use duplicate copies of Part Il if additional space is needed.

(a)
{c)
No.
° L (b) ] FMV (or estimate) (d) ]
from Description of noncash property given . . Date received
{see instructions)
Partl
{a)
{c)
No. o (b) . FMV (or estimate) (d) .
from Description of noncash property given . . Date received
(see instructions)
Part!
(a)
{c)
No. . (b} i FMV (or estimate) d) .
from Description of noncash property given . . Date received
{see instructions)
Part |
(a)
{c)
No.
froom Descrioti ¢ rgz)ash iven FMV (or estimate) Dat (@ wved
escription of no property give (see instructions) ate receive
Partl
(a)
{c)
No. (b} . {d)
. FMV (or estimate)
fr i i .
om Description of noncash property given (see instructions) Date received
Partl
{a)
(e}
No.
Bl Descriotion of ‘bish o FMV (or estimate) Dat (@ g
o escription of nonc: property give (see instructions) ate receive

523453 10-26-15
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Schedule B (Form 990, 990-EZ, or 990-PF) (2015)

Page 4

“Name of organization

Employer identification number

CLEARWAY MINNESOTA (SM) 41-1921094
Sart clusively Teligious, chariiablie, eic., CONtributions 10 0rganizations descrined in section S OF (10 That total more han 51,000 for
the year from any one contributor. Complete columns (a)through (e) and the following line entry. For orgamzatlons
completing Part I, enter the total of exclusively religious, charitable, etc., contributions of $1,000 or less for the year. {Enter this info. onge.)
Use duplicate copies of Part lli if additional space is needed.
{a) No.
g:rrpl (b} Purpose of gift {c) Use of gift (d) Description of how gift is held
(e) Transfer of gift
Transferee’s name, address, and ZIP + 4 Relationship of transferor to transferee
{a) No.
lfar:rTl {b} Purpose of gift {c) Use of gift {d) Description of how gift is held
(e} Transfer of gift
Transferee's name, address, and ZIP + 4 Relationship of transferor to transferee
{a) No.
;?rTI {b) Purpose of gift (c) Use of gift {d) Description of how gift is held
(e) Transfer of gift
Transferee’'s name, address, and ZIP + 4 Relationship of transferor to transferee
(a) No.
gé’é“n (b) Purpose of gift {c) Use of gift {d) Description of how gift is held
{e)} Transfer of gift

Transferee’s name, address, and ZIP + 4

Relationship of transferor to transferee

523454 10-26-15
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OMB No. 1545-0047

SCHEDULE C Political Campaign and Lc?bbying Ac

990 -EZ,
(Form or 990-EZ) For Organizations Exempt From Income Tax Under section 501(c}) and section 527

P Complete if the organization is described below. P Attach to Form 980 or Form 990-EZ.

Department of ihe resu™ | p» Information about Schedule C (Form 990 or 990-EZ) and its instructions is at www.irs.gov/form990.

If the organization answered "Yes," on Form 990, Part IV, line 3, or Form 990-EZ, Part V, line 46 {Political Campaign Activities), then
® Section 501(c)(3) organizations: Complete Parts I-A and B. Do not complete Part I-C.
® Section 501(c) (other than section 501(c)(3)) organizations: Complete Parts I-A and C befow. Do not complete Part I-B.
® Section 527 organizations: Complete Part I-A only.
If the organization answered "Yes," on Form 990, Part IV, line 4, or Form 990-EZ, Part Vi, line 47 {Lobbying Activities), then
® Section 501(c)(3) organizations that have filed Form 5768 (election under section 501(n)): Complete Part IIl-A. Do not complete Part 1I-B.
® Section 501(c)(3) organizations that have NOT filed Form 5768 (election under section 501(h)): Complete Part 1I-B. Do not complete Part II-A.
If the organization answered "Yes," on Form 990, Part IV, line 5 (Proxy Tax) (see separate instructions) or Form 990-EZ, Part V, line 35¢ (Proxy
Tax) (see separate instructions), then

® Section 501(c)(4), (5), or (B) organizations: Complete Part lIf.
Name of organization

Employer identification number

CLEARWAY MINNESOTA (SM) - 41-1921094
] E art fi-,;A} Complete if the organization is exempt under section 501(c) or is a section 527 organization.

1 Provide a description of the organization’s direct and indirect political campaign activities in Part IV.
2 Political expenditures
3 Volunteer hours

1 Enter the amount of any excise tax incurred by the organization under section4955 ... ... ... >
2 Enter the amount of any excise tax incurred by organization managers under section 4958 | ... ... >3
3 If the organization incurred a section 4955 tax, did it file Form 4720 for this year? | L_Ives L_INo
4a Was @ COMECHON MAAET | ... . . iieieiiieiieies e e et e e st s es e e e ceseeraaemsa s sa s s ess s abarsbas s Clves o

b If "Yes," describe in Part IV.
Part I-C omplete If the organization is exempt under section 501(c), except section 501 ©)B).

1 Enter the amount directly expended by the filing organization for section 527 exempt function activities | ... >3
2 Enter the amount of the filing organization’s funds contributed to other organizations for section 527

EXEMPLTUNCHON ACHVIEIES | ...\ eeeeeeeseeeeeoses oo eeeeeoosse oot >3
3 Total exempt function expenditures. Add lines 1 and 2. Enter here and on Form 1120-POL,
B8 7 ettt et >3
4 Did the filing organization file Form 1120-POL for this YEar? ... ... Llves [ Ino

5 Enter the names, addresses and employer identification number (EIN) of all section 527 political organizations to which the filing organization
made payments. For each organization listed, enter the amount paid from the filing organization’s funds. Also enter the amount of political
contributions received that were promptly and directly delivered to a separate political organization, such as a separate segregated fund ora
political action committee (PAC). If additional space is needed, provide information in Part 1V.

{a) Name ) (b} Address {c) EIN (d) Amount paid from (e) Amount of political
filing organization’s | contributions received and
funds. If none, enter -0-. |  promptly and directly

delivered to a separate
political organization.
if none, enter -0-.

For Paperwork Reduction Act Notice, see the Instructions for Form 990 or 990-EZ. Schedule C {(Form 990 or 990-EZ) 2015

LHA
532041
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Schedule C (Form 990 or 990-E2) 2015 CLEARWAY MINNE T 41-1921094 Page2
- Complete it the organization is exempt under section 501(c)(3) and filed Form 5768 (election under

‘ section 501(h)).
A Check » L] ithe filing organization belongs to an affiliated group (and list in Part IV each affiliated group member’s name, address, EIN,

expenses, and share of excess lobbying expenditures).
B Check » [:] if the filing organization checked box A and "limited control” provisions apply.

Limits on Lobbying Expenditures or g(:r)ﬁzg'ggn,s (b) Aﬁ‘lﬁ:;g group
(The term "expenditures” means amounts paid or incurred.} totals
1a Total lobbying expenditures to influence public opinion (grass roots lobbying) ... 54,566,
b Total lobbying expenditures to influence a legislative body {direct lobbying) ... 57,025.
¢ Total lobbying expenditures (add lines 12@nd 1) ... oooeeeeeeiessensenrenreerns 111,591.
d Other exempt PUIPOSE eXPENTIUIES . _.______._\.\\cooossooooeooeeeeeomresee oo eeeeeeeoesoeses s sssssssesens 15,477,140,
e Total exempt purpose expenditures (add fines 16.and 1d) |___________....ooooooooroimomeooooeeeeeeeeeeeeeeereee 15,588,731,
f Lobbying nontaxable amount. Enter the amount from the following table in both columns. 929,437.
if the amount on fine 1e, column (a) or (b) is; The lobbying nontaxable amount is: . .t
Not over $500,000 20% of the amount on'line 1e.
Over $500,000 but not over $1,000,000 $100,000 plus 15% of the excess over $500,000.
Qver $1,000,000 but not over $1,500,000 $175,000 plus 10% of the excess over $1,000,000
Over $1,500,000 but not over $17,000,000 $225 000 plus 5% of the excess over $1,500,000.
Over $17,000,000 $1,000,000.
g Grassroots nontaxable amount (enter 25% of line 1) ...
h Subtract line 1g from line 1a. [f zero orless, enter-0- .
i Subtract line 1f fromline 1c. f zero orless, enter-0- ...
j If there is an amount other than zero on either fine 1h or line 1i, did the organization file Form 4720
reporting section 4911 tax for thiS Year? ... ... Clves [ 1No
4-Year Averaging Period Under section 501(h}
(Some organizations that made a section 501(h) election do not have to complete all of the five columns below.
See the separate instructions for lines 2a through 2f.)
Lobbying Expenditures During 4-Year Averaging Period
o ﬁscgf‘;‘z::‘gegﬁ;mg i {a) 2012 (b) 2013 {c) 2014 {d) 2015 (e} Total
2a Lobbying nontaxable amount 8_94.,080. 997,940. 907,438_._ 929,437. 3,728,895.

b Lobbying ceiling amount

{150% of line 2a, column(e)) 5,593,343.
¢ Total lobbying expenditures 171,709- 149,099- 119,532- 111,591. 551,931.

d Grassroots nontaxable amount 223 520. 249,485- 226,860- 232,359- 932,224.
e Grassroots ceiling amount - . . . L .
(150% of line 2d, column (g))

1,398,336.

4 Grassrootslobbxingexpenditures 117,623- 90,396. 60,982- 54,566. 323,567-
Schedule C (Form 990 or 990-EZ) 2015
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Schedule C (Form 990 or 980-£2) 2015 CLE Y MINNESOTA M 41-1921094 pages
‘ Eart “-_E_ Complete l'f’l t%e organization is exempt under section 3ﬁﬂcﬂ§) and has NO1 filed Form 5768

~ (election under section 501(h)).

For each "Yes,” response on lines 1a through 1i below, provide in Part IV a detailed description (a) (b}
of the lobbying activity.

Yes No Amount

1 During the year, did the filing organization attempt to influence foreign, national, state or
local legislation, including any attempt to influence public opinion on a legislative matter
or referendum, through the use of: '
VOIUN OIS oo eeee e ee et s r vt et s s e enetbeseae s raneas e an e anebate e s nen s
Paid staff or management (include compensation in expenses reported on lines 1c through 1)?
Media advertiSBMENIST | ettt n s
Mailings to members, legistators, orthe public? ...
Publications, or published or broadcast statements?
Grants to other organizations for lobbying purposes? ... ...
Direct contact with legisiators, their staffs, govemment officials, or a legislative body? . . ..
Rallies, demonstrations, seminars, conventions, speeches, lectures, or any similar means?
Other ACHIVIHES? oo iee oot ee e s sttt rb e et ens st et s
Total. Add lines TC through TE ettt e er e en e e
2a Did the activities in line 1 cause the organization to be not described in section 501(c)(3)?
b If "Yes," enter the amount of any tax incurred under section 4912 ...
¢ If "Yes," enter the amount of any tax incurred by organization managers under section 4912

o QOO Q00N

d If the filing organization incurred a section 4912 tax, did it file Form 4720 forthisyear? ... .
Part lII-FA] Complete if the organization is exempt under section 501(c){4), section 501(c)(5), or sectlon

501(c})(6).

Yes No

1 Were substantially all (90% or more) dues received nondeductible by members? 1

2 Did the organization make only in-house lobbying expenditures of $2,0000rless? ...

3 __ Did the organization agree to carry over !obbymg and political expenditures fromthe priorvear? ... ... 3
Part 1lI-B Complete if the orgamzatlon is exempt under section 501 (c)(4), section 501(c)(5), or section

501(c)(6) and if either (a) BOTH Part lll-A, lines 1 and 2, are answered "No," OR (b) Part lli-A, line 3, is
answered "Yes."
Dues, assessments and similar amounts from members || ... s
Section 162(e) nondeductible lobbying and political expenditures (do not include amounts of political
expenses for which the section 527(f) tax was paid).
B CUITEIME YOI oo e ettt et e e teaea e s mnab et beenae s bt Rt et re et ek e ee st b ene s en seeraeae s
b Carryover from last year
C T ettt er et eeaet et bR s eA A aee stk ot R eh e LRt et s et a s e et anasan e
3 Aggregate amount reported in section 6033(e)(1){A) notices of nondeductible section 162(e) dues
4 If notices were sent and the amount on line 2¢ exceeds the amount on line 3, what portion of the excess
does the organization agree to carryover to the reasonable estimate of nondeductible lobbying and political -
exXPeNItUIE NEXE YEAIT | ..ottt et e s 4
5 Taxable amount of lobbying and political expenditures (see instructions)
]Partfl\l | __Supplemental Information
Provide the descriptions required for Part I-A, line 1; Part I-B, line 4; Part |-C, line 5; Part lI-A (affiliated group list), Part II-A, lines 1 and 2 (see

instructions); and Part lI-B, line 1. Also, complete this part for any additional information.
PART II-A - BRIEF DESCRIPTION OF ORGANIZATION'S LOBBYING ACTIVITIES:

N -

RESEARCH SHOWS PUBLIC POLICIES THAT REDUCE SECONDHAND SMOKE EXPOSURE AND

MAKE TOBACCO PRODUCTS LESS ACCESSIBLE WORK WITH QUIT-SMOKING PROGRAMS TO

REDUCE TOBACCO'S HARM TO THE PUBLIC. BECAUSE SUCH POLICIES HELP REDUCE

SMOKING RATES AND REDUCE EXPOSURE TO SECONDHAND SMOKE, CLEARWAY MINNESOTA

SUPPORTS WORK IN THIS AREA.

Schedule C (Form 990 or 990-EZ) 2015
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Schedule G (Form 990 or 990-E7) 2015 CLEARWAY MINNESOTA (SM) 41-1921094 pages
] Part IV ] Supplemental Information (continued)

IN COMPLIANCE WITH OUR LONG-TERM CONTRACTING POLICY, AT THE BEGINNING OF

FISCAL YEAR 2016 CLEARWAY MINNESOTA COMPLETED A COMPETITIVE BID PROCESS

AND AWARDED ITS DIRECT LOBBYING CONTRACT TO A QUALIFIED VENDOR -

LOCKRIDGE, GRINDAL, NAUEN P.L.L.P. THIS YEAR'S DIRECT LOBBYING WORK

FOCUSED ON DEFENDING THE TOBACCO TAX INCREASES PASSED IN 2013 AND LAYING

THE GROUNDWORK FOR FUTURE EFFORTS TO INCREASE THE TOBACCO PURCHASE AGE,

RESTRICT YOUTH ACCESS TO CANDY-, FRUIT- AND MENTHOL-FLAVORED TOBACCO

PRODUCTS, AND SECURE ADDITIONAL FUNDING FOR TOBACCO PREVENTION. WE ALSO

CONTINUED TO SUPPORT NEW REGULATIONS TO INCREASE ACCESS TO COMPREHENSIVE

TOBACCO TREATMENT SERVICES. OTHER LOBBYING ACTIVITIES INCLUDED GRASSROOTS,

COMMUNICATIONS AND PUBLIC RELATIONS EFFORTS. THIS YEAR, CLEARWAY MINNESOTA

AWARDED EIGHT POLICY GRANTS TO NONPROFIT ORGANIZATIONS AND LOCAL UNITS OF

GOVERNMENT TO REDUCE THE HARM TOBACCO CAUSES MINNESOTA THROUGH COALITION

BUILDING, POLICY ADVOCACY AND PUBLIC EDUCATION. UP TO 3 PERCENT OF THEIR

GRANT AWARD CAN BE USED FOR LOBBYING ACTIVITIES: IN ADDITION, THE POLICY

CHAMPIONS PROJECT ENGAGES INDIVIDUALS FROM PRIORITY POPULATIONS TO HELP

ADVANCE CLEARWAY MINNESOTA'S POLICY AGENDA, AND A SMALL PORTION OF THESE

CONTRACTS SUPPORT DIRECT AND GRASSROOTS LOBBYING ACTIVITIES. FINALLY,

CLEARWAY MINNESOTA ALSO AWARDED GRANTS TO AMERICAN INDIAN TRIBES TO

SUPPORT THE DEVELOPMENT OF RESERVATION INITIATIVES TO PROMOTE HEALTH AND

ADVANCE SMOKE-FREE POLICIES ON TRIBAL LANDS IN MINNESOTA. A SMALL PORTION

OF THESE GRANTS (UP TO $2,000 PER GRANT) IS USED FOR LOBBYING TO ADVANCE

SMOKE-FREE POLICIES ON TRIBAL LANDS.

Schedule C (Form 990 or 990-EZ) 2015
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OMB No. 1545-0047

SCHEDULED
(Form 990) P Compilete if the organization answered "Yes" on Form 990, 20 1 5
Part IV, line 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11a, 11b, 11c, 11d, 11e, 11f, 12a, or 12b. )
Department of the Treasury P Attach to Form 990. - 0pen tOP ub “C&;
internal Revenue Service P> Information about Schedule D (Form 990) and its instructions is at www.irs.gov/form990. . Inspection
Name of the organization Employer identification number
CLEARWAY MINNESOTA (SM) 41-1921094

[Pa‘rt‘l | Organizations Maintaining Donor Advised Funds or Other Similar Funds or Accounts.Complete if the
organization answered "Yes" on Form 990, Part IV, line 6.

(a) Donor advised funds {b) Funds and other accounts

1 Totalnumberatendofyear . ... ...
2 Aggregate value of contributions to (during year)
3 Aggregate value of grants from (during year)
4 Aggregatevalueatendofyear ... ...
5 Did the organization inform all donors and donor advisors in writing that the assets held in donor advised funds

are the organization’s property, subject to the organization’s exclusive legal control? L1 ves ] No

6 Did the organization inform all grantees, donors, and donor advisors in writing that grant funds can be used only
for charitable purposes and not for the benefit of the donor or donor advisor, or for any other purpose conferring

impermissible private DENETIt? .. i
l Part 1l | Conservation Easements. Complete if the organization answered "Yes" on Form 990, Part IV, line 7.
1 Purpose(s) of conservation easements held by the organization (check all that apply).
Preservation of land for public use (e.g., recreation or education) [__ Preservation of a historically important land area
Protection of natural habitat [_1 Preservation of a certified historic structure
| Preservation of open space
2 Complete lines 2a through 2d if the organization held a qualified conservation contribution in the form of a conservation easement on the last

D Yes D No

day of the tax year. | Held at the End of the Tax Year
a Total number of conservation €asements | . s 2a
b Total acreage restricted by conservation easements | ... 2b
¢ Number of conservation easements on a certified historic structure included in (@) ... ..., 2¢
d Number of conservation easements included in (¢) acquired after 8/17/086, and not on a historic structure
listed in the National RegiSter | . e et 2d
3 Number of conservation easements modified, transferred, released, extinguished, or terminated by the organization during the tax
year p-

4 Number of states where property subject to conservation easement is located P>
5 Does the organization have a written policy regarding the periodic monitoring, inspection, handling of

violations, and enforcement of the conservation easements it holdsS? e :] Yes 1 No
6 Staff and volunteer hours devoted to monitoring, inspecting, handling of violations, and enforcing conservation easements during the year

> __
7  Amount of expenses incurred in monitoring, inspecting, handling of violations, and enforcing conservation easements during the year

&
8 Does each conservation easement reported on line 2(d) above satisfy the requirements of section 170(h)(4)(B)())

AN SECHON T7OMNANBIIN? ... [dves [ Ino

9 In Part X, describe how the organization reports conservation easements in its revenue and expense statement, and balance sheet, and
include, if applicable, the text of the footnote to the organization’s financial statements that describes the organization’s accounting for

conservation easements. _ _
‘Part‘ i ] Organizations Maintaining Collections of Art, Historical Treasures, or Other Similar Assets.

Complete if the organization answered "Yes" on Form 990, Part IV, line 8.
1a If the organization elected, as permitted under SFAS 116 (ASC 958), not to report in its revenue statement and balance sheet works of art,
historical treasures, or other similar assets held for public exhibition, education, or research in furtherance of public service, provide, in Part XIi},
the text of the footnote to its financial statements that describes these items.

b [f the organization elected, as permitted under SFAS 116 (ASC 958), to report in its revenue statement and balance sheet works of art, historical
treasures, or other similar assets held for public exhibition, education, or research in furtherance of public service, provide the following amounts
relating to these items:

(i) Revenue included on Form 990, Part Vili, line 1
(if) Assetsincluded in Form 890, Part X e

2  If the organization received or held works of art, historical treasures, or other similar assets for financial gain, provide
the following amounts required to be reported under SFAS 116 (ASC 958) relating to these items:

a Revenue included on Form 990, Part VIl ine 1 ..o > 8

b_Assets included in Form 990, Part X oo » 8
LHA For Paperwork Reduction Act Notice, see the Instructions for Form 930. Schedule D (Form 990) 2015
532051 .
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Schedule D (Form 990) 2015 CLEARWAY MINNESOTA (8M) 41-1921094 page2
[Part ] Organizations Maintaining Collections of Art, Historical Treasures, or Other Similar Assets(continued)
3 Using the organization’s acquisition, accession, and other records, check any of the following that are a significant use of its collection items
{check all that apply):

a Public exhibition d ]:] Loan or exchange programs
b ] Scholarly research e L] other
c Preservation for future generations

4 Provide a description of the organization’s collections and explain how they further the organization’s exempt purpose in Part Xl
5 During the year, did the organization solicit or receive donations of art, historical treasures, or other similar assets
to be sold to raise funds rather than to be maintained as part of the organization's collection? ... D Yes
] Part IV ] Escrow and Custodial Arrangements. Complete if the organization answered "Yes" on Form 990, Part 1V, line 9, or
reported an amount on Form 990, Part X, line 21.

L____lNo

1a s the organization an agent, trustee, custodian or other intermediary for contributions or other assets not included
ONFOM 990, PAMEX? | oo es et s e ce b ss s sa s
b If "Yes," explain the arrangement in Part Xill and complete the following table:

DNO

Beginning balance ... 1c
Additions during the year
Distributions during the year
Ending balance
2a Did the organization include an amount on Form 890, Part X, line 21, for escrow or custodial account liability? ...
b_lf "Yes," explain the arrangement in Part XIlI. Check here if the explanation has been provided on Part XUl L. oo -

] PartV l Endowment Funds. Complete if the organization answered “Yes" on Form 990, Part IV, line 10.

{d) Three years back

-0 0 0

{a) Current year {b) Prior year {c) Two years back {e) Four years back

1a Beginning of year balance
Contributions | ...
Net investment earnings, gains, and losses
Grants or scholarships ...
Other expenditures for facilities
and programs ..
Administrative expenses
g Endofyearbalance . ...
2 Provide the estimated percentage of the current year end balance (line 1g, column (a)) held as:

o o o0 o

-

Board designated or quasi-endowment P>
Permanent endowment p»

%

%

Temporarily restricted endowment P

%

The percentages on lines 2a, 2b, and 2¢ should equal 100%.

3a Are there endowment funds not in the possession of the organization that are held and administered for the organization
by: Yes | No
(i} unrelated organizations __ 3ali) )
(i) related OFGANIZALIONS | . .o eoeeeeeeeee et eae et et et s e saea s s esesessanesea e ses et e st es e e eana et ebeaseeaeebeteneat e 3afii)

b If "Yes" on line 3a(ii), are the related organizations listed as required on Schedule R? | ..., 3b
4 Describe in Part Xlil the intended uses of the organization’s endowment funds.
— Land, Buildings, and Equipment.
Complete if the organization answered "Yes" on Form 990, Part IV, line 11a. See Form 990, Part X, line 10.

Description of property (a) Cost or other {b} Cost or other (c) Accumulated {d) Book value
basis (investment) basis (other) depreciation
18 Land oo -
b Buildings
¢ Leasehold improvements ... .. ... 26,243. 22,515. 3,728.
d Equipment 361,877. 323,047. 38,830.
€ OIher .o
Total. Add lines 1a through te. (Column (d) must equal Form 990, Part X, column (B), i 10) . .uuiissssissiacices » 42,558,
Schedule D (Form 990) 2015
532052
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Schedule D (Form 990) 2015

CLEARWAY MINNESOTA (SM)

41-1921094 page3

] Part Vll] Investments - Other Securities.

Complete if the organization answered "Yes" on Form 990, Part IV, line 11b. See Form 990, Part X, fine 12.

{a) Description of security or category (including name of security)

{b) Book value

{c) Method of valuation: Cost or end-of-year market value

(1) Financialderivatives . ...

(2} Closely-held equity interests

{3) Other

(n ALTERNATIVE INVESTMENT

8y FUND OF FUNDS

3,324,427,

END-OF-YEAR MARKET VALUE

(c) PRIVATE EQUITY FUND OF

() FUNDS

10,639,687.

END--OF-YEAR MARKET VALUE

{H)

Total. (Col. (b) must equal Form 980, Part X, col. (B) line 12.)p»

13’964,114. -

Part Villi Investments - Program Related.

Complete if the organization answered "Yes" on Form 990, Part IV, line 11c. See Form 990, Part X, line 13.

{a) Description of investment

{b) Book value

{¢) Method of valuation: Cost or end-of-year market value

{1

2

3

{4)

(5)

{6)

{7)

{8)

(9)

Total. (Col. (b) must equal Form 990, Part X, col. (B) line 13.) >

] Pa‘r‘tflxj Other Assets.

Complete if the organization answered "Yes" on Form 990, Part IV, line 11d. See Form 990, Part X, line 15.

{a) Description

{b) Book value

()

{2)

3

{4)

{5)

{6)

{7)

{8

{9)

Total. (Column (b) must equal Form 990, Part X, €Ol (B) IN€ 15.) .\ i »

Other Liabilities.

Complete if the organization answered "Yes" on Form 990, Part 1V, line 11e or 11f. See Form 990, Part X, line 25.

1. {a) Description of liability

{b) Book value

(1) Federal income taxes

2

@

@

8

&

@

®

©

Total, (Column (b) must equal Form 990, Part X, col. (B) fine 25.) .............

2. Liability for uncertain tax positions. In Part Xiil, provide the text of the footnote to the organization's financial statements that reports the

organization's liability for uncertain tax positions under FIN 48 (ASC 740). Check here if the text of the footnote has been provided in Part Xill X]

532053
09-21-15
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Schedule D (Form 990) 2015 CLEARWAY MINNESOTA (SM) 41-1921094 paged
Part XI | Reconciliation of Revenue per Audited Financial Statements With Revenue per Return.

Complete if the organization answered "Yes" on Form 990, Part IV, line 12a.

1 Total revenue, gains, and other support per audited financial statements ... 1 l <420,092.>
2 Amounts included on line 1 but not on Form 990, Part Viil, line 12: -

a Net unrealized gains (losses) on investments ..., 2a

b Donated services and use of facilities ..., 2b

¢ Recoveriesof prioryeargrants s 2¢

d Other (Describe in Part XIL) e 2d ,

@ AdANINES 2atOUGN 2d oo eees e <1,257,328.>
3 SUDHACTHNG 28 TIOM NG T ...\ ooicceeoeoeoeooeooeosoos oo oo 837,236.
4 Amounts included on Form 990, Part Viil, line 12, but not on line 1:

a Investment expenses not included on Form 990, Part Vill, line7b .. .. ... 4a

b Other (Describe in Part XHL) e 4b o

C ADAIINES 42 aNA 4D e 4c 64,185.
5 Total revenue. Add lines 3 and 4c. (This must equal Form 990, Part I, line 12)) 5 901,421.

- Reconciliation of Expenses per Audited Financial Statements With Expenses per Return.
Complete if the organization answered "Yes" on Form 990, Part IV, line 12a.
1 Total expenses and losses per audited financial statements ...
2  Amounts included on line 1 but not on Form 990, Part IX, line 25:

T [ 15,588,731,

a Donated services and use of facilities ... ... 2a

b Prior year adjustments ... 2b

€ OHherIOSSES | .. oo eceee et et et s e s e s s e es e et e e e et seesecenaenen 2c

d Other (Describein Part XIL) ... .o 2d o

€ ADDIINES 28HHOUGN 20 ... ...\ oo oo ooceoooeoeeeeooe oo oeeee e 2e 0.
3 SUDIACEING 26 FIOM NG T ...\ oo oooooooecooooeooeeeosoeseoe e esomsosssrer e 3 |15,588,731.
4  Amounts included on Form 990, Part IX, line 25, but not on line 1:

a Investment expenses not included on Form 990, Part Vil line7b . .. ... 4a

b Other (Describein Part XHLY et e 4b

C ADAINES AAANA 4D oo ees e 4c 64,185.

Total expenses. Add lines 3 and 4c. (This must equal Form 990, Part |, N 18) ... 5 | 15,652,916.

] Part Xi ] Supplemental Information.
Provide the descriptions required for Part Il, lines 3, 5, and 9; Part Iil, lines 1a and 4; Part IV, lines 1b and 2b; Part V, line 4; Part X, line 2; Part XI,
fines 2d and 4b; and Part XlI, lines 2d and 4b. Also complete this part to provide any additional information.

PART X, LINE 2:

FIN 48 (ASC 740) DISCLOSURE FROM AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS:

CLEARWAY MINNESOTA IS EXEMPT FROM FEDERAL INCOME TAXES UNDER THE

PROVISIONS OF SECTION 501(C)(3) OF THE INTERNAL REVENUE CODE. THE

ORGANIZATION IS ALSO EXEMPT FROM MINNESOTA INCOME TAXES.

THE ORGANIZATION FOLLOWS THE CURRENT ACCOUNTING GUIDANCE RELATED TO

UNCERTAINTY IN INCOME TAXES. THIS GUIDANCE CLARIFIES THE RECOGNITION

THRESHOLD AND MEASUREMENT REQUIREMENTS FOR INCOME TAX POSITIONS TAKEN OR

EXPECTED TO BE TAKEN IN INCOME TAX RETURNS. THIS INCLUDES POSITIONS THAT

THE ENTITY IS EXEMPT FROM INCOME TAXES OR NOT SUBJECT TO ADDITIONAL INCOME

TAX LIABILITY ON UNRELATED BUSINESS INCOME. UNDER THE STANDARDS, THE
'Ogggg? 15 Schedule D (Form 990} 2015
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Schedule D (Form 990) 2015 CLEARWAY MINNESOTA (SM)
art Xlll | Supplemental Information (continued)

41-1921094 Ppages

ORGANIZATION RECOGNIZES TAX BENEFITS FROM UNCERTAIN TAX POSITIONS ONLY IF

IT IS MORE LIKELY THAN NOT THAT THE TAX POSITIONS WILL BE SUSTAINED ON

EXAMINATION BY TAXING AUTHORITIES. THE ORGANIZATION HAS IDENTIFIED NO

SIGNIFICANT INCOME TAX UNCERTAINTIES. THE ORGANIZATION FILES INFORMATION

RETURNS AS A TAX-EXEMPT ORGANIZATION. SHOULD THAT STATUS BE CHALLENGED IN

THE FUTURE, ALL YEARS SINCE INCEPTION COULD BE SUBJECT TO REVIEW BY THE

IRS.

THE ORGANIZATION'S FEDERAL AND STATE INFORMATION RETURNS ARE OPEN TO

EXAMINATION FOR TAX YEARS 2013 THROUGH 2015.

Schedule D (Form 990) 2015
532055 . -
09-21-15



SCHEDULE F
(Form 990)

Department of the Treasury
internal Revenue Service

Statement of Activities Outsideéthe Uniieﬂ States

P Complete if the organization answered "Yes" on Form 990, Part IV, line 14b, 15, or 16.

P Information about Schedule F (Form 990} and its instructions is at www.irs.gov/form990.

P Attach to Form 990.

OMB No. 1545-0047

. OpentoPublic
_ Inspection

Name of the organization

CLEARWAY MINNESOTA (SM)

Employer identification number

41-1921094

l Part] | General Information on Activities Outside the United States. Complete if the organization answered "Yes" on
Form 990, Part IV, line 14b.

1  For grantmakers. Does the organization maintain records to substantiate the amount of its grants and other assistance,

the grantees’ eligibility for the grants or assistance, and the selection criteria used to award the grants or assistance? [:I Yes

I:]NO

2  For grantmakers. Describe in Part V the organization’s procedures for monitoring the use of its grants and other assistance outside the

United States.

3 Activities per Region. (The following Part |, line 3 table can be duplicated if additional space is needed.)

{a) Region {b) Number of | {c) Number of | {d) Activities conducted in region {e) If activity listed in (d) {f) Total
offices Sge‘ﬂ?syiisd (by type) (e.g., fundraising, program is a program service, expenditures
in the region | independent services, investments, grants to describe specific type __forand
contractors recipients located in the region) of service(s) in region m;/: er‘,;n'x_ents
in region . gion
EUROPE (INCLUDING
ICELAND & GREENLAND) INVESTMENT IN COLLER
- ALBANIA, ANDORRA, INTERNATIONAL PARTNERS V-B,
AUSTRIA, BELGIUM [..P. FUND 1,478,125,
3a Subtotal ... 0 0 I- - 1,478,125,
b Total from continuation ~ -
sheetsto Part! . 0 . 0.
¢ Totals (add lines 3a =
and3b) oo 0 of | 1,478,125,
LHA For Paperwork Reduction Act Notice, see the Instructions for Form 990. Schedule F (Form 990) 2015

532071
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Page4

| Foreign Forms

Was the organization a U.S. transferor of property to a foreign corporation during the tax year? If "Yes," the
organization may be required to file Form 926, Return by a U.S. Transferor of Property to a Foreign
Corporation (see Instructions for Form 926)

Did the organization have an interest in a foreign trust during the tax year? If "Yes, " the organization
may be required to separately file Form 3520, Annual Return To Report Transactions With Foreign
Trusts and Receipt of Certain Foreign Gifts, and/or Form 3520-A, Annual Information Return of Foreign
Trust With a U.S. Owner (see Instructions for Forms 3520 and 3520-A; do not file with Form 990)

Did the organization have an ownership interest in a foreign corporation during the tax year? If "Yes,"
the organization may be required to file Form 5471, Information Return of U.S. Persons With Respect to
Certain Foreign Corporations (see Instructions for Form 5471)

Was the organization a direct or indirect shareholder of a passive foreign investment company or a
qualified electing fund during the tax year? If "Yes," the organization may be required to file Form 8621,
Information Return by a Shareholder of a Passive Foreign Investment Company or Qualified Electing Fund
(see Instructions for Form 8621)

Did the organization have an ownership interest in a foreign partnership during the tax year? /f "Yes,"
the organization may be required to file Form 8868, Return of U.S. Persons With Respect to Certain
Foreign Partnerships (see Instructions for Form 8865)

Did the organization have any operations in or related to any boycotting countries during the tax year? If
"Yes," the organization may be required to separately file Form 5713, International Boycott Report (see
Instructions for Form 5713; do not file with Form 890)

D Yes

[:] Yes

D Yes

D Yes

D Yes

l:‘ Yes
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P
Schedule F (Form 990) 2015 CLEARWAY MINNESOTA {(SM)
[PartV | supplemental Information
Provide the information required by Part |, line 2 {monitoring of funds); Part |, line 3, column (f) {accounting method; amounts of
investments vs. expenditures per region); Part I}, line 1 (accounting method); Part lll (accounting method); and Part lll, column ©)
(estimated number of recipients), as applicable. Also complete this part to provide any additional information.
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Schedule | (Form 990) CLEARWAY MINNE

41-1921094 page2
] Part iVl Supplemental Information

SUPPORTING THE CAPACITY OF GRANTEES TO MAKE SIGNIFICANT CONTRIBUTIONS TO

THE FIELD OF TOBACCO CONTROL IN MINNESOTA. THE PURPOSE OF MONITORING

GRANTEES IS:

- TO ENSURE ACCOUNTABILITY AND PROPER USE OF GRANT FUNDS;

- TO VERIFY COMPLIANCE WITH LEGAL AND GRANT-MAKING REQUIREMENTS;

- TO ENSURE TIMELY PROGRESS IN MEETING PROJECT GOALS;

- TO IDENTIFY ISSUES AND WORK WITH THE GRANTEE TO ADDRESS THEM; AND

- TO IDENTIFY OPPORTUNITIES FOR DISSEMINATION AND SUPPORT FOR

FINDINGS/RESULTS.

THE FOLLOWING IS A GENERAL OUTLINE OF THE PROCEDURES THAT CLEARWAY

MINNESOTA USES FOR GRANT MONITORING.

GRANTEE ORIENTATION:

ONCE GRANTS ARE APPROVED BY THE BOARD, GRANT MANAGERS COMMUNICATE WITH

GRANTEES AS NEEDED, EITHER IN PERSON, BY TELEPHONE OR VIA WRITTEN

COMMUNICATION. THESE INITIAL COMMUNICATIONS PROVIDE BACKGROUND TO GRANTEES

ABOUT KEY ELEMENTS CONTAINED IN THEIR GRANT AGREEMENTS, WITH A FOCUS ON

PROGRESS AND FINANCIAL REPORTING REQUIREMENTS. AFTER GRANT AGREEMENTS ARE

EXECUTED, GRANTEES RECEIVE AN ORIENTATION PACKET AND ADDITIONAL RELEVANT

INFORMATION. THE INITIAL GRANT PAYMENT IS MADE AFTER EXECUTION OF THE GRANT

AGREEMENT, AFTER THE GRANT IS RECORDED IN THE GENERAL LEDGER AND AFTER

RECEIPT OF IRB APPROVAL, IF REQUIRED.

REPORTING:

REPORTS ARE THE PRIMARY TOOL USED TO MONITOR GRANTEE PROGRESS, CHALLENGES

AND FINANCIAL STATUS. THROUGHOUT THE GRANT PERIOD, GRANTEES SUBMIT PROGRESS

AND FINANCTIAL REPORTS ON A REGULAR BASIS. IN-PERSON MEETINGS ARE SCHEDULED
Schedule | (Form 990)
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ON AN AS-NEEDED BASIS DEPENDING ON THE SCOPE, NEEDS AND PROGRESS OF THE

FUNDED GRANT. PAYMENTS ARE RELEASED ACCORDING TO THE APPROVED PAYMENT

SCHEDULE, AND ONLY IF ALL PROGRESS AND FINANCIAL REPORTS HAVE BEEN

APPROVED.

SITE VISITS AND TECHNICAL ASSISTANCE:

CLEARWAY MINNESOTA GRANT MANAGERS MAY OPT TO USE SITE VISITS WITH GRANTEES.

THE SCOPE AND FREQUENCY OF SITE VISITS VARIES BY DEPARTMENT AND GRANT TYPE.

CLEARWAY MINNESOTA MAY ALSO OFFER TECHNICAL ASSISTANCE, TRAINING, AND

NETWORKING OPPORTUNITIES TO GRANTEES.

PART II, LINE 1, COLUMN (H):

NAME OF ORGANIZATION OR GOVERNMENT: AMERICAN INDIAN CANCER FOUNDATION

(H) PURPOSE OF GRANT OR ASSISTANCE: RESEARCH PROJECT TO IMPLEMENT

COMMUNITY-TAILOREED INTERVENTION IN SIX AMERICAN INDIAN TRIBAL HEALTH

SYSTEMS.

NAME OF ORGANIZATION OR GOVERNMENT: AMERICAN INDIAN CANCER FOUNDATION

(H) PURPOSE OF GRANT OR ASSISTANCE: FY'lé6 COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT GRANT TO

LINK ADULT SMOKERS WITH LOW SOCIOECONOMIC STATUS TO EXISTING CESSATION

SERVICES

NAME OF ORGANIZATION OR GOVERNMENT:

AMERICAN LUNG ASSOCIATION OF THE UPPER MIDWEST

(H) PURPOSE OF GRANT OR ASSISTANCE: FY'l6 COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT GRANT TO

LINK ADULT SMOKERS WITH LOW SOCIOECONOMIC STATUS TO EXISTING CESSATION

SERVICES

Schedule | {Form 990)
532281
04-01-15
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[Part IV] Supplemental Information

NAME OF ORGANIZATION OR GOVERNMENT:

COMUNIDADES LATINAS UNIDAS EN SERVICIO (CLUES)

(H) PURPOSE OF GRANT OR ASSISTANCE: FY'1l6 COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT GRANT TO

LINK ADULT SMOKERS WITH LOW SOCIQOECONOMIC STATUS TO EXISTING CESSATION

SERVICES

NAME OF ORGANIZATION OR GOVERNMENT: DAKOTA WICOHAN

(H) PURPOSE OF GRANT OR ASSISTANCE: FY'l6 COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT GRANT TO

LINK ADULT SMOKERS WITH LOW SOCIOECONOMIC STATUS TO EXISTING CESSATION

SERVICES

NAME OF ORGANIZATION OR GOVERNMENT:

INSTITUTE FOR CLINICAL SYSTEMS IMPROVEMENT

(H) PURPOSE OF GRANT OR ASSISTANCE: HEALTH SYSTEMS CHANGE CAPACITY

BUILDING CONTRACT FOR ASSESSING AND ADDRESSING TOBACCO USE

NAME OF ORGANIZATION OR GOVERNMENT: MENTAL HEALTH RESOURCES, INC.

(H) PURPOSE OF GRANT OR ASSISTANCE: FY'l6 COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT GRANT TO

LINK ADULT SMOKERS WITH LOW SOCIOECONOMIC STATUS TO EXISTING CESSATION

SERVICES

NAME OF ORGANIZATION OR GOVERNMENT: NAMI MINNESOTA

(H) PURPOSE OF GRANT OR ASSISTANCE: FY'l6é COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT GRANT TO

LINK ADULT SMOKERS WITH LOW SOCIOECONOMIC STATUS TO EXISTING CESSATION

SERVICES

NAME OF ORGANIZATION OR GOVERNMENT: NATIVE AMERICAN COMMUNITY CLINIC

(H) PURPOSE OF GRANT OR ASSISTANCE: FY'l6 COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT GRANT TO
Schedule | (Form 990)
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[ Part IV | Supplemental Information

LINK ADULT SMOKERS WITH LOW SOCIOECONOMIC STATUS TO EXISTING CESSATION

SERVICES

NAME OF ORGANIZATION OR GOVERNMENT: NATIVE AMERICANS IN PHILANTHROPY

(H) PURPOSE OF GRANT OR ASSISTANCE: DIALOGUE TO DEVELOP RELATIONSHIPS

BETWEEN CWMN, VARIOUS FUNDERS & TRIBAL LEADERSHIP TO ADVANCE HEALTH

EQUITY IN INDIAN COUNTRY.

NAME OF ORGANIZATION OR GOVERNMENT: PORTICO HEALTHNET

(H) PURPOSE OF GRANT OR ASSISTANCE: FY'l6 COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT GRANT TO

LINK ADULT SMOKERS WITH LOW SOCIOECONOMIC STATUS TO EXISTING CESSATION

SERVICES

NAME OF ORGANIZATION OR GOVERNMENT:

REGENTS OF THE UNIVERSITY OF WISCONSIN

(H) PURPOSE OF GRANT OR ASSISTANCE: TA TO RESEARCH GRANTEES, ASSIST WITH

THE DISSEMINATION OF RESEARCH FINDINGS AND PROVIDE SUPPORT TO THE

RESEARCH AND CESSATION DEPARTMENTS.

NAME OF ORGANIZATION OR GOVERNMENT: REGENTS OF THE UOM

(H) PURPOSE OF GRANT OR ASSISTANCE: RESEARCH PILOT STUDY ON THE IMPACT

OF FLAVORED E-CIGARETTES ON TOBACCO USE PATTERNS IN AFRICAN AMERICAN

MENTHOL SMOKERS IN A SIMULATED MENTHOL BAN.

NAME OF ORGANIZATION OR GOVERNMENT: REGENTS OF THE UOM

(H) PURPOSE OF GRANT OR ASSISTANCE: STUDY TO DETERMINE HOW TRIBAL AND

FDA POLICIES RELATING TO COMMERCIAL TOBACCO SALES ARE IMPLEMENTED IN

MINNESOTA AND OTHER UPPER MIDWEST TRIBES.

Schedule | (Form 990}
532291
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lPari IV | Supplemental Information

NAME OF ORGANIZATION OR GOVERNMENT: RESOURCE, INC.

(H) PURPOSE OF GRANT OR ASSISTANCE: FY'l6 COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT GRANT TO

LINK ADULT SMOKERS WITH LOW SOCIOECONOMIC STATUS TO EXISTING CESSATION

SERVICES

NAME OF ORGANIZATION OR GOVERNMENT:

SUB-SAHARAN AFRICAN YOUTH & FAMILY SERVICES

(H) PURPOSE OF GRANT OR ASSISTANCE: FY'l6 COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT GRANT TO

LINK ADULT SMOKERS WITH LOW SOCIOECONOMIC STATUS TO EXISTING CESSATION

SERVICES

NAME OF ORGANIZATION OR GOVERNMENT: TOUCHSTONE MENTAL HEALTH

(H) PURPOSE OF GRANT OR ASSISTANCE: FY'l6 COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT GRANT TO

LINK ADULT SMOKERS WITH LOW SOCIOECONOMIC STATUS TO EXISTING CESSATION

SERVICES

NAME OF ORGANIZATION OR GOVERNMENT:

VIETNAMESES SOCIAL SERVICES OF MINNESOTA

(H) PURPOSE OF GRANT OR ASSISTANCE: FY'l6 COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT GRANT TO

LINK ADULT SMOKERS WITH LOW SOCIOECONOMIC STATUS TO EXISTING CESSATION

SERVICES

Schedule | (Form 990)
532291
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SCHEDULE J
(Form 990)

P Complete if the organization answered "Yes" on Form 990, Part IV, line 23,

Department of the Treasury
intemal Revenue Service

For certain Officers, Directors, Trustees, Key Employees, and Highest

Compensation Information

Compensated Employees

P Attach to Form 990.

P> information about Schedule J {Form 990) and its instructions is at www.irs.gov/formsgo. .

Name of the organization

OMB No. 1545-0047

Employer identification number

CLEARWAY MINNESOTA (SM)

41-1921094

[Part‘:l ] Questions ﬁegarding Compensation

1a Check the appropriate box(es) if the organization provided any of the following to or for a person listed on Form 990,
Part VII, Section A, line 1a. Complete Part lil to provide any relevant information regarding these items.

First-class or charter travel

Travel for companions

Tax indemnification and gross-up payments
D Discretionary spending account

Housing allowance or residence for personal use
Payments for business use of personal residence
D Health or social club dues or initiation fees
[ Personal services (e.g., maid, chauffeur, chef)

2 Did the organization require substantiation prior to reimbursing or allowing expenses incurred by all directors,
trustees, and officers, including the CEOQ/Executive Director, regarding the items checked inline 1a? . ...
3 Indicate which, if any, of the following the filing organization used to establish the compensation of the organization’s
CEO/Executive Director. Check all that apply. Do not check any boxes for methods used by a related organization to
establish compensation of the CEO/Executive Director, but explain in Part Ill.
Compensation committee Written employment contract
Independent compensation consuitant Compensation survey or study
Form 980 of other organizations Approval by the board or compensation committee
4 During the year, did any person listed on Form 990, Part Vii, Section A, line 1a, with respect to the filing
organization or a related organization:
a Receive a severance payment or change-of-CONtrol PAYMENM? . ..t 4a X
b Participate in, or receive payment from, a supplemental nonqualified retirement plan? 4b }_S__
¢ Participate in, or receive payment from, an equity-based compensation arrangement? 4c X
If "Yes" to any of lines 4a-c, list the persons and provide the applicable amounts for each item in Part lll.
Only section 501(c)(3), 501(c}{4), and 501(c){29) organizations must complete lines 5-9.
5 For persons listed on Form 990, Part VII, Section A, line 1a, did the organization pay or accrue any compensation
contingent on the revenues of: ’
8 TREOFGANZAtONT || . . oiiiiiiieiee e e eet et s ve s e sseee e saeeaa e nass e o ettt e st ee et e msea sttt s ee s
b Any related organization?
If "Yes" to line 5a or 5b, describe in Part HI.
6 For persons listed on Form 990, Part VII, Section A, line 1a, did the organization pay or accrue any compensation
contingent on the net eamings of:
@ TREOFGANIZAtONT | | i ees st ee ettt a a2 b et e bt b n et
b Any related organization?
If "Yes" on line 6a or 6b, describe in Part Iil.
7 For persons listed on Form 990, Part VII, Section A, line 1a, did the organization provide any non-fixed payments
not described on lines 5 and 67 I "Yes," describein Part e
8 Were any amounts reported on Form 990, Part VI, paid or accrued pursuant to a contract that was subject to the
initial contract exception described in Regulations section 53.4958-4(a)(3)? If "Yes," describe inPart it . ... ...
9 If "Yes" to fine 8, did the organization also follow the rebuttable presumption procedure described in
ReguIations SECHON B3 4008-0(0)

If any of the boxes on line 1a are checked, did the organization follow a written policy regarding payment or
reimbursement or provision of all of the expenses described above? If “No," complete Part Il to explain

LHA For Paperwork Reduction Act Notice, see the Instructions for Form 990.

532111
10-14-15

Schedule J (Form 990) 2015



5102 (066 wiod)  2iNpayds

Si-y1-0L
cLLzes

()

()

e

‘0 *0 *0 *0 ‘0 ‘0 ()|  INZRIOTEAZA AIINOWWOD 4O ¥OIOTUIA
‘€6 €ST *TIT'ZT *€L2°81 ‘0 °0 XA {1 ZENILHYR ERIVE (V)
*0 ‘0 ‘0 0 ‘0 ‘0 (D] INHAISHYd HOTA
‘IST'LLT  |'zZ6L'ZI *026°12 ‘0 ‘0 ‘6€8'zyr W AMEMOR VANANV (€)
‘0 ‘0 ‘0 ‘0 ‘0 0 (1 INHQISTEE HOIA
*89¢€'6LT *Z268°'8T ‘6¥¥ 1 ‘0 ‘0 *LZ0'6ET ) OTTIHOS Wuveyvd (7)
‘0 . ‘ ‘0 ‘0 ‘0 ‘0 () ¥EDIAL0 HAIIADHXH ATIHD
*Gz6°902  |*GG6°'1Z *918'%2 ‘0 ‘0 ‘pGL'6GT  |W REHONOTTIM 'r AIAVQ (1)
066 Wiog Joud Uo uoijesusdios uonesuadwos
: s|qeyodai anpuadUl uonesuaduios
nmtﬂwmhw_mwﬁwn& @-0(g) sisuaq MMWMMMMWM_MM oo ) % snuoa () seea ) PR

uonesuaduwion (4)

suwnjoo jo [e104 (3}

sjgexejuonN (a)

pue yuswaiay ()

uotjesuaduiod OSIN-6601 10/pue Z-Mm j0 umopeaid (g)

‘JeNPIAIPUI JeU} J0) Sjunowe (3) pue () uwnjoo ejqeodde ‘e aul 'y UORDBS ‘IIA UEd ‘066 W0 JO JUNOLWE {10} 8} [ENba jsniu EnpIMpul paisl] yoea 1o} (11)-()(g) suwnjoo jo wns ayj 930N

“IIA HEd ‘066 W04 UO Pasi| Jou ol Jeu} Slenpiatpul Aue 3sij Jou og
“(11) mOJ UO ‘SUOIIONIISUL BY) Ul PaQUOSap ‘suoiieziueBio pajelas woiy pue () mor uo uoteziuebio sy} wosy uopesusdwod podal ‘r sinpayog uo pauodsal ag Isnw uoRESUSdWOD SSOYM [ENPIAIPUL YOES 0

"papssu s] 8oeds jeuolippe §i saidod sjeoydnp asn 'seafo|dwy pajesuadwo 1saybiH pue ‘soakojdug As)] ‘sasisni] ‘s1030dQ ‘s1EoI0 | || Hed

¢ obed

7601C6T-1¥

(WS) VIOSHNNIW AVMIVHTD

6102 (066 Wio4} [ 8jnPayog



SL-vi-0lL
eLLees

5102 (066 wuod) f* anpayog

‘UoBULIOJUI [euUOIpPE Aue 104 Med siyy 919idWwoD oSy | HEd 10} PUB ‘g puB ‘2 ‘a9 ‘Bg ‘4G ‘G ‘OF ‘ap 'Bv ‘S ‘ql ‘Bl saul ‘| Ued Joj paiinbai suolduosap 4o ‘uoneug|dxe ‘UOITBULIOJ BU} 8PIACIY
uoneurio] jeyuswaiddng T:.tm&_
€ obed $60TZ6T-1¥ (WS ) VLOSHNNIW AVMYVITD G102 (066 WG] [ 9[npayds




OMB No. 1545-0047

2015

SCHEDULE O Supplemental Information to Form 990 or 990-EZ

{Form 990 or 990-E2) Complete to provide information for responses to specific questions on
Form 990 or 990-EZ or to provide any additional information. o "
Department of the Treasury P> Attach to Form 990 or 990-EZ. __ Opento Public
Intermal Revenue Service P> information about Schedule O (Form 990 or 990:-E2) and its instructions is atWww.irs.gov/form990. | _ Inspection
Name of the organization Employer identification number
CLEARWAY MINNESOTA (SM) 41-1921094

FORM 990, PART I, LINE 1, DESCRIPTION OF ORGANIZATION MISSION:

OF ALL MINNESOTANS BY ELIMINATING THE HARM CAUSED BY TOBACCO. CLEARWAY

MINNESOTA WAS CREATED IN 1998 TO ADMINISTER 3 PERCENT ($202 MILLION) OF

MINNESOTA'S TOBACCO SETTLEMENT FUNDS OVER A PERIOD OF 25 YEARS.

CLEARWAY MINNESOTA'S MISSION IS TO ENHANCE LIFE FOR ALL MINNESOTANS BY

REDUCING TOBACCO USE AND EXPOSURE TO SECONDHAND SMOKE THROUGH RESEARCH,

ACTION AND COLLABORATION.

THE ORGANIZATION'S WORK IS GROUNDED IN ESTABLISHED AND EMERGING SCIENCE

AND IN PUBLIC HEALTH BEST AND PROMISING PRACTICES. IT INCLUDES A

COMPREHENSIVE BODY OF TOBACCO CESSATION PROGRAMS (MARKETED AS QUITPLAN

SERVICES), EXTENSIVE GRANT-MAKING ACTIVITIES IN AREAS OF RESEARCH,

POLICY AND COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT AND MEDIA CAMPAIGNS TO RAISE AWARENESS

OF TOBACCO'S HARMS AND TO PROMOTE QUITTING.

FORM 990, PART III, LINE 2, NEW PROGRAM SERVICES:

IN FISCAL YEAR 2016, CLEARWAY MINNESOTA BEGAN A NEW PROJECT TO BUILD

HEALTH SYSTEMS CAPACITY FOR ASSESSING AND ADDRESSING TOBACCO USE. THIS

INITIATIVE IS DESCRIBED IN LINE 4C.

FORM 990, PART III, LINE 4A, PROGRAM SERVICE ACCOMPLISHMENTS:

PROVIDES OPPORTUNITIES FOR THE PUBLIC TO LEARN MORE ABOUT CLEARWAY

MINNESOTA'S MISSION, PROGRAMS AND ACTIVITIES, AND TO GIVE CLEARWAY

MINNESOTA FEEDBACK. CLEARWAY MINNESOTA'S COMMUNICATIONS WORK ALSO

INCLUDES CUSTOMIZED QUTREACH TO DIVERSE COMMUNITIES.
g.l—zié ; For Paperwork Reduction Act Notice, see the Instructions for Form 990 or 990-EZ. Schedule O {Form 990 or 990-EZ) (2015)
08-02-15




Schedule O (Form 990 or 990-E7) (2015) Page 2

Name of the organization Employer identification number

CLEARWAY MINNESOTA (SM) 41-1921094

IN FISCAL YEAR 2016, CLEARWAY MINNESOTA'S ADVERTISING AND OUTREACH WORK

FOCUSED ON PROMOTING QUITPLAN SERVICES, THE QUITCASH CHALLENGETM AND

MINI-QUIT MONDAYS, AND ON EDUCATING ABOUT THE ROLE FLAVORS (INCLUDING

MENTHOL) PLAY IN ATTRACTING NONSMOKERS AND KIDS TO TOBACCO PRODUCTS.

IN FISCAL YEAR 2016, CLEARWAY MINNESOTA'S MASS MEDIA CAMPAIGNS REACHED

99 PERCENT OF MINNESOTA ADULTS AN AVERAGE OF 122 TIMES THROUGHOUT THE

YEAR. FURTHERMORE, 99 PERCENT OF MINNESOTA SMOKERS SAW MESSAGES

RELATING TO SMOKING CESSATION AN AVERAGE OF 62 TIMES DURING THE YEAR.

IN ADDITION, CLEARWAY MINNESOTA PRODUCED A NEW TELEVISION AD FOCUSED ON

MENTHOL TOBACCO, AND CONTINUED ITS PARTNERSHIP WITH THE MINNESOTA

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH ON A CAMPAIGN TO EDUCATE MEDICAID ENROLLEES ABOUT

CESSATION BENEFITS AVAILABLE TO THEM. CLEARWAY MINNESOTA LEVERAGED

CDC'S NATIONAL MEDIA CAMPAIGN BY PLACING TIPS FROM FORMER SMOKERS ADS

IN PUBLICATIONS AROUND THE STATE. CLEARWAY MINNESOTA'S PROGRAMS,

SERVICES OR KEY MESSAGES ALSO RECEIVED NEWS COVERAGE BY MINNESOTA MEDIA

APPROXIMATELY 1000 TIMES OVER THE COURSE OF THE YEAR.

THIS YEAR, CLEARWAY MINNESOTA ALSO AWARDED EIGHT GRANTS TO MINNESOTA

NONPROFITS AND LOCAL UNITS OF GOVERNMENT TO REDUCE TOBACCO'S HARM

THROUGH COALITION BUILDING, POLICY ADVOCACY AND PUBLIC EDUCATION. ALL

GRANTEES CONTRIBUTED TO CLEARWAY MINNESOTA'S STATEWIDE POLICY GOALS BY

EDUCATING LAWMAKERS ABOUT THE IMPORTANCE OF KEEPING TOBACCO PRICES

HIGH, INCREASING THE AGE TO PURCHASE TOBACCO, RESTRICTING YOUTH ACCESS

TO CANDY, FRUIT AND MENTHOL FLAVORED TOBACCO PRODUCTS, AND INCREASING

FUNDING FOR TOBACCO PREVENTION. NOTABLY, THEY HELPED PASS APPROXIMATELY
532212 09-02-15 Schedule O (Form 990 or 990-EZ) (2015)




Schedule O (Form 990 or 990-E7) (2015) ) Page 2
Name of the organization Employer identification number

CLEARWAY MINNESOTA (SM) 41-1921094

50 NEW LOCAL POLICIES, SUCH AS RESTRICTING ACCESS TO FLAVORED TOBACCO

PRODUCTS TO ADULTS-ONLY STORES, INCREASING THE PRICE OF CIGARS, ADDING

E-CIGARETTES TO CLEAN-AIR POLICIES, INCREASING THE MINIMUM AGE TO SELL

TOBACCO, AND CREATING VOLUNTARY TOBACCO-FREE HOUSING AND COLLEGE CAMPUS

POLICIES.

FORM 990, PART III, LINE 4B, PROGRAM SERVICE ACCOMPLISHMENTS:

AWARDED FOR A PILOT PROJECT USING RESEARCH TO IMPLEMENT CESSATION AND

SMOKING PREVENTION EDUCATIONAL MATERIALS IN CHICANO/LATINO COMMUNITIES.

CLEARWAY MINNESOTA CONTRACTS TO EVALUATE MAJOR PROGRAMMATIC EFFORTS. IN

ADDITION, SURVEILLANCE RESEARCH IS CONDUCTED TO MONITOR TOBACCO USE,

ATTITUDES AND BEHAVIORS OVER TIME AND TO MEASURE THE IMPACT OF TOBACCO

CONTROL POLICIES AND PROGRAMS. A STUDY WAS CONDUCTED TO FOLLOW UP ON

RESULTS FROM THE 2014 MINNESOTA ADULT TOBACCO SURVEY (MATS), A MAJOR

RESEARCH PROJECT PROVIDING DETAILED DATA ON TOBACCO USE IN MINNESOTA.

THE FOLLOW-UP STUDY, WHICH FOCUSED ON THE USE OF COMBUSTIBLE AND

ELECTRONIC CIGARETTES, WAS COMPLETED AND RESULTS WERE MADE AVAILABLE

THROUGH CONFERENCE PRESENTATIONS AND PEER-REVIEWED MANUSCRIPTS IN

FISCAL YEAR 2016. RESULTS FROM THESE RESEARCH AND EVALUATION PROJECTS

ARE USED TO ADVANCE AND GUIDE CLEARWAY MINNESOTA'S ACTIVITIES.

GRANTEE DISSEMINATION HIGHLIGHTS IN FISCAL YEAR 2016 INCLUDED SEVEN

NATIONAL CONFERENCE PRESENTATIONS, PUBLICATION OF THREE MANUSCRIPTS,

DEVELOPMENT OF FOUR MANUSCRIPTS FOR PUBLICATION AND DISTRIBUTION OF

DISSEMINATION MATERIALS THROUGH LISTSERVS AND WEBINARS.

DURING FISCAL YEAR 2016, CLEARWAY MINNESOTA, IN PARTNERSHIP WITH

MINNESOTA TOBACCO CONTROL RESEARCHERS, PARTICIPATED IN NUMEROUS
532212 09-02-15 Schedule O (Form 990 or 990-EZ)} (2015)
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Name of the organization Employer identification number

CLEARWAY MINNESOTA (SM) 41-1921094

NATIONAL, STATE AND LOCAL CONFERENCE PRESENTATIONS AND PUBLISHED IN

SEVERAL PEER-REVIEWED PUBLICATIONS. CLEARWAY MINNESOTA STAFF PUBLISHED

10 PEER-REVIEWED SCIENTIFIC RESEARCH PAPERS. STAFF FACILITATED ONE

SYMPOSIUM AND ONE PRE-CONFERENCE WORKSHOP AND PRESENTED TWO PAPERS AT

THE ANNUAL MEETING OF THE SOCIETY FOR RESEARCH ON NICOTINE AND TOBACCO

(SRNT). TOPICS INCLUDED THE IMPACT OF TOBACCO CONTROL POLICIES ON

CIGARETTE AND SMOKELESS TOBACCO USE. RESEARCH STAFF ALSO PRESENTED 10

PAPERS AT THE SRNT CONFERENCE. IN ADDITION TO SRNT, RESEARCH STAFF

PRESENTED AT THE TRACKING TOBACCO USE IN VULNERABLE POPULATIONS

CONFERENCE, AND ATTENDED WORKSHOPS ON ELECTRONIC CIGARETTES AND PUBLIC

HEALTH, STATISTICAL APPROACHES FOR ASSESSING HEALTH EFFECTS, AND

TOBACCO INDUSTRY DOCUMENTS TRAINING.

FORM 990, PART III, LINE 4C, PROGRAM SERVICE ACCOMPLISHMENTS:

AND PRINTED MATERIALS TO UNINSURED MINNESOTANS AND THOSE WHOSE

INSURANCE DOES NOT COVER CESSATION HELP. OVER-THE-COUNTER NICOTINE

REPLACEMENT PRODUCTS IN THE FORM OF PATCHES, GUM AND LOZENGES ARE

PROVIDED AS APPROPRIATE. HELPLINE ENROLLEES MAY ALSO ADD INTEGRATED

TEXT MESSAGING AND/OR EMAIL SUPPORT SERVICES AS PART OF THE HELPLINE

PROGRAM.

INDIVIDUAL QUITPLAN SERVICES INCLUDE NICOTINE REPLACEMENT STARTER KITS,

A TEXT-MESSAGING PROGRAM, AN EMAIL PROGRAM AND/OR A PRINTED QUIT GUIDE.

ALL ADULT MINNESOTANS CAN RECEIVE INDIVIDUAL QUITPLAN SERVICES. TOBACCO

USERS CAN REGISTER FOR ANY QUITPLAN SERVICE EITHER ONLINE (AT

WWW.QUITPLAN.COM) OR BY PHONE.

DURING FISCAL YEAR 2016:

532212 09-02-15 Schedule O (Form 990 or 990-EZ) (2015)
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Name of the organization Employer identification number

CLEARWAY MINNESOTA (SM) 41-1921084

-2,238 TOBACCO USERS ENROLLED IN THE QUITPLAN HELPLINE; AND

-15,829 TOBACCO USERS ENROLLED IN INDIVIDUAL QUITPLAN SERVICES.

CLEARWAY MINNESOTA ALSO PARTNERS WITH MAJOR MINNESOTA HEALTH PLANS THAT

PROVIDE TELEPHONE COUNSELING SERVICES THROUGH THE CALL IT QUITS

COLLABORATIVE. THIS COLLABORATIVE PROVIDES A FORUM FOR ALL MINNESQTA

QUITLINE SERVICE PROVIDERS TO SHARE INFORMATION AND LEARN ABOUT BEST

PRACTICES. THE CALL IT QUITS COLLABORATIVE ALSO SUPPORTS THE CALL IT

QUITS REFERRAL PROGRAM, WHICH ALLOWS HEALTH CARE PROVIDERS TO USE A

SINGLE FORM AND FAX NUMBER TO REFER PATIENTS TO QUITLINE SUPPORT,

REGARDLESS OF INSURANCE STATUS.

AS PART OF ITS EFFORTS TO REACH POPULATIONS THAT SMOKE AT HIGHER RATES,

LAST YEAR CLEARWAY MINNESOTA LAUNCHED THE COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT GRANTS

INITIATIVE. THIS INITIATIVE CONNECTS ADULT SMOKERS OF LOW SOCIOECONOMIC

STATUS TO EXISTING SMOKING CESSATION SERVICES. FIVE COMMUNITY-BASED

ORGANIZATIONS RECEIVED GRANTS UNDER THIS INITIATIVE IN FISCAL YEAR

2016. IN ADDITION, SEVEN ORGANIZATIONS THAT HAD RECEIVED GRANTS IN

FISCAL YEAR 2015 THROUGH THIS INITIATIVE WERE APPROVED FOR A SECOND

YEAR.

CLEARWAY MINNESOTA STAFF IS ALSO ACTIVELY INVOLVED IN CESSATION POLICY

WORK TO ENSURE THAT ALL MINNESOTANS HAVE ACCESS TO COMPREHENSIVE

TOBACCO DEPENDENCE TREATMENT. THIS WORK ENTAILS EDUCATING ABOUT AND

ADVOCATING FOR COMPREHENSIVE TOBACCO CESSATION BENEFITS AS PART OF

HEALTH INSURANCE COVERAGE, PROMOTING SYSTEMS CHANGES TO INTEGRATE

TOBACCO DEPENDENCE TREATMENT INTO HEALTH CARE AND PUBLIC PROGRAMS, AND

532212 09-02-15 Schedule O (Form 990 or 990-EZ) (2015)
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Name of the organization Employer identification number

CLEARWAY MINNESOTA (SM) 41-1921094

ADVOCATING FOR HEALTH CARE QUALITY MEASURES ON TOBACCO TREATMENT

DELIVERY. TO HELP ADVANCE OUR SYSTEMS CHANGE WORK, WE HAVE FUNDED FIVE

HEALTH SYSTEMS CHANGE GRANTS. THESE GRANTS SUPPORT MINNESOTA HEALTH

SYSTEMS TO IMPLEMENT PROCESSES MAKING DELIVERY OF TOBACCO DEPENDENCE

TREATMENT A STANDARD PRACTICE OF CARE. WE ARE ALSO WORKING ON A NEW

PROJECT TO INCREASE HEALTH SYSTEM CAPACITY TO ASSESS AND ADDRESS

TOBACCO USE. MUCH OF THIS WORK WILL FOCUS ON CLINICS AND HEALTH SYSTEMS

THAT SERVE POPULATIONS THAT SMOKE AT HIGHER RATES.

QUITPLAN SERVICES, OUR CESSATION POLICY EFFORTS AND THE COMMUNITY

ENGAGEMENT GRANTS INITIATIVE ARE EVALUATED TO AID IN PROGRAM

MONITORING, TO ENHANCE QUALITY AND TO GUIDE DECISION-MAKING AND

RESOURCE ALLOCATION.

CLEARWAY MINNESOTA CESSATION STAFF MEMBERS SHARE FINDINGS FROM OUR WORK

THROUGH LOCAL, STATE AND NATIONAL CONFERENCE PRESENTATIONS

FORM 990, PART III, LINE 4D, OTHER PROGRAM SERVICES:

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT

CLEARWAY MINNESOTA FUNDS EFFORTS IN PRIORITY POPULATIONS (AFRICANS AND

AFRICAN AMERICANS, AMERICAN INDIANS, ASIANS, ASIAN AMERICANS, PACIFIC

ISLANDERS, CHICANOS/LATINOS, LESBIAN, GAY, BISEXUAL, TRANSGENDER AND

QUEER [LGBTQ] COMMUNITIES, AND OTHER GROUPS) TO CREATE AWARENESS ABOQUT

TOBACCO'S HARMS, TO PROMOTE STOP-SMOKING SERVICES AND TO BUILD TOBACCO

CONTROL LEADERSHIP SKILLS. PRIORITY POPULATIONS HAVE A DISPROPORTIONATE

TOBACCO-RELATED DISEASE BURDEN AND DISPARITIES.

IN FISCAL YEAR 2016, CLEARWAY MINNESOTA CONTINUED EFFORTS IN INDIAN
532212 09-02-15 Schedule O {Form 990 or 990-EZ) (2015)
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CLEARWAY MINNESOTA (SM) 41-1921094

COUNTRY TO ADVANCE COMPREHENSIVE COMMERCIAL TOBACCO-FREE POLICIES AND

PROMOTE HEALTH ON MINNESOTA TRIBAL LANDS. ("COMMERCIAL TOBACCO" USE

LIKE CIGARETTE SMOKING IS DIFFERENTIATED FROM SACRED, TRADITIONAL USES

OF TOBACCO BY AMERICAN INDIANS.) THESE EFFORTS ARE EVALUATED TO

DOCUMENT PROGRESS AND CONTRIBUTE TO PROMISING AND BEST PRACTICES IN THE

TOBACCO CONTROL FIELD. IN 2016, THESE GRANTEES, WORKING WITH THEIR

EVALUATOR, PUBLISHED AN ARTICLE IN THE AMERICAN JOURNAL OF PUBLIC

HEALTH TITLED "WHY THE WORLD WILL NEVER BE TOBACCO-FREE: REFRAMING

'TOBACCO CONTROL' INTO A TRADITIONAL TOBACCO MOVEMENT." THIS YEAR WE

ALSO SUPPORTED A PROJECT TO EDUCATE MINNESOTA AND NATIONAL INDIAN

GAMING ASSOCIATIONS ABOUT COMMERCIAL TOBACCO AND SECONDHAND SMOKE IN AN

EFFORT TO ADVANCE SMOKE-FREE CASINO POLICIES. ADDITIONALLY, IN FISCAL

YEAR 2016, LEECH LAKE TRIBAL COLLEGE, FUNDED BY CLEARWAY MINNESOTA,

PUBLISHED AN ARTICLE ABOUT THEIR COMMERCIAL TOBACCO-FREE CAMPUS POLICY

THAT WAS HIGHLIGHTED BY THE AMERICAN INDIAN COLLEGE FUND. FINALLY,

SINCE CLEARWAY MINNESOTA'S LIMITED LIFESPAN ENDS IN 2023, THE

ORGANIZATION IS INVOLVED IN A DIALOGUE WITH MINNESOTA FOUNDATIONS AND

TRIBAL LEADERSHIP ABOUT THE FUTURE OF HEALTH PROMOTION WORK IN INDIAN

COUNTRY.

CLEARWAY MINNESOTA ALSO PUBLISHED AN ARTICLE IN THE JOURNAL OF HEALTH

DISPARITIES RESEARCH AND PRACTICE ABOUT THE LEADERSHIP AND ADVOCACY

INSTITUTE TO ADVANCE MINNESOTA'S PARITY FOR PRIORITY POPULATIONS

(LAAMPP), A FELLOWSHIP PROGRAM THAT BUILDS CAPACITY AND LEADERSHIP FOR

TOBACCO CONTROL WORK IN PRIORITY POPULATION COMMUNITIES. THIS

PUBLICATION WILL CONTRIBUTE TO PROMISING AND/OR BEST PRACTICES IN

CULTIVATING PRIORITY POPULATION LEADERS FOR TOBACCO CONTROL

532212 09-02-15 Schedule O (Form 990 or 990-E2) (2015)
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IN FISCAL YEAR 2016, CLEARWAY MINNESOTA ALSO WORKED TO DEVELOP

RELATIONSHIPS AND PARTNERSHIPS AMONG OTHER MINNESOTA FUNDERS TO BUILD

SUSTAINABILITY FOR LEADERSHIP DEVELOPMENT AND CAPACITY BUILDING IN

PRIORITY POPULATIONS.

EXPENSES $ 722,322. INCLUDING GRANTS OF $§ 692,541. REVENUE § 0.

FORM 990, PART V, LINE 4B, LIST OF FOREIGN COUNTRIES:

GUERNSEY, CAYMAN ISLANDS, BRITISH VIRGIN IS

FORM 990, PART VI, SECTION B, LINE 11:

THE IRS FORM 9S50 AND ATTACHMENTS ARE COMPLETED BY THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

AND REVIEWED BY STAFF AND LEGAL COUNSEL. THE FORM IS PRESENTED TO THE

AUDIT/FINANCE COMMITTEE AND THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS FOR REVIEW AND APPROVAL.

THE COMMITTEE AND BOARD RECEIVE THE DOCUMENT APPROXIMATELY ONE WEEK IN

ADVANCE OF THE RESPECTIVE MEETING AT WHICH IT IS REVIEWEb. THE INDEPENDENT

AUDITOR IS AVAILABLE TO ANSWER ANY QUESTIONS THAT MAY ARISE. COPIES OF THE

FORM 900 ARE DISTRIBUTED TQ ALL BOARD MEMBERS, WHO APPROVE THE 990 PRIOR TO

THE RETURN BEING FILED WITH THE INTERNAL REVENUE SERVICE.

FORM 990, PART VI, SECTION B, LINE 12C:

CONFLICTS OF INTEREST, INCLUDING POLICIES RELATING TO LOANS AND GIFTS, ARE

GOVERNED BY CLEARWAY MINNESOTA'S CONFLICT OF INTEREST POLICY.

ENFORCEMENT OF THE CONFLICT OF INTEREST POLICY SHALL BE MADE BY THE

CLEARWAY MINNESOTA BOARD, ON THE RECOMMENDATION OF THE EXECUTIVE/GOVERNANCE

COMMITTEE OF THE BOARD, OR OF A COMMITTEE DESIGNATED BY THAT COMMITTEE.

i CLEARWAY MINNESOTA REGULARLY AND CONSISTENTLY MONITORS AND ENFORCES
532212 08-02-15 Schedule O (Form 990 or 990-EZ) {2015)
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CLEARWAY MINNESOTA (SM) 41-1921094

COMPLIANCE WITH ITS CONFLICT OF INTEREST POLICY. THE BOARD REQUIRES EACH

BOARD MEMBER AND EMPLOYEE TO BE ADVISED OF THIS POLICY; AND PROVIDED A

COPY, IMMEDIATELY UPON ASSUMING THEIR CLEARWAY MINNESOTA DUTIES OR

RELATIONSHIP, AND TO BE PERIODICALLY REMINDED OF THIS POLICY AND EDUCATED

CONCERNING ITS APPLICATION. EVERY BOARD MEMBER AND EMPLOYEE IS RESPONSIBLE

FOR KNOWING AND OBSERVING THE POLICY.

EACH BOARD MEMBER AND EMPLOYEE IS REQUIRED TO SUBMIT A CERTIFICATE OF

COMPLIANCE ANNUALLY. THE CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE REQUIRES BOARD MEMBERS

AND EMPLOYEES TO REVIEW A LIST OF CURRENT CLEARWAY MINNESOTA GRANTEES AND

CONTRACTORS AND TO DISCLOSE AFFILIATIONS WITH ANY ORGANIZATIONS THAT HAVE

GRANTS OR CONTRACTS WITH CLEARWAY MINNESOTA.

CLEARWAY MINNESOTA HAS A CONFLICT OF INTEREST SCREENING PROCESS TO IDENTIFY

POTENTIAL CONFLICTS INVOLVING APPLICANTS FOR FUNDING THAT HAVE NOT HAD A

GRANT OR CONTRACT WITH CLEARWAY MINNESOTA DURING THE PAST YEAR. THIS

PROCESS IDENTIFIES POTENTIAL CONFLICTS EARLY IN THE APPLICATION PROCESS IN

ORDER TO IMPLEMENT CONFLICT OF INTEREST MITIGATION STRATEGIES THAT MAY BE

NECESSARY DURING THE APPLICATION REVIEW PROCESS.

BOARD DIRECTORS AND STAFF HAVE THE RESPONSIBILITY TO DISCLOSE TO THE

ORGANIZATION THE RELEVANT FACTS OF ANY PROPOSED ACTION INVOLVING CLEARWAY

MINNESOTA IN WHICH THEY HAVE POSSIBLE OR PERCEIVED CONFLICTS AS SOON AS

THEY ARE DISCOVERED.

FORM 990, PART VI, SECTION B, LINE 15:

CLEARWAY MINNESOTA REVIEWS COMPENSATION (SALARY RANGES AND BENEFITS) ON AN

ANNUAL BASIS. AT LEAST EVERY TWO YEARS, AN INDEPENDENT COMPENSATION
§32212 09-02-15 Schedule O {(Form 990 or 990-EZ) (2015}
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CONSULTANT COMPARES ALL JOBS TO APPLICABLE MARKET SURVEYS TO DETERMINE

COMPENSATION COMPETITIVENESS TO THE MARKET. IN YEARS WHERE A CONSULTANT IS

NOT ENGAGED, STAFF REVIEWS THE MOST CURRENT ANNUAL WORLD-AT-WORK SURVEY TO

DETERMINE MARKET TRENDS. FROM THESE ANALYSES, PAY RANGE MODIFICATIONS AND

THE ANNUAL BUDGETED SALARY MERIT INCREASE PERCENTAGE ARE DETERMINED. THIS

INFORMATION IS REVIEWED BY THE EXECUTIVE/GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE, AND BY THE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS, WHICH MAKES THE FINAL DECISION ON SALARY RANGE LEVELS

AND BUDGET AMOUNTS.

ALL STAFF SALARY CHANGES, EXCEPT THAT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER, ARE

REVIEWED AND APPROVED BY THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER. SALARY CHANGES FOR

THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER ARE DETERMINED ANNUALLY BY THE

EXECUTIVE/GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE AND APPROVED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS.

FORM 990, PART VI, SECTION C, LINE 19:

CLEARWAY MINNESOTA'S GOVERNING DOCUMENTS, INCLUDING ITS CONFLICT OF

INTEREST POLICY AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, ARE AVAILABLE AT THE CLEARWAY

MINNESOTA OFFICE FOR INSPECTION.

532212 09-02-15 Schedule O (Form 930 or 990-EZ) (2015)
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Form 990"T

Exempt Organization Business Income Tax Return OMB No. 1545-0667
{and proxy tax under section 6033(e))
For calendar year 2015 or other tax year beginning JUL 1 ’ 2 0 1 5 , and ending JUN 3 0 N 2 0 1 6 . 20 1 5

Department of the Treasury »> Information about Form 990-T and its instructions is available at www.irs.gov/form890t.

Internal Revenue Service P> Do not enter SSN numbers on this form as it may be made public if your organization is a 501(c)(3). m

A |__ICheck box if Name of organization ( |__| Check box if name changed and see instructions.) DEmployer identiioation number

address changed instructions)

B Exempt under section | Print | CLEARWAY MINNESOTA (SM) 41-1921094
501c X3 ) o7 [ Nymber, street, and room or suite no. If a P.0. box, sge instructions. R eatod pysinoss activity codes
[_J408(e) [_J220(e)| ™ | TWO APPLETREE SQ, 8011 34TH AVE S, NO. 400
|:__| 408A DSBO(a) Gity or town, state or province, country, and ZIP or foreign postal code
[_1529a) MINNEAPOLIS, MN 55425 900059

Book valuaofallassets | F Group exemption number (See instructions.) |
55,4 3T , 244 . |6 Check organization type ® | X ] 501(c) corporation || 501(c) trust L1 401(a) trust | Other trust

H Describe the organization's primary unrelated business activity. p» PARTNERSHIP INVESTMENT

1 During the tax year, was the corporation a subsidiary in an affiliated group or a parent-subsidiary controlled group? .. » L ves (X o
If *Yes," enter the name and identifying number of the parent corporation. >
J The books are in care of > LANA KOPYLOV Telephone number > 952-767-1400
I‘Pa@}_{] Unrelated Trade or Business Income (A) Income [ (B) Expenses (C) Net
1a Gross receipts or sales - -
b Less returns and allowances ¢Balance » | 1
2 Costof goods sold (Schedule A, BRe 7) 2
3 Gross profit. Subtract line 2fromline 1¢ 3
4a Capital gain net income (attach Schedule D) 4a
b Net gain (loss) (Form 4797, Part I, line 17) (attach Form 4797) .. .. ... 4b
¢ Capital loss deduction for rusStS 4c
5 Income (loss) from partnerships and S corporations (attach statement) 5 29,2270
6 Rentincome (Schedule C) . . . 6
7 Unrelated debt-financed income (Schedule E) . 7
8 [Interest, annuities, royalties, and rents from controlied organizations (Sch.F) | 8
9 Investment income of a section 501(c)(7), (9), or (17) organization (Schedule G)] 9
10 Exploited exempt activity income (Schedule 1) . 10
11 Advertising income (Schedule d) e, 11
12 Other income (See instructions; attach schedule) . ... 12 ..
13 Total. Combine lines Sthrough 12, 13 29,227, | 29,227.
Part ll| Deductions Not Taken Eisewhere (See instructions for limitations on deductions.)
(Except for contributions, deductions must be directly connected with the unrelated business income.)
14 Compensation of officers, diractors, and trustees (SCheAUIE K) e 14
16 SalarieS ANGWAGES | ...t 15
16 Repairs and MAINENANCE | . . oottt ettt 16
17 BRAABDES ettt 17
18  Interest (aftach schedule) 18
10 TaXBS ANGNCBNSES ... . .\ oo oo oo 19 2,598.
20  Charitable contributions (See instructions for limitation rules) STATEMENT 3 SEE STATEMENT 2 | 20 1,004.
21 Depreciation (attach Form4562) 21
22  Less depreciation claimed on Schedule A and elsewhereonreturn . 22b
28 DBPIBHON et e e 23
24 Contributions f0 deferred COmMPeNSat O DIaNS e 24
25 Employee benefit DrOQIAMS s 25
26 ExXcess exempt eXDeNSES (SCNBAUIC ) 26
27  Excessreadership costs (Schedule d) . L 27
28  Other deductions (AHACH SCRBAUIEY e 28
29 Total deductions. AdG NES 14 I0UGN 28 e, 29 3,602.
30 Unrelated business taxable income before net operating loss deduction. Subiract line 28 fromfine 13 ... 30 25,625.
31 Netoperating loss deduction (limited to the amountonfine 30) . ... SEE STATEMENT 4 | 31 15,590.
32 Unrelated business taxable income befare specific deduction. Subtract line 31 from line 30 32 10,035.
33 Specific deduction (Generally $1,000, but see line 33 instructions for exceptions) 33 1,000.
34  Unrelated business taxable income. Subtract line 33 from line 32. If line 33 is greater than line 32, enter the smaller of zero or
B8 32 oo oot ee e eeeeteeeeee e s s ee e ettt en e eeen e e et eseee et ee L e et L 34 9,035,
T LHA For Paperwork Reduction Act Notice, see instructions. Form 990-T (2015)



Fomeso-T2015)  CLEARWAY MINNESOTA (SM) 41-1921094 Page 2
[Part 1ll | Tax Computation

35 Organizations Taxable as Corporations. See instructions for tax computation.
Controlled group members (sections 1561 and 1563) check here P> [ see instructions and:
a Enter your share of the $50,000, $25,000, and $9,925,000 taxable income brackets (in that order):
s | @]s | @8 |
b Enter organization's share of: (1) Additional 5% tax (not more than $11,750)  |$ |
(2) Additional 3% tax (not more than $100,000) |$ |
¢ Income tax on the amount on e 34 | .. e > | 35¢c 1,355.
36 Trusts Taxable at Trust Rates. See instructions for tax computation. Income tax on the amount on line 34 from:
1 Taxrate schedule or ] Schedule D FOMM A0 ) » | 36
37 Proxy tax. SBE INSIUCLONS | . i » | 37
38 Alternative MINIMUMBAX e 38
39 Total. Add lines 37 and 38 t0 line 35 Or 36, WNICNEVEr ADDIES  .............cooivooivoooooooooeoeeeeeeeeeoeeeeeeeeeeas 39 1,355.
[Part IV] Tax and Payments
40a Foreign tax credit (corporations attach Form 1118; trusts attach Form 1116) 40a
b Other credits (see instructions) . ... 40b
¢ General business credit. Attach Form 3800 40c
d Credit for prior year minimum tax (attach Form 8801 or 8827) . 40d
e Total credits. Add lines 40a through 400 s 40e
41 Subtractline 408 fromine 39 41 1,355.
42 Other taxes. Check if from: (] Form 4255 [ Form 8611 [__] Form 8697 [__] Form 8866 [__] Other (attach scheduie) | 42
43 Totaltax. Add iNeS 41aNA 42 e e 43 1,355.
44 a Payments: A 2014 overpayment credited 10 2015 44a
b 2015 estimated tax payments 44b
¢ Tax deposited with Form 8868 44c
d Foreign organizations: Tax paid or withheld at source (see instructions) . .. . ... 44d
e Backup withholding (see instructions) . . 44e
f Credit for small employer health insurance premiums (Attach Form 8941) . ... .. ... 44f
g Other credits and payments: l:l Form 2439
(1 Form 4136 [ other Total B | 44g
45 Total payments. Add lines 44athrough 440 e 45
46 Estimated tax penalty (see instructions). Check if Form 2220 isattached B> [ 46 39.
47 Tax due. If line 45 is less than the total of lines 43 and 46, enteramountowed . » | 47 1,394,
48 Overpayment. If line 45 is larger than the total of lines 43 and 46, enter amount overpaid | 48
49  Enter the amount of line 48 you want: Credited to 2016 estimated tax P> | Refunded p | 49
| Part V | Statements Regarding Certain Activities and Other Information (see instructions)
1 Atany time during the 2015 calendar year, did the organization have an interest in or a signature or other authority over a financial account (bank, Yes | No
securities, or other) in a foreign country? If YES, the organization may have to file FinCEN Form 114, Report of Foreign Bank and Financial
Accounts. If YES, enter the name of the foreign country here P> SEE STATEMENT 5 X
gt ol e e ot k- i el tles ST X
3 Enter the amount of tax-exempt interest received or accrued during the tax year B> $
Schedule A - Cost of Goods Sold. Enter method of inventory valuaton p N/A
1 Inventory at beginning of year 1 6 Inventoryatendofyear . . 6
2 Purchases 2 7 Cost of goods sold. Subtract line 6
3 Costoflabor . . 3 from line 5. Enter here and in Part I, line2 . 7
42 Additional section 263A costs (att. schedule) | 4a 8 Do the rules of section 263A (with respect to Yes | No
b Other costs (attach schedule) . .. 4b property produced or acquired for resale) apply to
5 Total. Add lines 1 through4b ......... 5 the organization? ...
der penalties of perjugy, | declare that | have examined this return, including accompanying schedules and statements, and to the best of my knowledge and belief, it is true,
Slgn correct, and compl ’ ation of preparer (other than taxpayer) is based on all information of which preparer has any knowledge. . . '
May the IRS discuss this return with
Here ‘ y | I(Zg at)/(P } CHIEF EXEC OFFICER the preparer shown below (see
/signatu of oicer 7 (/ Dafe ] Title instructions)? Yes g No |
Print/Type preparer's name Preparer's signature Date Check || if |PTIN

self- employed

Paid .
Preparer [LINDA M. NELSON q T Nedaon ::/:/w P00205567

Use Only |Firm's name » OLSEN THIELEN k CO., LTD FsEN D 41-1360831
2675 LONG LAKE ROAD
Firm's address p» ST'. PAUL, MN 55113 Phoneno. 651-483-4521

523711 01-06-16 Form 990-T (2015)
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41-1921094

Page 3

Schedule C - Rent Income {From Real Property and Personal Property Leased With Real Property)(see instructions)

1. Description of property

1)

@)

8

(4

2. Rentreceived or accrued
- - 3(a)Deducﬁons directly connected with the income in
a)} From personal property (if the percentage of b) From real and personal property {(if the percentage
( ) rent for personal property is more than ( of rent for personal property exceeds 50% or if columns 2(a) and 2(b) {attach schedule)
0% but not more than 50%} the rent is based on profit or incomae)

)

@

@8

)

Total 0. | Total 0.
{c) Total income. Add totals of columns 2(a) and 2(b). Enter (b) Total deductions

. Enter here and on page 1,
here and on page 1, Part i, line 6, column (A) ... ... » 0 . |Part!, line s, column (®) .. P> 0.

Schedule E - Unrelated Debt-Financed Income (see instructions)

1. Description of debt-financed property

2. Gross income from
or allocable to debt-
financed property

3. Deductions directly connected with or allocable
to debt-financed property

(a) straight line depreciation
(attach schedule)

(b) Other deductions
{attach schedule)

0]

@)

3)

{4

4. Amount of average acquisition
debt on or aliocable to debt-financed

property (attach schedule)

5. Average adjusted basis
of or allecable to
debt-financed property
{attach scheduie)

by column 5

6. Column 4 divided

7. Gross income
reportable {column
2 x column 6)

8. Allocable deductions
{column 6 x total of columns
3(a) and 3(b)

a) %
{2) Yo
)] %
4) %
Enter here and on page 1, Enter here and on page 1,
Part |, line 7, column (A). Part |, line 7, column (B).
TOWIS e > 0. 0.
Total dividends-received deductions included inCOIUMN 8 ... i > 0.

Schedule F - Interest, Annuities, Royalties, and Rents From Controlled Organizations (see instructions)

1. Name of controllad organization

Exempt Controlled Organizations

Employer id'entiﬁcation
number

(loss) {see instructions)

3.

Net unrelated income

Total of s-peciﬁed
payments made

5. Part of column 4 that is
included in the controlling
organization's gress income

6. Deductions directly
connected with income
in column 5

)

]

8

)

Nonexempt Controlled Organizations

7. Taxable Incoms

8. Net unrelated income {loss)

{see instructions)

9. Total of specified payments
made

10. Part of column 9 that is included
in the controlling organization's

gross income

11. Deductions directly connected
with income in column 10

()
@
&)
4
Add columns § and 10. Add columns 6 and 11.
Enter here and on page 1, Part |, Enter here and on page 1, Part |,
fine 8, column (A). fine 8, column (B).
TOMIS ..o » 0. 0.

523721 01-06-16

Form 990-T (2015)



Form 990-T {2015) CLEARWAY MINNESOTA (SM) 41-1921094

Schedule G - Investment Income of a Section 501(c)(7), (9), or (17) Organization
(see instructions)

Page 4

3. Deductions 4 s " §. Total deductions
1. Description of income 2. Amount of income directly connected e ﬁ*’ai'dgsl and set-asides
{attach schedule} (attach schedule) {col. 3 plus col. 4)
U]
@
@)
@ _
Enter here and on page 1,} G Vi Enter here and on page 1,
Part |, fine 9, column {A). A Part |, line 9, column (8).
Totals > 0.; 0.

Schedule | - Exploited Exempt Activity Income, Other Than Advertisin

(see instructions)

g Income

4. Net income {loss)

3. Expenses . 7. Excess exempt

. 2. Gr05§ directly connected from gnrelatsd frade or 5. Gr05§ income 6. Expenses expenses {column

1. Description of unrelated business with production business (column 2 from activity that attributable to 6 minus column 5§
exploited activity income from minus column 3). ifa is not unrelated colurmn 5 but not mores than

trade or business

of unrelated
business income

gain, compute cols. 5

business income

column 4).

through 7.
M
@
B8
)
Enter here and on Enter here and on Enter here and
page 1, Part |, page 1, Part |, on page 1,
fine 10, col. (A). line 10, col. (B). Part i}, line 26.
Totals ... » 0. 0 0.

Schedule J - Advertising Income (see instructions)
Income From Periodicals Reported on a Consolidated Basis

2 G 4. Advertising gain 7. Excess readership
: dv er{.°§s 3. Direct or (loss) (col. 2 minus 5. Circutation 6. Readership costs {column 6 minus
1. Name of periodical a incorl::‘g advertising costs | col. 3). if a gain, compute income costs column 5, but not more
cols. 5 through 7. than column 4).
M
2
3
)
Totals (carry to Part Il, line (5)) ...... > 0. 0. 0.
[ pagtfuﬁ] Income From Periodicals Reported on a Separate Basis (For each periodical listed in Part If, fill in
columns 2 through 7 on a line-by-line basis.)
4. Advertising gain 1.e dershi
3.9(3{0_55 3. Direct or (Ioss\), (col. zgmginus §. Circulation 6. Readership costsx(f:eoﬁr:;aﬁerﬁn:si
1. Name of periodical a ir\:c o:-rs\:g advertising costs | col. 3). if a gain, compute income costs column 5, but not more
cotls. § through 7. than column 4).
1
@
)
)
Totals fromPartl ... > 0. 0.f 0.
Enter here and on Enter here and on Enter here and
page 1, Part |, page 1, Part l, on page 1,
line 11, col. (A). line 11, col. (B). Part Il line 27.
Totals, Part I} (lines 1-5) ............. > 0. 0. . 0.
Schedule K - Compensation of Officers, Directors, and Trustees (see instructions)
.3' Percent of 4. Compensation attributable
1. Name 2. Title t«mz S:i‘rl::: to to unrelated business
(1) %,
@) %
(3) %,
@ %
Total. Enter hereand on page 1, Partl, line 14 ... ... » 0.
Form 990-T (2015)

523731
01-06-16



CLEARWAY MINNESOTA (SM)

41-1921094

FOOTNOTES

STATEMENT 1

INCOME (LOSS) FROM PARTNERSHIPS

MESIROW FINANCIAL PRIVATE EQUITY PARTNERSHIP FUND IV, LP
UNRELATED BUSINESS TAXABLE INCOME PER K-1:

LINE 1 - ORDINARY BUSINESS INCOME (LOSS)
LINE 2 - NET RENTAL INCOME (LOSS)

LINE 5 - INTEREST INCOME

LINE 6A - ORDINARY DIVIDENDS

LINE 7 - ROYALTIES

LINE 8 - SHORT-TERM CAPITAL GAIN (LOSS)
LINE 9A - LONG-TERM CAPITAL GAIN (LOSS)
LINE 10 - SECTION 1231 GAIN (LOSS)

LINE 11A - OTHER PORTFOLIO INCOME

LINE 11F - OTHER INCOME

LINE 12 - SECTION 179 DEDUCTION

LINE 13H - INVESTMENT INTEREST EXPENSE
LINE 13J - SECTION 59(E)(2) EXPENDITURES
LINE 13W - OTHER DEDUCTIONS

WEATHERGAGE VENTURE CAPITAL LP
UNRELATED BUSINESS TAXABLE INCOME PER K-1:

LINE 1 - ORDINARY BUSINESS INCOME (LOSS)
LINE 6A - ORDINARY DIVIDENDS

TOTAL PARTNERSHIP INCOME

1,591.
1,612.

vVVvVVvVy

29,227.

STATEMENT(S) 1



CLEARWAY MINNESOTA (SM) 41-1921094

FORM 990-T ‘ CONTRIBUTIONS STATEMENT 2
DESCRIPTION/KIND OF PROPERTY METHOD USED TO DETERMINE FMV AMOUNT

FROM MESIROW FINANCIAL K-1 N/A 41.
TOTAL TO FORM 990-T, PAGE 1, LINE 20 41.

STATEMENT(S) 2



CLEARWAY MINNESOTA (SM) 41-1921094

FORM 990-T CONTRIBUTIONS SUMMARY STATEMENT 3

QUALIFIED CONTRIBUTIONS SUBJECT TO 100% LIMIT

CARRYOVER OF PRIOR YEARS UNUSED CONTRIBUTIONS
FOR TAX YEAR 2010
FOR TAX YEAR 2011
FOR TAX YEAR 2012

FOR TAX YEAR 2013 1,567
FOR TAX YEAR 2014 23
TOTAL CARRYOVER 1,590
TOTAL CURRENT YEAR 10% CONTRIBUTIONS 41
TOTAL CONTRIBUTIONS AVAILABLE 1,631
TAXABLE INCOME LIMITATION AS ADJUSTED 1,004
EXCESS 10% CONTRIBUTIONS 627
EXCESS 100% CONTRIBUTIONS 0
TOTAL EXCESS CONTRIBUTIONS 627
ALLOWABLE CONTRIBUTIONS DEDUCTION 1,004
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION DEDUCTION 1,004

STATEMENT(S) 3



CLEARWAY MINNESOTA (SM) 41-1921094

FORM 980-T NET OPERATING LOSS DEDUCTION STATEMENT 4
LOSS

PREVIOUSLY LOSS AVAILABLE
TAX YEAR LOSS SUSTAINED APPLIED REMAINING THIS YEAR
06/30/09 4,613. 4,613. 0. 0.
06/30/10 3,550. 1,579. 1,871. 1,971.
06/30/11 6,794. 0. 6,794. 6,75%4.
06/30/15 6,825, 0. 6,825. 6,825.
NOL CARRYOVER AVAILABLE THIS YEAR 15,590. 15,590.
FORM 990-T NAME OF FOREIGN COUNTRY IN WHICH STATEMENT 5

ORGANIZATION HAS FINANCIAL INTEREST

NAME OF COUNTRY

GUERNSEY
CAYMAN ISLANDS
BRITISH VIRGIN ISLANDS

STATEMENT(S) 4, 5



Form 2220 Underpayment of Estimated Tax by Corporations OMB No. 15450123

Department of the Traasury P Attach to the corporation's tax return. FORM 990-T 2015

Internal Revenue Service P> Information about Form 2220 and its separate instructions is at www.irs.gov/form2220.

Name Employer identification number
CLEARWAY MINNESOTA (SM) 41-1921094

Note: Generally, the corporation is not required to file Form 2220 (see Part Il below for exceptions) because the IRS will figure any penaity owed and
bill the corporation. However, the corporation may still use Form 2220 to figure the penalty. If so, enter the amount from page 2, fine 38 on the
estimated tax penalty line of the corporation’s income tax return, but do not attach Form 2220.

l‘ Partl | Required Annual Payment

1 Total tax (SE8 INSTUCHONS) | ... .. . oo oo 1 1,355,
2 a Personal holding company tax (Schedule PH (Form 1120), line 26) included onfine 1 . . 2a
b Look-back interest included on line 1 under section 460(b)(2) for completed long-term
contracts or section 167(g) for depreciation under the income forecast method ... .. 2b
¢ Credit for federal tax paid on fuels (See INStrUCtiONS) 2¢

dTotal. Add lines 28 thIOUGN 2C e
3 Subtract line 2d from line 1. If the result is tess than $500, do not complete or file this form. The corporation

A0BS MOLOWE T8 PENAHY oo or oo e et s e 3 1,355.
4 Enter the tax shown on the corporation's 2014 income tax return (see instructions). Caution: If the tax is zero
or the tax year was for less than 12 months, skip this line and enter the amountfrom line 3online5 . . ... .. .. 4

5 Required annual payment. Enter the smaller of line 3 or line 4. If the corporation is required to skip line 4,
EIMB the AMOUNTITOM HNE B ... oo oo oo e oo oo 5 1,355.
[' Part H;} Reasons for Filing - Check the boxes below that apply. If any boxes are checked, the corparation mustfile Form 2220
even if it does not owe a penalty (see instructions).

6 L_ The corporation is using the adjusted seasonal instaliment method.

7 [:] The corporation is using the annualized income installment method.

8 D The corporation is a "large corporation” figuring its first required instaliment based on the prior year's tax.
. Part Il | Figuring the Underpayment

(2) {b) {c) {d)

9 Instaliment due dates. Enter in columns (&) through
(d) the 15th day of the 4th (Form 990-FF filers:

o 1, and 12th manths of the ol 10/15/15 | 12/15/15| 03/15/16 | 06/15/16

10 Required instaliments. If the box on line 6 and/or line 7
above is checked, enter the amounts from Sch A, line 38. if
the box on line 8 {but not 6 or 7} is checked, see instructions
for the amounts to enter. If none of these boxes are checked,
enter 25% of line 5 above in each column. 10 330, 339, 338. 339,

11 Estimated tax paid or credited for each period (see
instructions). For column (a) only, enter the amount
fromfine 11online 16 .
Complste lines 12 through 18 of one column
before going to the next column.

12 Enter amount, if any, from line 18 of the preceding column

13 Add lines 11and 12

14 Add amounts on lines 16 and 17 of the preceding column 3309. 678. 1,016.
15 Subtract line 14 from line 13. If zero or less, enter -0- 0. 0. _0_;
16 If the amount on line 15 is zero, subtract line 13 from line .
14. Otherwise, enter-0- 339. 678.| -
17 Underpayment. If line 15 is less than or equal to line 10,
subtract fine 15 from line 10. Then go to line 12 of the next
column, Otherwise, gotoline 18 . ... 17 339. 339. 338. 339.
18 Overpayment. If line 10 is less than line 15, subtract line 10 -
from line 15. Then go to line 12 of the next column ... 18
Go to Part IV on page 2 to figure the penalty. Do not go to Part IV if there are no entries on line 17 - no penalty is owed.
LHA For Paperwork Reduction Act Notice, see separate instructions. Form 2220 (2015)
512801

12-31-15



FORM 990-T
Form 2220 (2015) CLEARWAY MINNESOTA (SM) 41-1921094  page 2

Part IV | Figuring the Penalty

(a) {b) {c) (d)
19 Enter the date of payment or the 15th day of the 3rd month
after the close of the tax year, whichever is earlier (see
instructions). (Form 990-PF and Form 980-T filers:
Use 5th month instead of 3rd month.) . 19
20 Number of days from due date of instaliment on line 8 to the
dateshownonfine 19 20
21 Number of days on line 20 after 4/15/2015 and before 7/4/2015 21
22 Underpayment on line 17 x Number of days on line 21x3% .. .. 22 $ $ $ $
- 365
23 Number of days on fine 20 after 06/30/2015 and before 10/1/2015 | 23
24 Underpayment on line 17 x Number of days on line 23x 3% 24 $ $ $ $
———
25  Number of days on line 20 after 9/30/2015 and before 1/1/2016 25
26 Underpaymenton line 17 x Number of dayson line 25x 3% 26| % $ $ $
-
27 Number of days on line 20 after 12/31/2015 and before 4/%/2016 | 27 SEE| ATTACHED WORKSHEET
28 Underpayment on line 17 x Number of days on line 27 x 3% 28 $ $ $ $
R (-1 R
28 Number of days on line 20 after 3/31/2016 and before 7/1/2016 . 29
30 Underpayment on line 17 x Number of dayson line 20 x*% 3013 $ $ $
- E—
31 Number of days on line 20 after 6/30/2016 and before 10/01/2016 | 31
32 Underpayment on line 17 x Number of days on line 31x*% 32 $ $ $ $
-
33 Number of days on line 20 after 9/30/2016 and before 1/1/2017 . 33
34 Underpayment on line 17 x Number of days on line 33 x*% . ... .. 34 $ $ $ $
e
35 Number of days on line 20 after 12/31/2016 and before 2/16/2017 ___ | 35
36 Underpayment on line 17 x Number of daysonfine 35x*% . ., 36 $ $ $ $
-
37 Addlines 22, 24, 26, 28, 30, 32,34,and 86 ... 37 % 3 $ §
38 Penalty. Add columns (a) through (d) of fine 37. Enter the total here and on Form 1120; line 33;
or the comparable fine for Other INCOME TAX TBIUTNS ... .\ oo oo esensenneenese s aesneesnsnmennas 383 39.

* Use the penalty interest rate for each calendar quarter, which the IRS will determine during the first month in the preceding quarter.
These rates are published quarterly in an IRS News Release and in a revenue ruling in the Internal Revenue Bulletin. To obtain this
information on the Internet, access the IRS website at www.irs.gov. You can also call 1-800-829-4933 1o get interest rate information.

Form 2220 (2015)

512802
12-31-15



FORM 990-T

UNDERPAYMENT OF ESTIMATED TAX WORKSHEET

Penalty Due (Sum of Column F).

* Date of estimated tax payment, withholding
credit date or installment due date.

512511
04-01-15

Name(s) Identifying Number
CLEARWAY MINNESOTA (SM) 41-1921094
(A) (B) (©) (D) (E) ()
Adjusted Number Days Daily
*Date Amount Balance Due Balance Due Penalty Rate Penalty
B R —
10/15/15 339. 338. 61 .000082192 2.
12/15/15 339. 678. 16 .000082192 1.
12/31/15 0. 678. 75 .000081967 4.
03/15/16 338. 1,016. 16 .000081967 1.
03/31/16 0. 1,016. 76 .000109290 8.
06/15/16 339. 1,355. 153 .000109290 23.
39.
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STATE OF MINNESOTA
CHARITABLE ORGANIZATION INITIAL REGISTRATION & ANNUAL REPORT FORM

ATTORNEY GENERAL LOR| SWANSON
SUITE 1200, BREMER TOWER

445 MINNESOTA STREET

ST. PAUL, MN 551012130

(651) 757-1311

(651) 296-1410 (TTY)
www.ag.state.mn.us

Annual Reporting E:l Initial Registration

FEDERAL EIN NUMBER: 41-1921094

FOR YEAR ENDING: 06/30/2016

SECTION A: REQUIRED INFORMATION FOR INITIAL REGISTRATION & ANNUAL REPORTING

1. Legal Name of Organization: CLEARWAY MINNESOTA (SM)

if annual reporting, is this a new name since the organization’s last filing?

If so, please state former name:

D Yes @ No

2. List all names under which the organization solicits contributions:

3.  Mailing Address of Organization {required)
TWO APPLETREE SQ, 8011 34TH AVE S

Physical Address of Organization (required)
TWO APPLETREE SQ, 8011 34TH AVE §

NO. 400

NO. 400

MINNEAPOLIS, MN 55425

MINNEAPOLIS, MN 55425

4.  Contact Person DAVID WILLOUGHBY

Tel. No. . 952-767-1400

E-maii DWILLOUGHBY@CLEARWAYMN.ORG
FaxNo. 952-767-1422

5. Does the organization use the services of a professional fund-raiser (outside solicitor or consultant)?

Yes EX] No

If so, provide name and address of any outside professional fund-raiser employed by the organization and state the total amount of
compensation each outside fund-raiser received from the filing organization during the year. Atlach schedule if more than one.

Name
Address
City State 2P Compensation
6. a) Does this professional fund-raiser solicit or consult in Minnesota? D Yes D No
b) s this professional fund-raiser registered to solicit or consult in Minnesota? D Yes [:] No
7.  Month and day accounting year ends: 06/30
8.  Has the organization included the filing fee, late fee (if any) and all attachments required by the instructions? [K] Yes D No

[otfice Use Onty: __J ARFL_J$25 |_1$50 [_I N(e-Postcard) |_Jogo |l JEez | _Iprl _lresl isicl JBp | Jsal JAudit|

01/13

599801
04-01-15

Upon request this material can be made available in alternate formats.
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598811

SECTION C: REQUIRED FOR ANNUAL REPORTING ONLY

ALL Annual Report filers MUST complste questions 1-6

Has the organization’s accounting year changed since the last report was filed? [:] Yes [:X] No
If yes, provide the new year-end date:

Attach an explanation if there has been any change in the organization's tax status with the Internal Revenue Service; a significant change in
the purposes of the organization; or if the organization's right to solicit funds has been denied, suspended, revoked or enjoined by any state
agency or court in any state, or if there are proceedings pending. None D Attached

List of the five highest paid directors, officers, and employees of the organization and its related organizations, as that term is defined by
section 317A.011, subdivision 18, that receive total compensation of more than $100,000, together with the compensation paid to each,
For purposes of this subdivision, "compensation” is defined as the total amount reported on Form W-2 (Box 5) or Form 1039-MISC (Box 7)
issued by the organization and its related organizations to the individual. The value of fringe benefits and deferred compensation paid by the
charitable organization and all related organizations as that term is defined by section 317A.011, subdivision 18, shall also be reported as a
separate itern for each person whose compensation is required to be reported pursuant to this subdivision.

Name/Title Compensation Deferred Compensation Fringe Benefits
DAVID J. WILLOUGHBY
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER 159,754. 24,816, 21,955,
BARBARA SCHILLO
2 VICE PRESIDENT 139,027, 21,449, 18,892,

REA MOWERY
3 VICE PRESIDENT 142,8389. 21,520, 12,792.

-h

i JATME MARTINEZ
4 DIRECTOR OF COMMUNITY DEV 123,558. 18,273. 12,111.

RAYMOND BOYLE
5 DIRECTOR OF RESEARCH PROG 116,618. 17,633, 13,492.

Attach a list of organization's beard of directors. L] Attached
Included in IRS return

Attach a GAAP audit if total revenue exceeds $750,000. @ Attached
D Audit not included under the Food Shelf Exemption (excluding from total revenue the value of food donated to a nonprofit food shelf for

redistribution at no cost). Audit not required

Minnesota law requires that an organization file a copy of all tax or informational returns filed with the IRS, including IRS Form 890-N (e-Postcard),
980, 990-EZ, or 890-PF, including all schedules and amendments. Has the organization included with this annual report a copy of all tax or
informational returns, including IRS Form 980-N (e-Postcard), 980, 980-EZ or 980-PF that it filed with the IRS (excluding Schedule B or any other
donor list)? @ Yes No (Not required to file a return with IRS or files a group retum).

NOTE: By answering YES to the above question, you are attesting that the IRS informational return filed with this office is an exact copy, including
all schedules and attachments, of the IRS Informational return filed with the IRS {excluding Schedule B or any other donor list the IRS may require).

04-01-15
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SECTION D: REQUIRED FOR INITIAL REGISTRATION & ANNUAL REPORTING

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
SIGNATURES AND ACKNOWLEDGMENT

We, the undersigned, state and acknowledge that we are duly constituted officers of this organization, being the

CHAIR, BOARD OF DIRECTORS (rite)and TREASURER (Title) respectively, and

that we execute this document on behalf of the organization pursuant to the resolution of the

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Board of Directors, Trustees, or Managing Group) adopted on the
day of ,20___, approving the contents of the document, and do hereby certify that the
BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Board of Directors, Trustees, or Managing Group) has assumed, and will continue

to assume, responsibility for determining matters of policy, and have supervised, and will continue to supervise, the finances of the organization. We

further state that the information supplied is true, correct and complete to the best of our knowledge.

JoYy RIKALA,—\ BOB BOERSCHEL
Name (Pnnt /\K/\) Name (Print)
Signature Signature

, BOARD OF DIRECTORS TREASURER
Title Title

G-9\-\, o/as//6
Date Date®
* NOTICE *

Documents required to be filed are public records. Please do not include social security numbers, driver’s
license numbers or bank account numbers on the documents filed with this Office as they are not required, but
could become part of the public records. A charitable organization is not required to file a list of its donors. If it

is included, it may become part of the pubilic file.

AG: #3124563-v1

599813
04-01-15
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MINNESOTA

Appendix N

Protecting Young People in Minneapolis:
A Case Study in Limiting Flavored Tobacco and
Raising the Minimum Price of Cigars



AJPH RESEARCH

Effectiveness of Local Policy Efforts to Increase the
Price of Cheap Cigars in Minnesota

Betsy Brock, MPH, Samantha C. Carlson, MPH, Molly Moilanen, MPP, and Barbara A. Schillo, PhD

Objectives. To evaluate the effect of novel policies designed to increase cheap cigar
prices by setting minimum prices at the local level.

Methods. Between June 2013 and July 2015, we conducted assessments at tobacco
retailers in Minnesota cities of Brooklyn Center (n=26 in sample; n =18 assessed before
and after policy implementation), Saint Paul (n=25 in sample; n= 14 assessed pre- and
postpolicy), and Maplewood (n=22 in sample; n=18 assessed pre- and postpolicy),
before and after the adoption of policies setting minimum cigar pricing.

Results. After policy implementation across all cities (n=50), significantly fewer re-
tailers sold single cigars (46% vs 80%; P<.01) and 2- or 3-packs (52% vs 74%; P=.01). In
Saint Paul and Maplewood, the average price of the cheapest available single cigars
increased significantly by $1.17 (P=.03) and $1.27 (P<.01), respectively; the average
price of the cheapest 2-pack increased by $2.46 (P=.02) in Saint Paul and by $3.08
(P<.01) in Maplewood. Policy compliance was high in all cities.

Conclusions. This study highlights the potential of policies setting minimum cigar prices to
decrease cigar availability and increase price through nontax approaches. Results indicate
that these policies are successfulin cities of various sizes. (Am J Public Health. 2017;107:127-

129. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2016.303517)

S cigarette consumption declined by

25% from 1997 to 2007, whereas cigar
use doubled.! Most cigar growth was
fueled by increased popularity of “little
cigars” and cigarillos." These products are
often sold in fruit and candy flavors and at
prices far below other tobacco products
(e.g., “3 for $0.99”) and, unlike cigarettes, are
marketed on social media. Although cigars
cause the same negative health outcomes as
cigarettes,” evidence indicates that cigars
are viewed as safer.” Together, these fac-
tors likely increase cigars’ appeal to youths.
In 2014, 8.2% of US high school students
reported current cigar use (compared with
9.2% for cigarettes), and cigars were the
most commonly used tobacco product
among African American high schoolers.”
Minnesota cigar youth use rates are lower
than the national average (4.5%). How-
ever, rates vary by location, gender, and
age. In Brooklyn Center, Minnesota, a city
in our study, 20% of the 11th-grade boys
reported using cigars in the last 30 days in
2013.°

January 2017, Vol 107, No. 1 AJPH

Increasing tobacco prices is proven to de-
crease use.®” It is estimated thata 10% increase in
prices would reduce adolescent cigar use
prevalence by 3.4%.% When tobacco taxes are
increased, cigarettes are often the focus. This can
lead to a price advantage for cigars. Localities are
exploring ways to prevent this advantage by
setting minimum pricing or prohibiting dis-
counting,” Although these policies appear
promising, more evidence is needed to measure
their effect.”

This study sought to evaluate the effect
of minimum cigar price policies adopted in 3
Minnesota cities on product pricing and avail-
ability. In each jurisdiction, the policy
was brought forward by advocates,

passed by the city council, and implemented

ABOUT THE AUTHORS

by city staft. Brooklyn Center, a Minneapolis,
Minnesota, suburb with 26 tobacco

retailers (population = 30729),'° was the

first Minnesota city to adopt a minimum cigar
pricing policy in April 2014. This policy

set the minimum price for cigars in packs of 4 or
fewer at $2.10 per cigar, meaning that a
single cigar must be sold for at least $2.10,

a 2-pack for $4.20, a 3-pack for $6.30, and

a 4-pack for $8.40. Under this policy, packs
of 5 or more cigars can be sold for any
price. Saint Paul, Minnesota, with 260
tobacco retailers (population = 297 640),'"
followed by adopting identical policy
language in August 2014. Maplewood,

a Saint Paul suburb with 35 tobacco
retailers (population = 40 199),'” followed
with more restrictive language in May 2015.
Maplewood’s policy set the cigar price at
$2.60 apiece and addressed pricing of larger
packs by requiring that 4 or more cigars be
sold for at least $10.40.

This is one of the first studies to examine
the effect of a minimum pricing policy on
cigar prices and availability, helping to fill
an identified research gap.” To our knowl-
edge, only 1 other study has examined the
effect of cigar pricing policies."

METHODS

We conducted assessments at tobacco
retailers in the cities of Brooklyn Center,
Saint Paul, and Maplewood before and
after cigar price policy implementation. In
Brooklyn Center and Maplewood, we
attempted to assess all tobacco retailers on

Betsy Brock and Samantha C. Carlson are with Association for Nonsmokers-Minnesota, Saint Paul. Molly Moilanen and
Barbara A. Schillo are with ClearWay Minnesota, Minneapolis.

Correspondence should be sent to Betsy Brock, MPH, Association for Nonsmokers-Minnesota, 2395 University Ave W, Suite
310, Saint Paul, MN 55114 (e-mail: betsy@ansrmn.org). Reprints can be ordered at hitp://www.ajph.org by clicking the

“Reprints” link.
This article was accepted October 8, 2016.
doi: 10.2105/AJPH.2016.303517
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the city licensing lists. We assessed 18 re-
tailers in each city before and after policy
implementation. In Saint Paul, we drew
a random sample of 25 tobacco retailers
from the city licensing list; we completed
assessments at 14 retailers before and after
policy implementation. For all cities
combined, we assessed a total of 50 stores
before and after policy implementation.
Most were gas stations or convenience
stores (54%; n = 27), followed by other
(22%; n=11), grocery stores (16%; n=8),
and drugstores (8%; n = 4). Assessments
were conducted in Brooklyn Center on
June 21, 2013 (prepolicy), and between
September 3, 2014, and September 11,
2014 (postpolicy); in Saint Paul between
September 18, 2014, and September 26,
2014 (prepolicy), and on December 11,
2014 (postpolicy); and in Maplewood
between April 1, 2015, and April 3, 2015
(prepolicy), and July 24, 2015, and July 29,
2015 (postpolicy).

Pairs of trained data collectors con-
ducted assessments. For all cities, we
measured the policies’ effect on cigar
availability, which was determined
through observation and by asking the
clerk when unclear. In Saint Paul and
Maplewood, we also measured policies’
effect on cigar price. To measure price,

we asked the clerk to sell us the

cheapest single cigar available. We
purchased single cigars and kept the re-
ceipts. The 2-pack and 5-pack prices were
recorded, but the products were not
purchased.

We calculated summary statistics and
sample demographics for the stores
assessed by city. We used the McNemar
test to compare the proportion of stores
selling single cigars, 2- or 3-packs, and
5-packs before and after policy imple-
mentation. We used the 2-sided Wil-
coxon signed rank test to compare cigar
prices before and after policy imple-
mentation. Compliance was assessed
as yes or no based on observed prices. SAS
version 9.4 (SAS Institute, Cary, NC)
was used for analyses, and P values less
than .05 were considered statistically
significant.

RESULTS

After policy implementation across all 3
cities (n = 50), significantly fewer tobacco
retailers were selling single cigars (46% vs
80%; P<.01) and 2- or 3-packs (52% vs 74%;
P=.01; Table 1).

TABLE 1—Number (%) of Stores Selling Cigars by Subtype, Before and After Cigar Pricing Policy

Implementation: Brooklyn Center, Saint Paul, and Maplewood, MN, June 2013-July 2015

City and No. of Cigars Before, No. (%) After, No. (%) P
Brooklyn Center (n=18) June 21, 2013 September 3-11, 2014
Single 14 (78) 5 (28) .004
2- or 3-packs 13 (72) 7(39) .031
Maplewood (n=18) April 1-3, 2015 July 24-29, 2015
Single 15 (83) 12 (67) 25
2- or 3-packs 13 (72) 11 (61) .69
5-packs 17 (94) 17 (94)
Saint Paul September 18-26, 2014 December 11, 2014
Single (n=14) 11(79) 6 (43) .06
2- or 3-packs (n=14) 11(79) 8 (57) .25
5-packs (n=13) 9 (69) 11 (85) .50
All cities (n=50)
Single (n=50) 40 (80) 23 (46) <.001
2- or 3-packs (n=50) 37 (74) 26 (52) .007
5-packs® (n=31) 26 (84) 28 (90) .63

Note. Pvalues are from McNemar test.

25-Packs include only Maplewood and Saint Paul data.
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In Saint Paul, the average price of the
cheapest available single cigar increased
significantly by $1.17 (P=.03; n = 6) from
$0.97 (SD =$0.04) to $2.14 (SD = $0.06),
and the average price of the cheapest
available 2-pack increased significantly by
$2.46 (P=.02; n=7) from $1.48 (SD=
$0.41) to $3.94 (SD = $0.75). The average
price of the cheapest available 5-pack
changed from $6.31 (SD = $1.23) to $6.06
(SD = $2.34), which was not statistically
significant (P = .46; n = 8).

In Maplewood, the average price of the
cheapest available single cigar increased sig-
nificantly by $1.27 (P<.01; n=12) from
$1.18 (SD =$0.48) to $2.45 (SD = $0.32),
and the average price of the cheapest available
2-pack increased significantly by $3.08
(P<.01; n=9) from $1.87 (SD =$1.16) to
$4.95 (SD = $0.81). The average price of the
cheapest available 5-pack increased from
$5.74 (SD = $1.63) to $7.31 (SD = $3.39),
which was not statistically significant (P = .08;
n=16).

Compliance

After policy implementation, all to-
bacco retailers in Saint Paul (6 of 6) and
75% of the retailers in Maplewood (9 of 12)
that sold single cigars were compliant
with pricing requirements. For 2-packs,
88% of the Saint Paul retailers (7 of 8)
and 82% of the Maplewood retailers (9
of 11) were compliant. In Maplewood,
the only city to address 5-pack pricing,
only 35% (6 of 17) of the retailers sold
5-packs at the required price.

DISCUSSION

Several Minnesota cities have adopted
novel policies designed to increase cheap
cigar prices. We examined the effect of 3
citywide policies setting a minimum price for
cigars. Key findings indicate that these
policies decreased cigar availability and raised
the price of cheap cigars sold singly and in
2-packs. Finally, results indicate that most
tobacco retailers complied with policies.
These findings are consistent with recent
study findings from a similar policy in
Boston, Massachusetts'' (the only other
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study to date to examine this). Additional
efforts may be needed to ensure that com-
pliance remains high in the long term.
This study had limitations. First, the
sample size was small. Second, we did not
include comparison cities in our analysis.
However, because no relevant policy
changes occurred during the study period
(such as federal, state, or local tobacco tax
increases), it is unlikely that other factors
explain the observed price increases. Fi-
nally, our preassessment and postassessment
periods varied by city. Despite these limi-
tations, this study helps to quantify the
real-world effect of policies designed to
raise tobacco prices through nontax ap-
proaches, an identified research need.”
Further research is needed to understand
the possible effect of such policies on to-
bacco use and government revenue, and to
understand how such policies could be
applied to other tobacco products.

PUBLIC HEALTH IMPLICATIONS
Our study highlights the potential of

minimum cigar pricing policies to increase
cheap cigar prices and decrease availability
through nontax approaches. Results indicate
that these policies are successful in cities of
various sizes. AJPH
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